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In memory of Paul Klebnikov, Alexander Litvinenko, Sergei
Magnitsky, Anna Politkovskaya, and the dozens of other journalists,
investigators, and dissidents who lost their lives investigating Putin’s

kleptocracy.



It’s wonderful that the Iron Curtain is gone, but it was a shield for the
West. Now we’ve opened the gates, and this is very dangerous for the
world. America is getting Russian criminals. Nobody will have the
resources to stop them. You people in the West don’t know our Mafiya
yet. You will, you will!
—Boris Urov, former chief investigator of major crimes for the Russian attorney general, circa

19931

Russia has never tried to use leverage over me. I HAVE NOTHING TO
DO WITH RUSSIA - NO DEALS, NO LOANS, NO NOTHING!

—Donald Trump, January 11, 2017, via Twitter



A

CHAPTER ONE

(VIRTUAL) WORLD WAR III

t approximately 9:32 a.m. Moscow time on November 9, 2016,
Deputy Vyacheslav Nikonov of the pro-Putin United Russia
Party stepped up to the microphone in the Russian State Duma,

the Russian equivalent of the House of Representatives, to make a
highly unusual announcement.

The grandson of Vyacheslav Molotov—the coolly ruthless Stalinist
of Molotov cocktail fame—Nikonov had been involved in Soviet and
Russian politics for roughly forty years, including serving a stint on
Vladimir Putin’s staff. Now, he was about to make a rather simple,
understated announcement, that in its way was as historic and
incendiary as anything his grandfather had ever done.

“Dear friends, respected colleagues!” Nikonov said. “Three minutes
ago Hillary Clinton admitted her defeat in US presidential elections
and a second ago Trump started his speech as an elected president of
the United States of America and I congratulate you on this.”1

Even though Nikonov did not add what many in the Kremlin
already knew, his brief statement was greeted by enthusiastic
applause. Donald J. Trump had just become Vladimir Putin’s man in
the White House.

—
This book tells the story of one of the greatest intelligence operations
in history, an undertaking decades in the making, through which the
Russian Mafia and Russian intelligence operatives successfully
targeted, compromised, and implanted either a willfully ignorant or an
inexplicably unaware Russian asset in the White House as the most



powerful man on earth. In doing so, without firing a shot, the Russians
helped put in power a man who would immediately begin to
undermine the Western Alliance, which has been the foundation of
American national security for more than seventy years; who would
start massive trade wars with America’s longtime allies; fuel right-
wing anti-immigrant populism; and assault the rule of law in the
United States.

In short, at a time at which the United States was confronted with a
new form of warfare—hybrid war consisting of cyber warfare, hacking,
disinformation, and the like—the United States would have at its helm
a man who would leave the country all but defenseless, and otherwise
inadvertently do the bidding of the Kremlin.

It is a story that is difficult to tell even though, in many ways,
Donald Trump’s ties to Russia over the last four decades have been an
open secret, hiding in plain sight. One reason they went largely
unnoticed for so long may be that aspects of them are so unsettling, so
transgressive, that Americans are loath to acknowledge the dark
realities staring them in the face.

As a result, the exact words for what happened often give way to
fierce semantic disputes. Whatever Russia did with regard to the 2016
presidential campaign, was it an assault on America’s sovereignty, or
merely meddling? Was it an act of war? Did Russian interference
change the results of the 2016 presidential election? Was it treason? Is
Donald Trump a traitor? A Russian agent? Or merely a so-called useful
idiot who somehow, through willful blindness or colossal ignorance,
does not even know how he has been compromised by Russia?

President Donald Trump, of course, has denied having anything to
do with Russia, having tweeted, ten days before his inauguration,
“Russia has never tried to use leverage over me. I HAVE NOTHING
TO DO WITH RUSSIA - NO DEALS, NO LOANS, NO NOTHING!”2

But as this book will show, over the last four decades, President
Donald Trump and his associates have had significant ties to at least
fifty-nine people who facilitated business between Trump and the
Russians, including relationships with dozens who have alleged ties to
the Russian Mafia.



It will show that President Trump has allowed Trump-branded real
estate to be used as a vehicle that likely served to launder enormous
amounts of money—perhaps billions of dollars—for the Russian Mafia
for more than three decades.

It will show that President Trump provided an operational home
for oligarchs close to the Kremlin and some of the most powerful
figures in the Russian Mafia in Trump Tower—his personal and
professional home, the crown jewel of his real estate empire—and
other Trump buildings on and off for much of that period.

It will show that during this period the Russian Mafia has likely
been a de facto state actor serving the Russian Federation in much the
same way that American intelligence services serve the United States,
and that many of the people connected to Trump had strong ties to the
Russian FSB, the state security service that is the successor to the
feared KGB.

It will show that President Trump has been a person of interest to
Soviet and Russian intelligence for more than forty years and was
likely the subject of one or more operations that produced kompromat
(compromising materials) on him regarding sexual activities.

It will show that for decades, Russian operatives, including key
figures in the Russian Mafia, studiously examined the weak spots in
America’s pay-for-play political culture—from gasoline distribution to
Wall Street, from campaign finance to how the K Street lobbyists of
Washington ply their trade—and, having done so, hired powerful
white-shoe lawyers, lobbyists, accountants, and real estate developers
by the score, in an effort to compromise America’s electoral system,
legal process, and financial institutions.

It will show that President Trump, far from being the only potential
“asset” targeted by the Russians, was one of dozens of politicians—
most of them Republicans, but some Democrats as well—and
businessmen who became indebted to Russia, and that millions of
dollars have been flowing from individuals and companies from, or
with ties to, Russia to GOP politicians, including Senate majority
leader Mitch McConnell, for more than twenty years.

It will show that the most powerful figures in America’s national
security—including two FBI directors, William Sessions and Louis



Freeh, and special counsel to the CIA Mitchell Rogovin—ended up
working with Russians who had been deemed serious threats to the
United States.

It will show that President Trump was $4 billion in debt when
Russian money came to his rescue and bailed him out, and, as a result,
he was and remains deeply indebted to them for reviving his business
career and launching his new life in politics.

It will show that President Trump partnered with a convicted felon
named Felix Sater who allegedly had ties to the Russian mob, and that
Trump did not disclose the fact Sater was a criminal and profited from
that relationship.

And it will show that, now that he is commander in chief of the
United States, President Trump, as former director of national
intelligence James Clapper put it, is, in effect, an intelligence “asset”
serving Russian president Vladimir Putin,3 or, even worse, as Glenn
Carle, a former CIA national intelligence officer, told Newsweek, “My
assessment is that Trump is actually working directly for the
Russians.”4

Then again, maybe James Comey put it best. In January 2017, just a
week after Donald Trump was inaugurated, the president invited
then–FBI director Comey to the White House for a private dinner.
Characterizing Trump as “unethical, and untethered to truth,”5

likening his behavior to that of a Mafia boss, Comey writes in A Higher
Loyalty that Trump told him: “I need loyalty. I expect loyalty.”

The demand reminded Comey of a Cosa Nostra induction
ceremony, with Trump in the role of the Mafia family boss. “The
encounter left me shaken,” he writes. “I had never seen anything like it
in the Oval Office. As I found myself thrust into the Trump orbit, I
once again was having flashbacks to my earlier career as a prosecutor
against the Mob. The silent circle of assent. The boss in complete
control. The loyalty oaths. The us-versus-them worldview. The lying
about all things, large and small, in service to some code of loyalty that
put the organization above morality and above the truth.”6

Comey writes as if the Mafia conceit is a metaphor. But in a way it is
more than that. What follows is the story of Trump’s four-decade-long



relationship with the Russian Mafia, and the Russian intelligence
operation that helped put him into the White House.

—
On June 23, 2017, six months after his inauguration, President Donald
Trump tweeted that his predecessor Barack Obama “knew far in
advance” about Russia’s meddling in the American election. The tweet
was unusual in that it represented a rare acknowledgment by the
president that Russia may have interfered in the 2016 election, but it
was accompanied by Trump’s denunciation of any investigation into
the matter as a “witch hunt.”

At the time, Russian president Vladimir Putin, who was en route to
the Crimean peninsula, which Russia had annexed in 2014 from
Ukraine, had reason to be grateful for any cover provided by his
American friend. His stopover was not a popular one, rekindling as it
did animosity in Ukraine, whose foreign ministry issued a statement
saying that Kiev “consider[ed] this visit . . . to be a gross violation of
the sovereignty of the State and the territorial integrity of Ukraine.”7 It
was an issue that loomed large in the shadow play between the two
men: Putin’s apparent support of Trump seemingly went hand in hand
with the latter’s acquiescence on Russian aggression in Ukraine.

While Putin and Trump hogged the headlines, however, something
took place in Devens, Massachusetts, that seemed light-years removed
from the Trump-Russia scandal, but in fact was closely tied to its
origins. John “Sonny” Franzese, the oldest federal prisoner in the
United States, was discharged from the Federal Medical Center, after
serving an eight-year sentence for extortion.8

Thanks to his age—Franzese had just celebrated his one hundredth
birthday—his release was duly noted all over the world, from Der
Spiegel9 to the New York Post, which dutifully called forth Franzese’s
glory days hanging out with Frank Sinatra and boxing champ Jake
LaMotta at the Copacabana.10 An underboss in the feared Colombo
crime family, Franzese had repeatedly dodged murder charges because
he was likely so good at making bodies disappear. But after one
acquittal he was caught on tape explaining how he’d disposed of the



bodies of the dozens of people he had killed: “Dismember victim in
kiddie pool. Cook body parts in microwave. Stuff parts in garbage
disposal. Be patient.”11

Franzese was old-school Mafia, a relic from the mid-twentieth-
century era of the Cosa Nostra’s Five Families, the same warring tribes
depicted in The Godfather, and his return to Brooklyn evoked that
powerful, mythic saga that has been so deeply imprinted in the
American consciousness. Yet somehow the most enduring part of his
legacy, one that will forever have its place in American history, is
virtually unknown today. Through his son Michael, Sonny Franzese
supervised a gasoline-tax-evasion scam that turned into a billion-
dollar enterprise lasting for six years, until the FBI broke it up in the
mideighties. The scandal also had far-reaching geopolitical
consequences in that it gave the newly arrived Russian Mafia* its first
major score in America and positioned it to play a vital role in Donald
Trump’s rise to power, such a vital role that it is fair to say that without
the Russian Mafia’s move into New York, Donald Trump would not
have become president of the United States.

Born in Naples in 1917, Sonny Franzese had immigrated to the
United States with his family as a child, and in his youth rode shotgun
on his father’s bakery truck in Brooklyn. As recounted in Michael
Franzese’s Blood Covenant, he began his ascent back when Mafia
nightlife meant dining at the Stork Club on West Fifty-Eighth Street in
Manhattan, Sherman Billingsley’s swanky refuge for café society,
where Sonny courted and married the coat-check girl, and spent his
evenings hanging out with the likes of Grace Kelly, Marilyn Monroe,
Ernest Hemingway, Damon Runyon, and Walter Winchell. Before
long, the Franzeses became an integral part of the storied Colombo
crime family, the youngest and perhaps the most violent of the Five
Families of organized crime,* which were locked in an epic and
ongoing internecine war.12

When it came to bringing in revenue for the Colombo family, Sonny
handled bookmaking, loan sharking, prostitution, shakedowns, and
tax cheating. A thuggish, bull-necked man known for his boxer’s
flattened nose—he was said to resemble boxer Rocky Graziano—over



time, he became a lean, meticulously groomed don sporting all the
requisite sartorial flourishes of his profession—crisp fedora, diamond
pinkie ring, pointed black shoes, bespoke suits, and a beautifully
tailored overcoat. Meanwhile, he commanded half a dozen lieutenants,
each of whom had as many as thirty soldiers in their organizations,
and carved out a reputation as a ferocious enforcer. “He swam in the
biggest ocean and was the biggest, meanest, most terrifying shark in
that ocean,” said Phil Steinberg, a close friend of Sonny’s who was a
major figure in the music industry. “He was an enforcer, and he did
what he did better than anyone.” As his son Michael put it, Sonny
“could paralyze the most fearless hit man with a stare.”13

Sometimes he went significantly further than that. In 1974, a
Colombo soldier who had been a bit too attentive to Sonny’s wife was
found buried in a cellar with a garrote around his neck. According to
Vanity Fair, the man’s genitals had been stuffed in his mouth, an act
that authorities characterized as “an apparent signal of Sonny’s
displeasure.”14

As underboss, Sonny was in line to run the entire Colombo
organization, and, with Michael under his tutelage, the Franzeses
sought opportunities in new sectors of the burgeoning entertainment
industry that were opening up to the mob. They financed Deep Throat,
Linda Lovelace’s infamous porno film. They backed Phil Steinberg’s
Kama Sutra/Buddah Records, which provided opportunities for
money laundering and payola—not to mention hits by the Lovin’
Spoonful, the Shangri-Las, and Gladys Knight and the Pips, among
others.15

Before long, Michael had become a Colombo caporegime like his
father, the youngest person on Fortune magazine’s “50 Biggest Mafia
Bosses” list, and one of the biggest earners in the Mafia since Al
Capone.16 By the early eighties, however, organized crime in New York
was undergoing a paradigmatic shift for a reason that was not yet
widely known: The Russians were coming. In fact, Russians had begun
collaborating with Italian mobsters as early as 1980,17 when the two
crime organizations partnered in one of the most lucrative government
rip-offs in American history.



At the time, Michael Franzese, then in his early thirties, was already
providing protection to a mobster named Lawrence Iorizzo, who
owned or supplied three hundred gas stations in and around Long
Island and New Jersey,18 and was making a fortune by skimming tax
revenue from gasoline sales. This scam was possible thanks to the
sluggishness with which laggardly government officials collected gas
taxes.19 Together, federal, state, and local authorities demanded on
average twenty-seven cents out of every gallon that was sold, but they
took their time in collecting—sometimes as much as a year.

Having registered dozens of shell companies in Panama as owners
of the gas stations, all Iorizzo had to do was to close down each of his
gas stations before the tax man came, and then reopen under new
management with a different shell company. By the time the tax men
came looking for their money, much of it was in Iorizzo’s pocket.
When the FBI later investigated the scam, which had spread to six
states, they called the investigation Operation Red Daisy.20

Iorizzo’s scheme was going swimmingly except for one thing: A
group of men—Michael Franzese described them as “small-fry
associates of another family”—were trying to muscle in on Iorizzo’s
operation.21 According to Franzese, the six-foot-four, four-hundred-
fifty-pound Iorizzo “ate pizzas the way most people eat Ritz crackers”
and didn’t exactly look like he needed protection. Nevertheless, he had
gone to Franzese for help with these small-time hoods who were trying
to shake him down and move in on his territory.

Without missing a beat, Franzese figured out a mutually acceptable
solution, and a highly lucrative partnership was born. Soon, so much
money was pouring in that Franzese was promoted to caporegime in
the Cosa Nostra.22 Then in 1984, three alleged Russian gangsters,
David Bogatin, Michael Markowitz, and Lev Persits, approached him
with a proposition that was very similar to Iorizzo’s. Like Iorizzo, they
had their own gas tax scam going on, and like Iorizzo, they needed
protection.

Franzese instantly saw the opportunity for another huge score, but
he sized up the Russians with a mixture of respect and scorn. Bogatin,
with his receding hairline and steel-rimmed glasses, looked more like



a white-collar professional than a Russian mobster. His father had
spent eighteen years in prison in Siberia because he had been “caught”
hanging the key to the office door so that it accidentally covered a
portrait of Joseph Stalin—thereby defacing the image of the Soviet
dictator.23 In 1966, Bogatin joined the Soviet Army and served in a
North Vietnamese antiaircraft unit, where he helped shoot down
American pilots.24 Then, in the mid-1970s, after leaving the army, he
began working as a printer but was fired because he was printing
outlawed material for Jewish dissidents.

After being blacklisted by the KGB, in 1977, Bogatin clawed his way
out of Russia, came to New York, and worked in a factory. He bought a
car, mastered English, and began to run a private cab service. That led
to a gas station, then a fuel distributorship,25 all while he made
acquaintances among the Russian diaspora.

Having grown up under communism, Bogatin took to capitalism
like a duck to water—which won Franzese’s respect. The Russians had
been among the pioneers of this spectacularly lucrative scam, and they
had about two hundred members working under them.26 They wanted
“to flex their muscles,” Franzese said, in testimony before a Senate
subcommittee in 1996, “and would not hesitate to resort to violence
when they felt it was necessary to do so.”

Franzese had a harder time taking Bogatin’s partner seriously—
thanks largely to his attire. Michael Markowitz wore gaudy jewelry,
heavy gold chains, and showy wide-collared shirts unbuttoned to the
navel. As Franzese saw it, Markowitz aspired to be John Travolta in
Saturday Night Fever, but instead called to mind the shimmying “wild
and crazy guys” played by Steve Martin and Dan Aykroyd on Saturday
Night Live in the seventies. The dapper Franzese couldn’t stop
laughing at him. Markowitz “looked like a rug salesman who had just
hit the lottery.”27 Was this really his competition?

In the end, however, money trumped fashion, and so, on a Saturday
morning in the fall of 1980, Michael Franzese28 sat down with
Bogatin, Persits, and Markowitz at a gas station in Brooklyn. “These
Russians* were having trouble collecting money owed them,” Franzese



recalled.29 “They were also having problems obtaining and holding on
to the licenses they needed to keep the gas tax scam going.”

Franzese could help on both counts. One of his soldiers was a guy
named Vinnie, and as Franzese put it, “Vinnie’s job was to say, ‘Pay the
money, or I’ll break your legs.’”30

Vinnie was persuasive—so persuasive that the Colombo family had
become famous for getting people to pay their debts. That wasn’t all.
Franzese also had operatives inside the state government who could
provide the Russians with the wholesale licenses they needed to
defraud the government.

The Russians desperately needed Franzese, and he knew just how
to play them. “We agreed to share the illegal proceeds, 75 percent my
end, 25 percent their end,” he said.31 “The deal was put on record with
all five crime families, and I took care of the Colombo family share of
the illegal proceeds out of my end.”

Soon, the money came pouring in—$5 million to more than $8
million a week. As the operation expanded, profits soared to $100
million a month, more than a billion a year. The Italians were the big
winners, but Markowitz and Bogatin were well on their way to
lucrative criminal careers.

Thus, in 1984, at the peak of his success, David Bogatin went
shopping for apartments in New York City. Even though he was a
junior partner with Franzese, after seven years in New York, Bogatin
had stashed away enough money to buy real estate anywhere he
wanted. For roughly a decade, thousands of Russian Jews like him had
been pouring into Brighton Beach, Brooklyn. But Bogatin had his eyes
on something more prestigious.

So instead of shopping for a home in Brighton Beach, Bogatin
became fixated on a garish fifty-eight-story edifice in midtown
Manhattan with mirrors and brass and gold-plated fixtures
everywhere. A monument to conspicuous consumption, it had an
atrium covered with pink, white-veined marble near the entrance and
a sixty-foot waterfall overlooking a suspended walkway, luxury shops,
and cafés. The AIA Guide to New York City described it as



“fantasyland for the affluent shopper,” but hastened to add that the
design was more like a generic “malt liquor” than posh champagne.32

The New York Times architecture critic Ada Louise Huxtable called
it “monumentally undistinguished,” while another Times writer
dismissed it as “preposterously lavish” and “showy, even
pretentious.”33 The developer’s love of excess was such that he
purposely overstated the number of floors in the building. That way,
he could say he lived on the sixty-eighth floor—even though it was a
fifty-eight-story building. Its address was 721 Fifth Avenue, and it was
known as Trump Tower.



A

CHAPTER TWO

TRUMP’S BEAUTIFUL LAUNDRETTE

ccording to the late Wayne Barrett, who investigated the
Bogatin deal for the Village Voice, Donald Trump himself took
the unusual step of personally meeting with David Bogatin

when the transaction took place. Apparently, Trump found nothing
untoward in the fact that Bogatin was buying not one but five luxury
condos in Trump Tower for a total of $6 million (the equivalent of
approximately $14.5 million in 2018),1 even though it was unlikely he
had a legitimate way to get his hands on that much cash and had
arrived in America with just $3 in his pockets.2

There was also one more element in the deal that was highly
irregular. The extraordinary hype enveloping the building’s glamour
overshadowed the fact that Trump Tower offered a special feature that
was exceedingly rare. At the time, according to author David Cay
Johnston, Trump Tower was one of only two buildings3 in New York
City that sold condos to buyers who used shell companies, such as
limited liability companies, which allowed purchasers to buy real
estate while concealing their identities.

“If you are doing a transaction with no mortgage, there is no
financial institution that needs to know where the money came from,
particularly if it’s a wire transfer from overseas,” said Jonathan Winer,
who served as deputy assistant secretary of state for international law
enforcement in the Clinton administration.4 “The customer
obligations that are imposed on all kinds of financial institutions are
not imposed on people selling real estate. They should have been, but
they weren’t.”



So, thanks to these lax regulations, Trump began to sell condos in
Trump Tower as an ideal vehicle through which criminals could put
their dirty money into luxury condominiums while keeping their
ownership anonymous. Thus, according to the New York State
attorney general’s office, when Trump closed the deal for five
apartments with David Bogatin, whether he knew it or not, he had just
helped launder money for the Russian Mafia.5

All of this was happening at an extraordinary time. It was 1984.
After nearly forty years, the balance of power in the Cold War had
tilted decisively toward the West. The USSR was still embroiled in a
costly, bloody, and unproductive war in Afghanistan, the “Soviet
Vietnam,” as it had been since 1979, leaving the Soviet economy in
tatters. President Ronald Reagan had aggressively ramped up the arms
race with “Star Wars,” the Strategic Defense Initiative, which was
intended to shield the US against incoming missiles and succeeded in
making the cost of being a superpower prohibitively expensive.

Some people in the KGB were beginning to realize that the Soviet
Union’s economy was doomed.6 Finally, with the deaths of Soviet
leaders Leonid Brezhnev in 1982 and Yuri Andropov in 1984, and the
ascent of aging and ailing Konstantin Chernenko to the top spot in the
Soviet leadership, the old party structures were failing.

All of which created a gigantic power vacuum for the Russian Mafia
to fill at a time when it had grown to roughly nine thousand criminal
gangs with thirty-five thousand members,7 many of whom, likely
including Bogatin, were looking to transfer illicit funds into safe
havens in the West.

Two powerful forces in a newly created global underground
economy had begun to come together. On the one hand, the
disintegration of the Soviet Union had opened a fire-hose-like torrent
of hundreds of billions of dollars in flight capital that began to pour
forth from oligarchs, wealthy apparatchiks, and mobsters in Russia
and its satellites. On the other hand, Donald Trump’s zeal to sell
condos, no questions asked, to shell companies meant that Russians
could launder vast amounts of money while hiding their personal
identities. Over the next thirty years, dozens of lawyers, accountants,



real estate agents, mortgage brokers, and other white-collar
professionals came together to facilitate such transactions on a
massive scale.

As the Financial Times notes, the fact that the US and the UK,
unlike most Western democracies, permit anonymous ownership of
real estate facilitates money laundering of roughly $300 billion per
year in the United States alone, most of it from Russia.8 As a result,
luxury real estate has provided a haven for Russian oligarchs and their
kleptocratic president, Vladimir Putin, son of a factory worker and
Russian seaman, to stash billions of dollars.

All-cash purchases through shell companies are not in and of
themselves illegal or improper, and they have become more common
in recent years in luxury home sales all over the world. Nor are sellers
under any obligation to question where a buyer’s money comes from.
However, Trump appears to have taken advantage of these weak
regulations to sell en masse to the Russians.

Because it is so difficult to penetrate the shell companies that
purchased these condos, it is almost impossible for reporters—or, for
that matter, anyone without subpoena power—to ascertain the scale at
which such laundering may have taken place in Trump-branded
properties. Nevertheless, according to a BuzzFeed investigation by
Thomas Frank, more than 1,300 condos, one-fifth of all Trump-
branded condos sold in the US since the eighties, were sold “in
secretive, all-cash transactions that enable buyers to avoid legal
scrutiny by shielding their finances and identities.”9

The BuzzFeed article added that the total value of these condo sales
—sales that match the US Treasury’s criteria for possible money
laundering—was about $1.5 billion, a figure that actually may
understate the amount of dirty money in play. The article did not
include Trump’s many buildings outside the United States, such as
Trump-branded high-rises in Canada, the Philippines, Panama,
Uruguay, Turkey, India, South Korea, and other countries where
President Trump often licenses his name and collects royalties.

As a teenager, Donald Trump had helped out in Trump Village, a
Brighton Beach–adjacent development in Coney Island his father had



built (in fact, the only Trump real estate development named after
Fred Trump rather than Donald), by collecting money from the
washing machines in the shared laundry used by Russian émigrés and
the like—in the form of nickels, dimes, and quarters. Now he was
participating in a very different kind of laundering operation—and this
time the scale of the money was monumental.

—
David Bogatin fled the United States in 1987 to avoid prosecution for
his gas tax scam, and was extradited from Poland five years later.10

When he returned, he was imprisoned for the scam, but it remains
unclear whether or not Trump knew about the illicit source of
Bogatin’s money.

Still, over the next four decades similar transactions took place in
Trump Tower and other Trump-branded buildings so frequently that
it’s hard to imagine Donald Trump had no knowledge whatsoever
about what was going on. Bogatin may have been the first Russian to
use Trump condos to launder money, but other criminals with ties to
the Italian mob had already done the same. Indeed, Lucchese crime
family associate Robert Hopkins, who ran one of New York’s biggest
illegal gambling operations, bought his Trump Tower apartments in
1981—two years before the building opened. When he met Trump at
the closing, he opened his briefcase and approximately $200,000 in
cash spilled out on Trump’s conference table. Similarly, soon after
Trump Tower opened in 1983, Italian financier Roberto Polo, who was
subsequently jailed for embezzlement, bought six Trump Tower
apartments in the names of offshore shell companies.11 And Jean-
Claude “Baby Doc” Duvalier, the brutal and corrupt former leader of
Haiti, bought an apartment on the fifty-fourth floor in August of
1983.12

Still, Bogatin’s purchase of five apartments in Trump Tower was
unique in that it did nothing less than link the future president of the
United States to murderous Russian mafiosi and their subculture of
drugs, money laundering, extortion rackets, prostitution, and more.



Even more important, the transaction may have represented an
initial contact from Soviet intelligence to see if Trump was a potential
Soviet “asset,” or agent of influence. Within the world of intelligence,
assets are persons within countries being spied upon who provide
intelligence to a foreign power. Different categories of assets include
those who elect to work for a foreign government because they prefer
its ideology, those who betray their country for monetary gain, those
who are being blackmailed, and so-called useful idiots who don’t even
know they are being used, but who still provide valuable information
through security lapses or blind pursuit of their own agendas.

When he was asked about the Bogatin-Trump transaction, Oleg
Kalugin, the former head of counterintelligence for the KGB, said he
was “not surprised. That’s typical.”

“Normally, the procedures of major intelligence and secret police
organizations are intended to collect sufficient information to see if the
guy will collaborate,” he added.13 “If he is willing to collaborate, he
may be useful.”

At the time, the KGB was deeply concerned about its failure to
recruit more American assets and had issued instructions to agents
abroad to find US targets to cultivate.14 In Trump, the Soviets had
discovered a man who was so intoxicated by a huge new clientele with
boatloads of cash that he engaged in dubious transactions without
asking questions. Doing business with Trump allowed the Russian
Mafia to secure a significant new foothold in the United States and
begin an offensive that continues to assault America’s most essential
democratic institutions to this day. Moreover, as early as 1984, the
Russians had discovered that as long as they had money, Donald
Trump was listening.

All of which made Trump, initially at least, a tiny part of an historic
conflict that began as blowback from the end of the Cold War. For
Vladimir Putin, the demise of the Soviet Union had been “the greatest
geopolitical catastrophe of the century.”15 But even that was
exacerbated by what came next: One by one, no fewer than thirteen
Eastern Bloc nations joined NATO.*



Putin, however, drew a line in the sand with regard to Ukraine.
After the Euromaidan protests against Russian aggression began in
Ukraine in 2013, Russia launched a massive global offensive in which
its strategic goals were to weaken not only the United States but
Britain, NATO, the European Union, and, indeed, the entire Western
Alliance.

The battle was against not just the United States but the West itself,
as Russia repeatedly interceded in domestic politics in the United
Kingdom, where it fueled the successful Brexit campaign, in which UK
citizens voted to leave the European Union; in the Netherlands, where
it backed Geert Wilders; in France, where it supported Marine Le Pen;
in Ukraine, where it backed Viktor Yanukovych and other pro-Putin
forces; and in Hungary, Poland, and elsewhere in Eastern Europe as
well.

The most striking fact of this massive new global conflict, however,
may have been that barely anyone noticed that it was taking place. It
was extraordinary. War is generally defined as armed conflict.
However, Vladimir Putin had attacked the sovereignty of America and
other Western nations—a Virtual World War III, if you like—but
almost no one reported on it in the newspapers, on TV, on the radio,
or on the Internet. That’s because this was a war by other means, a war
that eschewed the bombs, bullets, and boots on the ground of
conventional warfare, and instead relied on a new, sophisticated,
asymmetric, hybrid form of “nonlinear” warfare.

Only on rare occasions did Russia resort to old-fashioned military
intervention, as it did in 2014 when Russian troops were a prelude to
the annexation of the Crimea during the Ukraine crisis. Instead, Putin
waged a shadow war, or “virtual” war, consisting of covert operations,
disinformation, and cyber warfare. It was a war in which Russia
hacked its adversaries; used third parties, such as Julian Assange and
WikiLeaks, to make it seem as if leaks had emanated from heroic,
highly principled whistleblowers, rather than Russian intelligence;
hijacked social media and exploited algorithms to make highly
provocative “fake news” go viral; transformed Facebook into one of the
biggest purveyors of Russian propaganda on the planet; deliberately
used not only “alternative facts” and fake news but bogus websites that



pretended to correct fake news, and, in the process, upended the very
notion of truth, of reality itself, of what is real.

Of course, all of this did not go entirely unnoticed. But in Russia,
investigative journalists, rogue intelligence agents, and opposition
politicians who revealed the truth inevitably faced brutal reprisals. In
2000, Paul Klebnikov published Godfather of the Kremlin: The
Decline of Russia in the Age of Gangster Capitalism, in which he
compared Russian oligarch Boris Berezovsky to a Sicilian mafioso.
Four years later, having just become the editor of Forbes’s Russian
edition, Klebnikov published a list of the one hundred richest
Russians, and was shot and killed by unknown assailants.16

Similarly, Russian journalist Anna Politkovskaya; Alexander
Litvinenko, a former officer of the Russian Federal Security Service
(FSB) and KGB who had blamed Putin for ordering Politkovskaya’s
assassination; and Sergei Magnitsky, a Russian lawyer and auditor
representing Bill Browder’s Hermitage Capital Management, are just a
few* of the scores of people who died mysteriously after investigating
the alleged crimes of Putin and his oligarchs.17

As a key component of this battle, Vladimir Putin used a secret
weapon that few Americans understood. While the Italian Mafia in the
US exists largely to serve its own interests, in Russia things were
different. Where Americans cracked down on organized crime, Putin
co-opted it. He weaponized it. Russian gangsters became, in effect,
Putin’s enforcers. This is not merely a metaphor. As Oleg Kalugin,
former head of counterintelligence for the KGB, told me, in effect, “the
Mafia is one of the branches of the Russian government today.”18

All of which means that, since coming to power first as prime
minister in 1999 and then as president in 2000, Putin’s greatest
triumph is his extraordinary command over a Mafia state, a political
system that is effectively a government of, by, and for organized crime.
As author Karen Dawisha explains in Putin’s Kleptocracy, the Mafia
had come together with former KGB officials and the political and
economic elites, combining their money and power to forge the basis
for Putin’s authoritarian kleptocracy,19 a kleptocracy that ushered in
an era of global theft on an unimaginable level and has reportedly



made Vladimir Putin the richest man in the world, with wealth,
according to Hermitage Capital Management CEO Bill Browder,
approaching $200 billion.20

As a result of this unfathomable greed, untold billions that
ordinarily would have been spent on education, transportation, health
care, and other services in Russia and its trading partners have been
stashed in offshore bank accounts, hedge funds, and luxury condos for
Putin and his cronies who were allowed to make billions through drug
trafficking, extortion, elaborate financial schemes, the sex trade, arms
deals, and the like on just one fundamental condition: they work
within Putin’s rules to further his strategic goals. They were then free
to compromise persons of influence in the West via various forms of
kompromat that documented money laundering, illicit sexual trysts,
and other potential scandals—provided that they serve his political
agenda, that they act as intelligence operatives, that they recruit
assets, that they collect intelligence on persons of interest. In effect,
they became geopolitical weapons against the West.

Putin’s ascent is best described not by old-school Kremlinologists
but, as former world chess champion Garry Kasparov explains in
Winter Is Coming, “by the achievements of Don Vito Corleone: the
web of betrayals, the secrecy, and the blurred lines between what is
business, what is government, and what is criminal—it’s all there in
[Mario] Puzo’s books . . . a strict hierarchy, extortion, intimidation, a
tough-guy image, a long string of convenient deaths among leading
critics, eliminating traitors, the code of secrecy and loyalty, and, above
all, a mandate to keep the revenue flowing.”21

In other words, it was a Mafia—which was something Donald
Trump knew a lot about.
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CHAPTER THREE

MARRIED TO THE MOB

onald Trump was no virgin when it came to organized crime. In
fact, the Trump family had a taste for it dating back three
generations.*

It began at the tail end of the nineteenth century when a rogue
entrepreneur who happened to become Donald Trump’s grandfather
headed out for Canada’s Yukon Territory during the Klondike Gold
Rush and sought to make his fortune not by panning for gold, but by
providing essential services for gold miners.1 According to author
Gwenda Blair, among the various enterprises owned by Frederick, né
Friedrich, Trump, was a restaurant sometimes called the Dairy
Restaurant and sometimes called the Poodle Dog, which advertised
“Private Rooms for Ladies”—a polite euphemism for prostitution.2

A generation later, Fred Trump, the son of Frederick, and Donald’s
father, started out building single-family houses in Queens3 and then
became wealthy thanks to windfall profits from building government-
backed housing in Brooklyn and Queens.4

Fred’s influence was particularly conspicuous in the Brooklyn
neighborhoods of Brighton Beach and Coney Island. Brighton Beach
had a marvelous sandy coast looking out on the Atlantic and the
adjacent Coney Island amusement park, all just ten miles from
Manhattan—everything one could ask for in a delightful seaside resort.
Unfortunately, it had become scarred by the egregious urban renewal
policies of New York “master builder” Robert Moses, which
transformed parts of the healthy middle-class neighborhood into a
festering slum.5



Much of this decline came from Fred Trump’s projects in the area,
which were tainted by scandal, misappropriation of funds, and
cronyism in one form or another. New developments often led to
federal hearings and investigations into Trump’s business practices,
allegations that Trump defrauded veterans in rental agreements, and
allegations of racism. According to Coney Island historian Charles
Denson, Fred Trump was so shrewd at exploiting the weak spots in
federal regulations that “federal laws had to be changed to prevent the
kind of nefarious schemes that Trump excelled in.”6

Fred usually got his way, but when he didn’t, there was hell to pay.
After being denied a zoning change in his effort to build Miami Beach–
style high-rises at Coney Island’s famed Steeplechase Park, Donald’s
father was so frustrated that he threw a party at the site and invited
guests to vandalize the stained glass façade of the Pavilion, knocking
out the teeth of the enormous Steeplechase funny face, a local
landmark. “This sad event was a vindictive and shameful act by a
grown man behaving like a juvenile delinquent. It wasn’t business—it
was personal,” wrote Denson, asserting that it revealed “a twisted
personality that was unusual for even the most hard-bitten
developers.”7

Fred’s projects often involved people tied to the mob, and he dealt
with them with the help of Brad Zackson, a convicted felon who had
spent nearly five years in jail after taking a plea to dodge an attempted
murder charge,8 and who served as Fred’s consigliere9 and the
exclusive broker10 for all his properties. (Zackson later worked with
Donald Trump campaign manager Paul Manafort as Manafort’s “real
estate fixer,” as the Real Deal put it, “a Fred Trump protégé with a
checkered past and an appetite for fanciful deals.”)11

According to the New York State Organized Crime Task Force’s
investigations in the fifties, a complicated web of relationships tied
Fred’s partner Willie Tomasello to both the Gambino and Genovese12

crime families, as well as to Lucky Luciano, a father of modern
organized crime in America.13 In addition, when it came to getting
crucial favors from city hall insiders, such as zoning approvals, Fred



relied on Kenny Sutherland, an ally of the Lucchese family, which had
become enormously powerful in city and state politics.14

Meanwhile, even in high school at New York Military Academy,
Donald was so obsessed with money that he bragged about his father’s
wealth—he pegged it at $30 million—and boasted that it doubled every
year.15 “He was already focused on the future, thinking long-term
more than present,” said his roommate David Smith. “He used to talk
about his dad’s business, how he would use him as a role model but go
one step further.”

In his spare time, Donald worked enough with his father to learn
the real estate game, running errands, hosing down construction sites,
and collecting those coins from the laundry rooms at the seven high-
rises his father called Trump Village.16

In the end, however, Donald saw his father’s vision as severely
limited by the humble outer boroughs of New York and desperately
wanted to take things further. “I want to be in mid-Manhattan, where
all the top stuff is going on,” he said early on in his career. “I’ll never
be involved with the old man’s property except when he needs me.”17

Determined to leave behind the more modest world of Brooklyn
and Queens, in the midseventies, Donald, then still in his twenties,
reached across the East River for the brass ring—Manhattan.

By that time, however, New York City had hit rock bottom.
Manufacturing had fled the city. Crime was soaring. By the spring of
1975, the city had an operating deficit of at least $750 million18 and a
debt level of more than $11 billion, and its credit had been exhausted.
In October 1975, President Gerald Ford declared he would veto any bill
that called for a federal bailout to save New York from bankruptcy. An
unforgettable and iconic headline in the New York Daily News put it
succinctly: “Ford to City: Drop Dead.”

For Donald Trump, the fact that the entire city was on the verge of
bankruptcy was good news indeed, because prices could not go much
lower. For his option to buy the dilapidated, rat-infested Commodore
Hotel on East Forty-Second Street, Trump paid exactly $1.19 Decrepit
though it was, the Commodore had two things going for it: First, it was
adjacent to Grand Central Terminal, a spectacular location—if the city



came back to life. And second, because the property was so big, the
upside was potentially colossal in a city valued by the square foot. It
was the opportunity of a lifetime.

Helping Trump navigate the perilous waters necessary to get the
political support and legal tax abatements to consummate the deal was
none other than Roy Cohn, Trump’s mentor and role model, the
ruthless, heavy-lidded attorney who served as a brutal and pitiless
fixer for establishment fixtures (Richard Nixon, Ronald Reagan, and
Rupert Murdoch, among others) and mobsters alike (Anthony “Fat
Tony” Salerno, Carmine Galante, and John Gotti).

An iconic figure who truly embodied the dark side of his era, Cohn
has been dead for more than three decades but still casts a long
shadow over American politics. Cohn won notoriety as the hatchet
man for Senator Joe McCarthy, the red-baiting demagogue of the
fifties, leading McCarthy’s aggressive, prosecutorial witch hunt against
alleged communists. One of his most infamous Red Scare triumphs
took place during the trial of Julius and Ethel Rosenberg, who were
convicted of espionage in 1951. Cohn’s great feat was to succeed in
bullying David Greenglass to testify against his sister, Ethel
Rosenberg. Later, Greenglass admitted he had lied on the stand, at
Cohn’s insistence, when he testified that his sister typed notes that
were sent to the Soviets. As a result of his testimony, Ethel was
executed in the electric chair.20

One of several cases that led to Cohn’s eventual disbarment had
him entering the room of a dying multimillionaire client, Lewis
Rosenstiel, misrepresenting a document that would have made Cohn
executor of his will and emerging with a shakily signed signature that
the courts refused to accept.21

By the 1970s, Cohn became one of many celebrities hanging out at
Studio 54, the epochal New York disco, with Andy Warhol, Bianca
Jagger, Liza Minnelli, and the club’s owners, Steve Rubell and Ian
Schrager. There, Cohn became known as “the most evil, twisted,
vicious bastard ever to snort coke at Studio 54,” as described by a
character in Tony Kushner’s Angels in America.22



Kushner’s play, of course, was fiction, but Cohn was described
similarly by those who knew him in real life. “You knew when you
were in Cohn’s presence you were in the presence of pure evil,” lawyer
Victor A. Kovner told Vanity Fair.23

“He was a tangle of contradictions, a Jewish anti-Semite and a
homosexual homophobe, vehemently closeted but insatiably
promiscuous,” wrote Michael Kruse in Politico.24

Donald Trump had met Cohn at another Manhattan nightspot, Le
Club, a pre–disco era successor to café society haunts like El Morocco
and the Stork Club, where the fixers and society swells had drinks and
traded favors. Trump was instantly captivated by Cohn’s combative,
belligerent style and later allowed it to shape his approach to politics.
Meanwhile, Cohn helped the Trumps battle a 1973 lawsuit by the Civil
Rights Division of the Justice Department alleging that Trump rental
properties refused to rent to minority applicants.25 Cohn advised
Donald to tell the government “to go to hell and fight the thing in
court.”26

Which is precisely what Trump did, with Cohn as his lead attorney,
suing the United States government for $100 million (roughly $575
million in 2018 dollars) on behalf of Trump Management, asserting
that the charges were “irresponsible and baseless.”27 In effect, Donald
had adopted Roy Cohn’s credo as his own: Always attack. Never
apologize. Attack, attack, attack.

As Marie Brenner noted in Vanity Fair, by the time he became
Trump’s lawyer, Cohn had carved out a unique place for himself with
his unparalleled mastery of New York’s “Favor Bank,” that invisible
network of tacit understandings through which cops, lawyers, judges,
machers, influence peddlers, and crooks make the world go round.28

Cohn was so adept that Trump sometimes phoned him fifteen or
twenty times a day, calling upon his magical ability to win an inside fix
on generous but dubious tax abatements, zoning variances, contract
disputes, and the like. He had become “a walking advertisement for
every form of graft, the best-known fixer in New York,” Wayne Barrett
wrote.29 Years later, in moments of crisis long after Cohn’s death,



President Donald Trump was known to shout out to the world,
“Where’s my Roy Cohn?”* 30

As the Commodore project took shape, Cohn, as consigliere for the
two biggest crime families in New York, the Genoveses and the
Gambinos,31 was invaluable in helping Trump traverse otherwise
choppy waters with concrete contractors, demolition companies, and
the like that were often controlled by the mob.

At the time, most developers who used ready-mix concrete were
vulnerable to work stoppages by the Teamsters, construction unions,
and mobsters who controlled the unions. But when it came to breaking
ground on Trump Tower in 1979, Trump bought his Manhattan ready-
mix from a mobbed-up company called S & A Concrete that was
secretly owned by Mafia chieftains Anthony “Fat Tony” Salerno, of the
Genovese crime family, and Gambino boss Paul Castellano, both of
whom were regular visitors to Roy Cohn’s East Side town house.32

According to Wayne Barrett, Cohn may even have arranged a meeting
in the living room of his town house between Trump and Salerno.33

For carpentry, Trump used a company that also was controlled by
the Genoveses.34 In those days, working with mob contractors wasn’t
particularly unusual for New York developers because the Five
Families controlled both the major construction firms and the unions
representing their workers.35 But thanks to Roy Cohn, who
represented both Salerno and Castellano, Trump never had to worry
about work stoppages orchestrated by the Mafia to extort more cash.36

That was just one part of the beauty of being connected.
In the end, Roy Cohn helped Trump save $120 million through tax

abatements from the city,37 which enabled Trump and his partners,
the Pritzker family’s Hyatt Corporation, to renovate the Commodore
for $100 million, put a façade of mirrored glass on its skeleton, and
transform it into the 1,407-room Grand Hyatt. In 1996, twenty years
after he optioned it for $1, Trump sold his share for $140 million.38

Cohn died in 1986, and whether or not he was the genius who
orchestrated the use of anonymous shell companies to launder money
through real estate is unclear. At the time Trump Tower was being
planned, though, Cohn was in fact Trump’s lawyer and represented



Robert Hopkins,39 the Lucchese crime family associate who Cohn had
recruited40 to pay almost $2 million to buy two units in the still-
unfinished building as a way of establishing a high market value.
Finally, Cohn clearly did have experience with creative accounting: He
represented Studio 54 owners Ian Schrager and Steve Rubell when
they were accused of skimming nearly $2.5 million in unreported
income. In the end, they pleaded guilty, only admitting to skimming
$366,000, and went to jail.*

As for how he felt about Cohn’s mob connections, in The Art of the
Deal, Trump wrote, “I don’t kid myself about Roy. He was no Boy
Scout. He once told me that he’d spent more than two-thirds of his
adult life under indictment on one charge or another. That amazed
me. I said to him, ‘Roy, just tell me one thing. Did you really do all that
stuff?’ He looked at me and smiled. ‘What the hell do you think?’ he
said.”41

In the end, Trump said he never really knew what the answer was.
Besides, all that actually mattered was that Trump’s first deal in
Manhattan had been a success, no matter what it took.
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CHAPTER FOUR

BRIGHTON BEACH

t the same time Trump was learning about wiseguys from Roy
Cohn, the Russian Mafia began invading Brighton Beach. It had
started as an unintended consequence of legislation dealing

with the Cold War. In 1974, Senator Henry M. “Scoop” Jackson of
Washington and Representative Charles A. Vanik of Ohio, two
Democrats who were concerned about Soviet anti-Semitism, had
passed a bill that allowed the Soviet Union to enjoy normal trade
relations with the US, but only if it let Jewish refugees immigrate to
America.

In the aftermath of the Jackson-Vanik Amendment, more than six
hundred thousand Soviet Jews emigrated from the USSR, but the KGB
made certain that emigration was not limited to innocent victims of
anti-Semitism. Instead, the Soviets opened the gates of their gulags,
just like Fidel Castro did later, during the Mariel boatlift of 1980, and
released thousands of hard-core criminals, among them convicted
murderers, psychopaths, thieves, and the like, many of whom settled
in Brighton Beach.1

A Yiddish-inflected world that was sentimentalized and satirized in
Neil Simon plays and Woody Allen movies, Brighton Beach had long
been a place where people strolled the boardwalk, scarfed down hot
dogs at Nathan’s Famous, rode the famed Cyclone roller coaster, and
enjoyed other rides at Luna Park, Steeplechase Park, and Dreamland,
in nearby Coney Island.

Even before the Russians arrived, however, the neighborhood had
been in a steep decline. Heavy manufacturing had abandoned
Brooklyn en masse. With the huge loss of jobs, more than three



hundred thousand middle-class people had already fled the borough.2

Now, with the wave of émigrés, there were new meat markets,
vegetable pushcarts, Russian bakeries, and specialty stores selling
knishes, blintzes, herring, and borscht. Russian restaurants
proliferated, their menus written only in Cyrillic.3 Storefronts under
the elevated train on Brighton Beach Avenue offered marriage
brokerages, immigration assistance, and other services to a largely
Russian clientele.

There were late evenings that went on into the early morning hours
at vast, gaudy supper club/cabarets like the Odessa and the National
and, later, Café Tatiana and Rasputin, featuring loud, festive nine-
course dinners with massive amounts of borscht, sturgeon, sable, beef
Stroganoff, and iced bottles of Stolichnaya. There were dancing and
garish, over-the-top Vegas-style floor shows, replete with gold lamé
gowns and sequins, sequins, sequins. For music, there was a mix of
techno, disco, and Russian songs, including those by the renowned
Iosif Kobzon, aka the Russian Sinatra, who happened to be notorious
because of his Mafia ties. If you were lucky, he’d be there live, in
person, crooning “Strangers in the Night.”

In some quarters, Brighton Beach became known as Little Odessa,
after the Ukrainian city on the Black Sea. And criminals were not the
only dubious characters among the new émigrés. There were also
spies. According to Oleg Kalugin, the former head of
counterintelligence for the KGB, at least two hundred Jews from
Leningrad (now St. Petersburg) alone went to the US, and many of
them promised to report back to the KGB once they were settled. The
KGB’s goal was to place them in sensitive positions in the American
government or the military-industrial complex.4

Once these agents were installed, many of them, including Kalugin
himself, began to recruit more spies for the Soviets. “Brighton Beach
was one of the places I would look for potential sources of
information,” Kalugin told me.5 “I had one guy who I used to meet late
at night at Rasputin. That’s where I used to go. I would look around,
pick up some people, and check their backgrounds with Moscow to see



if they were good enough that I should promote a relationship with
them.”

Even though Brighton Beach was Fred Trump’s territory, Donald
began developing his own contacts among the new Russian émigrés,
including a man named Semyon Kislin. When it came to equipping his
newly renovated Grand Hyatt Hotel, née the Commodore, with TV sets
in the late seventies, Trump reached out to Kislin to buy a few hundred
on credit. “I gave him [Trump] 30 days, and in exactly 30 days he paid
me back,” said Kislin.* 6

For Trump, it was the beginning of a long association, and the first
of many relationships to people who were allegedly tied to Russian
mafiosi.7 Kislin and his partner, Temur Sepiashvili, aka Tamir Sapir,8
both of whom allegedly had mob ties, started an electronics store that
was well-known among Soviet citizens9 in the United States and,
according to the New York Times, became a wholesale outlet from
which Soviet diplomats, KGB agents, and Politburo members bought
their electronic equipment.10

Another émigré of note was Michael Sheferovsky (aka Michael
Sheferofsky and Mikhail Sater), who had been a major player in the
black market with the mob in Moscow until he moved to Baltimore
with his family in the early seventies. In 1977, he moved to Brighton
Beach with his wife and kids, and worked with Ernest “Butch”
Montevecchi, a soldier in the Genovese crime gang,11 which had begun
to forge a partnership with the newly arrived Russians. Sheferovsky’s
specialty was extortion: his targets included restaurants, food stores,
and a medical clinic in Brighton Beach.12

Sheferovsky had a son, Felix (who changed his last name to Sater),
who went into the family business but had grand dreams for the future
that led to a working relationship more than two decades later with
Fred’s son Donald that was full of intrigue.

In addition, petitioners in a court case regarding Felix referred to
Sheferovsky as “a Mogilevich crime syndicate boss.”13 That last name
—Mogilevich—may be unfamiliar to many readers, as it is to the vast
majority of Americans. For crime buffs, however, the name is all too
recognizable as a reference to Semion Mogilevich, “the boss of bosses”



of the Russian Mafia, as the FBI has called him, a man who graced the
FBI’s “Ten Most Wanted” list for many years—and a man who
surreptitiously played an extraordinarily powerful role in the ascent of
Donald Trump.

—
To the ordinary working people of Brighton Beach, there were plenty
of signs that the new arrivals were not always on the right side of the
law. On the back streets of adjacent Manhattan Beach, it was not
unusual to see two adjoining houses knocked down and replaced by a
multimillion-dollar McMansion replete with elaborate landscaping,
marble finishes, and extravagant furniture. Older people on food
stamps and social security had to make way for rich young Russians
driving Lexuses, BMWs, even Rolls-Royces, loaded with suitcases full
of money.

More ominously, many of the new Russians sported foreboding
gulag tattoos. Forged passports, social security cards, or driver’s
licenses could be had easily—for a price. Taxi drivers and émigrés in
other modestly paid fields suddenly emerged as billionaires, with no
real explanation. Rasputin, the gaudy restaurant/nightclub on Coney
Island Avenue, boasted an amenity that was certain to raise questions
about security with even the most hardened Manhattan restaurant
patron—toilet stalls with bulletproof doors.14 Before long, virtually
every business in Brighton Beach was either connected to the mob or
had to weigh carefully the danger of not paying them off.

One of the first journalists to penetrate this new outlaw subculture
was Robert I. Friedman, who chronicled the lurid Brighton Beach
underworld of tattooed gangsters engaged in money laundering,
extortion, prostitution, drugs, and murder as it evolved into a
multibillion-dollar international criminal enterprise. Today, for
reasons he could not possibly have predicted, the world portrayed in
his book Red Mafiya has more resonance than ever because it
presents a richly textured picture of the Russian mobsters—money
launderers, con men, extortionists, and murderers—who initiated ties
to Donald J. Trump.



The Russian Mafia’s exotic and colorful history dates back more
than three hundred years to the time of the tsars, when Russia’s
toughest hard-core criminals first banded together15 through imperial
Russia’s vast network of gulags* and gave birth to a special breed of
elite criminal known as vory v zakone, which is variously translated as
“thieves professing the code” or the more widely used “thieves-in-
law.”*

Though sometimes compared to the “made men” or “godfathers” of
the Italian Mafia, the vory are a uniquely Russian product of Soviet16

reality. They grew out of the Stalinist era, when the gulags were
flooded with political prisoners and criminals, giving birth to a
clandestine subculture, with its own code of ethics and hierarchy, that
ruled the criminal underworld within the prison camps and governed
the darkest sectors of Soviet life beyond the reach of the KGB.17

The vory were governed by a strict code that forbade working a
legitimate job, paying taxes, fighting in the army, cooperating with
authorities, or participating in officially sanctioned political
activities.18 A criminal caste that swore allegiance to its own brand of
criminal ideals, the vory subsisted on petty theft and black-market
profiteering when not in jail. They developed their own secret
language that officials were unable to figure out, their own slang, their
own nicknames. They set up a communal fund, called “obschak,” to
bribe authorities, finance criminal business enterprises, and help
fellow criminals.

The story of their lives was written on their bodies in tattoos. This
was a subculture that fetishized brutality and it was spelled out
through images that signified the exploits, rank, occupation, and
status of the bearer. A giant eagle with huge, menacing talons tattooed
on someone’s chest proclaimed his status as vor. Stars tattooed on the
knees meant the bearer kneeled before no one. On the shoulders, stars
signified a man of standing—perhaps a captain in the vory v
zakone.* 19

In the thirties, their numbers increased by leaps and bounds thanks
to Joseph Stalin’s Great Purge, which resulted in millions of people
being sent to gulags. World War II, however, marked a new era for the



Bratva. Thousands of thieves joined the Soviet Army, an apparent
violation of the Thieves’ Code, so a new breed of criminal emerged
with an “every man for himself” attitude that meant they could
occasionally cooperate with the government if necessary.

Then, when Stalin died in 1952, as many as eight million prisoners
were released from the gulags. As the Cold War continued, thievery in
Russia became so deeply institutionalized that corruption effectively
became the business of the state. Illegal small businesses proliferated
everywhere in the Soviet Union. Then the Bratva began to migrate to
the West.

The first great boss of the Russian Mafia in America was Evsei
Agron, a vor v zakone from Leningrad via the gulags, who arrived in
1975. An extortionist, black marketer, and killer,20 Agron had served
seven years for murder in the Soviet prisons, and had run gambling
and prostitution rackets in Germany,21 before coming to New York.22

Though he declared himself to be a jeweler on his immigration papers,
upon his arrival Agron began to put together a rudimentary criminal
organization with about twenty people.23 He worked out of El Caribe
Country Club, a banquet hall and restaurant in Brooklyn in the name
of Dr. Morton Levine, who shared ownership of it with his relatives,
including his young nephew Michael D. Cohen, who later became
Donald Trump’s attorney both in business and as president. (Dr.
Levine was never charged with any wrongdoing.)24

Agron, whose short, grandfatherly appearance belied his rapacious
nature, ran a lucrative extortion ring that terrorized Russian émigré
doctors, lawyers, and shopkeepers,25 netting him about $50,000 a
week.26 Known for his brutality, he carried a cattle prod under his arm
as a highly effective means of persuading debtors to pony up.27 Among
his many infamous exploits, he extorted $15,000 from a man by
threatening to murder his daughter at her wedding.28

Overseeing a motley crew of con men, thieves, extortionists, and
swindlers, Agron was often accompanied by the ferocious Nayfeld
brothers, Benjamin and Boris. According to Red Mafiya, the former, a
steroid-enhanced ex–Olympic weight lifter who boasted a twenty-two-
inch neck, once killed a Jewish teenager in a local parking lot “by



picking him up like a ragdoll with one hand and plunging a knife into
his heart with the other.”* 29

Agron also relied on Emile Puzyretsky as another enforcer. Known
as the Technicolor Killer because of his colorful tattoos, “Puzyretsky
had a great contempt for life. He killed his enemies with force, fury,
and no mercy,” a Russian militia colonel told Friedman.30

Locals “were scared shitless of [Agron and his men],” said FBI
agent William Moschella.31

And so, having put fear in the hearts of his Brighton Beach
supplicants, Evsei Agron adopted the life of a Mafia don, holding court
in local restaurants, making collection rounds in his chauffeured
limousine, and pausing on street corners to dispense favors.
Unfortunately, Agron performed his daily rituals with the kind of
phony theatrics that convinced locals that for Agron, being godfather
was merely an act. “He would go round in a car with two big guys, they
would open the door for him,” said one Brighton Beach resident.
“Everything was staged.”32

Worse, Agron had failed to establish a code of honor. He had done
little to foster the sense that he was a legitimate authority to resolve
disputes or solve problems. In the end, he was nothing more than a
ruthless neighborhood extortionist who ran a gang of thugs that
terrorized the émigré community.33 By the eighties, he had angered so
many people that it was simply a matter of time before one of them
struck back.

Finally, on the morning of May 4, 1985, after he had already
survived two assassination attempts, Agron pushed the elevator
button in his apartment building to go downstairs, only to be met by a
man in the hallway, who shot him twice in the temple.34

—
Soon afterward, Marat Balagula, Agron’s successor, moved into his
former office in El Caribe Country Club. Balagula was widely
suspected of having ordered the hit on Agron35 but was never charged.

Agron’s stewardship of the Brighton Beach Mafia had been all
about thuggery and torture and physical violence, but Balagula was



different. He had moved to the United States in 1977 and begun
working as a textile cutter in upper Manhattan for $3.50 an hour.36

But just a year later, he had won control over fourteen gas stations,
formed two fuel dealerships, and begun buying gasoline from the
Nayfeld brothers—all of which enabled him to team up with David
Bogatin on the Red Daisy fuel tax scam.37

Balagula bought the Odessa Restaurant, a Russian/Ukrainian
cabaret that was said to be Brighton Beach’s answer to the Moulin
Rouge. The Odessa served immense portions of Russian delicacies,
accompanied by background music from the Motherland by Iosif
Kobzon.

Late at night, when the entertainers had finished, the cabaret/disco
upstairs transformed itself into a people’s court of sorts, in which
Russian mobsters adjudicated local disputes, in the tradition of the
Russian Mafia, with Balagula and his goons taking a piece of the
action.38

When it came to recreational activities that were obligatory for
mobsters, Balagula held all-night sex and drug orgies on lavish yachts
circling Manhattan. He was chauffeured all over town in a white
stretch limo with a stocked bar. He tried to buy an island off the coast
of South Africa to set up a bank for money laundering.39

But in the end, Balagula, unlike Agron, was a modern don.
Intellectuals and political power fascinated him. For the first time, the
Russian Mafia had a vision of taking the organizatsiya into the world
of white-collar crime. From the start, Balagula had cultivated ties with
powerful figures in the legitimate world. Even before he came to the
United States, on his thirtieth birthday, he had thrown himself an
extravagant bash at his dacha in the Crimea. It was attended by none
other than Mikhail Gorbachev, then a regional Communist Party
boss.* 40

Balagula sought out doctors, lawyers, engineers, and professionals
of all stripes. He was a businessman in the sense that he realized if the
Russians were to be in the business of skimming taxes from gas sales,
they might as well have a vertically integrated operation with
oceangoing tankers, terminals, a fleet of gasoline trucks, and scores of



gas stations, all of which could be run by émigrés from the Soviet
Union. Balagula was even able to bring on as a client a midsize $160-
million-a-year company on Long Island called Power Test to buy its
bootleg gas. As a result, the Bratva was on its way to creating a
multibillion-dollar-a-year criminal enterprise.41

The gas tax scam that the FBI called Operation Red Daisy was so
successful that over time it spread beyond the New York–New Jersey
market to Pennsylvania, Ohio, Texas, California, Georgia, and
Florida.42 Still, there were major differences between the Italians and
the Russians. “When the Russians arrived, they came from a world
where they didn’t have toilets,” says author (Wiseguy) and
screenwriter (Goodfellas, Casino, etc.) Nicholas Pileggi, who covered
the Italian mob for New York magazine in the eighties. “But they knew
calculus. They had no deodorants. But they had an education. All of
this made them beautifully suited to do financial frauds like the gas tax
scam, Medicaid fraud, and pump-and-dump stock scams.”43

Having come of age in a country that had no investor class and no
Wall Street, Russians took their considerable financial acumen and
devoted it to crime. Whether it was tax distribution, Medicaid fraud,
pump-and-dump stock scams, auto insurance fraud, tax fraud, or
money laundering, if there was a loophole or a systemic weakness in
the American governmental or corporate infrastructure, the Russians
would seek it out and find it. Balagula’s gang pursued forgery and
counterfeiting as well.

Nevertheless, they had the advantage of being off the FBI’s radar
screen, relatively speaking. “At the time there were as many as three
hundred FBI agents in New York assigned to each of the Five Families
of the Italian Mafia,” says Pileggi. “Fifteen hundred in all. The FBI had
almost no one on the Russians. For one thing, they didn’t speak the
language.”

Plus, Pileggi says, there were political reasons not to take on the
Russians. “They turned a blind eye to it because so many of the
Russians were Jewish. They didn’t want to make problems for
legitimate Jews in Brooklyn, and the overwhelming majority was



legitimate. If they went off against the gangsters, they were afraid it
would hurt Soviet Jewry, so there was no real effort.”

From the beginning, the Russians didn’t give a moment’s thought to
the FBI. “They feel we are pussycats,” said one New York detective
who was monitoring them, “and the United States is one big candy
store.”44

—
With the advent of Ronald Reagan’s presidency in the eighties, the
center of gravity in America shifted dramatically away from its post-
Watergate hangover. Thanks to Reagan’s sunny optimism, every day,
as if by edict, was a new morning not just in America, but in New York
City as well. New York’s fiscal crisis receded to the rearview mirror.
Wall Street was booming. The Dow soared. Men in suits donned power
ties and red suspenders and reemerged as Masters of the Universe.
Junk bonds and leveraged buyouts became sexy. The Predators’ Ball,
Barbarians at the Gate, Liar’s Poker, and The Bonfire of the Vanities
dominated the bestseller list by chronicling a new world of stupendous
wealth, glamour, and conspicuous consumption, and how it came to
be. Manhattan, Inc., a now-defunct glossy monthly magazine, deified
the big swinging dicks of Wall Street as the new rock stars of the era.

Suddenly, “greed—for lack of a better word—[was] good,” as
Michael Douglas’s Gordon Gekko put it in Wall Street. Greed was
right. Greed worked. Greed clarified.

No one embodied the new zeitgeist more than Donald Trump, who,
from his Fifth Avenue aerie, had transformed himself into an
international tabloid celebrity who personified a spectacularly
luxurious lifestyle and was pumping it for all it was worth. Trump
Tower was his defining moment, the point at which Trump invented
himself as a dream maker, as the epitome of luxury and success.

And so, he set off in half a dozen directions simultaneously, after
his success with the old Commodore—sports, publishing, gambling,
real estate, airlines, and more—marketing himself nonstop, like a
latter-day P. T. Barnum, as the creature most emblematic of this new
age of celebrity, grandiosity, and conspicuous consumption.



Trump always said his building had the “Tiffany location,” and, on
that score at least, he was correct. The building was surrounded by the
most exalted names in the luxury marketplace—Bergdorf Goodman,
Henri Bendel, Bulgari, Van Cleef & Arpels, and Tiffany. Over the years,
the building was also home to Steven Spielberg, Michael Jackson,
Sophia Loren, Johnny Carson, Bruce Willis, Liberace, and, of course,
the man whose fame ultimately exceeded theirs—Donald Trump
himself.

At the heart of his success was a no-holds-barred approach to PR
that Trump once explained to casino executive John Allen. “Here’s
how I work,” he said. “I call the society editor [of one of the New York
tabloids] and tell them that Princess Di and Prince Charles are going
to purchase an apartment in Trump Tower. And they, in turn,
investigate the source, call Buckingham Palace. And the comment is
‘No comment.’ Which means that it appears to the public that Princess
Di and Prince Charles are going to purchase an apartment in Trump
Tower.”45

Of course, Prince Charles never had the slightest intention of
buying a condo in Trump Tower. Nevertheless, with the success of
Trump Tower, Trump was suddenly able to make “Trump” the brand
name for a class of products that had never before had brand names—
luxury apartments. It was, Fortune magazine said, “a textbook
marketing strategy. That name indisputably adds value . . . There is
undeniably a Trump mystique. Some people love him, others despise
him, but everybody talks about him. He has become a cult hero for
many people around the world who seem to regard this flamboyant
billionaire as the most heartening example of the American dream
come true since [Texas computer king] Ross Perot.”46

As if to prove the wisdom of this marketing strategy, in 1982,
Trump began construction of the thirty-six-story Trump Plaza on
Sixty-First Street and Third Avenue. Then he bought the iconic Plaza
Hotel (not to be confused with the aforementioned Trump Plaza),
which, he proclaimed, was not a building but “a masterpiece—the
Mona Lisa.”47



He announced never-realized plans to build “the world’s tallest and
greatest building,”48 a 150-story tower on Manhattan’s West Side. In
1984, he bought the New Jersey Generals in the USFL football league.
Later, he bought Eastern Airlines’ New York–Boston–Washington
routes for $365 million and transformed it into the Trump Shuttle,
making sure its flight attendants were accessorized with pearls.49

When it came to flamboyance, Trump had no equal. In 1985 he
bought Mar-a-Lago, the 128-room, 100,000-square-foot mansion that
heiress Marjorie Merriweather Post hoped would one day serve as a
winter White House. Trump bought a Boeing 727; a “Darth Vader”
helicopter; a huge estate in Greenwich, Connecticut; and a massive
yacht, the Trump Princess.50 And in 1987, he told the world all about
it when Random House published his bestseller Trump: The Art of the
Deal, which was written by Tony Schwartz and stayed on the New
York Times bestseller list for nearly a year.

Real estate developer, casino operator, football team owner,
bestselling author: Trump had transformed himself into a marketing
phenomenon in which his brash self-promotion, however distasteful,
generated a self-perpetuating, larger-than-life aura of success, wealth,
status, and opulence.

But less visibly, Trump was also going through a highly improbable
transformation into becoming a new kind of political figure. It was a
transformation that grew out of Trump’s 1977 marriage to Ivana
Zelníčková, a Czech national who had worked as a model in Canada
and whose father was under surveillance by the Czech secret service,
which, in turn, as a Soviet satellite, was in league with the KGB; his
political education at the feet of Roy Cohn, New York’s most notorious
fixer; and his unbridled ambition to top his father not just by crossing
the river into Manhattan, but by staking out his own place on the
world stage. All of which made him a tempting target of operatives of
the Soviet Union and the Eastern Bloc.



O

CHAPTER FIVE

HONEY TRAP

n a frigid December day in 2017, Oleg Kalugin opens the door
of his house in Rockville, Maryland, an upper-middle-class
suburb of Washington, DC, to meet me. Nothing in particular

distinguishes his split-level suburban home from those of the other
professionals in the neighborhood, but the man who lives there is very
much out of the ordinary, a former KGB spymaster who is now an
American citizen.

Born in St. Petersburg (then Leningrad), Kalugin, at eighty-three,
now lives just half an hour’s drive from the White House, which for
decades was dead center in the crosshairs of the KGB, the dreaded
secret security forces he served as head of counterintelligence. Some
twenty-five years later, he still has “the razor-sharp features and icy
glare of a movie spy,” as David Remnick described him in Lenin’s
Tomb.1 A genial host, Kalugin gives a guided tour of his sprawling
library spread over three rooms and reveals himself to be a man of
history, a veritable Zelig of the Cold War.

A fierce critic of Vladimir Putin, Kalugin, who was sentenced to
fifteen years in jail for treason2 in Russia, moved to the United States
in 1995 and accepted a teaching position at Catholic University in
Washington. A professor at the Centre for Counterintelligence and
Security Studies, where he teaches FBI and CIA officers, he also serves
on the board of the International Spy Museum in Washington.3

Kalugin’s work as a spy began in 1959, when he was a twenty-four-
year-old student at Columbia School of Journalism from Russia—who,
unbeknownst to his classmates, was already undercover as a fair-
haired golden boy of the KGB. But that was just the beginning. In



1960, when Nikita Khrushchev infamously startled the world by
banging his shoe on the podium during the United Nations General
Assembly, that was Kalugin nearby, then as Radio Moscow’s bureau
chief in New York—or at least that was his KGB cover. “This country
was always a paradise for spies,” he told me.4

In 1970, Kalugin returned to KGB headquarters in Moscow, where
he eventually headed the K branch of the First Chief Directorate,
which was responsible for foreign operations and intelligence
collection. If you’re familiar with the infamous Cambridge Spy Ring,*
the group of posh, highly educated Brits who caused an international
scandal in the 1950s when they went over to the Soviets, that too was
Oleg Kalugin in Moscow, handling Kim Philby and Donald Maclean, in
the seventies, long after they had defected. In 1974, Kalugin was
promoted to general, the youngest in the history of the powerful
Russian spy organization.5

When it comes to Soviet leaders Yuri Andropov, Mikhail
Gorbachev, and Boris Yeltsin, Kalugin knew them all and can regale
you for hours with stories about them. He was even the boss of a
promising young KGB officer named Vladimir Putin.

Of medium height, immaculately groomed, clad in dark blue slacks,
a striped shirt, and a light blue jacket, Kalugin was congenial and
utterly disarming when I met him. As John le Carré wrote, when he
interviewed Kalugin nearly twenty-five years ago, he is “one of those
former enemies of western democracy who have made a seamless
transition from their side to ours. To listen to him you could be
forgiven for assuming that we had been on the same side all along.”6

But we weren’t. Gracious and amiable as Kalugin is, one has only to
remember the 1978 assassination of Bulgarian writer Georgi Markov—
a brave and widely loved émigré who was murdered when a KGB
operative wielded a specially designed umbrella that fired a tiny
poison pellet filled with ricin into Markov’s thigh—to remind oneself of
the KGB’s dark and murderous legacy.

That was Kalugin’s work. “We’re not children,” he told le Carré. “I
was the head man for all that stuff, for Christ’s sake! Nothing
operational could be done unless it went across my desk, O.K.?



Markov had already been sentenced to death in his absence by a
Bulgarian court, but the Bulgarians were terrible. They couldn’t do a
damn thing. We had to do it all for them: train the guy, make the
umbrella, fix the poison.”7

Hoary tales of the Cold War aside, Kalugin is of special interest
these days because his experience as head of counterintelligence for
the KGB makes him a master of the tradecraft that was used to
ensnare Trump. The operation began during a 1978 trip to
Czechoslovakia not long after Trump’s marriage to Ivana, in which the
newlyweds piqued the interest of the Czech Ministry of State Security
(also known as the StB) enough that a secret police collaborator began
observing Ivana and met several times with her in later years.8

Keeping tabs on Czechs who had left the country was standard
operating procedure for the StB. “The State Security was constantly
watching (Czechoslovak citizens living abroad),” said Libor Svoboda, a
historian from the Institute for the Study of Totalitarian Regimes in
Prague.9 “They were coming here, so they used agents to follow them.
They wanted to know who they were meeting, what they talked about.
It was a sort of paranoia. They were afraid that these people could
work for foreign intelligence agencies. They used the same approach
toward their relatives as well.”

According to the German newspaper Bild, starting in 1979,
encrypted StB files say, “the phone calls between Ivana and her father
were to be wiretapped at least once per year. Their mail exchange was
monitored.”10 The agent who reported on Ivana used the code names
of “Langr” and “Chod.”11 The StB files are stamped “top secret,” bear
the code names “Slusovice,”* “America,” and “Capital,” and indicate an
ongoing attempt to gather as much information about Trump as
possible.12

“The StB thought there was a chance that the U.S. intelligence
agencies could use (Ivana Trump). And also they wanted to use Trump
to gather information on U.S. high society,” said Svoboda.13

The StB archives also show that Ivana’s father, Miloš Zelníček, was
monitored by the secret services and that during his 1977 trip to the
US for Ivana’s wedding, Zelníček was subject to an StB-ordered search



of his possessions at the airport. “He provided information that the
secret police found out anyway from other sources,” said Petr Blažek of
the Institute for the Study of Totalitarian Regimes,14 who suggested
that the search was a warning shot telling Zelníček that cooperation
was the only way such trips would be permitted in the future.

Far from handing over compromising materials, Zelníček may have
simply delivered the minimal amount of information necessary to keep
the StB off his back. “Ivana’s father was registered as a confidant of the
StB,” Czech historian Tomas Vilimek told the Guardian.15 “However,
that does not mean he was an agent. The CSSR authorities forced him
to talk to them because of his journeys to the US and his daughter.
Otherwise, he would not have been allowed to fly.”

In the end, we do not know exactly when the KGB first opened a file
on Donald Trump. But it would have been common practice for the
Czech secret police to share their intelligence on the Trumps with the
KGB. More to the point, Trump was so highly valued as a target that
the StB later sent a spy to the US to monitor his political prospects for
more than a decade.16

—
It’s unclear how much Trump himself knew about his in-laws’
encounters with Czech intelligence, but when Mikhail Gorbachev, the
last leader of the Soviet Union, rose to power in 1985, and put forth
the policies of perestroika (literally “restructuring” in Russian) and
glasnost (“openness”), which eased the tensions of the Cold War,
Trump became deeply infected with a severe case of Russophilia.

In the past, his participation in politics had been confined to getting
Roy Cohn to push through tax abatements, changes to zoning
restrictions, and the like—or making political donations to accomplish
such goals. Suddenly, Trump reinvented himself as a pseudo-authority
on nuclear arms and asserted that he could play a key role in strategic
arms limitations.17

Trump took the issue up in an interview with journalist Ron
Rosenbaum in the November 1985 issue of Manhattan, Inc. magazine,
in which he asserted of nuclear proliferation, “Nothing matters as



much to me now”—an extraordinarily unlikely passion for a man who
personified conspicuous consumption.

Trump started by telling Rosenbaum about his late uncle John
Trump, an MIT professor, who explained that nuclear technology was
becoming so simplified that “someday it’ll be like making a bomb in
the basement of your house. And that’s a very frightening statement
coming from a man who’s totally versed in it.”18

What was taking place was decidedly un-Trumpian. Rosenbaum,
who was anything but a Trump enthusiast, said the real estate
developer “seemed genuinely aware of just how much danger nukes
put the world in.” He even passed up a chance to tout the glories of
Trump Tower. Instead, Rosenbaum told me, Donald Trump preferred
to be seen as being in “on some serious stuff. The fact that his uncle
was a nuclear scientist gave him the right to make these
pronouncements.”19

Trump made a similar pitch to the Washington Post. “Some people
have an ability to negotiate,” he told the paper.20 “It’s an art you’re
basically born with. You either have it or you don’t.”

Lack of confidence was not his problem. “It would take an hour-
and-a-half to learn everything there is to learn about missiles,” he said.
“. . . I think I know most of it anyway.”

Which did not mean Trump was above seeking out expertise. A few
months later, according to the Hollywood Reporter, in 1986, he
insisted on meeting Bernard Lown, a Boston cardiologist best known
for inventing the defibrillator and sharing the Nobel Peace Prize with
Yevgeny Chazov, the personal physician for Mikhail Gorbachev.21

After accepting their Nobel medals in Oslo, Drs. Lown and Chazov
went to Moscow and spent time with Gorbachev, the new Soviet
leader. Not long after he returned to the United States, Lown got a
message from Trump. At the time, Lown had never even heard of him
but secretly hoped Trump might contribute to the Lown
Cardiovascular Research Foundation, which was low on funds at the
time.

They met in Trump’s offices on the twenty-sixth floor of Trump
Tower. “I arrived totally ignorant about his motives,” Lown told me.22



“We sat down for lunch and Trump was very grim looking, very
serious.”

“Tell me everything you know about Gorbachev,” Trump said.
After twenty minutes or so recounting his experience with the

Soviet leader, however, Lown became painfully aware that Trump
wasn’t listening. “I realized he had a short attention span,” Lown said.
“I thought there was another agenda, perhaps, but I didn’t know what
that was.”

Lown cut to the chase. “Why do you want to know?” he asked
Trump.

At that, Trump revealed his grand plan. “If I know about
Gorbachev, I can ask my good friend Ronnie to make me a
plenipotentiary ambassador for the United States with Gorbachev.”

“Ronnie?” Lown asked.
Lown was unaware that Trump had retained the powerful lobbying

firm of Black, Manafort & Stone shortly after it opened shop in 1980,23

and its three name partners—Charles Black, Paul Manafort, and Roger
Stone—had just played vital roles in Ronald Reagan’s 1984 landslide
victory.

“Ronald Reagan,” Trump explained.
Then he clapped his hands together, Lown says, and went on to say

how within one hour of meeting Gorbachev, he would end the Cold
War.

“The arrogance of the man, and his ignorance about the
complexities of one of the complicating issues confronting mankind!
The idea that he could solve it in one hour!”24

—
Thanks to Gorbachev, the Russian bear had finally put on a friendly
face, but the KGB had not. It remained the most effective and most
feared intelligence-gathering organization in the world with more than
four hundred thousand officers inside the Soviet Union and another
two hundred thousand border guards, not to mention an enormous
network of informers.25 And that didn’t even include the First Chief
Directorate (FCD), the relatively small but prestigious division in



charge of gathering foreign intelligence. It had about twelve thousand
officers and was headed by General Vladimir Kryuchkov, a hard-liner
who seemed to be swimming against the tides of history.

Gorbachev’s dovish overtures to the West notwithstanding,
Kryuchkov, according to ex-KGB general Oleg Kalugin, was still very
much “a true believer until the end, eternally suspicious of the West
and capitalism.”26

Kryuchkov is of special interest not simply because of his
unreconstructed hard-line views.* Thanks to a compendium of his
memos during this period entitled Comrade Kryuchkov’s
Instructions: Top Secret Files on KGB Foreign Operations, 1975–
1985, we know that by 1984 he was deeply concerned that the KGB
had failed to recruit enough American agents.27 To Kryuchkov,
absolutely nothing was more important, and he ordered his officers to
cultivate as assets not just the usual leftist suspects, who might have
ideological sympathies with the Soviets, but also various influential
people such as prominent businessmen.28

And so, as if orchestrated by Kryuchkov, the political education of
Donald Trump began in March 1986, when he met the Soviet
ambassador to the United Nations, Yuri Dubinin and his daughter
Natalia Dubinina. Dubinina, who was part of the Soviet delegation to
the UN, was an interesting figure herself in that the Soviet mission was
widely known to harbor KGB agents.29 As she told the Russian daily
Moskovsky Komsomolets, when her father arrived in New York City
for his very first visit, she took him on a tour, and one of the first
buildings they saw was Trump Tower on Fifth Avenue. “I met my
father and invited him to show New York,” she said, according to a
Google Translate version of the article. “After all, I lived there for a
long time, and he came for the first time in my life.”30

Natalia said her father “never saw anything like [Trump Tower],
that he was so impressed that he decided he had to meet the building’s
owner at once.” And so, Soviet ambassador Yuri Dubinin and his
daughter Natalia, in a highly unusual breach of protocol, went into
Trump Tower, took the elevator up to Trump’s office, and paid him a
visit.



It is unclear whether prior arrangements were made to set up this
extremely irregular meeting between a highly placed Soviet diplomat
and Trump. But a few months later, at a luncheon given by cosmetics
magnate Leonard Lauder, Trump happened to be seated next to Yuri
Dubinin,* who proceeded to flatter the young real estate mogul
shamelessly.

Trump later rhapsodized about the conversation in The Art of the
Deal. “[O]ne thing led to another,” he wrote, “and now I’m talking
about building a large luxury hotel across the street from the Kremlin,
in partnership with the Soviet government.”31

For the KGB, Kalugin told me, recruiting a new asset “always starts
with innocent conversation” like this.32

As Natalia Dubinina explained, the Russians were off to an
auspicious start. “Trump melted at once,” she said. “He is an
emotional person, somewhat impulsive. He needs recognition. And, of
course, when he gets it he likes it. My father’s visit worked on him
[Trump] like honey on a bee.”33

As to what Trump was really after in his quest to reinvent himself as
a statesman/politician, he may have revealed part of the answer when
he told the Washington Post that the man who was egging him on was
none other than the mentor he so looked up to, a man for whom
motives were simple. Primal. There was always money. There was
always a deal. There was always an angle, and a fix.

“You know who really wants me to do this?” Trump asked
rhetorically. “Roy [Cohn].”34

—
In the meantime, Trump was wheeling and dealing much closer to
home. In New York, he was in the midst of an ongoing war over special
zoning and tax benefits for his massive West Side project with New
York mayor Ed Koch, with Koch calling Trump “piggy, piggy, piggy”
and Trump calling Koch “a moron.”35 And in New Jersey, he was
moving ahead with his third casino in Atlantic City, the $1 billion plus
Trump Taj Mahal, the largest casino in the world, with more than
2,000 rooms and 67,000 square feet of gaming space.*



Putting the Taj together was no simple matter. For roughly thirty
years, from the 1910s until 1941, Atlantic City had been at the mercy of
the Republican political machine formerly run by Enoch “Nucky”
Johnson, the apparent inspiration for the character Nucky Thompson,
played by Steve Buscemi in HBO’s Boardwalk Empire. This was a
world peopled by major criminal figures such as Charles “Lucky”
Luciano; Meyer Lansky; Arnold “the Brain” Rothstein, who famously
fixed the 1919 World Series; and Al Capone.

By the eighties, however, attorney Patrick “Paddy” McGahn* had
become the new boss of Atlantic City, and, with his brother, state
legislator Joseph McGahn, brought legalized gambling and Donald
Trump to New Jersey. Trump, it turned out, was lucky to have them on
his side.

One of the first problems Trump encountered was that part of the
land he wanted was owned by Salvatore “Salvie” Testa and Frank
Narducci Jr., two Mafia hit men* who worked for Atlantic City mob
boss Nicodemo “Little Nicky” Scarfo and were known as the Young
Executioners.36

If Testa and Narducci found out that their prospective buyer was
named Donald Trump, it went without saying that they would demand
top dollar. So instead the title was temporarily put in the name of
Paddy McGahn’s secretary so the Executioners wouldn’t know they
were selling to Trump.37 Later, Trump showed his appreciation by
naming the bar at the Taj Mahal “Paddy’s Saloon.”

—
The more Trump expanded his business and saw the spotlight, the
more he sought a bigger stage. In January 1987, Trump received a
letter from Ambassador Dubinin that began, “It is a pleasure for me to
relay some good news from Moscow.” The letter added that Intourist,
the leading Soviet tourist agency, “had expressed interest in pursuing a
joint venture to construct and manage a hotel in Moscow.”38 Vitaly
Churkin, who later became ambassador to the UN, helped Yuri
Dubinin set up Trump’s trip.39



On July 4, Trump flew to Moscow with Ivana and two assistants. He
checked out various potential sites for a hotel, including several near
Red Square.40

He stayed in a suite in the National Hotel where Vladimir Lenin
and his wife had stayed in 1917. According to Viktor Suvorov, an agent
for the GRU, Soviet military intelligence, “Everything is free. There are
good parties with nice girls. It could be a sauna and girls and who
knows what else.”

All of which sounded great, except for one thing: Everything was
subject to twenty-four-hour surveillance by the KGB.41

—
After the trip, the New York Times reported that while Trump was in
Moscow, “he met with the Soviet leader, Mikhail S. Gorbachev. The
ostensible subject of their meeting was the possible development of
luxury hotels in the Soviet Union by Mr. Trump. But Mr. Trump’s calls
for nuclear disarmament were also well-known to the Russians.”42

But in fact, Trump’s meeting with Gorbachev never really took
place.43 The report, apparently, was merely Trumpian self-promotion.
Moreover, there are many unanswered questions about exactly what
transpired during Trump’s visit. It is not clear whether Trump
understood that Intourist was essentially a branch of the KGB whose
job was to spy on high-profile tourists visiting Moscow. “In my time
[Intourist] was KGB,” said Viktor Suvorov.44 “They gave permission
for people to visit.”

Nor is it clear if Trump was aware that Intourist routinely sent lists
of prospective visitors to the first and second directorates of the KGB
based on their visa applications, and that he was almost certainly
being bugged.

As to what activities the KGB may have captured in its surveillance,
Oleg Kalugin, as the former head of counterterrorism for the KGB, is
well versed in the use of video to produce kompromat, particularly of a
sexual nature. At the time, it was a widespread practice for the KGB to
hire young women and deploy them as prostitutes to entrap visiting



politicians and businessmen, and to use Intourist to monitor
foreigners in the Soviet Union and to facilitate such “honey traps.”45

“In your world, many times, you ask your young men to stand up
and proudly serve their country,” Kalugin once told a reporter. “In
Russia, sometimes we ask our women just to lie down.”46

Which, according to Kalugin, is what probably happened during
Trump’s 1987 trip to Moscow, during which he would have “had many
young ladies at his disposal.”47

To be clear, Kalugin did not claim to have seen such material or
have evidence of its existence but was speaking as the former head of
counterintelligence for the KGB, someone more than familiar with its
tradecraft and practices. “I would not be surprised if the Russians
have, and Trump knows about them, files on him during his trip to
Russia and his involvement with meeting young ladies that were
controlled [by Soviet intelligence],” he said.

—
On July 24, 1987, almost immediately after Trump’s return from
Moscow, an article appeared in a highly unlikely venue, the Executive
Intelligence Review,* that strongly suggested something mysterious
was going on between him and the Kremlin. “The Soviets are
reportedly looking a lot more kindly on a possible presidential bid by
Donald Trump, the New York builder who has amassed a fortune
through real-estate speculation and owns a controlling interest in the
notorious, organized-crime linked Resorts International,” the article
said. “Trump took an all-expenses-paid jaunt to the Soviet Union in
July to discuss building the Russians some luxury hotels.”48

Were the Soviets really supporting a Trump run for the presidency?
Was Trump seriously considering it? Answers to the second question
began to materialize less than two months after his return from
Russia, when Trump turned to Roger Stone, a Nixon-era dirty trickster
then with the firm of Black, Manafort & Stone, for political advice.
Trump had met Stone and his colleague Paul Manafort through Roy
Cohn. Although they worked in somewhat different spheres—Cohn



was a hardball fixer, Stone a political strategist and lobbyist—to a large
extent, they were cut from the same ethically challenged cloth.

Under Stone’s tutelage, on September 1, 1987, just seven weeks
after his return from Moscow, Trump suddenly went full steam ahead
promoting his newly acquired foreign policy expertise, by paying
nearly $100,000 for full-page ads in the Boston Globe, Washington
Post, and New York Times calling for the United States to stop
spending money to defend Japan and the Persian Gulf, “an area of
only marginal significance to the U.S. for its oil supplies, but one upon
which Japan and others are almost totally dependent.”49

The ads, which ran under the headline “There’s nothing wrong with
America’s Foreign Defense Policy that a little backbone can’t cure,”
marked Trump’s first foray into a foreign policy that was overtly pro-
Russian in the sense that it called for the dismantling of the postwar
Western Alliance and was very much a precursor of the “America
First” policies Trump promoted during his 2016 campaign.

“The world is laughing at America’s politicians as we protect ships
we don’t own, carrying oil we don’t need, destined for allies who won’t
help,” he wrote.50 “. . . It’s time for us to end our vast deficits by
making Japan and others who can afford it, pay. Our world protection
is worth hundreds of billions of dollars to these countries and their
stake in their protection is far greater than ours.”

Given the extraordinary success of the Western Alliance as the
underpinning of American foreign policy since World War II, one can
only wonder who, if anyone, helped Trump come up with policies that
were so favorable to the Soviets. Even more startling, an article
published the next day in the Times suggested that Trump might enter
the 1988 Republican presidential primaries against George H. W.
Bush, then the incumbent vice president. ‘‘There is absolutely no plan
[for Trump] to run for mayor, governor or United States senator,” said
a Trump spokesman. “He will not comment about the Presidency.”51

That tease—a refusal to comment on a question that no one had
asked—did not take place in a complete vacuum, however. Earlier that
summer, a Republican activist named Mike Dunbar from Portsmouth,
New Hampshire, had approached Trump with a proposal to speak



before the Portsmouth Rotary Club, an obligatory stop for presidential
candidates in the first presidential primary state.* 52 After proclaiming
that Vice President George H. W. Bush, the odds-on favorite to be the
GOP nominee, and Senator Bob Dole, another contender, were
“duds,”53 Dunbar said that he raised money and collected one
thousand signatures to put Trump on the 1988 primary ballot.

Trump’s top casino executive, Steve Hyde, later told Wayne Barrett
that going to New Hampshire, far from being a stunt, represented “a
serious test of the political waters.”54

“If things shake out,” Hyde added, “I wouldn’t be the least bit
surprised if he decided to do it.” New York GOP leaders had tried
unsuccessfully to draft Trump to run against Mayor Ed Koch or
Governor Mario Cuomo.55

But on October 22, 1987, Donald Trump’s chopper set down in
Portsmouth, New Hampshire, so he could deliver a luncheon address
sponsored by the Portsmouth Rotary Club, at Yoken’s restaurant, an
obligatory rite of passage for candidates running in the New
Hampshire primary.

—
In many ways, the event eerily prefigured those of more recent years.
Wearing a scarlet “power” tie, and flanked by a surly personal
bodyguard, Trump spoke before a crowd of five hundred, more than
that of other candidates who had appeared, and served up the same
kind of red meat he has delivered in recent years to those who became
his base.

“[Our allies] are ripping us off left and right,” he said. “They knock
the hell out of the United States. Do they say, thank you? No. Do they
like us? Not particularly.”56

A tax increase should not be the answer to the federal budget
deficit, he said. Instead, Trump said, “We should have these countries
that are ripping us off pay off the $200 billion deficit.” That’s why, he
explained, we needed “a tough, smart cookie” running the United
States so it would not be pushed around.57 The crowd loved it.



Trump’s promising reception notwithstanding, Vice President
George Bush had a commanding lead in the race for the Republican
nomination, and Trump himself had another issue he needed to deal
with. Trump had felt Ivana’s awkward English and heavy Czech accent
would be liabilities on the campaign trail.58 It was not a happy
relationship and in fact his marriage was an issue he wanted to resolve
before making a serious presidential run. Nevertheless, Donald
Trump’s presidential quest was under way.

Trump’s White House ambitions did not make an especially deep
impression on American voters in the 1980s, but foreign agencies took
notice. Several months after Trump’s visit to New Hampshire, Ivana
returned to her homeland, where the Czech StB continued to keep a
close eye on her. StB agents suggested Ivana was nervous throughout
the trip because she believed US embassy officials were following her
at a time when she was supposed to be meeting with Czech security
operatives.59 Twice, the American ambassador to Prague, Julian
Martin Niemczyk, invited her to visit the embassy. But Ivana declined.

Meanwhile, the Czech secret police filed a classified report dated
October 22, 1988, saying that “as a wife of D. TRUMP she receives
constant attention . . . and any mistake she would make could have
immense consequences for him.”

In addition, the StB report made two noteworthy revelations. For
the first time, it was clear that Trump had decided he would run for
president. The question was timing. “Even though it [his presidential
prospects] looks like a utopia,” the awkwardly translated report said,
“D. TRUMP is confident he will succeed.”60 Only forty-two, the report
added, Trump planned to run as an independent candidate in 1996,
eight years hence.61

Finally, the StB file made one more curious observation about
Trump’s political future: It said he was being pressured to run for
president. And exactly where was the pressure coming from? Could it
have been kompromat from the honey trap in Moscow?
Unfortunately, the answer was unclear.



S

CHAPTER SIX

GANGSTER’S PARADISE

emion Mogilevich is not well-known to most Americans, but to
the FBI, the five-foot-six, three-hundred-pound1 “boss of
bosses” of the Russian Mafia is a legend. Said to be worth more

than $10 billion,2 “the most dangerous mobster in the world,” as the
FBI calls him, is renowned as the “Brainy Don” thanks to his mastery
of sophisticated financial crimes and a vast array of transgressions in
other sectors. Even the British press, which is notoriously skittish
about libel suits, doesn’t mince words when it comes to Mogilevich,
with the Independent calling him “the most evil gangster in the
world.”3

In real life, however, Mogilevich has maintained an extraordinarily
low profile. Fans of John le Carré’s spy fiction may get a sense of him
in the author’s portrait of Dima—Dmitri Vladimirovich Krasnov, the
money-laundering Russian banker in Our Kind of Traitor, who people
have speculated is based on Mogilevich. Sometimes referred to as a
real-life Keyser Söze, the mythical and legendary villain in the 1995
movie The Usual Suspects, Semion Mogilevich has survived
investigations by the FBI, Interpol, and other law enforcement
agencies, not to mention multiple assassination attempts.4 It is a safe
bet that he knows secrets that men have died for, but it is also clear
that he has no intention of sharing them.*

So it is not surprising that Mogilevich’s media appearances have
been few and far between—with the notable exception of “The Billion
Dollar Don,” a 2002 episode of the BBC documentary series
Panorama.5 There, and in other interviews, Mogilevich reveals



himself only to be a gruff and opaque presence with a brush mustache
and pockmarked face who dodges questions with sardonic, dismissive
responses. “Once I accidentally washed $5 I’d left in my shirt pocket,”
he told the Moskovsky Komsomolets, when asked about his mastery of
money laundering. “I must say they looked a lot cleaner and brighter
after that.”6

Such false modesty, of course, only serves to disguise a man who is
said to have played a key role in transforming organized crime through
globalization. “Mogilevich typifies the new global criminal,” said
Jeffrey Robinson, an author who specializes in international financial
crime.7 “These men don’t rob banks. They buy them.”

Taking full advantage of ill-equipped law enforcement and lax
money-laundering laws, Mogilevich has become, the FBI says, a
strategic threat on the geopolitical playing field, a man who “can, with
a telephone call and order, affect the global economy.”8

The Semion Mogilevich Organization, as his operation is known,
has allegedly sold weapons to al-Qaeda,9 financed the sale of enriched
uranium to terrorists, laundered money through companies on the
New York Stock Exchange, and is said to have assembled a private
army of brutal killers.10 It has launched business operations in Austria,
Canada, France, Hungary, Israel, Russia, Ukraine, the United
Kingdom, the United States, and at least eighteen other countries11

and has been active in areas as disparate as furniture and armaments,
gambling and energy, art theft, extortion, drug trafficking, and
prostitution. Mogilevich allegedly smuggled more than six hundred
thousand gallons of vodka out of Hungary. And in Southeast Asia,
Mogilevich provided money laundering services to heroin suppliers,
the FBI said, and bought a bankrupt Georgian airline to help make
their deliveries.12

More worrisome is the fact that, according to classified Israeli and
FBI documents, Mogilevich sold $20 million worth of stolen Warsaw
Pact weapons, including ground-to-air missiles and twelve armored
troop carriers, to Iran. As if that weren’t enough, he bought major
companies that dominated the Hungarian armaments industry, in the
process putting at risk NATO and the war against terrorism.13 He has



won a spectacularly lucrative share of the Russia-Ukraine energy
trade, provided krysha (literally a “roof,” or protection) for billionaire
oligarchs, and laundered countless billions of dollars.

To get a sense of the magnitude of his power, one has only to name
two people with whom he has had long-term business relationships:
Vladimir Putin and Donald Trump.

—
Born in Kiev, Ukraine, in 1946, Semion Mogilevich was the son of a
podiatrist mother and a father who managed a large state-owned
printing company.14 In the early seventies, after he graduated from the
University of Lviv, Mogilevich* reportedly ran with the Lyuberetskaya
crime group in the Moscow suburb of Lyubertsy, and was involved in
petty theft and fraud.15 That led to two jail sentences totaling more
than four years for infractions involving illegal currency.16

These initial transgressions were small-time, relative to what was in
store for Mogilevich, but one thing was clear: Money was his medium.
Mogilevich started to make his fortune in the early eighties by
approaching fellow Jews who were emigrating en masse to Israel and
the United States and were trying to get market value for art, antiques,
jewelry, and other collectibles at a time when there were strict limits
on what assets could be taken out of the Soviet Union.17 Mogilevich
came to their rescue—or so it seemed—by buying their possessions
cheaply and promising to send more money once he had resold their
property. In the end, however, he simply kept the money and used it18

to help finance a petroleum import-export company called Arbat
International that was registered in the Channel Islands, an
international center for money laundering and other financial crimes.

Arbat was Mogilevich’s first foray into serious finance and his
partners were men who would become some of the biggest names in
Russian organized crime. At the time, in the early eighties, Mogilevich
had been hanging out at the Legendary Hotel Sovietsky, a grandiose
example of Soviet classicism that had become a celebrated watering
hole in the Moscow suburb of Solntsevo.



A rare nightspot that served alcohol after hours, the Sovietsky was
notorious for its clientele of tracksuit-wearing mobsters, cardsharps,
black marketeers, “shadow capitalists,” ex-wrestlers and ex-boxers,
and other denizens of the dark side, including Alimzhan
Tokhtakhounov, a businessman from Uzbekistan,19 and a gangster
named Vyacheslav Ivankov.20 Both men were thieves-in-law.

It was here that Mogilevich—his friends called him “Seva”—met a
waiter named Sergei Mikhailov, aka Mikhas, who was just getting his
first taste of the Bratva, on his way to becoming head of the
Solntsevskaya organization, which, according to a report by Interpol’s
Millennium Project, “is considered the most powerful criminal
organization in the world,” with control of the Moscow region and
significant influence in Europe, North America, and Israel.21

Mikhailov, in turn, was friendly with two brothers who were ex-boxers,
Viktor and Alexandr Averin.

No one knew it at the time, of course, but these were historic early
meetings of a new generation of leaders in the Russian Mafia, of men
who shared a vision beyond the Soviet Union. Nor could anyone have
known that over the next thirty years they would be tied to both
Donald Trump and Vladimir Putin.

At a time when hundreds of Russian mobsters were engaged in
open gang warfare, Mikhailov and his Solntsevskaya associates also
transitioned to the white-collar, legitimate business world, through
their ownership of casino Maxim in Moscow; Sistema Holding, a large
conglomerate with insurance, telecom, oil, and banking interests;22

and SV Holding, a firm that manages real estate, casinos, restaurants,
and hotels, and served as the first legal cover for the activities of
Solntsevskaya group.23 Within that context, Mogilevich carved out a
unique position as the financial genius behind Mikhailov’s huge
Solntsevskaya organization, the biggest Russian gang of all, with a
thousand men engaged in extortion, drug trafficking, arms trafficking,
and prostitution.24

For all that, it is possible that the FBI and the Western media have
overstated Mogilevich’s power. “I understand that the American press
makes Mogilevich out to be the big don, but he is not,” said one



knowledgeable source who has considerable experience in the Russian
underworld.25 “He never was. The real boss was Mikhas and then
Avera [Viktor Averin]. It is very clear. Mikhas was and is the boss of
the Solntsevskaya Bratva. But all of them were too stupid to make
business. For that they needed Seva. They could not make the business
without Seva. He was the only one who had the brains. Mikhas and
Avera, they are the ones with the muscle.”

According to Interpol,26 Mogilevich was a member of Solntsevo’s
“board of governing members” with Mikhailov, and participated in
crafting a “criminal community strategy,” resolving internal and
external conflicts, laundering money, distributing profits among the
leaders, distribution of “obshakom” (collective funds used to bribe
authorities or finance new ventures), and other shared issues. Finally,
the Interpol report said, Mogilevich was also “responsible for
[Solntsevo’s] relations with Ukrainian criminal organizations.”

While he partnered with Solntsevo, Mogilevich also ran his own
smaller 250-person gang,27 the Semion Mogilevich Organization,
which allegedly became a launching pad for criminal enterprises that
included arms dealing, drug running, prostitution, contract murder,
financial crimes, and more all over the world. Much of this was done
through Arbat, which Mogilevich controlled, while Mikhailov and his
pal Viktor Averin co-owned 25 percent and Vyacheslav Ivankov owned
the remaining quarter.

But in the end, it was Mogilevich’s expertise at laundering money
that made him so invaluable to other mobsters. He had mastered a
skill that was deeply coveted by the most formidable gangsters on the
planet: He took dirty money and made it clean.

—
Mogilevich’s ascent happened to coincide with a period during which
Soviet leaders had been dying in such rapid succession* that Vice
President George H. W. Bush, who represented the US at state
funerals, was said to have a new motto: “You die, I fly.”28

The replacement of the sclerotic old hard-liners of the Soviet Union
by Mikhail Gorbachev and his energetic new younger generation



signaled a tectonic shift in global affairs. Gorbachev’s policies were
successful in easing tensions with the West and providing a relief valve
to its repressed citizenry. But they also weakened Soviet control of its
satellites. Before long, Moscow lost control over Soviet republics in the
Baltic and the Caucasus. In November 1989, the Berlin Wall fell.

All of which was widely celebrated in the West. But Trump’s views
were slightly different. “Russia is out of control and the leadership
knows it,” he told Playboy in 1990.29 “I predict [Gorbachev] will be
overthrown, because he has shown extraordinary weakness. . . . Yet
Gorbachev is getting credit for being a wonderful leader—and we
should continue giving him credit, because he’s destroying the Soviet
Union.”

Which wasn’t far from the truth. In 1991, Boris Yeltsin, the newly
elected president of the Russian Soviet Federative Socialist Republic,
turned against Gorbachev, whom he had initially supported. In
August, there was an aborted coup, which temporarily removed
Gorbachev from power. He returned a few days later, but, for all
practical purposes, the Soviet Union was dead.

On December 23, Gorbachev met with Yeltsin. Two days later, on
Christmas Day, he resigned, and Yeltsin then became the first
president of the Russian Federation. In an effective heartbeat, the
world’s oldest and most powerful communist state had ceased to exist.

—
This was everything the Mafia had longed for. When it came to
property, criminals, and illicit funds crossing borders, the floodgates
had opened. “As soon as the Berlin Wall came down, there was no
border,” said James Moody, former deputy assistant director of the
FBI.30 “Criminals were just flowing. Once they got into Europe, they
could do anything they wanted.”

The hermetically sealed, closed world of the Soviet Union was dead
and gone for good. Under communism, the Bratva had had to make do
with relatively small-time crime such as extortion rackets and black
marketeering. Now it emerged with an explosive force to fill the
vacuum left by the failed Soviet state.



Yeltsin had vowed that a market economy would replace
communism, but the shift was so abrupt that cash-rich gangsters
rushed in to join forces with corrupt apparatchiks—including those in
the KGB—and loot newly privatized state-held assets. Once that
happened, the die had been cast. Instead of creating a truly democratic
infrastructure and a market economy, Yeltsin essentially was allowing
a handful of oligarchs to become enormously wealthy, in return for
which he demanded their political support.31

Russia was a poor country but it had an enormous amount of
natural resources—oil and natural gas, iron ore, chromium, copper,
tin, lead, aluminum, wheat, timber, and more. Massive industries that
had been held by the state were now up for sale—all for mere kopeks
on the ruble. Russia had become a gangster’s paradise. It was the birth
of a new age of unimaginable greed, in which organized crime was
about to become a powerful geopolitical force.

—
Mogilevich approached the post–Cold War era like a general surveying
a battlefield with a grand strategic vision. As early as 1985, he had set
up offices in Switzerland, Nigeria, and the Cayman Islands.32 In 1990,
according to the FBI, Mogilevich acquired Arigon Ltd., which sold
clothing in the former Soviet Union and oil to Ukrainian Railways, and
registered it in the Channel Islands,33 then began using it as a
corporate base for his growing empire and as the main legal entity for
laundering funds from Solntsevskaya when he received money-
laundering assignments from Mikhailov.34

He reportedly cultivated a relationship with Czechoslovakia-born
Robert Maxwell, the powerful British press lord who had bought
control of the Bulgarian Cooperative Bank. That became another
vehicle through which Mogilevich could launder money for
Solntsevskaya.35

Now was the time to go global. Thanks to Israel’s Law of Return,*
the easiest route for Mogilevich, one favored by countless Russian
mobsters, was to get Israeli citizenship.36 “There is not a major
Russian organized crime figure who we are tracking who does not also



carry an Israeli passport,” said Jonathan Winer, the former money-
laundering czar in the Clinton State Department.37 Many of them,
Winer added, such as Sergei Mikhailov, were not even Jewish. It was
not unusual for Russian gangsters to suddenly discover a Jewish
grandmother lurking in their family tree.

Not long after his arrival, according to an Israeli intelligence report,
Mogilevich “succeeded in building a bridgehead in Israel . . . [and]
developing significant and influential [political and business] ties” by
forging relationships with both Russian and Israeli criminals to run
businesses in tourism, real estate, and catering through proxies. That
included opening bank accounts in Israel, attending gatherings in
Israel with other criminals, and, according to a classified FBI
document, the “alleged purchase” by Mogilevich of an unnamed Israeli
bank, with branches in Moscow, Cyprus, and Tel Aviv, for “laundering
money for Colombian and Russian Organized Crime groups.”38

Still, Mogilevich found something in Israel that he didn’t like.
“There are too many Jews,” he told the National Post of Canada. “Too
much arguing. Everybody is talking all the time and their voices are so
loud.”39

And so, in 1991, he married Katalin Papp, a Hungarian national,
and moved to Budapest, where he established a new international base
of operations.40 There, Mogilevich bought the Black and White41

nightclubs, a chain of strip joints in Budapest, Prague, Riga, and Kiev,
and turned it into a global hub for prostitution and money
laundering.* 42 He worked with the Italian Camorra, a leading
Neopolitan crime syndicate, in drugs, arms sales, and money
laundering.43

Before long, according to Interpol’s Project Millennium,
Mogilevich’s activities included “trade in oil, weapons and military
strategic materials and human trafficking on an international scale.”44

As his organization grew, Mogilevich remained partners with
Mikhailov in Solntsevskaya, which was also growing rapidly.
According to the Russian crime blog Russian Mafiozi,45 Mogilevich
partnered with Mikhailov in at least eight other companies in addition



to Arbat.* Solntsevskaya had begun to acquire real financial power,
both in Russia and abroad.

But Mogilevich had not yet made his mark in the US. To do that, he
turned to one of his partners in Arbat, Vyacheslav Ivankov, one of the
most brutal and murderous gangsters in the history of Russian crime.

—
Starting off in the sixties in the back alleys of Moscow,46 Ivankov
began his career as a gangster in a highly unusual way. In his youth,
according to the Moscow Times, he had trained to be a circus
performer, which led to a brief career working as a stuntman and
training others for Mosfilm, the largest film studio in the Soviet
Union.47 According to the memoirs of Nikolai Vashchilin, a well-
known Soviet stuntman who appeared in the 1967 adventure film The
Elusive Avengers (Neulovimye mstiteli), when Ivankov turned to
crime, he put together his first criminal gang consisting largely of
athletes and stuntmen.

Vashchilin adds that Ivankov had ties to Leonid Usvyatsov, who
allegedly ran a similar gang of mobsters who were stuntmen with
Lenfilm, the Leningrad film studio. Usvyatsov, in turn, happened to
have another job in Leningrad, teaching judo to young men, and
among his prized students was someone named Vladimir Putin.48

When Ivankov wasn’t gracing the silver screen, he made a name for
himself as a ruthless practitioner of extortion who went after black
marketeers, bureaucrats, and store managers with such cruelty that
his victims were paralyzed with fear. Using fraudulent militia
documents, he would search the homes of wealthy Russians, take
whatever he wanted, and leave.49 A fairly typical outing had Ivankov
and his gang breaking into the home of a wealthy black marketeer,
handcuffing him to the radiator, and threatening to pour acid all over
him unless he signed a promissory note for 100,000 rubles.50 “As a
rule, his victims did not contact the police,” wrote Galina Odinokova, a
crime specialist in the Ministry of Internal Affairs, in Russian Militia
Gazette, a police publication, in 1992. “They preferred to part with
their wealth than with their lives.”51



Inevitably, however, Ivankov’s wild gun battles and daring getaways
led him to jail, psychiatric hospitals, and finally a remote and frigid
penal colony in Siberia where he was inducted into the brotherhood of
the vory v zakone. Even imprisoned in a Siberian gulag, in the
eighties, Ivankov managed to cultivate a mystique as an enforcer, as
one of the top vory. He took on the name Yaponchik, which means
“the little Japanese” in Russian and was made famous by a folk hero–
like gangster named Mishka Vinnitsky, who had run the underworld in
pre-revolutionary Odessa.52

Those who crossed Ivankov in jail sometimes paid for it with their
lives. According to Red Mafiya, he stabbed one inmate in the back and
used a metal stool to club a prison guard over the head.53 As his
reputation for brutality grew, Ivankov became one of the top vory,
and, with the help of accomplices on the other side of the world, was
able to control criminal activities in the Russian Far East, persuade
banks to buy millions of dollars of stocks in a phony Siberian mining
company, and send out a hit man in Toronto, Canada. In other words,
he was exactly what Mogilevich was looking for.

And so, in late 1990, Mogilevich bribed a Russian judge to secure
Ivankov’s early release from a Siberian prison where he was being held
for robbery and torture. When Ivankov was freed, Soviet authorities
tasked him with the daunting assignment of taking on the ferocious
Chechen Mafia, an undertaking Ivankov embraced with such fervor
that rivers of blood soon were flowing from gangland shootouts, car
bombings, and the like. Before long, Ivankov’s excesses had enraged
the very politicians who had helped free him: Now that the Soviet
Union had collapsed, Russia desperately wanted Western investors,
and Ivankov was scaring them away.54

As a result, in early 1992, the so-called Circle of Brothers, the ruling
council of the vory, gave Ivankov his marching orders: “Go to the New
Land and invade America!”55

Meanwhile, Donald Trump was opening a new chapter in his life.
His marriage to Ivana had produced three children—Donald Jr.,
Ivanka, and Eric—but Trump had begun a highly publicized tabloid
relationship with Marla Maples. Trump and Ivana were headed toward



divorce. At the same time, his massive losses in Atlantic City had made
it very difficult for him to get financing, which paralyzed any future
development.

In the past, the Italian Mafia had been crucial to his family’s
success. They had helped his father’s projects. They had helped
Donald develop Trump Tower, giving him secure access to ready-mix
concrete. Mob-connected lawyers like Roy Cohn had always been there
for him.

It is not clear how much Trump knew about Mogilevich’s expansion
into New York or the imminent arrival of Vyacheslav Ivankov and the
Russian Mafia. But he was not wanting when it came to bravado. “I’ve
always been blessed with a kind of intuition about people that allows
me to sense who the sleazy guys are,” he wrote in Trump: Surviving at
the Top, “and I stay far away.”



A

CHAPTER SEVEN

THE BILLIONAIRE BOYS’ CLUB

s early as 1990, Trump’s casinos were in so much trouble that,
far from being a multibillionaire, as he claimed, Trump actually
had a negative net worth. Indeed, at a time when payments on

more than $1 billion worth of bonds on his casinos came due every
ninety days, he was down to his last $1.6 million.1

Then, in 1991, the Trump Taj Mahal, the $1.2 billion casino Trump
touted as the “eighth wonder of the world,” became the first of six
Trump bankruptcies. As these fiascos took place, Trump structured his
bankruptcies so he could sell off his stocks and reap millions while
investors lost their shirts.2 But even that wasn’t enough to allow his
empire to remain intact. Thanks to personal liabilities exceeding $900
million, one after another, Trump’s three Atlantic City casinos and the
Plaza Hotel slipped out of his grasp. Other assets, such as the Trump
Shuttle and his 282-foot yacht, the Trump Princess, were casualties as
well.3

Whether the Russians had been using Trump casinos to launder
money was never established in court, but there was more than
enough reason to be suspicious. The Taj Mahal had become a favorite
destination for the Russian mob because Trump made a point of
giving high rollers “comps” for up to $100,000 a visit, an amenity that
casinos often offered big-time gamblers.4 Later, two other Trump
casinos, the Trump Castle Hotel and Casino, and the Trump Plaza
Hotel and Casino, agreed to pay fines for “willfully failing to report”
currency transactions over $10,000 and failing to comply with laws
designed to prevent money laundering.5



—
As it happened, Donald Trump wasn’t the only future president who
had vital business relationships with the Russian Mafia. In Russia at
roughly the same time, in the early and midnineties, the deputy mayor
of St. Petersburg was also working with them. His name was Vladimir
Putin.

Born in 1952, Vladimir Vladimirovich Putin grew up in war-ravaged
Leningrad (now St. Petersburg), the only child of parents who had
both suffered badly in World War II. His family was not particularly
well off, and one of its most notable marks of distinction, revealed in a
two-hour documentary called Putin that was released in 2018, was
that Putin said his paternal grandfather had been a cook for both
Vladimir Lenin and Joseph Stalin in their dachas in the Moscow area.6

Impulsive, angry, and undisciplined, Putin was so uncontrollable as
a schoolboy that he was initially rejected by the Pioneers,7 the Soviet
youth movement that was roughly the Russian equivalent of America’s
Boy Scouts, but with a communist twist.

Despite his rebellious streak, Putin had already begun cultivating
two passions to which he would remain deeply committed for the rest
of his life—the KGB and judo. Inspired by The Shield and the Sword, a
popular book/miniseries that romanticized Soviet espionage and its
heroic KGB agents, he dreamed about becoming a Soviet spy. In ninth
grade, Putin actually went to the offices of the KGB directorate in
Leningrad to enlist, only to be told that he was too young and should
probably go to law school before applying.8

Knowing that the KGB expected its adherents to be proficient in
hand-to-hand combat,9 he also took up both sambo* and judo as
sports he practiced his entire life. “Judo is not just a sport,” Putin said.
“It’s a philosophy. It’s respect for your elders and for your opponent.
It’s not for weaklings . . . You come out onto the mat, you bow to one
another, you follow ritual.”10 Later, once he was in power, Putin would
follow a judo-like practice of turning his adversaries’ greatest strength
against them.



Judo also shaped Putin in ways that are not widely recognized.11

For starters, there’s the matter of his coach, Leonid Ionovich
Usvyatsov. Putin had other judo coaches who are frequently cited in
the media, but Usvyatsov may have been the most influential. In First
Person, Putin speaks fondly about Leonid Ionovich, or Lyonya,
Usvyatsov’s nickname, but he would often omit the last name of the
beloved coach who was such an influential force in his life. The reason
for that apparent oversight may be that he did not want people to
know his beloved coach was a mobster. Usvyatsov’s epitaph on his
tombstone in St. Petersburg suggests the depth of his ties to the mob.
“I may be dead,” it reads, “but the mafia is immortal.”12

Whatever talents Usvyatsov had in the martial arts, few people
realized that Putin’s coach was also a key figure in the Tambovskaya13

crime gang (aka Tambov), based in St. Petersburg, which has been
referred to as “the Russian Goodfellas”14 and became known for
smuggling heroin from Afghanistan to St. Petersburg and Western
Europe.15

In the late sixties, while still in his mid-teens, Putin also began
going to judo workouts at the Trud athletic club at 21 Decembrists
Street in Leningrad, with Usvyatsov as his coach. Still a highly
impressionable teenager, for the first time, Putin encountered a world
that was a precursor to the kleptocracy he later created, complete with
wannabe oligarchs and Bratva mobsters.

Indeed, when Putin first began training under Usvyatsov, his coach
had already served a ten-year prison sentence for rape.* In addition to
his criminal record, Usvyatsov, according to a fellow stuntman, had
close ties to Mogilevich henchman Vyacheslav Ivankov.16 Their
connection was an unusual one: Just as Ivankov had an aboveboard
career as a stuntman at Mosfilm in Moscow, so Usvyatsov had a
similar career as a stuntman at Lenfilm in Leningrad. That made them
both gangsters who happened to moonlight as stuntmen for the silver
screen.

Moreover, Usvyatsov and Ivankov were not the only judokas who
actually got screen time. Many of Putin’s judo pals were stuntmen at
Mosfilm or Lenfilm, and, according to Vasily Shestakov, president of



the International Sambo Federation, Putin himself sometimes
appeared as an extra in films, notably in Blockade and in Izhorsky
Battalion.17 Shestakov said he even played a Nazi soldier in one.18

And it was at the Trud where Putin met the men to whom he has
been forever loyal, including not just coach Usvyatsov, but also two
judo pals who became his lifelong friends and sparring partners, the
brothers Arkady and Boris Rotenberg.* 19 (The Rotenberg brothers
were sanctioned in 2014 by the US Treasury Department for “acting
for or on behalf of or materially assisting, sponsoring, or providing
financial, material, or technological support for, or goods or services to
or in support of, a senior official of the Government of the Russian
Federation.”)20 In essence, the Trud athletic club—whose members
included a big-time mobster in Usvyatsov, at least two men who
became billionaire oligarchs, and the future president of Russia—was
to Putin as Manhattan’s boardrooms and back rooms were to Trump:
the place where they met the men who built them and gave them
power.

—
One of Putin’s most noteworthy qualities, as the title of Masha
Gessen’s The Man Without a Face suggests, was not so much any
single easily recognizable characteristic as the absence of such traits.
Vladimir Putin was faceless. Opaque. He revealed nothing. All
admirable qualities in the world of espionage that, no doubt, he put to
good use when he joined the KGB in 1975.

Nevertheless, Putin’s career as a spy is reported to have been far
less glamorous and exotic than he might have imagined as a young
boy.21 After a series of dreary assignments monitoring foreigners and
foreign officials in Leningrad, in 1984, Putin spent a year in spy school
in Moscow,* where he became a great proponent of the use of “active
measures,” including disinformation, both within Russia and abroad,
by disseminating conflicting accounts of events to create the
impression that there are no reliable facts.

But in 1985, Putin was transferred to Dresden, East Germany,22 a
drab Cold War backwater where, for the most part, he was reduced to



collecting press clippings with useless information for the KGB. More
to the point, Putin had little to show for his years of service in the
KGB. Soviet leader Mikhail Gorbachev, as part of his policies of
détente, had vowed to dismantle the KGB. After the Berlin Wall came
down in 1989, Putin’s friends were banned from working in law
enforcement, as teachers, or for the government.23

In these final days of the Soviet Union, however, Putin may have
taken away one enduring lesson. In December 1990, KGB chief
Vladimir Kryuchkov ordered his subordinates to create hundreds of
front companies as a safe haven for money for party leaders.24

In some ways, there was nothing particularly new about this
strategy. Throughout the eighties, Soviet operatives had been more or
less regularly expelled from France, Italy, Portugal, Sweden, the
United States, and other countries25 for industrial espionage and the
like. One of the most notable of those companies was Seabeco SA,26

which was founded in 1982,27 according to Belgium’s Le Soir,28 “as a
cover for the Soviet services” by Boris Birshtein, who had a close
business relationship with the Solntsevskaya Bratva’s Sergei
Mikhailov.

But now that the Soviet Union was dying, desperate measures were
called for. After all, what would happen if their embassies were shut
down? “The Russians wanted to have intelligence officers in country
even if the embassy was down,” says John Sipher, who spent twenty-
eight years in the CIA’s clandestine service, which included serving in
Moscow and running the CIA’s Russian operations.29 “So in addition
to having legal residents who were intelligence officers in embassies,
they had illegal residents who might appear to be French citizens
living in France or Finnish citizens in France, but they were fake. They
were really Russians. It was an incredible amount of work to give these
people real backgrounds, languages, passports, and real businesses.
But as the Soviet Union fell apart, Kryuchkov wanted to make sure he
had Russians in other countries working for Russian businesses that
were self-supporting and could support intelligence activities.”

So in March 1991, after the Baltic States and other republics split off
from the USSR, Kryuchkov created a plan to launch about 600



companies run by “retired” KGB officers, often as joint ventures in the
Baltics or Israel. All agents in the operation were instructed to do
whatever they could to gain a commercial foothold that would enable
them to be self-sustaining. The companies were there not merely to
provide cover for intelligence operatives. They were there to function
as real companies, as major corporations, to make money, to finance
operations against the West, to launder money, and to gather
intelligence that could be used against the West. This was the kind of
expertise that would serve Putin well in the future as it became clear
what shape the new Russia would take.

Meanwhile, after the Wall fell, Putin moved back to Leningrad in
1990, continued with the KGB, and kept a low profile.30 According to
Oleg Kalugin, who was one of his bosses, within the KGB, Putin was
something of a cipher. “He would knock on my door, and say, ‘Please
sign this,’” Kalugin recalled.31 Otherwise, Kalugin said, Putin did not
make much of an impression.

His prospects were bleak. “He came from Germany with no job,”
said Kalugin. “He had to be a cab driver with his own car he brought
from East Germany, a Trabant probably.* And he drove for a few
months, six or eight months, just earning money.”* 32

Everything had changed. Conventional wisdom had it that the
Great Game was over. The West had won. A classified ad in the
International Herald Tribune told the story: “FORMER KGB agent
seeks employment in similar field,” it read, accompanied by a phone
number.33

For a brief period that year, Putin took an administrative post at
Leningrad State University—a fairly standard cover for a KGB
operative.34 Then, just as the Soviet Union was dissolving, Anatoly
Sobchak, a former law professor of Putin’s at Leningrad State, became
mayor of Leningrad.*

In sync with the changing times of the Gorbachev era, Sobchak had
positioned himself as a strong pro-democracy politician, but he also
knew that the KGB was scrambling to take charge of whatever
institutions might survive—including the municipal government in
Leningrad. In addition, he was wise enough to realize that he’d be



better off if he picked his own deputy from the KGB rather than
allowing the KGB to choose the man who would work directly under
him.35

As a result, Sobchak asked Kalugin whom he should hire from the
KGB. “I mentioned a couple of names, but he said they were too highly
placed,” Kalugin recalled.36

Sobchak wanted someone who was not immediately identifiable as
a high-profile, hard-line KGB operative, so instead, he hired Vladimir
Putin, a mere lieutenant colonel, whom he had known when Putin
worked at Leningrad State. Putin was still on active reserve with the
KGB, which was monitoring the ascent of the new “democratic”
leaders in Russia,37 and, his low profile notwithstanding, the hiring of
a KGB bureaucrat by Sobchak was seen as a betrayal. “Sobchak
portrayed himself as a crusader for freedom and cursed the KGB,” said
Alexander Schelkanov, who served as chairman of the executive
committee of the Leningrad city council at the time. “He then went out
and hired a professional KGB operative as his closest deputy. He
openly violated his own principles.”38

With the country still very much in crisis, KGB men began turning
up at the sides of newly minted oligarchs, government ministers, at the
highest levels of power. In Moscow, that included President Boris
Yeltsin, who, from the first moment he succeeded Gorbachev, found
that wherever he went, KGB bodyguards were watching his every
move.39

Similarly, Putin’s new job may have been part of a carefully
orchestrated KGB operation to penetrate Sobchak’s inner circle and
that of other pro-democracy politicians. “This really means that
[Putin] acted on orders [from the KGB] and was part of an operation
that I would call ‘Trojan Horse,’” said Leonid Dobrovolsky, deputy
chairman of the city’s food committee.40

—
Even though Putin saw the collapse of the Soviet Union as a disaster, it
was the best thing that could have possibly happened to his career. At
an extraordinary moment in its history, Russia’s newfound



lawlessness became a mission worthy of his enormous ambitions, as
well as a gigantic opportunity.

At the time, hyperinflation had wiped out the savings of millions of
people41 just as hundreds of billions of dollars’ worth of Russia’s
natural resources—gas, oil, metals, timber, and more—were about to
be sold off by the state.42 Food shortages necessitated launching a
temporary system of barter operations in which the city of St.
Petersburg traded raw materials—oil, timber, rare metals, and the like
—with foreign companies for food.

Because St. Petersburg was the first Russian city43 in which
property was privatized, Putin led the way. From his relatively
unimpressive perch as deputy mayor of St. Petersburg and chair of the
External Affairs Committee (KVS), he was given the mandate of
encouraging, regulating, and licensing foreign investment in huge
formerly state-owned enterprises. Now that the centralized command
structures of the Soviet era were gone, authorities desperately needed
new mechanisms to put goods into stores. Putin had acquired the
power to determine who could become wealthy.

According to Marina Salye, a former city council member who
chaired a commission that investigated missing food imports, Putin
made a killing by signing export licenses, despite lacking the proper
authority to do so, for various dubious companies. In the process, she
said, he doled out more than $120 million in goods to highly suspect
people—and the city received nothing in return.44

Outsiders who were unwilling to go to the dark side didn’t stand
much of a chance. “This began in an era when selling blue jeans was an
economic crime,” explained an American businessman who was doing
deals in Moscow at the time. “You could go to jail for that. Now,
suddenly there was oil. So I was working with bankers who rose to the
top during this period. We had to hire security, thuggish guys who like
to fight. You had your security and the other guys had security.45

“It was the Wild West. You had no idea of what was going on. There
was the Mogilevich gang and Chechen gangs all fighting gang warfare.
I was trying to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, but we
didn’t really know whom we were dealing with or how the system



might change. And if you wanted to take over the really big
enterprises, you needed the Mafia’s help. You needed protection.”

Various Mafias stepped in to fill the breach—Azeris, Chechens,
Solntsevo, the Mogilevich Organization, and, in St. Petersburg, the
Tambov crime gang. The criminals needed export licenses, tax
exemptions, below-market-rate loans, business visas, and freedom
from arrest and prosecution for their crimes. All of this and more was
available from Putin and corrupt bureaucrats under him.

Money could not go abroad without the approval of Putin’s KVS.
The same was true for businesses that wanted to be licensed and
registered. He also was able to control the movement of money across
international borders. All of which put an enormous amount of power
in Putin’s hands—not Sobchak’s.46

Like Donald Trump, Putin had been well acquainted with mobsters
long before he had a political career, thanks to judo coach Leonid
Usvyatsov.47 In 1994, Usvyatsov was killed48 in a gang dispute, but
Putin cemented ties with Tambov through its leader, Vladimir
Kumarin,* 49 aka Vladimir Barsukov, who also served as an executive
at the Petersburg Fuel Company, which Putin had chosen to be the
sole supplier of gasoline for the city.50 In return, Tambov helped Putin
and his cronies control the airport, the seaport, rail stations, and
various other choke points through which flowed 20 percent of all
Russian imports and exports.51

Kumarin was also on the board of directors of a subsidiary of SPAG,
a German company that had huge real estate holdings in St.
Petersburg and, according to the BND (Bundesnachrichtendienst, the
German Federal Intelligence Service), was laundering money for
Russia’s organized crime and also for Colombian drug dealers.52

According to Newsweek, SPAG executives were indicted for
laundering more than $1 million in cash for Colombia’s Cali cocaine
cartel.53 Putin served on its advisory board at the time.*

By 1994, the Russian economy was in such disarray that a plan
called “loans for shares” was instituted through which Russian banks
lent the government money in exchange for temporary stakes in the
state-owned companies that were to be auctioned off.54



But once the auctions began, the New York Times reported, “it
became all too obvious that a fix was in. Foreign investors were barred
from bidding for the most desirable assets, and the same banks that
were assigned by the Government to organize the auctions ended up
winning them, and usually at only a fraction over the minimum bid.”55

A tiny elite began to acquire control over a vast number of public
enterprises. Oligarch Mikhail Khodorkovsky got a 78 percent share of
ownership in Yukos, the oil and gas giant, worth about $5 billion, for
just $310 million. Boris Berezovsky bought Sibneft, another oil giant,
worth $3 billion, for a mere $100 million.56

A majority stake in Gazprom, the state-owned energy company that
controlled a third of the world’s gas reserves, was sold for just $230
million, according to an article by James Henry, former chief
economist at McKinsey & Company, in the American Interest. Russia’s
entire national electric grid was privatized for just $630 million.
Natural resources such as oil, iron and steel, and aluminum; high-tech
arms; airline industries; diamond mines; and most of Russia’s banking
system went for next to nothing.57

In all, Russia privatized 150 state-owned companies for just $12
billion. Anatoly Chubais, Russia’s first deputy prime minister and the
so-called father of Russian privatization, framed the dilemma in stark
terms. “We did not [at first] have the choice between socialism and
ideal capitalism,” he said.58 “The choice in Russia . . . was between a
criminalized transition and civil war.”

What Russia faced was nothing less than the looting of its natural
resources, the betrayal of a capitalist revolution, and the birth of
Putin’s kleptocracy, an era of unimaginable corruption and greed. It
was as if a virus had been injected into the system, spreading and
institutionalizing corruption throughout a Mafia state run by a
kleptocrat who ruled over a web of crooked patronage networks.

Before long, the money began to flow. There were real estate
transactions, arms sales, shady bank deals, illegal exports, and much
more.59 From the beginning, Putin’s friends did well. His judo pals
Arkady and Boris Rotenberg ended up being co-owners of SGM
(Stroygazmontazh) Group, the largest construction company for gas



pipelines and electrical power lines in Russia. Forbes estimated
Arkady’s wealth at $2.6 billion, and Boris’s at $1.16 billion. Gennady
Timchenko, another judoka pal of Putin’s, fared even better as
chairman of the Gunvor oil-trading firm, with a net worth of $15.6
billion.60 Anatoly Turchak, yet another judo sparring partner of
Putin’s, served as deputy to Putin in St. Petersburg.61 He ended up
being the main owner of the Leninets defense plant, and was worth
hundreds of millions of dollars.62

Others who remained loyal to Putin over the years were rewarded
with enormous wealth and key positions during his presidency—
among them, Igor Sechin, who ended up as CEO of Rosneft, the huge
Russian oil company;63 Alexei Miller, CEO of Gazprom; Herman Gref,
CEO of Russia’s largest bank, Sberbank; Dmitry Medvedev, who
became prime minister and subsequently president; and many others.

In their very different ways, Trump and Putin were assembling
networks that were essential to their political ambitions. In Trump
Tower, Donald had put together a glamorous refuge for celebrities and
the super-rich that enabled him to project a highly marketable persona
all over the world. As for Putin, he took the idea of the dacha, the
seasonal or second home that is so popular among Russians, and
personalized it for his own inner circle by assembling the Ozero dacha
cooperative on the shores of Lake Komsomolskoye as a relaxing
weekend retreat for the new privileged Russian elite, including Yeltsin
and his family; Tambov crime boss Vladimir Kumarin, who served as
the Ozero co-op’s vice president; and a number of oligarchs in the
making.

Over time, the Ozero cooperative became so emblematic of Putin’s
inner circle that in 2014, when the United States and the European
Union imposed economic sanctions on Putin’s closest associates, no
fewer than eight shareholders in Ozero were sanctioned.64

—
Putin’s tenure in Sobchak’s office was so rife with scandal that it led to
a host of investigations into illegal assignment of licenses and
contracts by Putin as head of the Committee for Foreign Liaison;



collaboration with criminal gangs in regulating gambling; a money-
laundering operation by the St. Petersburg Real Estate Holding
Company, where Kumarin was involved and Putin served on the
advisory board; Putin’s role in providing a monopoly for the
Petersburg Fuel Company, then controlled by the Tambov criminal
organization; and much, much more—virtually all of which was
whitewashed.65 But according to Kumarin himself, while he was in St.
Petersburg in the nineties, Putin signed many hundreds of contracts
doling out funds to his cronies.66

One KGB/FSB agent who tracked Putin’s corruption relentlessly
during this period was Alexander Litvinenko, a lieutenant colonel then
in his midthirties who later wrote about his findings in The Gang from
Lubyanka.* An avid athlete, Sasha, as his friends called him, had
joined the KGB as a young lieutenant to be “part of a real team fighting
a common enemy—and on the right side, so you think.”67

“I thought I was going to be protecting people from harm,” he told a
friend.68 “That the Agency had a dark past—the Gulag, you know,
millions of victims—I didn’t learn until the 1990s.”

In the end, Litvinenko discovered that Putin’s “relationship with the
criminal Kumarin-Barsukov is currently the number one state secret
in Russia.” He added that “the whole of St. Petersburg knows that
Putin is linked to this man by personal friendship and financial ties.”69

When St. Petersburg prosecutors investigated Putin’s corruption,
they concluded, “In 1994, the humble clerk [Dmitry] Medvedev*
owned 10% of Europe’s largest pulp* 70 and paper mill. . . . And this
was only Medvedev, Putin’s advisor. Can you imagine what kind of
money was already owned by his boss?”71

Putin himself mysteriously ended up with a villa in Biarritz that was
registered to Gennady Timchenko for many years.72 But that was
merely the beginning of a wealth that includes huge stakes in Russia’s
massive private energy and commodities companies and that is so vast
and so secretive that it could not reliably be calculated.

While much of the world thought post-Soviet Russia was struggling
with the birth pangs of creating a new democracy, in fact something
very different was going on: A kleptocracy was being born. Putin had



put himself at the nexus of three worlds—the Chekists (agents of the
KGB, FSB, and other state security organizations), the bureaucrats
with whom he worked who were in charge of licensing and regulating
companies that had been controlled by the state but were being
privatized, and alleged Russian mafiosi such as the Tambov gang’s
Vladimir Barsukov, also known as Kumarin.

Altogether, Putin’s three-legged stool formed a base of operations
that was capable of propelling its creator to the highest reaches of
power in the new Russian Federation that was rising from the ashes of
the Soviet Union. But if Putin was truly to achieve his grandest
ambitions, he would need something more—namely, an ally who had
the power and reach to recruit assets and agents among people of
influence deep inside the United States.



F

CHAPTER EIGHT

MOGILEVICH’S BIG MOVE

ar from sitting idly by as the Soviet Union crumbled, Semion
Mogilevich had quickly forged extremely close ties at the highest
levels of Boris Yeltsin’s new Russian government and become a

highly valued adjunct to Russian intelligence.
Indeed, according to secretly recorded conversations between

Leonid Kuchma, the second president of newly independent Ukraine,
and Ihor Smeshko, the head of Ukraine’s secret service (the SBU),
Mogilevich was still living in Budapest, but had bought property in
Moscow and had already begun delivering valuable intelligence to
Yeltsin’s highest-ranking security officers—all in an apparent effort to
strengthen his ties to the intelligence establishment in the chaotic
Russian capital.

Kuchma: “He [Mogilevich] has bought a dacha in Moscow, he keeps
coming.”

Smeshko: “He has received a passport already. By the way, the
passport in Moscow is in a different name. And . . . [Alexander]
Korzhakov [the head of Boris Yeltsin’s personal security] sent two
colonels to Mogilevich in Budapest in order to receive damaging
information on a person . . . He himself did not meet them. His
organization’s lieutenant, [Igor] Korol, met these colonels and gave
them the documents relating to ‘Nordex.’* 1 Mogilevich has the most
powerful analytical intelligence service. But Mogilevich himself is an
extremely valuable agent of KGB, PGU. . . . When one colonel . . . tried
to arrest [Mogilevich] . . . they told him ‘Stop meddling! This is PGU
elite.”* 2



Being tightly wired with the Kremlin, however, was not enough for
Mogilevich. By 1993 or 1994, according to Litvinenko,3 Mogilevich had
also made contact with Deputy Mayor Vladimir Putin. Little is known
about how they met or exactly what transpired, but some insight into
their relationship might be gleaned from transcripts of secret tape
recordings made several years later in which Ukrainian president
Kuchma inquires about Mogilevich in conversation with secret service
chief Leonid Derkach.

Kuchma: “Have you found Mogilevich?”
Derkach: “I found him.”
Kuchma: “So, are you two working now?”
Derkach: “We’re working. We have another meeting tomorrow. He

arrives incognito.”
Later in the discussion Derkach revealed a few details about

Mogilevich.
Derkach: “He’s on good terms with Putin. He and Putin have been

in contact since Putin was still in Leningrad.”
This apparent budding relationship with Semion Mogilevich tied

Putin to a man whose money-laundering virtuosity was vital now that
a torrent of flight capital had been unleashed in post-Soviet Russia.
For both men, it was Mogilevich’s burgeoning operation in the United
States that held so much promise. As Putin’s ascent began, the Mafia
moved into a powerful strategic position on the geopolitical
chessboard from which it would be able to compromise powerful
political figures and businessmen in the United States, undermine
financial markets, and exploit the weaknesses in a wide array of
political institutions such as campaign finance, Washington lobbying,
and more.

—
When Vyacheslav Ivankov landed at JFK airport in March 1992, just
after the fall of the Soviet Union, he was met by an Armenian vor who
handed him a suitcase packed with $1.5 million in cash. According to
Pravda, he soon married an American woman, to legalize his stay.4



Before long, however, he discovered that the Brighton Beach Mafia
was riven by turf wars and in complete disarray. In the late eighties,
Marat Balagula had used the Red Daisy gas tax scam as the basis for a
vertically integrated operation that included a fleet of gasoline trucks,
more than one hundred gas stations, oceangoing tankers, refinery
terminals in Eastern Bloc countries, and the like. But after being
convicted of credit card fraud in 1986, Balagula fled the country. He
was finally apprehended in Frankfurt in 1989,5 and served years in jail.

Meanwhile, David Bogatin, likely the first Russian to launder
money through Trump Tower, fled first to Austria and then Poland
after the Red Daisy scam. His partner, Michael Markowitz, had been
shot to death in his Rolls-Royce after assisting authorities in the
investigation.6

Short and wiry, Ivankov was stern faced and bearded with a strong
jaw, sparse eyebrows, and strikingly unusual eyes that sloped
noticeably downward. His slight stature—five foot four, maybe 140
pounds—notwithstanding, he projected the intense ferocity and the
daunting aura of the vory v zakone. Even when he was spruced up for
a court appearance—a blue blazer with a handkerchief in his pocket,
an Oxford shirt concealing the menacing eight-pointed stars tattooed
on his shoulders—Ivankov was right out of central casting as a
fearsome Russian mobster. “One felt as if in the presence of Ivan the
Terrible, or Joseph Stalin,” said one observer who saw him in New
York.7

Before long, Ivankov became known as the most powerful Russian
mobster in the United States,8 and oversaw the mob’s growth from a
local extortion racket in Brooklyn’s Brighton Beach to a multibillion-
dollar-a-year criminal organization.9

Ivankov’s mandate from Mogilevich was to consolidate the Russian
Mafia in the US, to form alliances with the Cosa Nostra and other
Mafias, to take over smaller gangs, and to bribe politicians as part of a
plan to infiltrate governments in the US and elsewhere.10 Ruthlessly
systematic, the Russians began scrutinizing the vulnerabilities of
America’s campaign finance system, the K Street lobbying system,
Wall Street, and more.



To that end, Ivankov launched a two-pronged offensive. On the one
hand, with his foreboding tattoos and fearsome visage, he was the man
who brought the vory from the gulag to Brighton Beach. The old-
school Mafia scams, shootouts, car bombs, and murders were still an
important part of their operations. To help fight these gang wars,
Ivankov recruited two brigades composed of 250 athletes and Special
Forces veterans of the Afghan war who were put on $20,000-a-month
retainers to kill his enemies and establish ties connecting thieves-in-
law to the United States. Monya Elson, the brutal killer who had been
Marat Balagula’s bodyguard, was still working for Ivankov in New
York,11 and Ivankov also used a man named Alexander Inshakov in
“five or six murders of top ROC [Russian organized crime] figures who
‘got in the way.’”12

Even after he was locked up for extortion in 1996, Ivankov
continued to order the murders of his underworld adversaries from his
prison cell. Witnesses who dared testify against him were forced to
take new identities in the Federal Witness Protection Program. FBI
agents who investigated him ended up on his hit list.13

The same was true for journalists. When Ivankov found out that
Robert Friedman was on his trail, he went so far as to send a message
crafted especially for the occasion inside a Hallmark Valentine’s Day
card that teased, “It was easy finding a Valentine for someone like
you”: “Friedman! You are a dirty fucking American prostitute and liar!
I WILL FUCK YOU! And make you suck my Russian DICK!” America’s
most fearsome vor signed the affectionate missive “Vyacheslav
Kirillovich Ivankov.”14 Later, Friedman found out that a $100,000
contract had been taken out on his life—by Semion Mogilevich.

—
But to a certain extent, Ivankov’s colorful depravities masked a bigger
story. Just as Russia had effectively become a gangster state whose
political system was governed by organized crime, so the Russian
gangsters who emigrated and ran the Russian mob were now poised to
infect and infiltrate a vast array of power centers in the more open,
more easily manipulated corporate and political America.



So it was with Ivankov, who also had steered the post-Soviet Bratva
into the white-collar professional world of lawyers, stockbrokers,
accountants, and the like with offshore shell companies comprising a
vertically integrated corporate empire all over the world. As a
classified FBI report put it, “Ivankov brings with him the tradition of
hard-core Russian criminals. . . . While not abandoning extortion,
intimidation and murder, Ivankov also incorporates more subtle and
sophisticated modern methods which enable cooperation with other
groups.”15

Over time, thirty Russian crime syndicates began operating in New
York, Miami, San Francisco, Los Angeles, Denver, and at least a dozen
other cities, orchestrating insurance scams, pump-and-dump stock
rip-offs that inflated stock prices, complex schemes to launder millions
of dollars in flight capital pouring out of Russia, medical fraud, and
jewelry heists.16 Ivankov used a consulting firm in Vienna to launder
tens of millions of dollars, allegedly with the help of his son, Eduard
Ivankov.17 He tried to steal diamonds in Sierra Leone. In New York,
the FBI suspected that Ivankov was engaged in money laundering.

—
Meanwhile, throughout most of the nineties, Mogilevich was based
largely in Budapest, but traveled regularly to Vienna, Munich, Rome,
and Athens under several different names and passports. However, he
and Ivankov also kept a keen eye on developing operations in the US.
According to FBI files, in North America, Mogilevich traveled to
Toronto, Philadelphia, Miami, and New York, and went to LA at least
five times between May 1992 and November 1994. There, he met with
Vladimir Berkovich, a key Mogilevich lieutenant who, according to FBI
files, “arrange[d] contract murders, bringing in ‘hitmen’ from Russia
under tourist visas, out of the Palm Terrace restaurant.”18 There were
deals for a Russian restaurant in Denver, real estate in the Rocky
Mountains, a car dealership in Houston which the FBI asserted was
for money laundering, diamond thefts in Sierra Leone.19

When the Russians moved into Miami, Ivankov allegedly became a
silent partner in Porky’s, a Miami strip club owned by Russian



mobster Ludwig Fainberg, also known as Tarzan thanks to his muscled
torso and long mane of hair. Fainberg helped strike a deal with the
Cali cartel in Colombia to provide heroin and money laundering in
exchange for Cali’s cocaine.20

These were not small-time transactions. At the time, Russian
military hardware was absurdly easy to come by if you knew the right
people in the former Soviet empire—and that meant everything from
armored personnel carriers to submarines. At one point, Fainberg was
in talks with Colombian drug lords to sell them a submarine to help
smuggle the illicit drugs and money—complete with a Russian crew of
eighteen men. Before it could be finalized, however, the deal was
busted by the Drug Enforcement Administration.21

—
In large part, Mogilevich’s success grew out of the fact that he had
cultivated close ties to the powers that be in the post-Soviet world. He
had operatives who infiltrated the Hungarian National Police, and in
Prague, where he also had a major presence, the Czech police. He was
wired into the intelligence services of both Russia and Ukraine at the
highest levels.

One of the key people helping Mogilevich in Budapest was Dietmar
Clodo, a longtime associate of Mogilevich with a colorful history as a
mercenary in Rhodesia and as a supporter of the mujahideen in
Afghanistan against the Soviets.22 A suspected international arms and
drug trafficker, Clodo was sentenced to ten years in prison for his role
in a series of bombings in Hungary in the 1990s and was extradited to
Germany in 2005, where he was wanted on charges of murder, bank
robbery, and other serious crimes.23

According to an article by Russian journalist Anastasia Kirilenko on
a website called Hungarian Spectrum, in 1994, Clodo said he was
entrusted by Mogilevich with the delivery of large sums of money to
various top political officials in Hungary, “among whom was [Minister
of the Interior] Sándor Pintér.”24

On one such occasion, Clodo received a suitcase with approximately
one million deutschmarks with instructions to give it to an unnamed



political figure who was coming by to pick it up. As Clodo recalled,
when the man arrived, he “didn’t want to come into my house. I told
him, ‘Listen to me, I have that damned money in a suitcase. I don’t
want to go out on the street with this suitcase. I don’t care. If you
refuse to come in, I will give it back to Mr. Mogilevich. I don’t care.’”25

Of course, Clodo did not tell the man why he wanted the transaction
to take place indoors—namely, that there was a hidden camera among
his books that would record the transfer.

“I wasn’t interested in who this man was,” said Clodo. “It was only
after the elections that I understood that this young man was Viktor
Orbán from Fidesz [the right-wing populist party in Hungary].”26

Orbán went on to become prime minister of Hungary from 1998 to
2002, and again from 2010 to the present, but there is no way to verify
Clodo’s account.

For a master of money laundering like Mogilevich, banks were
essential, and in 1994, he infiltrated and later took over Inkombank,
one of the largest private banks in Russia, allegedly via a secret deal
with its chairman, Vladimir Vinogradov.27

In the UK, he had first staked out turf in the early nineties,
laundering large sums of cash allegedly from activities ranging from
arms dealing to prostitution, extortion, and drug trafficking, through
Arbat and Arigon, the companies he had launched with Ivankov and
Mikhailov in the Channel Islands. In 1995, however, after large
amounts of money started going to the companies’ lawyers, London’s
Metropolitan Police raided their homes and seized millions from the
Royal Bank of Scotland.28 No charges were filed, but the companies
were dissolved and Mogilevich was banned from Britain.

Increasingly, Mogilevich focused his energies on the corporate
world—and not just in Russia and Ukraine, but also the United States.
To make his dreams a reality, he put together a network of white-collar
professionals who would propel the Semion Mogilevich Organization
to another level entirely. He cultivated young Russian businessmen
who had expertise in creating shell companies to launder money. He
found bankers who made it possible to launder money on a
multibillion-dollar level on an ongoing basis.



A decade earlier, the Russians had deconstructed the system of
gasoline tax distribution in the United States, zeroed in on its
vulnerabilities, and put together a virtually foolproof scheme to steal
billions of dollars. Now they prepared to take on Wall Street,
America’s campaign finance system, the world of K Street lobbyists,
and any politicians who were ready for hire, all in a widespread effort
to have as much power and money in their pockets as possible.

But Mogilevich’s ascent was not without setbacks. By 1994,
Mogilevich’s Inkombank was able to have “virtually daily
interaction”29 with the Bank of New York (BONY), one of the largest
banks in the United States,30 meaning that he finally had direct access
to mainstream international banks to launder billions of dollars.* But
a British investigation code-named Operation Sword revealed that
Arbat International, one of the Channel Island firms Mogilevich had
started in the early nineties, was at the center of a web of companies in
London and New York through which Mogilevich laundered as much
as $10 billion.31

—
Meanwhile, by 1995, Mogilevich was in the midst of a heated dispute
with longtime ally Sergei Mikhailov. The reason, according to Interpol
files, was that Mikhailov had “ordered Mogilevich to transfer about 5
million US dollars to the general security of the Solntsevo group.”32

The matter came to a head at a meeting in the Czech Republic on May
31 of that year, the purpose of which, according to Interpol files, was to
split up “newly discovered routes for smuggling gold and jewelry, a
new route of cocaine smuggling from South America to Moscow and
heroin from the CIS countries to Western Europe and the United
States.”33

It happened to be Averin’s birthday, and in true Bratva fashion, the
“meeting” took place at the V Holubu, a Prague restaurant Mogilevich
owned and used as a money-laundering center, with strippers,
hookers, and a guest list that included Mikhailov, Averin, Mogilevich,
and everyone who was anyone in the Russian Mafia.



“They were having an elaborate dinner and entertainment,” Special
Agent Robert Levinson of the FBI told the BBC.34 “They had a Russian
singer and a comic and they had some cabaret entertainers, and
everyone was having a very good time for themselves.”

Then, while the performances were still under way, the Czech
Republic’s organized crime SWAT team suddenly came into the
restaurant, jumped on the stage, and, armed with machine guns,
ordered the crowd not to move.35

At first, everyone was transfixed, thinking it was part of the show.
According to FBI files, what they didn’t know, however, was that
before the festivities got under way, “an unidentified Russian delivered
an anonymous letter to the chief of police in Budapest, Hungary, in
which it was alleged that Semion Mogilevich was to be assassinated
that evening at the ‘summit meeting’ in Prague.”36

Slowly, the partygoers realized that the SWAT team had foiled an
assassination attempt on Mogilevich. As for Mogilevich, he had been
tipped off and was nowhere to be found.37 “Mogilevich knew he was
dealing with some very, very treacherous people,” said Levinson.
“They’d kill him in an instant.”

—
In the wake of the Prague fiasco, Mogilevich, Mikhailov, and other
alleged Russian mobsters were banned from the Czech Republic,
effectively shutting down operations there. In June 1995, Ivankov had
been nabbed for extortion and held without bail. He was later
sentenced to nine years and seven months in jail.38 On occasion, there
were shootouts between rival gangsters and internecine warfare. But
all that was the price of doing business. By some accounts, Mogilevich
was already said to be worth over $100 million—and money was
rolling in.

At the same time, with Ivankov overseeing operations from his cell
in upstate New York, Mogilevich had begun to consolidate operations
in the US while maintaining major business interests in Europe. He
had major holdings in the Hungarian arms industry. He had managed
to steal millions of dollars of Soviet military equipment that had been



left behind in East Germany when the Soviet Union dissolved.39

Between weapons trafficking, assassinations, prostitution, drug
trafficking, dealing in precious gems and stolen art, extortion, and
money laundering, cash was pouring in from all over the world.

In the history of the American Mafia, there have been a handful of
summit meetings at which rival gangs sort out how to divide
operations such as loan sharking, drug dealing, gambling, prostitution,
and, of course, the resulting spoils. Among the most famous is the
1957 meeting in the sleepy hamlet of Apalachin, New York, that was
raided by state and local cops, resulting in more than sixty underworld
bosses being detained and indicted.

The Bratva meeting in Prague had played out differently for
Mogilevich than the Apalachin meeting did for the American mob. He
and his allies had been forced out of the Czech Republic, but they lived
to fight another day. Moreover, vital issues were still unresolved. So in
October 1995, Mogilevich attended a summit meeting of Russian
crime figures in the Tel Aviv office of Boris Birshtein, a flamboyant,
politically connected Russian-Canadian businessman who ran Seabeco
SA and had close ties both to the KGB40 and Sergei Mikhailov,41 with
whom he partnered in a Belgian company called MAB International.

Others who were present included Mikhailov partner Viktor Averin;
Ukrainian media mogul Vadim Rabinovich, who had ties to the arms
trade and had spent seven years42 in jail for black market ventures;
several other Ukrainian businessmen; and, of course, Semion
Mogilevich. Rabinovich had run the Kiev office of Nordex, an arms
company allegedly tied to the Mafia that had brokered the sale of Scud
missiles from North Korea to Iraq.43

While they were in Israel, the group traveled around the country,
“including a visit to a shooting range.” Israeli officials had telephone
coverage of their hotel rooms and detected calls to Russia, Hungary,
and Paris. According to the FBI, they “did not appear to practice
communications security, freely discussing business over the
telephone.”44

Now that the Soviet Union was dead and gone, they had gone
global. Hundreds of billions of dollars in natural resources were there



for the taking, but they had to figure out how to split their booty. And
so a settlement was reached whereby Mogilevich paid Mikhailov the
disputed $5 million, but in return got something far more valuable.

The key subject of the meeting in Tel Aviv, and subsequent
gatherings of the Russian mobsters, was how to divide spoils in
Ukraine among the criminal gangs, especially Ukraine’s energy trade.
With more than fifty million Ukrainians overwhelmingly dependent on
Russia for such an essential commodity as gas, especially given
Ukraine’s frigid winters, an intermediary would be in a strong position
to dictate whatever terms he liked. Of course, that meant asserting real
political power at the highest levels of government in Ukraine and
Russia. Even more important, in the long run, it also necessitated
having access to power in the United States.



I

CHAPTER NINE

TURN OF THE SCREW

n the fall of 1996, after years of nonstop wrangling with creditors
over billions of dollars in debt, Donald Trump’s comeback began.
One of many reasons for the delay had been Trump Castle, one of

the most troubled properties among his Atlantic City casinos. All of
them were failing, but the Castle was the ugly stepmother. It had been
that way for years.

In 1990, after Trump built the stupendously extravagant Trump Taj
Mahal, with its minarets and carved elephants, the Taj began to
cannibalize the nearby Trump Castle so much that it almost fell into
the hands of bondholders. It was saved only when Fred Trump,
Donald’s father, famously bought $3.3 million in poker chips and
didn’t use them—thereby giving his son’s casino a questionable loan.1

The following year, however, the Castle’s decline in revenue was so
dire that the New Jersey Casino Control Commission ruled that the
resort was at risk of losing its license. Trump’s casino empire had so
much debt, at such high interest rates, there was almost no chance he
would succeed.

Then came the bankruptcies, with four trips to bankruptcy court. In
the end, bondholders had to accept more than a $1.5 billion2 loss while
Trump continued to collect a big salary, bonuses, and other payments.
Through it all, Trump managed to stay in the game and persuade
bankers and bondholders to refinance his casinos in a way that
allowed him to keep majority ownership.

Then, finally, on September 30, stockholders of Trump Hotels and
Casino Resorts, his publicly traded company, agreed to buy Trump
Castle, the weakest of his Atlantic City properties, for $485.7 million.



That meant stockholders paid Trump more than $130 million in stock
and nearly $1 million in cash, and assumed $354.8 million in debt.3

“It took two years of hard work, but now everything is put together
into one beautiful, simple, lovely, substantial company,” Trump said.
“People are shocked when they look at the numbers because the
numbers are terrific, the numbers are just huge.”4

Even his critics were impressed. “His turnabout is a classic,” casino
analyst Marvin Roffman told Playboy. “It is the biggest comeback I’ve
ever seen. Donald Trump, financially speaking, has come back from
the dead.”5 Roffman had been fired from his Wall Street firm under
pressure from Trump for refusing to apologize for a report critical of
Trump.* 6

“He was worse than broke,” Stephen Bollenbach, a corporate
salvage expert who helped rescue Trump’s empire, told Playboy’s
Mark Bowden.7 “He was losing money every day, and he was already
hundreds and hundreds of millions of dollars in debt.”

“This time,” Roffman said, “he has real net worth.”8

—
But cash never lasted long in Donald Trump’s hands. As if to prove
that he hadn’t lost his taste for profligacy, less than a month later, in
October 1996, Trump bought three beauty pageants—Miss Universe,
Miss USA, and Miss Teen USA—from ITT.9 As is often the case with
Trump, the exact amount of the transaction is unclear. In The Art of
the Comeback, he wrote that his winning bid was $10 million. But
later, he couldn’t resist changing the narrative to make reporters think
he had gotten a steal and paid only $2 million.10

Regardless of the price, less than a week later, with this new calling
card in hand, and whatever cachet came with it, Trump returned to
Moscow for the first time in nearly a decade, with visions of yet
another Trump Tower still in his head.

Even though there’s no evidence that Trump had direct contact
with Ivankov or Mogilevich, throughout his three-day stay in Russia in
November 1996, Trump and his entourage were escorted around
Moscow by people with alleged connections to them.



This time, Donald was accompanied by his friend, New York real
estate developer Howard Lorber,* and Lorber’s business partner
Bennett LeBow. Lorber was the president of the Brooke Group,*
whose holdings included Liggett-Ducat Ltd. (formerly known as
Liggett & Myers), America’s third-largest tobacco company, and major
real estate assets in both New York and Moscow; LeBow was founder
and chairman.

Having started out in the early Wild West days of post-Soviet
privatization, the duo had already forged some interesting
relationships. LeBow had begun partnering11 with Vadim Rabinovich,
the pro-Russia Ukrainian oligarch who had spent seven years in jail
for embezzlement.* 12 Only a month before Trump, Lorber, and
LeBow’s Moscow visit, Rabinovich had participated in the Tel Aviv
summit meeting at which Mogilevich was granted control of the
Ukraine energy trade.13

Once Trump and his entourage arrived in Moscow, they were
shown around town by its mayor, Yuri Luzhkov. As John Beyrle, the
American ambassador to Russia, saw it, Luzhkov was the embodiment
of the Russian “political dilemma” in that his political power was both
marred by and fueled by “the shadowy world of corrupt business
practices”14 and a system in which “almost everyone at every level is
involved in some form of corruption or criminal behavior.”15

As reported by the liberal newspaper Novaya Gazeta, Mayor
Luzhkov was alleged to be deeply in bed with Mogilevich, Ivankov, and
company. In fact, according to a classified cable Ambassador Beyrle
wrote, “Luzhkov used criminal money to support his rise to power and
has been involved with bribes and deals regarding lucrative
construction contracts throughout Moscow. [Source redacted] told us
that Luzhkov’s friends and associates (including . . . crime boss
Vyacheslav Ivankov and reputedly corrupt Duma Deputy Joseph
Kobzon) are ‘bandits.’”16

Through his billionaire wife, Yelena Baturina, Luzhkov also had
family ties to Sistema,* a company that privatized Moscow real estate
and gas,17 and, according to Novye Izvestia, was tied to Mogilevich’s
companies18 in the Channel Islands and the Solntsevo crime gang.



According to the Guardian, the couple have vehemently denied the
accusations as “total rubbish.”19

On the occasion of Donald Trump’s return to Russia, Mayor
Luzhkov was effectively giving Trump the keys to Moscow as part of a
serious overture from the Yeltsin government to build a Trump
Tower–like complex in the Russian capital. According to TASS, the
Russian press agency, Trump began negotiations with first deputy
mayor of Moscow, Vladimir Rezin, to build a $300-million luxury
residential complex.20 Over time, Mayor Luzhkov reportedly changed
his approach and asked Trump about possibly renovating the run-
down Rossiya and Moskva hotels in the style of the Commodore in
New York.

In the end, talks stagnated, and once again, nothing came of the
project. Nevertheless, this was a period during which post-communist
powers were desperately courting business leaders and politicians of
every stripe as a way of winning favor with American power brokers.

David Geovanis, Liggett-Ducat’s director of real estate, who was
also on the trip, played a role in promoting Trump’s project21 and may
have helped make sure Trump was entertained during his sojourn with
the kind of activities that got him into trouble during his earlier trip.
At least, that is one of the suggestions that is made in a controversial
“dossier” that Devin Nunes, the Republican chairman of the House
Intelligence Committee and congressman from California, produced in
an attempt to discredit allegations of a conspiracy between Donald
Trump and Russia. The document essentially consists of unfinished
notes that have been neither corroborated nor confirmed and were
part of an ongoing investigation by journalist and investigator Cody
Shearer, a longtime ally of Bill and Hillary Clinton.

Before leaving Russia, Trump held a press conference in Moscow’s
Hotel Baltschug Kempinsky, a magnificent, palatial nineteenth-
century building overlooking Red Square, the Kremlin, and the
Moskva River—which, FBI files allege, happened to be owned by
Semion Mogilevich.

At the press conference, Trump announced he planned to invest
$250 million to build two “super-luxury” residential towers, to be



called Trump International and—surprise—Trump Tower, both of
which he said “Moscow desperately wants and needs.”22

“Moscow is going to be huge, take it from the Trumpster!” he later
told Playboy.

But, as in the eighties, the project remained eternally stalled, a
public face that masked a constantly changing network of clandestine
relationships.

—
One reason those relationships changed so frequently was that the
political situation in Russia was still quite volatile. In June 1996,
Anatoly Sobchak lost his reelection bid as mayor of St. Petersburg,
leaving his protégé Putin without a highly placed mentor. But two
months later, in July, Putin was invited to Moscow by Nikolai Yegorov,
Boris Yeltsin’s chief of staff, and offered a job as a deputy.23

These were days of chaos in the Kremlin. Yeltsin, then sixty-five,
was tired beyond his years, erratic and incoherent, beset by alcoholism
and serious health problems. He had had open-heart surgery and
multiple heart attacks. The hawks among his advisers were perpetually
at war with neoliberal reformers. Things weren’t stable in the short
term for Putin, either. Just days after Putin moved in as deputy chief
of staff, his job was eliminated. His patron, Chief of Staff Yegorov, had
been fired in the internal warfare.24

For all the palace intrigue, Putin was playing a longer game, and by
August he had finagled a position as a public liaison to the Presidential
Property Management Directorate. That meant his new job was to
oversee hundreds of palaces, dachas, hospitals, spas, yachts, aircraft,
state factories, and more.25 It was not what he wanted, but he had
finally found a foothold in the Kremlin.

At a time when the knives were certain to come out in internal turf
battles, Putin was a marginal figure whose greatest asset was his
unobtrusiveness.26 It was the key to his survival and upward
trajectory. By March 1997, after just seven months on the property job,
Putin was promoted to deputy chief of staff in the presidential



administration. A week later, he was given broader authority to
investigate abuses in government spending.27

For an intelligence operative who had been a promulgator of such
abuses himself, what more could one ask for? The fox had been given
keys to the proverbial henhouse. Putin launched inquiries into dozens
of regions and took disciplinary action against hundreds of officials. As
one scandal after another unraveled, Putin unspooled the narrative
exactly as he saw fit, attacking his enemies while whitewashing and
protecting potential allies who would surely pay back his favors with
interest. He drew up a report on corruption at a foundation created by
Anatoly Chubais, the deputy prime minister who had rejected him for
a job a year or so earlier.28 But he publicly absolved President Yeltsin
and his former defense minister, General Pavel Grachev, of allegations
regarding illegal sales of $1 billion in weapons to Armenia earlier.29

Before long, he had burnished his reputation as a powerful
campaigner against corruption and had strengthened his position
politically.

Then, in July 1998, at a time when the Russian economy was in free
fall and his administration was lurching wildly about, Boris Yeltsin
decided he needed to instigate a complete overhaul of the Russian
security apparatus. At the time, Putin had been a highly disciplined
model of discretion. His written reports were said to be “a model of
clarity.”30 While countless other bureaucrats were groveling for
advancement, Putin’s relative “coolness” was attractive to Yeltsin.

And so, Lubyanka, the massive neo-baroque building in the
Meshchansky District of Moscow, headquarters of the FSB (formerly
KGB) and the site of its affiliated prison, with its dark, dark history of
torture and executions, now had a new boss. Lubyanka was where
Nikolai Bukharin, the Bolshevik revolutionary and foe of Joseph
Stalin, was wrongly charged in 1937 with plotting to kill Vladimir
Lenin, and was sentenced to death in a show trial.31 It was where
Lavrentiy Beria, Stalin’s bloodthirsty executioner and the architect of
Stalinist purges, sent countless victims to their graves. Beria was
himself shot by a firing squad in 1953.32



And now, Vladimir Putin, a mere lieutenant colonel in the KGB,
had leapfrogged over scores of multistarred generals to take charge of
the Russian secret service and reshape it in his image. He moved into a
relatively modest office on the third floor of Lubyanka and turned the
official executive office, which had been occupied by KGB chiefs from
Beria to Yuri Andropov, into a shrine of sorts, with a small statue of
Felix Dzerzhinsky, aka “Iron Felix,” the Bolshevik revolutionary who
was the founder and director of the Soviet secret police, on the desk.33

Just as Donald Trump had risen from the ashes of Atlantic City,
Putin began a second act as well. He started by completely
restructuring the agency he loved, bringing in confederates from his
old days at the KGB, and purging his enemies. Among the latter were
two key agencies, the Directorate for Economic Counterintelligence
and the Directorate for Counterintelligence Protection of Strategic
Sites, both charged with investigating high-level economic crimes,
which inevitably involved Putin and his allies. In the hands of his
political foes, these agencies, not unlike the Special Counsel’s Office in
the United States, potentially posed a serious threat to Putin. Now that
he had the power, Putin made sure that both agencies were swiftly
eliminated.34 Having control over agencies that had the power to
investigate you was just one perk that came with Putin’s new position
and it was indispensible to anyone who wanted to retain power for
long periods of time. In the United States, of course, the separation of
the judiciary from the executive branch made that impossible—
theoretically at least. If, for example, the president were to fire a
special counsel who was investigating the White House, that could not
happen without causing a grave Constitutional crisis.

—
On August 20, less than a month after Putin’s appointment to head the
FSB, Russians got a serious taste of the treatment facing his critics
when Anatoly Levin-Utkin, a journalist for a newly launched paper
called Legal Petersburg Today (Yuridichesky Petersburg Segodnya)
left his office and returned to his apartment on Rednova Street.35



Levin-Utkin’s newspaper had only published its first three issues
but it had already provoked controversy thanks to its investigations
into the corruption surrounding privatization by the deputy mayor of
St. Petersburg who had just become head of the FSB. One of the
paper’s articles was headlined “Vladimir Putin Became Head of the
FSB Unlawfully.” Levin-Utkin had not written the article, but he had
contributed to it.

When Levin-Utkin got home and checked his mail, two men
assaulted him from behind, shattering his skull in several places, and
left him unconscious on the floor. He died on the morning of August
24.36

No one was convicted of the murder, nor, for that matter, was it
clear that there was ever any serious investigation. As a result, no
evidence surfaced linking Putin to the crime. Nevertheless, the murder
of Anatoly Levin-Utkin sent a signal about the value of loyalty to Putin
and his allies, and was a harbinger of things to come.

On November 17, 1998, four months after Putin became head of the
FSB, six men, four of whom wore masks and two of whom were
unmasked, held an extraordinarily dramatic press conference in
Moscow. All six had investigated organized crime for the FSB, and, as
they told the assembled journalists, the organized crime unit they
worked for had been transformed into a brutal and corrupt criminal
enterprise itself.37

The unmasked leader of the group, Alexander Litvinenko, was a
lieutenant colonel, the same rank, ironically, as Putin, and took the
lead in revealing how his superiors in the FSB were involved in
kidnapping, extortion, and the like. But the most sensational
disclosure of all was Litvinenko’s revelation that he had been ordered
by the FSB—now headed by Putin—to assassinate Boris Berezovsky.38

An engineer and mathematician by training, Berezovsky had
become a billionaire oligarch in the nineties through the privatization
of automobiles, television, Aeroflot, and other state assets. He had met
Putin in the early nineties, when Berezovsky wanted to open a car
dealership in St. Petersburg. Stunned to see Putin turn down a bribe,
Berezovsky put in a good word for him with Yeltsin. “He was the first



bureaucrat who did not take bribes,” Berezovsky said. “Seriously, it
made a huge impression on me.”39

Berezovsky was influential enough that his remarks to Yeltsin were
widely seen as a factor behind Putin’s ascent to the top of the FSB. He
had already used his money and power to promote Yeltsin’s 1996
reelection, and, as a result, had become a member of Boris Yeltsin’s
inner circle, known as the Family.40

But that didn’t mean Berezovsky was in a secure position. Having
come to wealth through the automobile industry initially, Berezovsky
switched to the media when he took the remnants of Soviet television
—Channel One Russia, the only Russian broadcaster with a nationwide
reach, spanning eleven time zones—and turned it into a powerful tool
promoting Yeltsin’s reelection in 1996.

Like many state-owned industries, Channel One, also known as
ORT, had been steeped in corruption. By some estimates, advertisers
paid five times as much as the network received, with the difference
going into the pockets of gangsters and various middlemen, all of
whom were now at risk with Berezovsky orchestrating a massive
restructuring.41

In 1995, Berezovsky had declared a moratorium of a few months
while he built a new in-house sales department and cut out the
middlemen. But nine days later, on March 1, Vlad Listyev, the new
director general at Channel One, and a popular broadcasting
personality, was gunned down at his Moscow home.42

Clearly, Berezovsky was the next in line. Not only was he cutting off
the livelihood of scores of gangsters, he also controlled a political tool
of immense power.

Meanwhile, Litvinenko had done something unheard of—he had
taken on Putin and the kontora (the company) on national TV. Putin’s
response to the sensational press conference was twofold. Publicly, he
held a press conference in which he announced that there would be
internal investigations into all the accusations made by Litvinenko and
company. “We are not afraid to wash our dirty linen in public,” he
said.43



But privately, he called Litvinenko in for a meeting at Lubyanka
Square. Litvinenko arrived accompanied by two colleagues and a hefty
dossier documenting his allegations. But Putin refused to accept the
dossier and insisted that Litvinenko come into his office alone. Their
encounter was chilly and brief. Later, Litvinenko described the
meeting to his wife, Marina. “I could see it in his eyes that he hated
me,” he told her.44

He was right.
Shortly afterward, Putin met with President Yeltsin and argued that

Litvinenko had betrayed the FSB. Rather than investigate Litvinenko’s
allegations, he gave Yeltsin documentation suggesting that Litvinenko
and his allies had betrayed their oath of office as intelligence officers.
Then, he fired them.45

But removing Litvinenko from the hunt was not enough. An even
more serious threat to both Yeltsin and him was in the works from
Russia’s prosecutor general, Yuri Skuratov, whose investigation went
so far as to target Yeltsin and the Family about millions of dollars of
dubious transactions surrounding the restoration of the Kremlin and
the renovation of Yeltsin’s dacha. Members of the Duma had already
raised the question of impeachment.46

Skuratov’s investigation had also begun probing corruption in St.
Petersburg under Mayor Sobchak, including the privatization of
apartments by a company called Renaissance, some of whose
apartments went to Putin.47 Now was the time for Putin to prove his
loyalty to Yeltsin—and save his own skin in the process.

On March 17, 1999, the newscast on RTR state television broadcast
a caveat that the report to follow might not be suitable for young
viewers.48 What followed were clips from a black and white
surveillance video taken inside a Moscow apartment. The segment,
titled “Three in a Bed,”49 featured two young women, partially
dressed, who were described as prostitutes, moving in and out of the
frame, and a man appeared who, the narrator said, “very much
resembles the Prosecutor General.”50

And so Yuri Skuratov was forced to resign. His ouster had all the
hallmarks of having been orchestrated by a master of KGB tradecraft



and the arts of kompromat and honey traps.
And what role, if any, did Putin play? According to an article by

authors Yuri Felshtinsky and Vladimir Pribylovsky* on Garry
Kasparov’s website,51 Putin’s agents rented and paid for the apartment
in which the video was shot. Putin’s agents videotaped the evening. “A
man who looked like the head of the FSB”—i.e., Putin—personally
delivered the video to the head of RTR. And, finally, it was Putin who
publicly announced President Yeltsin’s demand for Skuratov to resign.

But was the man in the apartment actually Skuratov? Former KGB
general Oleg Kalugin maintains that the whole episode ‘‘was a special
FSB operation to discredit an official with the help of a video featuring
a person who resembled the prosecutor-general.’’52 It was classic KGB
work that had been transformed into a riveting media spectacle for
maximum political impact.

—
Ousting Skuratov solidified Putin’s relationship with Yeltsin, but it was
unclear exactly what that meant for the ambitious young FSB director.
It would be an understatement to say that at the time, the Yeltsin
administration was on shaky ground. The ruble had collapsed the
previous year, leading to a nationwide financial crisis. Impeachment
proceedings in the Duma were now under way against Yeltsin. It was
unlikely impeachment had enough support to pass, but incessant
reports in the media about corruption in Yeltsin’s “Family” left him
deeply wounded politically at a time when he sorely needed to put
together a parliamentary majority in the Duma. Prime ministers came
and went with alarming regularity. By the summer of 1999, he had
already fired seven prime ministers and acting prime ministers.

Finally, on August 5, 1999, Yeltsin called Putin to his dacha outside
Moscow. “I’ve made a decision, Vladimir Vladimirovich,” Yeltsin told
him, “and I would like to offer you the post of prime minister.”53

Putin wanted the job, but he had no desire to be a sacrificial lamb
like so many short-lived previous prime ministers. He needed political
capital because Yeltsin and his “Family” were still facing possible



criminal prosecution and wanted protection. But to the public at large,
he was a nonentity.

Thus, according to historian David Satter, a plan called Operation
Successor was implemented to resolve precisely those problems.54 It
began on the night of September 4, when a huge explosion rocked a
five-story building in Buynaksk, a town of about sixty thousand in the
Russian republic of Dagestan, killing sixty-four people. Five days later,
another explosion destroyed a nine-story apartment building in
Moscow. This time, ninety-four people died.55

On September 13, yet another explosion rocked another Moscow
apartment building. This time the death toll was 118. And a fourth
bombing took place on September 16 in the southern city of
Volgodonsk, killing seventeen.

To tens of millions of Russians, these bombings were roughly the
equivalent of 9/11, and were widely blamed on separatist rebels from
Chechnya, the tiny, largely Muslim republic near the Caspian Sea that
had been part of the Soviet Union. In the aftermath of the bombings,
with all of Russia crying out for vengeance, Putin, who had just been
appointed prime minister, appeared on national television night after
night, the one man who could assuage their fears and stave off the
collapse of the Russian state.

A new hero had been born.
But then, on the evening of September 22, 1999, something

happened in Ryazan, a medium-sized city about 120 miles southeast of
Moscow, that reversed the narrative entirely. Many questions about
the episode remain unanswered, but according to a book that was
banned in Russia, Blowing Up Russia: The Secret Plot to Bring Back
KGB Terror, by Yuri Felshtinsky and Alexander Litvinenko, at about
nine fifteen p.m., a man named Alexei Kartofelnikov called authorities
and told them he had seen two men and a woman carrying three large
sacks into a twelve-story apartment complex.

By the time the police arrived at 9:58 p.m., all three had gone, but
officials discovered three fifty-kilogram sugar sacks that were stacked
on top of each other in the basement. It was soon determined that
instead of sugar, the sacks contained a powerful explosive known as



hexogen or RDX, for Royal Demolition Explosive. There was a slit in
the upper sack through which one could see an electronic device with
wires, insulating tape, and a timer.56 When the sack was cut open, the
police found batteries, an electronic timer, and a detonator. It was set
for five thirty the following morning.

In the end, the authors conclude that this failed effort to bomb yet
another apartment building produced compelling evidence that the
real perpetrators were not Chechen terrorists at all but an elite team
from the FSB. In other words, the heinous bombings that killed nearly
three hundred innocent Russians were likely the product of a “false
flag” operation that enabled Putin to consolidate power, much as Adolf
Hitler did after the Reichstag fire.

“To blow up your own innocent and sleeping people in your capital
city is an action that is almost unthinkable,” writes Karen Dawisha.
“Yet the evidence that the FSB was at least involved in planting a bomb
in Ryazan is incontrovertible [ . . . ] and it strikes at the heart of the
legitimacy of the Putin regime.”57

But few Russians were aware of what had really happened. As the
newly appointed prime minister who had been put in charge of the
war, Putin won popularity overnight.

On December 31, 1999, the last day of the millennium, Boris Yeltsin
resigned and appointed Putin acting president. He became president
having pledged to chase Chechen terrorists everywhere, famously
promising to “rub them out in the outhouse,” if necessary.58 He had
promised to stop the plundering of the Russian state by rich oligarchs.
But very few Russians knew that Putin had been a primary actor in the
same kind of activity in St. Petersburg. And as for cleaning up
corruption, one of Putin’s first acts as president was to pardon Boris
Yeltsin, thereby guaranteeing immunity from prosecution to the
outgoing president.59

Across the ocean, it was unclear whether or not Trump took notice
of Putin’s act of clemency—one that would become very important to
him years later. Nevertheless, the 2000 election cycle was just getting
under way, and Donald Trump had made a very important decision:
He wanted to be president of the United States.



O

CHAPTER TEN

THE MONEY PIPELINES

n October 7, 1999, on CNN’s Larry King Live, Trump formally
announced that he would form a presidential exploratory
committee, in hopes of winning the Reform Party’s presidential

nomination. Over the next six months, he jousted with fellow Reform
Party candidates, principally pundit and strategist Pat Buchanan, in
the closest approximation of a political campaign he had ever had.

But close was not good enough, and on February 14, 2000, Trump
dropped out, and blamed the Reform Party itself, noting that it was
dominated by a “fringe element” that he didn’t particularly care for.
More specifically, Trump complained that at a reception in California
for the party, “the room was crowded with Elvis look-alikes.”1

Meanwhile, in Moscow, Vladimir Putin had a very different set of
issues to deal with. When he took office as acting president on January
1, 2000, he was essentially a blank slate to the Russian people, a man
who was known largely for being inscrutable. A Russian
newsmagazine headlined a profile of him “Magician Without a Face.”2

Russian political analysts referred to him as a “black box.”
“He is a grey man, an invisible man,” said Ruslan Linkov, a liberal

politician from St. Petersburg. “He was always in the shadows. He has
psychological skills, and he uses his KGB skills in the political
structures. Nobody quits the KGB forever. If someone works there, he
works there until his death.”3

To the West, Putin was little more than an enigma whose ascent
elicited anodyne critiques. “He’s a smart, cool customer who is one of
those solution-oriented problem solvers and virtually unflappable,”
said Bill Clinton’s national security adviser, Samuel “Sandy” Berger.



“The next three months (before March 26 Russian presidential
elections) will reveal much about where his instincts lie.”4

The most telling clue to Putin’s real views came in an essay he wrote
as he was about to take office. “Russia has been and will continue to be
a great country,” he wrote, “. . . [but it] is never going to be another
USA or England, where liberal values have deep historical traditions,”
because Russians are more attracted to “collective forms of life.”5

Perhaps the most revelatory moment in his essay was his use of a
somewhat archaic term that had an imperial ring to it: derzhavnost, a
word dating back to tsarist times that indicates belief in the greatness
of the state. The word is derived from derzhava, the orb that was part
of the tsarist regalia, which signified Russia’s imperial reach.6

At a time when the once-formidable Eastern Bloc was vanishing
before his eyes, was Putin truly serious about resurrecting Russia’s
imperial past? Hungary, the Czech Republic, Poland, and East
Germany (which had reunited with West Germany) had already joined
NATO. Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Slovenia, Bulgaria, and Romania
were next in line, ready to go.

If Putin were to reverse the course of history, where would he
possibly begin?

The unspoken answer, now that both the Soviet Union and
communism were dead, lay in the fact that the Russian security forces
and the Mafia had rushed in to fill the power vacuum. Under the new,
emerging Putin paradigm, the Kremlin operated hand in glove with
the Bratva, to the benefit of both, with the Mafia adhering to
guidelines established at the top.

For Mogilevich, having Putin as an ally meant he was now in a
position to make a major move. Instead of arbitrating turf battles in
Brighton Beach or Budapest, he was now poised to begin rearranging
multibillion-dollar pieces on the geopolitical chessboard. The upshot
of the 1995 Mafia summit meeting in Tel Aviv had been that
Mogilevich would be allowed to make a move on the Ukraine energy
trade. Implementing that agreement, however, required cooperation
from the powers that be in both Moscow and Kiev. Everything was
possible so long as Mogilevich played by Putin’s rules—namely, that



Putin now provided krysha (protection) for Mogilevich, just as
Mogilevich did for his underlings. “Nobody would survive in Moscow
without the roof of the FSB,” said a highly knowledgeable Mafia
source.7

—
Meanwhile, Mogilevich’s plans for globalization continued apace.
Having set up an industrial magnet firm in Budapest called YBM
Magnex, he expanded into Canada and the United States, and
dispatched Dr. Jacob (Yakov) Bogatin, a trained metallurgist who
happened to be David Bogatin’s brother, to its Newtown,
Pennsylvania, branch to become CEO.8

But on May 13, 1998, the FBI raided YBM’s Newtown offices and
found its huge site littered with thousands of pages documenting sales,
purchase orders, invoices, and the like. However, they did not find any
actual magnets.9 Instead, they discovered that Mogilevich had been
using some extraordinarily creative accounting—and hyperbolic PR
about a nonexistent product—to send YBM’s stock price skyrocketing
from less than ten cents a share to $20.15.10

After the raid, trading of YBM shares on the Toronto Stock
Exchange was halted. In December 1998, YBM went into
receivership.11 By then, however, according to the Toronto Globe and
Mail, Mogilevich had personally made $18.4 million from stock sales
and other compensation, while partner Jacob Bogatin had made $10
million,12 all from a company that, according to the FBI, did not
actually make magnets and “was created for the sole purpose of
committing securities fraud.”13 In 2003, Mogilevich, Jacob Bogatin,
and Igor Fisherman, YBM’s European operating manager, were
indicted on forty-five felony counts for the $150 million stock fraud.
But because there is no extradition treaty between the United States
and Russia, they were never brought to trial in the United States.

—
In the course of its investigation, the FBI took the unusual step of
starting the FBI–Hungarian National Police Organized Crime Task



Force in Budapest to dismantle organized crime groups in the very city
that Mogilevich had chosen as his base.14 As soon as the task force
began investigating, Mogilevich realized that if he stayed in Budapest,
he risked extradition because Hungary did have such a treaty with the
United States. So in June 1999,15 he fled to Moscow, where he was
safe.

In a rare newspaper interview a few months later at the Moscow
Marriott, with Sandra Rubin of Canada’s National Post, Mogilevich
made no secret of the contempt he had for the United States as a result
of the FBI’s investigation, refusing even to take a sip from a sealed
bottle of mineral water, lest it be poisoned. “This is an American
hotel,” his translator explained. “He does not eat or drink in the house
of the enemy.”

The problems all went back, Mogilevich said, “to some low-life FBI
agent who pretended he was an expert on Russian matters and made
up a file of people who were supposedly ‘known’ to Russian
authorities. It was just made up.”16

Since the FBI started investigating him, he said, “I wouldn’t say my
life has changed—it has disappeared. My son comes home from school
with bruises all over his body. He has been fighting with everyone who
calls him the son of a killer, the son of that guy involved in drugs.”

With that, Mogilevich’s eyes filled with tears. He looked down at his
ashtray. “I used to smoke True because it expressed what was inside
me,” he said, as he chain-smoked Davidoffs. “But I switched brands
because I found out there is no such thing as ‘true’ in America.”17

—
Meanwhile, in Budapest, American officials had put together a very
different picture of Mogilevich, and were dumbfounded by the fealty of
the Ukrainian secret service (SBU) to him. Even though the
Ukrainians knew the FBI was hot on his trail, SBU director Leonid
Derkach rhapsodized about Mogilevich as a great entrepreneur to a
reporter, asserting that he had created “a scientifically unique mini-
magnet that would revolutionize industry and transport.”18



Of course, that was nonsense. The so-called mini-magnets didn’t
even exist. It was another magnificent scam. Mogilevich and his
associates had just cheated investors out of $150 million.19

In response to Derkach’s homage to Mogilevich, US ambassador to
Ukraine Steven Pifer, accompanied by an FBI agent, met with
Ukraine’s secretary of state for security and defense, Yevhen Marchuk,
and gave him the FBI file on Mogilevich, who had made it to the FBI’s
vaunted “Ten Most Wanted” list.

But that changed nothing. In February 2000, Derkach met secretly
with Mogilevich in Kiev to finalize a business deal whereby Mogilevich
would sell the Ukrainian SBU an electronic intelligence-gathering
system.20 Mogilevich had become so close to Derkach and Ukrainian
intelligence that he was actually the vendor for the SBU when it came
to sensitive intel gathering. And even there, Mogilevich was able to
make out like a bandit. The SBU paid Mogilevich almost $4 million for
a system that cost just over $2 million in America.

—
Strategic relationships like these were vital to Mogilevich if he was to
insinuate himself into the lucrative Ukraine energy trade, a subject, no
doubt, that seems extraordinarily arcane and dreary—until one
realizes that it is a great way to siphon off huge sums of money. A key
figure in helping make that happen was Dmitry Firtash, an up-and-
coming Ukrainian oligarch who had been bartering consumer goods in
Ukraine, Turkmenistan, and Russia in the nineties when he won
permission from then–Ukrainian president Leonid Kravchuk to buy
gas for the Ukrainian market.21

The deal was worth billions, thanks to Ukraine’s historic role as a
transit point for Western European gas imports from Russia and
Turkmenistan and as a major consumer of gas in its own right. Poland,
Germany, and other European countries also relied heavily on
Turkmen gas, which Ukraine bought through the barter of food,
chemicals, and machinery, rather than cash. Then Ukraine sold the
extra gas for hard currency.22



Given Ukraine’s high rate of inflation, there was a certain logic to
doing business that way, but there was one drawback: Barter as a form
of trade is highly susceptible to tax evasion and corruption.

Enter Semion Mogilevich.
Putin’s reputed alliance with Mogilevich now effectively enabled the

Russian Mafia to participate in multibillion-dollar trade deals that
appeared, on the surface, to be entirely legitimate. Among those deals,
the most significant involved establishing “opaque intermediary
companies,” whose ownership and roles were often unclear, to be key
players in the lucrative Ukraine energy trade. In principle, the scam
was simple. Once the gas had been transferred by Moscow to Ukraine
at low, low prices to Firtash, Mogilevich, and company, they could
immediately resell it at market prices in Europe and pocket the
difference, thereby siphoning off untold millions—perhaps billions.

As Mogilevich’s partner, Dmitry Firtash was emblematic of the new
breed of oligarchs. Having grown up in a small village in western
Ukraine, in his youth, Firtash worked as a tomato grower and trained
to become a fireman. Then, after the Soviet Union collapsed, he began
to sell canned goods, dry milk, and other foodstuffs to Central Asia
through barter arrangements.23

At the time, Firtash said, he felt he was living “between two
countries—one that had ended and one that was beginning” and was
still “a country with no laws and no taxes.”24

His description was absurdly accurate. When he traveled to
Turkmenistan trying to collect on a $3 million debt from a state-
owned company, the cash-poor government offered to pay him in
natural gas instead.25 Getting involved in the Ukraine gas business in
the early days of cowboy capitalism was a high-risk, high-reward
undertaking. One had only to look at the track record of Prime
Minister Pavlo Lazarenko, who had embezzled $200 million during
his thirteen months in office starting in 1996, and, according to
Firtash, then ordered the assassinations of at least two prominent
officials in Kiev who didn’t go along with his larcenous business
practices.26



As Firtash later told an American official, there were dinners with
mobsters—Mogilevich and Sergei Mikhailov from the Solntsevo
Bratva, among others—at which he did not know “if he would be
beaten up or even killed.”27

Then, in 2001, Firtash joined a Cyprus-based company called High
Rock Holdings LLC that became a key part of his relationship with
Mogilevich. According to a classified “Secret” cable by the US
ambassador to Ukraine, William Taylor, which was published by
WikiLeaks, Firtash acknowledged but downplayed his ties to
Mogilevich, “stating he needed Mogilevich’s approval to get into
business in the first place. He was adamant that he had not committed
a single crime when building his business empire, and argued that
outsiders still failed to understand the period of lawlessness that
reigned in Ukraine after the collapse of the Soviet Union. . . .28

“He noted that it was impossible to approach a government official
for any reason without also meeting with an organized crime member
at the same time. Firtash acknowledged that he needed, and received,
permission from Mogilievich [sic] when he established various
businesses, but he denied any close relationship to him. . . . If he
needed a permit from the government, for example, he would
invariably need permission from the appropriate ‘businessman’ who
worked with the government official who issued that particular permit.
He also claimed that although he knows several businessmen who are
linked to organized crime, including members of the Solntsevo
Brotherhood, he was not implicated in their alleged illegal dealings.”29

Firtash denies having made the remarks to the ambassador. But
files from the FBI, Interpol, and the US State Department assert that
Firtash’s ties to Mogilevich were very real indeed. His most important
link to Mogilevich came through a Cyprus-based company he joined in
2001 called High Rock Holdings LLC. High Rock’s financial director,
Igor Fisherman, had served as a high-level aide to Pavlo Lazarenko,
the murderous Ukrainian prime minister, but was better known as
Mogilevich’s right hand,30 and had also been a principal at YBM
Magnex31 in Newtown, Pennsylvania, as part of Mogilevich’s pump-
and-dump stock scam.* As a result of such connections, the



Department of Justice has identified Firtash as an “upper-echelon
[associate] of Russian organized crime.”32

And those weren’t Firtash’s only alleged ties to Mogilevich.
According to the US ambassador to Ukraine’s cable, “34 percent of
High Rock was owned by a firm called Agatheas Trading Ltd,” which
Galina Telesh, Mogilevich’s ex-wife, reportedly directed from 2001 to
2003.33 Thanks to all of this, a reporter from the Financial Times
concluded, Firtash had become “the new face of the Mogilevich
group.”34

And so began a series of opaque intermediaries, corporations that
siphoned off billions of dollars from the Ukrainian energy trade. By
2002, a new intermediary called Eural Trans Gas (ETG) had been
founded in Hungary by Israeli attorney Ze’ev Gordon,35 to transport
gas from Turkmenistan through Russia to Ukraine. As an investigation
by Reuters concluded, its ownership structure was “unclear,”36 but
Gordon happened to be Mogilevich’s longtime attorney and Firtash
seems to have played a major role in the company. Moreover, the day
after the tiny company was founded—its startup capital was a mere
$12,000—it got a massive contract to transport gas from
Turkmenistan to Ukraine that was worth as much as $1 billion on the
European markets.37

According to “It’s a Gas,” an investigation into the Turkmen-
Ukraine gas trade by Global Witness, an NGO, the ownership papers
for ETG listed three hard-up Romanians with no connection to the gas
industry, one of whom was an out-of-work actress who says she
allowed her name to be used in order to pay her phone bill. The
following year, ETG cleared $760 million in profits.

In 2004, RosUkrEnergo (RUE) replaced Eural Trans Gas and
became the go-between for gas deals between Turkmenistan and
Ukraine. Once again, the ownership was hazy initially, but in the end it
became clear that Firtash and Gazprom, the giant Russian gas
company, owned nearly the entire company.38

Through all these deals, Reuters concluded, Firtash’s “success was
built on remarkable sweetheart deals brokered by associates of



Russian leader Vladimir Putin, at immense cost to Russian
taxpayers.”39

Indeed, the price Firtash paid for the gas was so low that companies
he controlled made more than $3 billion on the arrangement, at the
same time that bankers close to Putin gave Firtash up to $11 billion in
credit, much of which went to back pro-Putin political factions in
Ukraine.40

—
Billions of dollars were pouring out through the Ukraine energy trade,
but that wasn’t the only pipeline for flight capital coming out of
Russia. In New York, one telltale sign that everything wasn’t kosher
could be found in the dazzlingly unlikely rags-to-riches stories that
abounded about Russian émigrés arriving penniless in New York and
ending up enormously wealthy.

One of them was Tamir Sapir, né Temur Sepiashvili, an immigrant
who came to America with the proverbial $3 in his pocket, started
driving a cab, and a few years later had become a billionaire owning an
apartment in, of all places, 721 Fifth Avenue, Trump Tower. His
journey was not without intrigue.

After his taxi days were over, Sapir partnered with fellow immigrant
Semyon “Sam” Kislin to open a small wholesale electronics store
whose clients included Soviet diplomats, Politburo members, and KGB
agents.41 Kislin had sold hundreds of TV sets to Donald Trump back in
the seventies for his first major project, the transformation of the
Commodore Hotel.

According to Newsday, the store was extraordinarily popular with
the Soviets, so much so that Sapir somehow managed to parlay its
success into getting licenses to ship Soviet oil to US refineries, a
serendipity that led to great wealth.42

But a small electronics store is an unlikely path to massive fortune,
and their real secret may have been their ties to organized crime
through an Uzbek businessman named Mikhail Chernoy.* Like many
oligarchs, Chernoy had gotten his start via immensely profitable and
sometimes imaginative barter deals in which he traded iron ore pellets



in exchange for Lada cars, coal for food and sugar, and the like.
“Basically, I converted rubles to dollars by exporting coke and
importing consumer goods,” he told the Observer (UK). “I approached
Russian factories, which were operating only at 30 to 40 per cent
capacity. They were on the point of collapse without the coke to run
the furnaces.”43

That wasn’t all. In the early nineties Chernoy and his brother Lev
allegedly “defrauded the Russian Central Bank of more than $100
million through an elaborate scam involving dozens of fictitious
companies,” according to a report by Pulitzer Prize–winning reporter
Knut Royce for the Center for Public Integrity.44

The Chernoys then used the funds to seed their London-based
holding company, Trans-World Group, through a convoluted maze of
offshore companies, and “rapidly gained control of Russia’s aluminum
industry and acquired a large stake in processing and distribution of
other metals and petroleum products.”45

In the meantime, the Chernoys had begun working with Semyon
Kislin’s firm, Trans Commodities, Inc., and were allegedly using it for
fraud and embezzlement.46 The article also cited a 1994 FBI file that
characterized Kislin as a “member/associate” of the mob organization
headed by Vyacheslav Ivankov, the “godfather of Russian organized
crime in the United States.” It also noted that Kislin had cosponsored
a visa47 for Anton Malevsky,* 48 who was a contract killer who headed
one of Russia’s most bloodthirsty Mafia families.

In the “Aluminum Wars” that followed, many businessmen who
opposed the Chernoys ended up dead.49 But perhaps that’s not so
surprising, given the players and the enormous stakes. In the end,
Royce’s report said, “The brothers obtained licenses to buy the
aluminum for $10 and sell it for $1,500 by bribing top Russian
officials.” Just one of many ways that billions were made.

—
In addition to overseeing the massive flow of flight capital that
resulted from “privatization,” Putin had a deft touch when it came to
consolidating his power. That became apparent when, just after



becoming prime minister, Putin recruited two oligarchs who were
among his closest confidants, Roman Abramovich and Lev Leviev,50 to
undertake the highly unlikely mission of creating a new religious
organization called the Federation of Jewish Communities of Russia.
The idea was to bring together various Orthodox Jewish communities
in Russia through an Orthodox Hasidic sect known as Chabad.

To anyone familiar with the long and bitter history of anti-Semitism
in Russia, Putin’s outreach on behalf of Jews was extraordinarily
unusual. Even though the 1917 revolution theoretically ended official
tsarist policies that persecuted Jews, Stalin instituted anti-Semitic
policies that sent tens of thousands of Jews into the gulags and, in the
long run, gave birth to the Russian Mafia. But anti-Semitism endured
even after the demise of the Soviet Union, and the rise of the Russian
Mafia and the new oligarchs, many of whom were Jewish, provided
fodder for anti-Semites.* 51 As a result, the Russian Mafia was
sometimes referred to as the Jewish Mafia or the Kosher Nostra.

On the surface, at least, Putin differed from previous Russian
leaders in that he openly celebrated and rewarded his friendships with
his Jewish high school teacher and Jewish sparring partners from judo
practice.* 52 But Putin’s professed philo-Semitism, however genuine,
was also vital to his political agenda. One of the imperatives of power
in post-Soviet Russia was that the Russian chief of state had to keep
the oligarchs under his control—and that included Jewish oligarchs.

Until Putin’s ascent, the leading Jewish organization in Russia had
been the Russian Jewish Congress, or Rossiiskii Evreiskii Kongress
(REK), which had been cofounded by Vladimir Gusinsky. A former
theater director turned media mogul, Gusinsky was unique among the
oligarchs in that his wealth was created from the ground up rather
than from taking over formerly state-run properties.53 With the REK,
Gusinsky succeeded beyond all expectations in winning recognition
from the state of Israel and bringing together a vast array of Jewish
organizations and leaders. The Israeli daily Haaretz called him “the
No. 1 Jew in Russia.”54

None of which was good news for rival oligarchs Roman
Abramovich and Lev Leviev, both of whom were strong Putin



supporters, and, like Putin, felt “that Gusinsky was exploiting not only
his businesses and ties, but also REK to further his standing at their
expense,” according to Haaretz.55

As a result, in 1999, Putin got Abramovich and Leviev to create the
Federation of Jewish Communities in Russia, under the leadership of
Rabbi Berel Lazar, a leader in the Hasidic movement called Chabad-
Lubavitch.

Founded in the late eighteenth century, the tiny, Brooklyn-based
Chabad-Lubavitcher movement is a fundamentalist Hasidic sect
centered on the teaching of the late Rabbi Menachem Schneerson, who
is sometimes referred to as a messiah—moshiach—a savior and
liberator of the Jewish people. It is antiabortion, views homosexuality
as a perversion, and often aligns itself politically with other
fundamentalist groups on the right.56

Its biggest donors included Leviev, an Israeli billionaire who was an
Uzbek native and was known as the “King of Diamonds” thanks to his
success in the diamond trade, and Charles Kushner,57 an American
real estate developer who was later jailed for illegal campaign
contributions, tax evasion, and witness tampering. Kushner is also the
father of Jared Kushner, who married Donald Trump’s daughter,
Ivanka, and later became a senior adviser to President Trump.

Leviev’s friendship with Lazar dates back to 1992 and, according to
Haaretz, made Leviev “the most influential, most active and most
connected person in the Jewish community of Russia and made Lazar
the country’s chief rabbi.”58

With Abramovich as another powerful ally, Leviev strengthened his
alliance with President Putin and in May 2000 Lazar was awarded
Russian citizenship59 and became known as Putin’s rabbi—pushing
aside Gusinsky and his rabbi in the process.60 As for Putin, by putting
loyalists in charge of a new national organization for Jews, he had
come up with a unique way of consolidating power among the
oligarchs.

But there was one other unintended consequence that grew out of
this alliance that proved to be most important of all: Oddly enough, at
the end of the day, the tiny Hasidic sect called Chabad would provide



some of the richest and most unexpectedly direct sets of connections
between Putin and Donald Trump.
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

EASY PREY

merica was different from Russia in so many ways that initially
many Russians were baffled by the unusual business practices
they encountered in the West. Which is precisely what an

American businessman in Moscow discovered while talking to a rich
Uzbek cotton trader about the pay-for-play K Street lobbyists in
Washington.

The Uzbek, an aspiring oligarch who was all too familiar with the
dark practices of the Bratva, listened patiently to a long explanation
about how corporate America uses lobbyists to get access to Congress.
Then it was as if a light bulb went off. “You mean you have firms with
highly paid professionals who are paid to bribe congressmen?” he
asked.

He couldn’t get over it. He had spent years navigating the perilous
world of Bratva protection rackets, and here the Americans had
sanitized corruption, institutionalized it, and made it into part of the
white-collar, professional world! Not only was it legal, it was a highly
paid profession.

After decades carrying water for Big Oil, Big Pharma, and Wall
Street, K Street lobbyists were ready, willing, and able to jump in bed
with anyone who could write a big check—including Russians.

Among the first wave of lobbyists willing to play ball with them was
Jack Abramoff, aka “Casino Jack,” the notorious super-lobbyist who
wined and dined DC’s most pliable politicians, made deals all over
town, and reaped huge paydays from casino-rich Indian tribes, which
he spent in fancy restaurants and stadium skyboxes and golf trips to



Scotland and the Pacific island of Saipan.1 Jack Abramoff worked in
the margins and loved it.2

Abramoff eventually served more than four years for mail fraud,
conspiracy to bribe public officials, and tax evasion and was at the
center of a pay-for-play scam that led to the conviction of twenty-one
other people, including Republican majority leader Tom DeLay of
Texas. A high point in the scandal came when DeLay and Abramoff
took a six-day trip to London and Moscow, played golf, and met Prime
Minister Viktor Chernomyrdin, among other Russian leaders.

Though Abramoff billed the trip to a client in the Pacific, the
Commonwealth of the Northern Marianas, the money was really
coming in from a shell company controlled by Russian oligarchs
Marina Nevskaya and Alexander Koulakovsky of NaftaSib, a huge
Russian oil company.3

At one point, the two oligarchs said they “wanted to contribute to
DeLay.” One of them even asked, “What would happen if the DeLays
woke up one morning” and found a luxury car in front of their house?4

That would have been illegal, of course. It would have been bribery.
Everyone concerned would have ended up in jail, so the car never
came.

Instead, a $1 million check mysteriously made its way to the US
Family Network, a DeLay slush fund. DeLay had initially opposed a
foreign aid bill that would help the International Monetary Fund bail
out Russia’s weak economy. But after the $1 million check arrived, he
had a change of heart, although he later denied the payment had
influenced his vote.

Other Russians joined in. Alfa, the multibillion-dollar Russian
conglomerate,* paid Barbour Griffith & Rogers, the influential GOP
lobbying firm cofounded by former Mississippi governor Haley
Barbour, nearly $2 million in lobbying fees. Barbour Griffith also
received $820,000 from a United Kingdom shell company called
Foruper Limited, which had no assets or employees, but which the US
Justice Department was investigating for possible ties to Mogilevich.5

In Congress, Representative Curt Weldon, a Republican from
Pennsylvania, began touting a Russian arms control group called the



International Exchange Group, which, according to ProPublica,
happened to employ the head of the FSB as well as the Russian army’s
chief of staff.6 According to the Los Angeles Times, Weldon also
helped round up thirty fellow congressmen for a dinner to honor the
chairman of the Itera International Energy Corporation, a Russian
natural gas company. As it happened, Itera had agreed to pay
$500,000 a year for public relations to a firm run by Weldon’s
daughter, then an inexperienced twenty-nine-year-old lobbyist. Itera
was the intermediary that Firtash and Mogilevich pushed aside to
move into the Russian-Ukraine energy trade.7

Whether it was lobbying or finding lawyers, the Russians went
straight to the top, as they had since the early days in Brighton Beach.
When David Bogatin got busted in the Red Daisy gas tax scam, he took
on as his attorney Mitchell Rogovin,8 the highly placed former special
counsel to the CIA. When Bogatin’s brother, Jacob, needed
representation for his role in Mogilevich’s YBM Magnex pump-and-
dump scam, he hired Eric Sitarchuk,9 who later ended up representing
Trump himself in a suit filed against him as owner of the Trump
International Hotel in Washington.10

Bob Dole, the former Senate majority leader and 1996 Republican
presidential nominee, accepted a $560,000 fee to help Russian
billionaire Oleg Deripaska obtain a visa to visit the US, after Deripaska
had been accused by rivals of bribery.11

Even William Sessions, director of the FBI from 1987 to 1993, was
not above doing a complete about-face when it came to Russian
organized crime. In 1997, after he returned to private practice, he
traveled to Moscow and alerted the world to the horrifying dangers of
the brutal Russian Mafia. A few years later, however, Sessions had no
qualms about taking on as a client a Ukrainian-born mobster whom
the FBI had put on its “Ten Most Wanted” list. His name was Semion
Mogilevich.* 12

Still, Russia’s relationship with Trump was unique. One measure of
that was discovered by FBI agents who were on the trail of Vyacheslav
Ivankov but couldn’t figure out where he lived. “[Ivankov] was like a



ghost to the FBI,” said Gregory Stasiuk, an investigator with the New
York State Organized Crime Task Force.13

Ivankov, of course, had been spotted frequently at the Trump Taj
Mahal in Atlantic City and was widely thought to be based with other
Russian mobsters in Brighton Beach. But whenever the FBI was ready
to pounce, he vanished. When they finally found him, he wasn’t in
Brooklyn at all. Instead, they discovered that the head of the Russian
Mafia lived in a luxury condo in Manhattan—at 721 Fifth Avenue, in
fact—Trump Tower.14 (Ivankov was eventually convicted of extortion
and sentenced to nine and a half years in jail.)

—
Meanwhile, Russians continued to court Trump, even though his
political prospects seemed middling at best. In 2000, with trickster
Roger Stone as his strategist, Trump had made a stab at winning the
presidential nomination on the Reform Party ticket, but dropped out
when he found out that the Reform candidate, no matter who it was,
would not make the cutoff for the presidential debates. For the most
part, Trump was still relegated to the bin of novelty celebrity
candidates like professional wrestler turned governor of Minnesota
Jesse Ventura.

Nevertheless, Trump had a unique résumé for someone on a
presidential track. By this time his ties to Russian money stretched
back more than two decades. When it came to laundering money,
casinos and real estate were the vehicles of choice, and the Trump Taj
Mahal* in Atlantic City seemed to be a favorite destination for Russian
mobsters, who frequently arrived in Ferraris and Rolls-Royces with
stacks of $100 bills.15

If money laundering was going on, the Taj seems to have done
everything within its power to keep it secret. In 1998, the Financial
Crimes Enforcement Network (FinCEN) assessed a $477,700 civil
penalty against the Trump Taj Mahal for currency transaction
reporting violations—namely, failing to report each time a gambler
cashed out with more than $10,000 in a single day.16 FinCEN added
that the casino admitted to “willful and repeated” Bank Secrecy Act



violations, including violations of AML (anti–money laundering)
program requirements, reporting obligations, and record-keeping
requirements.

But that didn’t tell the whole story. At a time when it was very much
the preferred spot of the Brighton Beach Mafia, the Taj Mahal was also
short on cash, on the verge of bankruptcy, and not likely to cause
trouble for such a free-spending clientele. Modest though it was, at the
time, FinCEN’s fine was the biggest in history by the federal
government for violating the Bank Secrecy Act. Moreover, it
represented no fewer than 106 violations of the act.

All of which left key questions unanswered. How much was
laundered is unknown. In addition, as CNN reported, the names of
parties suspected of money laundering had been scrubbed from the
report, as were the identities of Trump employees involved in the
transactions.17

“Trump Taj Mahal received many warnings about its deficiencies,”
said FinCEN director Jennifer Shasky Calvery.18 “Like all casinos in
this country, Trump Taj Mahal has a duty to help protect our financial
system from being exploited by criminals, terrorists, and other bad
actors. Far from meeting these expectations, poor compliance
practices, over many years, left the casino and our financial system
unacceptably exposed.”

—
As the Russians knew, real estate was a far more efficient way to
launder billions in flight capital, and Trump’s newest projects were
perfectly suited to their needs. In 1999, when the Russian economy
was in a tailspin and scores of oligarchs were looking for a safe haven,
construction was already under way on Trump’s biggest project yet.

Rising to seventy-two stories in midtown Manhattan, Trump World
Tower, overlooking the United Nations, was touted as the tallest
residential building on the planet. Before long, one-third of the units
on the tower’s highest and priciest floors, floors seventy-six to eighty-
three,* had been snatched up, either by individual buyers from the
former Soviet Union, or by limited liability companies connected to



Russia or countries that had been part of the Soviet Union. “We had
big buyers from Russia and Ukraine and Kazakhstan,” sales agent
Debra Stotts told Bloomberg Businessweek.19 Ukrainian billionaire
Semyon “Sam” Kislin assisted the sales effort by issuing mortgages to
buyers of Trump’s latest luxury condos.20

Among the new tenants was Eduard Nektalov, a diamond dealer
from Uzbekistan who had bought a condo on the seventy-ninth floor of
Trump World Tower, directly below Trump’s future campaign
manager, Kellyanne Conway.* 21

With his multimillion-dollar condo and a $300,000 Bentley,
Nektalov, who was related to Lev Leviev, the billionaire pal of Putin’s
known as the “King of Diamonds,” had been making a good living in
the diamond world, but now he was being investigated by a Treasury
Department task force for mob-connected money laundering. He and
his father, Roman Nektalov, had been targeted in Operation
Meltdown, a two-and-a-half-year sting operation that uncovered a
scheme through which diamond merchants laundered $8 million in
Colombian drug proceeds.22

On a pleasant evening in May 2004, after reports circulated that he
might soon start cooperating with federal investigators, Nektalov
closed his store in New York’s Forty-Seventh Street Diamond District
and began walking to the garage where he kept his Bentley. When he
neared Forty-Eighth Street, a long-haired man pulled a .45 out of his
pants and fired once in the back of Nektalov’s head. Nektalov
collapsed. Then the shooter pumped two more bullets into his back
and fled.23

“Everybody on 47th Street knew if you had stolen stuff, you could
bring it to the Nektalovs,” said David Ribacoff, a fellow Uzbek and a
veteran of the Diamond District.24 “I knew someday something was
going to happen with these people. If you play with fire, you’re going to
get burned.”

This was Trump’s market. “Early on, Trump came to the conclusion
that it is better to do business with crooks than with honest people,”
said Anders Åslund, a Swedish economist and senior fellow at the
Atlantic Council.25 “Crooks have two big advantages. First, they’re



prepared to pay more money than honest people. And second, they
will always lose if you sue them because they are known to be crooks.”

All Trump needed to do, it seemed, was slap his name on a big
building, preferably in gigantic, bold, brass, upper-case lettering, and
high-dollar customers from Russia and the former Soviet republics
were guaranteed to come rushing in—gangland shootouts among his
residents notwithstanding.

After Trump World Tower opened, Sotheby’s International Realty
teamed up with a Russian real estate company to make a big sales
push for the property in Russia. Dolly Lenz, a New York real estate
broker, spoke to USA Today. “I had contacts in Moscow looking to
invest in the United States,” Lenz said.26 “They all wanted to meet
Donald.” In the end, she said that she sold some sixty-five units in
Trump World Tower to Russians.

—
There was one more factor that helped Trump evolve toward a new
business model. Disastrous as his Atlantic City bankruptcies had been,
one serendipity had come out of the experience: Banks that were on
the hook for his gigantic losses decided that the Trump name had real
market value.

This was not merely the wishful fantasy of an egomaniacal once-
and-future billionaire. “Ironically, the fact that he was so overextended
worked to his benefit when the real estate market collapsed,” said
Stephen Bollenbach, a corporate salvage specialist who helped
structure Trump’s Atlantic City rescue operation.27 “He already had
his financing. They were stuck with him.”

Bollenbach’s epiphany came after a cash-strapped Trump failed to
make an $800,000 quarterly insurance payment for his prized yacht,
the Trump Princess, and assumed the bank would seize the boat.28

But Bollenbach had argued to the bank that the yacht was more
valuable as the Trump Princess than as just another big boat—and to
his astonishment, the bank agreed. They even paid the insurance
premium. That meant the banks realized they were in better shape if
Trump was back in business.



It also meant that Trump could implement a completely new
business model that allowed him to stay in real estate without having
to deal with the onerous chores of financing and of actually being the
developer. The model was simple: Because his name had brand value,
he would license it to developers who would do all the work and give
him a piece of the action. Then, he would sit back and collect royalties,
which were often 18 percent or more.

It was also the perfect solution for both Trump and the Russians.
On the one hand, Russians had billions of dollars from illicit sources
that needed to be laundered. On the other hand, Trump, who was in
dire need of financing, had the ideal vehicles for laundering their
money—real estate and casinos—and a history of not asking too many
questions of his buyers.

—
To capitalize on this new business model, Trump struck a deal with a
Florida developer to attach his name to three high-rises in Sunny Isles
Beach, just outside Miami. Without putting up a dime of his own
money, Trump would receive a cut of the profits. “Russians love the
Trump brand,” Sunny Isles developer Gil Dezer told Bloomberg.29 A
local broker added that one-third of the five hundred apartments he’d
sold went to “Russian-speakers.” So many bought the Trump-branded
apartments, in fact, that the area became known as “Little Moscow.”

Many of the units were sold by a native of Uzbekistan who had
emigrated from the Soviet Union in the 1980s; her business was so
brisk that she soon began bringing Russian tour groups to Sunny Isles
to view the properties. According to a Reuters investigation, at least
sixty-three buyers with Russian addresses or passports spent $98
million on Trump’s properties in South Florida.30 What’s more, one-
third of the units—more than seven hundred in all—were bought by
shell companies that concealed the true owners.

And over the next few years, roughly 20 percent of Trump-branded
condos—more than 1,300 luxury31 condos in all—repeatedly went to
anonymous shell companies. Far from being a comprehensive tally,
this number represents a conservative estimate of the amount of



Russian flight capital that came through Trump property in the late
nineties alone: $1.5 billion.*

And, mind you, that figure refers only to the sale of Trump condos
in the United States. It does not include his buildings in Turkey,
Panama, the Philippines, India, Toronto, Baku, or elsewhere.

—
A key part of the model was that Trump appears to have defined his
target market as Russian money. “Trump specifically marketed his
Sunny Isles, Florida, apartment units in Moscow, St. Petersburg, and
other venues designed to attract Russian organized crime money,”32

said Kenneth McCallion, a former federal prosecutor and New York
attorney who specializes in human rights, money laundering, and civil
racketeering cases. A Reuters investigation did not find any
wrongdoing by Trump or his real estate organization.

In response to media inquiries, Trump Organization lawyer Alan
Garten commented that the firm did not track nationalities of buyers
and that the company rarely plays a role in recruiting buyers.

However, the dubious character of Trump’s clientele was so obvious
that the Financial Times suggested that the Russian American
Chamber of Commerce, headed by Sergei Millian, who claimed to be
Trump’s exclusive broker for Trump properties in Russia and the
former Soviet Union, was the kind of Russian operation that harkened
back to Cold War–style espionage.33

Konstantin Borovoi, who was president of Russia’s first
commodities exchange, agrees that Millian’s chamber of commerce is
reminiscent of the kind of practices one saw from the secret services at
the height of the Cold War. “These institutions have been revived and
developed,” he said. “The chamber of commerce institutions are the
visible part of the agent network . . . Russia has spent huge amounts of
money on this.”34

In Moscow, of course, since the demise of the Soviet Union, the
KGB had been replaced by the FSB, but that did not mean its vaunted
tradecraft had been lost or in any way diminished. To the contrary, the
Kremlin was now being run by a career KGB operative—in fact, one



whose life’s goal was to revive Russia’s shattered dreams of empire. To
that end, at almost every turn there is evidence of the Russians
throwing the KGB textbook at Trump, trying to entangle him and
compromise him in as many ways as possible. And in Trump, the
Russians seemed to have found the perfect mark.

As Comrade Kryuchkov’s notebooks had made clear, the KGB
wanted to know about the “level of subject’s truthfulness and sincerity.
Is he hypocritical in double dealing?”

They wanted to know about compromising information regarding
the subject, “including illegal acts in financial and commercial affairs,
intrigue, speculation, bribes, graft, trading in narcotics, and
exploitation of his position to enrich himself.”35

They wanted to know if “pride, arrogance, egoism, ambition, or
vanity [were] among [the] subject’s natural characteristics.”36

Then there was the question of the subject’s relationships with
women. “Is he secretly fascinated by them? Is he in the habit of having
affairs with women on the side?”37

By this time, of course, Russian intelligence already knew exactly
where Trump fit in terms of such questions. According to Oleg
Kalugin, Trump likely had his first taste of sexual kompromat in 1987.
There were similar reports, unconfirmed, about possible comparable
incidents in 1996.

And then there was the fact that, after years of promoting himself as
a billionaire, Trump was still anathema to Western banks, and was
desperate to climb back to the top of the heap. Using his name as a
brand was an inspired idea. But it was coupled with his apparent
eagerness to turn a blind eye to practices that allowed the Russian
mob to launder money through his real estate on a massive scale.

Getting to that level, however, required a third party—not unlike
Bayrock Group LLC, a real estate firm that was largely staffed, owned,
and financed by émigrés from Russia and the former Soviet Union,
and had moved into the twenty-fourth floor of Trump Tower.38 With
its ties to the Kremlin, Russian intelligence, and possibly the Mob,
Bayrock’s looming presence in Trump Tower should have had



American counterintelligence agents on high alert. To Russian
operatives, one can only imagine, Trump was such easy prey.
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CHAPTER TWELVE

INTERNATIONAL MAN OF MYSTERY

hatever the Russians may have thought about Trump, when
the ratings came in for the last week of the 2004 TV season,
American television viewers clearly had a very different

opinion. The final episode of The Apprentice, Donald Trump’s wildly
successful new show on NBC, had been seen by an estimated twenty-
eight million viewers and ranked as the number one show of the week.
It was the most popular new show of 2004.

To outside appearances, Trump was back on top after his failures in
Atlantic City. Earlier that year, he had launched the new show in
typical Trumpian fashion. “My name’s Donald Trump,” he had
declared in his opening narration for The Apprentice, “the largest real
estate developer in New York. I own buildings all over the place. Model
agencies. The Miss Universe pageant. Jetliners, golf courses, casinos,
and private resorts like Mar-a-Lago, one of the most spectacular
estates anywhere in the world.”1

But it wouldn’t be Trump without a better story than that. “It wasn’t
always so easy,” he confessed, over images of his cruising around New
York in a stretch limo. “About thirteen years ago, I was seriously in
trouble. I was billions of dollars in debt. But I fought back, and I won.
Big league. I used my brain. I used my negotiating skills. And I worked
it all out. Now my company’s bigger than it ever was and stronger than
it ever was. . . . I’ve mastered the art of the deal.”

The show, which reportedly paid Trump up to $3 million per
episode,2 instantly revived his brand. “The Apprentice turned Trump
from a blowhard Richie Rich who had just gone through his most
difficult decade into an unlikely symbol of straight talk, an evangelist



for the American gospel of success, a decider who insisted on
standards in a country that had somehow slipped into handing out
trophies for just showing up,” journalists Michael Kranish and Marc
Fisher observe in their book Trump Revealed.3 “Above all, Apprentice
sold an image of the host-boss as supremely competent and confident,
dispensing his authority and getting immediate results. The analogy to
politics was palpable.”

Unfortunately, much of what Trump said simply wasn’t true. He
wasn’t the biggest developer in New York, the New York Times
pointed out. Nor did he own the Trump International Hotel and Tower
at New York’s Columbus Circle, which was featured in his promo.4

Nevertheless, there was no denying that he was back. Critics
derided his show as a cheesy, Vegas-like caricature of what business
was really like,5 but The Apprentice was a huge hit and provided a
prime-time platform that Trump used to further enhance his brand,
and to unveil another big project.

Over time, ratings sagged, but the show was still a powerful
marketing tool for Trump. On the 2006 season finale of The
Apprentice, as more than eleven million viewers waited to learn which
of the two finalists was going to be fired, Trump prolonged the
suspense by cutting to a promotional video for his latest venture.
“Located in the center of Manhattan’s chic artist enclave, the Trump
International Hotel and Tower in SoHo is the site of my latest
development,” he narrated over swooping helicopter footage of lower
Manhattan.6 The new building, he added, would be nothing less than a
“$370 million work of art . . . an awe-inspiring masterpiece.”

What Trump didn’t say in the video was that Trump SoHo was the
brainchild of two development companies—Bayrock Group LLC and
the Sapir Organization—run by a pair of wealthy émigrés from the
former Soviet Union who had done business with some of Russia’s
richest and most notorious oligarchs.

Together, their firms had made Trump an offer he couldn’t refuse:
The developers would license Donald Trump’s name for branded
luxury high-rises Bayrock would finance and develop. Without a
financial investment, Trump was back in action, phoenix-like, with his



name on yet another gleaming luxury hotel/condominium
development. In return for lending his name to the project, Trump
would get an 18 percent equity stake.7

In the wake of his massive debts and multiple bankruptcies, Wall
Street had said no to Trump. The banks had said no to Trump. New
York had said no to Trump. But Bayrock had said yes, and thanks to
them, Donald Trump was back in business.

—
No one at Bayrock was more important in working with Trump than
Felix Sater, its managing director. One of the most enigmatic figures in
the entire Trump-Russia saga, Sater was Bayrock’s international man
of mystery, a stocky, olive-complexioned, Porsche-driving super
salesman straight out of Glengarry Glen Ross who was always on,
pushing a pump-and-dump stock scam, or going undercover for the
CIA, the DIA, the FBI—whomever—to try to buy Stinger missiles from
al-Qaeda or undertake other mind-boggling feats of derring-do.

Born in Moscow, Felix had come to the United States with his
family, then known as the Sheferovskys,* 8 in the early seventies, when
he was a young boy, and settled with the first waves of Soviet émigrés
in Brighton Beach’s “Little Odessa.” They left Russia with few regrets.
According to Howard Rosenberg, a producer at CBS’s 60 Minutes who
interviewed Sater, Felix’s father, Mikhail Sheferovsky, is said to have
watched the communists execute his father—Felix’s grandfather—in
the courtyard of their apartment building.9

There long have been allegations that Mikhail Sheferovsky had ties
to organized crime, including Mogilevich, but much of his past is
shrouded in mystery. Sater’s attorney, Robert S. Wolf, told me, in an
email, that Sheferovsky “never met nor had anything to do with
Semion Mogilevich. Mikhail Sater [Sheferovsky] has never been a
named accomplice of Semion Mogilevich, nor are there any court
documents that so indicate. This is a complete fabrication.”10

Nevertheless, according to a certified US Supreme Court petition,
Felix Sater’s FBI handler described Felix’s father, Michael Sheferovsky
(aka Mikhail Sater), as “a (Semion) Mogilevich crime syndicate



boss.”11 Exactly what that meant was not defined. As Richard Lerner,
the lawyer who wrote the Supreme Court petition, explained, “The
Russian Mafia doesn’t exactly hand out business cards.”12

Sheferovsky’s ties to the Italian mob were more clear-cut. After he
got to Brighton Beach, Sheferovsky partnered in various extortion
scams with Ernest “Butch” Montevecchi, a soldier in the Genovese
crime family, which had joined with the Russian Mafia in the Red
Daisy gasoline tax scam in the eighties and had been represented by
Roy Cohn. Sheferovsky made the rounds of his victims accompanied
by a six-foot-nine, three-hundred-pound giant nicknamed King Kong13

whose intimidating presence could be rather persuasive. In 2000,
Sheferovsky pleaded guilty to charges that he ran an extortion ring
that targeted grocery stores, restaurants, and other establishments.14

His son Felix grew up near Brighton Beach and, as a teenager,
counted among his friends Michael D. Cohen, who later became
President Trump’s personal attorney. At the time, Cohen was dating
Laura Shusterman, a Ukrainian girl Sater knew and whom Cohen later
married,15 but the two men came from distinctly different worlds.
Sater’s Brighton Beach/Coney Island neighborhood, of course, had its
rough spots. “I was one of the white kids on the block, which led to lots
of beatings,” he told Talking Points Memo.16 By contrast, Cohen lived
in the tonier, more suburban precincts of Long Island’s Five Towns in
Nassau County.

Sater took classes at Pace University but dropped out, and before
long was a Wall Street hotshot working at shops like Bear Stearns and
Shearson Lehman Brothers.17 A charismatic but volatile man, and an
unrelenting salesman, Felix, then in his midtwenties, loved the high
life. He collected expensive watches and thought nothing of going into
Ermenegildo Zegna and spending $30,000 on suits. Felix’s father had
wanted his son to go straight, but, as his friend Salvatore Lauria put it
in his autobiography, The Scorpion and the Frog,* Felix “would rather
go through the back door than the front door of any deal.”18

Sater also had a quick temper, and on October 1, 1991, when he was
having drinks at a bar in midtown Manhattan, he got into a fight over
a girl. “[I]ntoxicated and inebriated as a result of excessive drinking,”19



according to court records, Sater grabbed a margarita glass, broke it
on the bar, and smashed the stem into his foe’s face. Then, according
to the trial transcript, Sater picked up another piece of broken glass
and lunged at the victim’s friend. “I’m going to kill you, motherfucker,”
he said. “You faggot. Your mother’s a whore. Some black nigger fucked
your mother.”20

The man’s injuries required 110 stitches.21 Sater was convicted of
felony assault, served a fifteen-month sentence, and was barred from
legally selling securities. “I had great plans for myself which were all
shattered with that stupid drunken night in a bar,” Felix later told
ABC.22

But that wasn’t the end of it. Even though Sater had lost his license
to trade stocks, in 1993, he and two associates got control of White
Rock Partners, a brokerage firm that later changed its name to State
Street Capital Markets. Felix had rented a penthouse office suite23 at
40 Wall Street—a seventy-one-story neo-Gothic skyscraper in
downtown Manhattan, owned by Donald Trump.

According to the New York Times, the three men secretly used
offshore accounts to gain control of large blocks of penny stocks in
four companies so they could inflate the value of the shares. Once the
price went up, Sater and his friends sold the stocks at a steep profit, in
an illegal pump-and-dump scheme that left ordinary investors holding
the bag when prices collapsed24 and was somewhat similar to
Mogilevich’s YBM Magnex scam.

With the help of Sater’s father, the firm got protection from the
Genovese family, and Sater used an alias, “Paul Stewart,” to launder
the proceeds through a network of Caribbean shell companies, Swiss
and Israeli banks, and associates in New York’s Diamond District.25 In
the end, it was a mob operation that ended up cheating unsuspecting
investors out of $40 million.26

—
Then, in 1995, everything changed for Sater. He quit the business
because, he told BuzzFeed, he “didn’t want to do dirty shit anymore.”27

Before long, Sater was given an opportunity to take part in a



telecommunications deal for AT&T in Russia, and while he was there,
he entered the world of espionage.28

It happened one night in Moscow when an American defense
contractor named Milton Blane* noticed Sater dining with “high-level
Russian intelligence agents,” got his number, and set up a meeting for
the next day.29

They met at an Irish pub in Moscow,30 and Blane, clearly impressed
by Felix’s mastery of Russian and his easy access to Russian military
officials, proceeded to tell Sater that he worked for the US government
—the Defense Intelligence Agency.31

The people Sater had been sitting with the previous night were,
Blane said, “extremely high-level Russian intelligence operatives . . .
very strong people, people who can deliver the things that America
needs. They seem to like you. You speak Russian. You blend in there.
And your country needs you.”32

Blane then asked Felix to work as a confidential source for the
Defense Intelligence Agency, but gave him a stern warning. “I want
you to understand,” he said, “if you’re caught, the USA is going to
disavow you and, at best, you get a bullet in the head.”

Felix thought about it for five seconds. “Having the opportunity to
serve my country and do anything in its defense was a no brainer. It
was, ‘where do I sign up?’”33

And so began Felix’s second career.34 His most notable early
operation took place in 1998, when he went on the hunt for Stinger
antiaircraft missiles that the CIA had originally given to the
mujahideen for use against the Soviets during their occupation of
Afghanistan, but which were at risk of falling into the hands of radical
jihadists.

Felix went to work. His attorney Robert Wolf called David Kendall,
then President Bill Clinton’s lawyer, and told him that Sater had serial
numbers for the Stinger missiles the Clinton administration had
sought. After President Clinton was informed, Wolf then spoke to CIA
general counsel Robert M. McNamara Jr. and read out the serial
numbers of the Stingers.35



But the CIA was still skeptical. Next, Felix provided photographs of
the missiles with their serial numbers and a copy of a daily newspaper
to show the photo was contemporaneous.36 Meanwhile, Wolf began
extended talks with two men in the CIA’s clandestine division about al-
Qaeda, Osama bin Laden, and the Stinger missiles.

When President Clinton authorized the August 1998 bombing strike
against al-Qaeda in retaliation for the terrorist bombings of the US
embassies in Kenya and Tanzania, BuzzFeed reported, no fewer than
ten current and former intelligence and law enforcement officials said
Sater “supplemented US intelligence by providing location coordinates
for al-Qaeda camps that the US military ultimately bombed in Khost,
Afghanistan.”37

There was much more. Sater reportedly helped the FBI find dealers
in New York’s Forty-Seventh Street Diamond District who were
laundering money for al-Qaeda, and took part in other daring spy
missions. After he started trying to track down the Stinger missiles, he
began developing sources in Afghan intelligence and Russian
intelligence.

He is even said to have been involved in North Korea’s nuclear
program. “I was given photographs of the North Korean military intel
operative who was out there buying various components to build a
nuclear weapons program,” said Sater. “He sent me intel photos,
surveillance photos, as well as photos of him sitting in restaurants, of
him sitting in front of the North Korean Army choir, with the
instructions that this is the man that needs to be put a tail on.”38

—
Meanwhile, in late 1998, the FBI responded to a tip from New York
police and broke into a Manhattan storage locker, where they
discovered a shotgun, two pistols, and a gym bag full of documents
tied to Sater.39

Immediately, the FBI’s Russian organized crime task force began
hunting for Sater, who happened to be vacationing in Italy. He already
had developed close ties to an intelligence officer with the Northern
Alliance, the anti–al-Qaeda Afghan militia led by Ahmad Shah



Massoud, who, BuzzFeed reported, called him with precious
information: He had five satellite phone numbers belonging to Osama
bin Laden,40 and he wanted Sater to pass the numbers along to US
intelligence.

Then the FBI found Sater and told him he was under investigation
for the pump-and-dump scam. “I never intended on fighting and I
surrendered,” he said. “I knew I was going to cooperate.”

And so, Felix Sater became an informant not just for the CIA and
DIA, but for the FBI as well, providing, according to former attorney
general Loretta Lynch, information crucial to the conviction of more
than twenty people. Moreover, in return, Sater managed to negotiate
an immunity deal that allowed him to stay out of jail, pay a small fine
of $25,000, and emerge relatively unscathed with a sealed criminal
record. Sater was not even forced to pay restitution. And finally, even
though the scam reportedly involved the Mafia,41 all of that was kept
secret because Felix’s files were sealed.

The terms of the deal were so favorable that the matter came up
during Loretta Lynch’s confirmation hearings for attorney general in
2015. Lynch explained that Sater had provided “information crucial to
national security and the conviction of over 20 individuals, including
those responsible for committing massive financial fraud and
members of the Cosa Nostra.”42

Then, on September 11, 2001, everything changed. Terrorists
hijacked four airliners, crashing two of them into New York’s World
Trade Center and one into the Pentagon. Nearly three thousand people
were dead.

The FBI, which had focused so much attention on the Italian Mafia
in the past, now shifted its attention to a new enemy. The Italian Mafia
was yesterday’s news, and resources were now directed to fighting
radical Islamist terrorism. As for the Russian Mafia, it was barely on
the FBI’s radar screen.

Meanwhile, the tragedy of 9/11 had made Felix’s contacts far, far
more valuable than ever before. From now on, Felix Sater would be the
FBI’s best friend.43 But to the rest of the world, by 2002, he had
moved on and become managing director of a New York–based real



estate development company called the Bayrock Group. Finally, with
Felix Sater, there was always the possibility that the best stories of all
were still untold.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN

BAYROCK

fficially, Bayrock was the heartwarming immigrant success
story of its Kazakhstan-born founder and chairman, Tevfik
Arif, who graduated from the Moscow Institute of Trade and

Economics1 and worked in the Soviet commerce and trade ministry
before running an export-import business, building hotels in Turkey,2
and moving to New York, where he developed property in Brooklyn.

With the flags of the United States, Turkey, and Kazakhstan
conspicuously on display in his office, Arif projected the image of a
cosmopolitan international businessman who had fulfilled the
American dream.3 Boasting more than $2.5 billion in investments in
luxury waterfront resort, hotel, residential, retail, and office space
developments, Bayrock had hired renowned architects to design new
projects in New York, Europe, the Mediterranean, and elsewhere. The
icing on the cake in terms of Bayrock’s marketing identity could be
articulated in one word: Trump. Trump was ready to license his name
to Bayrock and other developers to build luxury condos in Panama
City, Panama; Toronto, Canada; Baku, Azerbaijan; Kiev, Ukraine;
Moscow; and many more places all over the world.

Judging from its twenty-eight-page presentation materials, one
would think Bayrock was one of the most successful real estate
development companies in the world. Among its projects, Bayrock
planned to build the Trump SoHo in New York, the Trump
International Hotel and Tower in Fort Lauderdale, the Trump Las
Olas in Fort Lauderdale, and the Trump International Hotel and
Residences in Phoenix. And that was just the United States. As a coda
to its presentation, its star-studded list of strategic partners was



topped with the name “The Trump Organization” and a photo of
Bayrock founder Tevfik Arif standing shoulder to shoulder with
Donald Trump.4

That was Bayrock—or, at least, the image Bayrock projected. But
the reality was much more complex. Bayrock through its business
practices brought into Donald Trump’s orbit a host of oligarchs and
alleged mobsters involved in laundering money, the trafficking of
underage women, feeding intelligence to the Russians, and more. In
court records from a lawsuit by former employees, it is alleged Bayrock
was “covertly mob-owned and operated,” “backed by oligarchs and
money [the oligarchs] stole from the Russian people,” and “engaged in
the businesses of financial institution fraud, tax fraud, partnership
fraud, human trafficking, child prostitution, statutory rape, and, on
occasion, real estate.”5

Bayrock is no longer active as a real estate development company
and now exists only as a legal entity engaged in ongoing litigation, of
which a spokesperson said the firm disputes all such allegations.
Nevertheless, Bayrock had many of the attributes that one might find
in a center of operations affiliated with the Russian Mafia. That was of
special interest, given that its key partner was the future president of
the United States.

—
Trump was first introduced to Bayrock by the late Tamir Sapir,6 the
penniless Soviet émigré turned billionaire who became, in Trump’s
words, “great friends” with Trump himself,7 and who introduced
Trump to Tevfik Arif, the founder of Bayrock, aka Tofik Arifov.8 On
paper, at least, Arif’s story was another stirring rags-to-riches saga. In
2002, after becoming a successful real estate developer in Brooklyn,
he moved Bayrock’s offices to Trump Tower, where he and his staff of
mostly Russian émigrés set up shop on the twenty-fourth floor.9

When Arif and Sater helped put together several prospective Trump
Tower licensing deals for sites including Moscow, Warsaw, Istanbul,
and Kiev, Trump was ecstatic. Thanks to Bayrock, he could bring
franchising to high-end condos. He could be the Colonel Sanders of



luxury high-rises. “It was almost like mass production of a car,” Trump
crowed.10

For some projects, he boasted, he would get up to a 25 percent
stake, plus management fees and a possible percentage of the gross—
without having to invest a dime.

Trump worked closely with Bayrock on real estate ventures in
Russia, Ukraine, and Poland. When it came to financing them,
however, he was still so toxic after Atlantic City that he left matters of
funding to his new partners. “Bayrock knew the investors,” he later
testified.11 Arif “brought the people up from Moscow to meet with
[Trump].”

Altogether, Bayrock’s leadership, as portrayed in its presentation
materials, was a cozy family of billionaire oligarchs from the former
Soviet Union. In fact, the extent to which various Bayrock partners
actually came through with financing is unclear, but according to
Bayrock’s promotional literature, Arif turned to fellow Kazakh
billionaire Alexander Mashkevich and his Eurasian Natural Resources
Corporation (or Eurasian Group, as it is called in Bayrock’s
promotional literature), which he controls with Patokh Chodiev and
Alijan Ibragimov, among others, to finance Bayrock. (Even though he
was referred to on Bayrock’s website, Patokh Chodiev has denied any
connection to Donald Trump, the Trump Organization, or Bayrock
Group. Similarly, a person close to Mashkevich told Bloomberg that
Mashkevich never invested in Bayrock.)12 Together, the three men—
known as “the Trio”—are major stockholders in the Eurasian Natural
Resources Corporation and control chromium, alumina, and gas
operations in Kazakhstan,13 which adds up to about 12 percent of the
industrial production in the entire country.14

In June 2005, many of them came together when Arif celebrated
his fifty-second birthday at the grand opening of the “seven-star”
Rixos hotel in Belek on the Turkish Riviera near Antalya. Guests came
from all over the world—St. Petersburg, the Côte d’Azur, Ukraine,
Latvia, Israel, and Moscow, traveling by yacht and private jet.15

This was no run-of-the mill gathering. There were huge mounds of
caviar, food, drink, and song. Among the honored guests was then–



prime minister of Turkey Recep Tayyip Erdoğan, who later became
president.16 There were professional hockey stars, Moscow
restaurateurs, and billionaires from all over the world.

In all, Bayrock’s promotional literature boasted that it had seven
billionaires affiliated with the company, in one way or another. Among
them was Tamir Sapir, who arrived on the Mystère, his 160-foot yacht,
which has been described as the most beautiful private vessel in the
world.17 Alexander Mashkevich cruised in on his yacht, the Lady Lara,
which was nearly twice as big, at 299 feet.18 Not all the Bayrock
billionaires could make it, but one extremely high-profile tycoon in
New York who couldn’t attend made sure that his presence was felt
anyway. So on Tevfik Arif’s birthday, the familiar image of Donald
Trump suddenly appeared on a big-screen videoconference call for the
entire party to see.

“Tevfik is my friend,” Trump said. “Let’s drink to Tevfik!”19

—
By this time, Trump was indeed in the midst of a phoenix-like rebirth,
both personally and professionally. His turbulent tabloid marriage to
Marla Maples, his second wife, had come to an end, and he had
married his third wife, Melania Knauss, a model from Slovenia, in
January 2005, in a suitably extravagant wedding on his Mar-a-Lago
estate that was attended by celebrities including Shaquille O’Neal and
P. Diddy, then-senator Hillary Clinton, and former president Bill
Clinton.

And when it came to real estate, Trump’s new paradigm was taking
off like wildfire. He was all over Bayrock’s promotional literature, but
he had nothing to do with financing and few development
responsibilities. The larger point was that Trump had created a new
model where he was paid to put his name on major development
projects. “He’s a marketing genius,” Adam Rose, president of Rose
Associates, which manages more than fourteen thousand apartments,
told the New York Times.20 “He’s gotten to the point where he can
license his name.”



And license he did, lending his name to projects like Trump
University,21 a “real estate training program” that turned out to be not
a university at all but a gigantic high-pressure bait-and-switch scam*
that “preyed upon the elderly and uneducated to separate them from
their money,” as one affidavit from a former salesman for Trump
University put it.22

In addition to various projects in development with Bayrock,
Trump signed a deal to license his name for an 813-unit condo
project23 called Trump Towers in Sunny Isles Beach, Florida, a barrier
island north of Miami Beach. In 2005, he built a thirty-five-story
Trump Tower in White Plains, New York. He pursued licensing his
name to a Trump Tower development in Tampa, but it never got off
the ground.24 Trump made plans to build what became Trump Tower
Chicago—a ninety-eight-story condo-hotel tower.25 In Hawaii, he
licensed his name to the Trump International Hotel Waikiki. In Las
Vegas, a sixty-four-story Trump International Hotel was on the
drawing board. And his name was in play with Bayrock for a tower in
Phoenix.26

As usual his clientele had had its share of run-ins with the law. In
Florida, at least thirteen buyers of Trump Towers condos in Sunny
Isles Beach had been the subjects of government investigations, either
personally or through their companies, including members of a
Russian-American organized crime gang, the Miami Herald reported.
When interviewed about the Sunny Isles condos, Trump Organization
lawyer Alan Garten stated that it was “completely unfair and
completely misleading to suggest we had anything to do with those
people” and called shady buyers an industry-wide problem for luxury
real estate. But the larger point is that in these ways and more, Donald
Trump was bigger than ever.27

—
When it came to having fun, Trump’s partners spared no expense.
Tevfik Arif flew Bayrock employees out to the Rixos hotel in Antalya,
Turkey, for an all-inclusive vacation.28 On another occasion, both Arif
and Alexander Mashkevich rented the Savarona—a 446-foot yacht



that had once been owned by the Father of the Turks, Mustafa Kemal
Atatürk.

For a week-long party in September 2010, when Mashkevich rented
the yacht, nine young “escort girls” were allegedly supplied for
businessmen attending the party on the Savarona. “[O]ne of the
businessmen was especially fond of 13–14 year old [girls] and the
organization head supplied those girls,” according to documents that
were part of an investigation.29

A search by police, the report said, turned up “a huge amount of
contraceptives and a file with escort girls’ pictures and hotel
receipts.”30

Ten suspects, among them two Turkish billionaires, were arrested
immediately and investigated for solicitation and trafficking in
women. Mashkevich and Arif denied the accusations against them,31

and in April 2011 Arif was acquitted of all charges.32 The court
judgment also recorded that all women aboard the yacht were over
eighteen.

According to Mashkevich’s lawyer, Ronel Fisher, Turkish
authorities made no claims against Mashkevich, nor was he
interrogated by police.33 A spokesman told the British daily the
Telegraph that he was on board the yacht when it was raided but he
was not in any way connected to criminal or immoral acts on it.34

Nevertheless, the indictment paints a salacious picture of a sordid
and extraordinarily decadent35 world of spectacular yachts,
Mediterranean villas, and private planes, in which billionaire oligarchs
ship in batches of teenage girls and “trade human beings” to have sex
with their wealthy friends, while their underlings wrangle over
whether to pay top dollar for a virginal sixteen-year-old and the bother
of having to “send that unpretty back.”36

The level of decadence was unparalleled. Every oligarch had to have
a yacht, each one bigger than the next. And who among them could be
the most transgressive? Tamir Sapir won notoriety for furnishing his
yacht with bar stools covered in python skin, a stuffed lion, and the
carcasses of twenty-nine different endangered species.* 37 As the New



York Post put it, “It was just like Noah’s Ark, except everything was
dead—and illegal.”38

Bayrock never seemed short of funding, but much of it came from
murky origins. In the nineties, Arif had worked in Kazakhstan for the
UK-based Trans-World Group, a company run by David and Simon
Reuben and the Chernoy brothers—all big players in the highly
lucrative but spectacularly dangerous metals industry, which was beset
by “Aluminum Wars” that left dozens of executives, traders, bankers,
and mob bosses dead.39

Similarly, Alexander Mashkevich and his partners in the Trio who
may have been investors did business with Mikhail Chernoy and had
huge holdings in chromium, alumina, and gas operations in
Kazakhstan. When it came to having ties to the Kremlin, Tamir Sapir
had high-level connections through Rotem Rosen, his son-in-law and
the CEO of the Sapir Organization. Rosen was also a lieutenant of
Israeli diamond magnate Lev Leviev, who was a major donor to the
Putin-supported Chabad sect and had been close to Putin since the
early nineties.

Given that his control over the oligarchs was crucial to maintaining
power, Putin needed to be able to keep tabs on their whereabouts and
where their money went. If hundreds of millions of dollars from the
Russian Mafia or other forms of flight capital were funding a Trump-
branded project, Putin wanted to know. If oligarchs were buying
scores of Trump condos in SoHo or Panama or Toronto, Putin wanted
to know.

—
And Bayrock would have had the answers. Indeed, in many ways,
Bayrock resembled an updated version of the initiative launched by
KGB general Vladimir Kryuchkov at the end of the Cold War, when the
KGB had founded scores of front companies that appeared to be self-
sufficient independent corporations but were staffed by operatives tied
to the KGB and the GRU. Far more than merely providing phony
identities as cover for intelligence operatives, these companies were
meant to be multibillion-dollar corporations that would trade the



natural resources of the former Soviet Union on the global market,
make billions of dollars, and simultaneously launder money, gather
intelligence, and grow through relations with Western partners and
Western banks.40

One of the models for those companies was Boris Birshtein’s
Seabeco SA.41 Over the years, Birshtein, who hosted the famous Tel
Aviv meeting with Mogilevich, had worked with Colonel Leonid
Veselovsky,42 an intelligence operative who specialized in starting
front companies for the KGB all over the world—in Antwerp, Toronto,
Winnipeg, Panama, Zurich, and Delaware.43 Along the way, through
the Soviet foreign ministry, Birshtein also met and began working with
Patokh Chodiev and Alexander Mashkevich, who comprised two-
thirds of Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation’s Trio.44 He also
had ties to Solntsevo head Sergei Mikhailov, with whom he started a
business in Antwerp called MAB International.45

Birshtein seemed to have followed the dictates of the KGB under
Kryuchkov’s guidelines to set up enterprises abroad,46 but it was
unclear how successful this initiative was. Colonel Veselovsky himself
maintained that most of the ideas for shifting communist assets
overseas never got beyond the planning stage.47 Regardless, many of
the apparatchiks chosen by the KGB went ahead and launched their
careers as independent businessmen. Moreover, Birshtein understood
the importance of having mutually beneficial relationships with
strategically placed bureaucrats. And so it was that Birshtein hired
Veselovsky and introduced him to the world of private jets, immense
limousines, and extravagant mansions.48

In 1991 and 1992 alone, Seabeco gave birth to at least six highly
profitable joint ventures, and went on to create many more all over the
world. “You shouldn’t think that people like Birshtein and Veselovsky
are financial geniuses,” Sergei Sokolov, a journalist for
Komsomolaskaya Pravda, told the Washington Post.49 “What
mattered in the old days—and what matters now—is personal
connections.”

And so, a decade later, those connections resurfaced in ventures
tied to Trump. In the early 2000s, Alexander Shnaider, a former



Seabeco executive who was Birshtein’s son-in-law, began to develop
the tallest building in Canada, the sixty-five-story Trump Tower and
Hotel in Toronto. When it came to financing the skyscraper, Shnaider,
a billionaire of Russian extraction, turned to Raiffeisen Bank
International AG in Vienna,50 a bank whose affiliate has been called “a
front to provide legitimacy to the gas company [US-indicted Russian
crime boss Semion Mogilevich] controls, RosUkrEnergo,”51 according
to Scott F. Kilner, deputy chief of mission for the US embassy in
Austria. So it followed that it was likely that funds from the
Mogilevich-Firtash money pipeline were behind the Trump project in
Toronto.

In addition, the Wall Street Journal reported,52

Vnesheconombank, or VEB, at the time, bought $850 million of stock
in a Ukrainian steelmaker from Shnaider, about $15 million of which
went into the Trump Toronto project. At the time, the chairman of
VEB’s supervisory board was Vladimir Putin.

Later, Symon Zucker, Shnaider’s lawyer and the initial source of
that information, changed his statement and said he was not able to
confirm that VEB funds went into the project. “Trump was never a
partner,” Zucker told Business Insider. “He never had an equity
interest. We licensed his name and there was a contract for him to
manage the hotel.”53

Once again, an arrangement in which Trump was merely licensing
his name was used to exculpate him. Nevertheless, the VEB deal did go
through, and Trump did collect fees from the project.* (Shnaider did
not respond to messages left for him.)

—
Trump fostered similar relationships all over the world. In 2003,
Trump had whetted Latin American interest in the Trump brand by
staging the Miss Universe pageant in Panama City, Panama.54 Three
years later, he struck a deal in Panama to develop the Trump Ocean
Club International Hotel and Tower, a sail-shaped seventy-story
waterfront complex that included residential apartments and a casino.
According to an investigation by Global Witness,55 an anticorruption



watchdog, Trump was entitled to a licensing fee, 1 percent of any
financing he secured, and a cut of every unit sold—all of which would
add up to more than $75 million.56

Many of the problems behind the project led to a man named
Alexandre Ventura Nogueira, the tower’s primary broker. According to
a report by Reuters, Nogueira, who, with his partners, sold more than
half the apartments in the project, marketed the condos largely to
Russians because, a colleague said, “Russians like to show off. For
them, Trump was the Bentley” of real estate brands.57

But the Reuters investigation also found Nogueira did business with
a Colombian who was later convicted of money laundering; a Russian
investor in the Trump project who was jailed in Israel in the 1990s for
kidnapping and death threats; and a Ukrainian investor who was
arrested for alleged people-smuggling while working with Nogueira
and later convicted by a Kiev court. In addition, Reuters reported, he
was alleged to have “either failed to pass on all the deposits he
collected to the project’s developers, or sometimes sold the same
apartment to more than one client, with the result that, on completion
of the project, some clients had no clear claim on a property.”58

Nogueira said that half of his buyers were Russian, and that some were
allegedly part of the Russian Mafia.59

According to conversations secretly recorded by a former business
partner, in 2013 Nogueira said he had laundered tens of millions of
dollars through real estate. “More important than the money from real
estate was being able to launder the drug money—there were much
larger amounts involved,” he said in the recording. “When I was in
Panama I was regularly laundering money for more than a dozen
companies.”60

Nogueira told Reuters that he became the leading broker for the
project thanks in part to the support of Trump’s daughter Ivanka, who
appeared in a promotional video with him.61

The Trump Organization went into overdrive with the new model.
Why not? Since Trump did none of the financing and almost none of
the development, its risks were minimal and the upside was high. The
Trump Organization’s role in the Panama project “was at all times



limited to licensing its brand and providing management services,”
said Alan Garten, the company’s chief legal officer. “As the company
was not the owner or developer, it had no involvement in the sale of
any units at the property . . . No one at the Trump Organization,
including the Trump family, has any recollection of ever meeting or
speaking with this individual [Nogueira].”62

Similarly, one Trump-branded project after another was beset by
corruption, lawsuits, and the like. In Baku, Azerbaijan, the New
Yorker reported, Trump licensed Trump Tower Baku to close relatives
of Ziya Mammadov, a transportation minister who was described in a
diplomatic cable as “notoriously corrupt even for Azerbaijan.”63

Now Trump licensing projects got under way all over the world,
from White Plains, New York, to Kolkata and Pune, India; from
Vancouver to Washington to Jersey City and more. Which did not
necessarily mean that they did well. Though it was almost completed,
Trump Tower Baku never opened. Likewise, one after another, Trump
Tower projects were launched and then either canceled or never
completed—in Fort Lauderdale, Tampa, Charlotte, Phoenix, New
Orleans, Dubai, Rio, Stuttgart, Tel Aviv, Baja, and more.

In the face of such chaos, most organizations would fail or be forced
to change their approach. But not Trump’s operation. In fact, what
would become Trump’s most significant new real estate ventures were
being hatched on the twenty-fourth floor of New York’s original
Trump Tower, where Felix Sater had taken charge of Bayrock and had
his sights set on Russia.
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN

MOTH, FLAME

uring his years in Moscow, former CIA agent John Sipher, who
worked undercover in the US embassy, heard all about
businesses like Boris Birshtein’s Seabeco and came to the

conclusion that the United States had absolutely nothing like them.
Both the KGB and CIA had long staffed embassies with undercover
operatives as a standard practice.1 In addition, the CIA also provided
“non-official cover” for operatives such as Valerie Plame, whose
association with the agency was famously leaked to the press by the
George W. Bush administration. However, such “cover” was largely
limited to providing false identities—in Plame’s case, that she was an
energy trader in Brussels.2

But, Sipher told me, launching actual profit-making companies like
Seabeco was a different story entirely. “It’s very hard for us in the West
to distill the idea that you also have a cloudy group of people with ties
to the Kremlin, who have intelligence training, and who have made a
bunch of money that can support intelligence operations,” he said.
“Those of us who worked in the [American] embassy [in Moscow], we
instinctively stayed away from it because it was dirty. We knew there
was an overlap of crime and assassinations and surveillance and
money in Cyprus and real estate in London.”

If Bayrock was a latter-day version of Seabeco, getting to the heart
of it meant dealing with Felix Sater, its most visible, charismatic and
authoritative presence. “He has a talent for drawing people in,” said
Bayrock’s former finance director Jody Kriss, who later sued the
company,3 alleging that it was “covertly mob-owned and operated.”
Kriss’s suit claimed that Bayrock had defrauded Kriss and another



Bayrock employee and “never intended to honor” promised payments.
The real purpose of the company, it said, in addition to marketing
expensive condos, was to launder millions of dollars and evade taxes.4

Bayrock contested Kriss’s claims and described him as a
disgruntled employee. The case was later settled on undisclosed terms.

“Felix knew how to be charming and he knew how to be brutally
nasty,” said Kriss.5 “He has charm and charisma. But that’s what con
men do.”

On the one hand, that meant Felix could out-Trump America’s most
famous real estate magnate and convince him that he, Felix Sater, had
an opportunity no one could possibly pass up. “How did I get to
Donald?” Sater asked. “I walked in his door and told him, ‘I’m gonna
be the biggest developer in New York, and you want to be my
partner.’”6

On the other, Felix was also the kind of guy who threatened to
attach live-wired electrodes to the testicles of a colleague, cut off his
legs, and leave him dead in the trunk of a car—as Sater allegedly
promised a business associate in Arizona.7 Robert Wolf, Sater’s lawyer,
denies these allegations and stated that the claim that Sater had
threatened violence was “an outright fabrication.”

Which was the real Felix Sater? His work with Bayrock as a partner
of Trump’s and later his work on behalf of Trump himself raised a
number of unanswered questions.

Sater’s biggest project at Bayrock was the troubled Trump SoHo,
the forty-six-story, $450 million hotel-condominium in downtown
Manhattan that was beset by one lawsuit after another.* From the
start, the mere fact that Sater was a principal in Bayrock created a very
serious quandary as it was trying to raise $1 billion for Trump SoHo
and other projects. Sater was a twice-convicted felon; no banks would
lend to Bayrock if they knew about Sater’s convictions. In fact, when
Trump SoHo got under way, Sater began spelling his name “Satter,” as
he told the Times, to “distance himself from a past” and to throw off
anyone searching his name on Google.8

Another complication was the fact that Sater was also a
“cooperator” with the FBI and other federal agencies. As a result, he



had an immunity deal and, he later asserted, was still carrying out
various daring missions for the CIA, the DIA, and the FBI, such as
helping the FBI investigate scams run by the Italian Mafia on Wall
Street.

For his help, Sater was given extraordinary latitude by the FBI—so
much that Frederick Oberlander, an attorney who represented Jody
Kriss in his lawsuit against Bayrock, and other attorneys and
journalists sometimes referred to Felix as “another Whitey Bulger.”
Bulger, who had been the crime boss of the Winter Hill Gang in
Boston, became an FBI cooperator and used his immunity as cover for
an ongoing crime spree. He was later convicted of involvement in
eleven murders.

All of which raised the question of whether Felix, like Bulger, was
using his immunity as a cover to launder money through real estate for
the Russian Mafia. At the very least, it seemed, Sater had a double life.
He was a felon, but he was working undercover for America’s secret
services. That much was clearly established. But what if he was really
working for the Russians? What if he really had a triple life? The
answers were difficult to find—in part because the records of Sater’s
convictions had been sealed as a result of his immunity deal.

No one seemed to know the whole story about Sater—especially
Donald Trump. That became clear later, when Trump gave a
deposition in a court case filed against him, Bayrock, and several other
parties, and was asked, under oath, about working with Sater. First, an
attorney showed Trump a copy of a December 17, 2007, story in the
New York Times headlined, “Real Estate Executive with Hand in
Trump Projects Rose from Tangled Past,” and asked if he was familiar
with it.

“Very vaguely,” Trump replied. “Long time ago . . . I just vaguely
remember the article, but we weren’t dealing much with him.”

How many times had Trump conversed with Sater?
“Over the years?” Trump asked. “Not many. If he were sitting in the

room right now, I really wouldn’t know what he looked like. . . . If he
would call, I’d take his call because he was representing Bayrock. . . .



You should ask those questions to Bayrock. He worked for Bayrock, he
didn’t work for me.”9

Trump was obviously perturbed by the line of questioning, but his
testimony was crystal clear about Sater. He barely knew the guy—or so
he said.

Yet there was plenty of evidence to the contrary. In the beginning,
Sater and Tevfik Arif had been thrilled to be situated on the twenty-
fourth floor of Trump Tower precisely because residents on the upper
floors had to get off at the twenty-fourth-floor landing and change
elevators to reach street level. That made it easy for Felix to bump into
Trump “accidentally” and pitch him new projects—and he took full
advantage of their proximity. Others at Bayrock talked to Trump on
occasion, but it was a relationship that Felix jealously kept to himself—
with considerable success.

Once they got to know each other, Felix thought nothing of going up
a flight of stairs to Trump’s office to chat about business ideas—“just
me and him.”10

After returning from a trip to Russia, Sater said, he’d “come back,
pop [his] head into Mr. Trump’s office and tell him, you know,
‘Moving forward on the Moscow deal.’”11

In 2005, when Trump flew to Colorado to give a motivational
speech, he and Melania brought Felix with them.12 Trump and Sater
were interviewed and photographed together in Denver and Loveland,
Colorado; Phoenix; Fort Lauderdale; and New York.13

A former colleague of Sater’s told Politico, “Trump called Felix like
every other day to his office. . . . They were definitely in contact always.
They spoke on the phone all the time.”14 And they occasionally dined
together at a restaurant in Manhattan’s Meatpacking District called
Kiss & Fly, with what New York magazine described as “a quasi-
Roman-bathhouse feel” for its “young, rich, and overwhelmingly
European” patrons.15

Back in Trump Tower, as an inducement for Donald to drop by
their twenty-fourth-floor offices, Felix became so fixated on the
appearance of female employees that the firm was referred to as
Baberock. Taking the bait one day in 2006, Trump ran into Bayrock



secretary Rachel Crooks, then twenty-two, on the elevator landing,
who introduced herself and then saw him go into action.16 “He took
hold of my hand and held me in place like this,” Crooks said. “He
started kissing me on one cheek, then the other cheek. He was talking
to me in between kisses, asking where I was from, or if I wanted to be a
model. He wouldn’t let go of my hand, and then he went right in and
started kissing me on the lips.”17

Crooks has since joined several other women in demanding a
congressional investigation into Trump’s alleged sexual misconduct.

Meanwhile, Trump entrusted Felix with accompanying his children
to Moscow to work on Trump projects in the Russian capital.18 On one
of the trips, Felix took Ivanka on a tour of the Kremlin and later said
he arranged for her to sit in Vladimir Putin’s chair. “It would be
bizarre for him to take her into the president’s personal office—
presumably while the president was absent—unless Putin and his
security service advisers knew about it and viewed the relationship
with the Trumps as worth developing,” Daniel Treisman, a UCLA
political science professor and an expert on Russian politics, told
Business Insider.19

The Trumps began spending more and more time in Russia.
Starting in 2006, Donald Jr., executive vice president of development
and acquisitions for the Trump Organization, made about half a dozen
trips to Russia over the course of a year and a half. “[I]n terms of high-
end product influx into the US, Russians make up a pretty
disproportionate cross-section of a lot of our assets,” he later told a
Manhattan real estate conference.20 “. . . We see a lot of money
pouring in from Russia.”

Trump himself said he was looking forward to the realization of a
major project in Moscow. “We will be in Moscow at some point,” he
said in a deposition.21 He added that he had met with Russian
investors at Trump Tower to pursue the Moscow deal, and that Donald
Jr. was working on it.

As for Felix Sater’s role, Trump said nothing. In fact, Alan Garten,
the Trump Organization’s general counsel, later asserted to Forbes



that Sater’s presence in Moscow while Ivanka and Donald Jr. were
there was merely a coincidence.22

As Donald Jr. saw it, the stumbling block in Russia was corruption.
“Several buyers have been attracted to our projects there,” he told a
trade publication.23 “It is definitely not an issue of being able to find a
deal—but an issue of ‘Will I ever see my money back out of that deal or
can I actually trust the person I am doing the deal with?’ As much as
we want to take our business over there, Russia is just a different
world. . . . It really is a scary place.”

Of course, how scary Moscow was depended on what kind of
company you kept. In addition to his work for Trump, in 2007 Sater
began working as an “adviser” to real estate oligarch Sergei Polonsky,
a flamboyant, longhaired six-foot-four24 billionaire developer whose
company, Mirax Group, had been making a name for itself in
Moscow.25

Polonsky had won both fame and notoriety for a number of reasons,
the former for developing Moscow’s ninety-seven-story Federation
Tower, which for several years was the tallest building in Europe, and
the latter for becoming an icon of excess who declared “anyone
without a billion dollars should fuck off.”26

In 2008, Polonsky spoke at a real estate conference in Moscow at
which Donald Trump, Jr., was the keynote speaker.27 Since then,
Polonsky was convicted of fraud in 2017, after having been charged
with stealing 3.2 billion rubles (about $51 million).28 He and other
principals at Mirax, including two board members and its board
president, Maxim Temnikov, fled Russia and were being sought for
allegedly appropriating 2.4 billion rubles (about $39 million) from a
Moscow real estate development.29

Sater wasn’t exactly a big hit with everyone at Mirax. “You can’t
trust him in any way, not in a professional setting, not in a personal
setting,” Mirax’s chairman of the board, Alexey Kunitsin, told the
Atlantic.30 “You could see it very clearly. He was telling constant crazy
stories, wild fantasies about all the people he knew. He was not a
balanced dude. He’s very emotional and gets into conflicts very easily.”



Nevertheless, Sater had begun to forge ties in the treacherous world
of Russian business. Polonsky and Mirax had had an extended
working relationship with Moscow mayor Yuri Luzhkov and had
partnered with the Mogilevich-linked company Sistema.31 In addition,
Sater joined with Maxim Temnikov to buy a $4.8 million condo in
affluent Fisher Island, Florida.32

—
Exactly how much Trump knew about Sater and the inner workings of
Bayrock was unclear—which is exactly the way he seemed to want it.
But on December 19, 2007, Trump gave a deposition in a lawsuit he
filed against author Timothy O’Brien. Two days earlier, New York
Times reporter Charles Bagli had revealed that Felix Sater had a
hidden past, and now that Trump was under oath it was possible to
determine the extent of his knowledge. When asked about Sater’s
criminal history, Trump testified, “[I’m] looking into it because I
wasn’t happy with the story. So I’m looking into it.”33 In other words,
under oath, Trump had admitted that he knew about Sater’s run-ins
with the law.

Because the deposition was marked “Confidential” and kept under
seal, Trump may not have expected it to become public. Regardless,
Trump’s knowledge of Sater’s past was now a matter of court record.
According to Jonathan Winer, the former money-laundering czar in
the Clinton administration, if someone in Trump’s situation failed to
investigate such allegations he would be “open to charges of ‘willful
blindness’ in terms of the knowledge he had.”34

“The responsible course of action would have been to have Sater
resign and disclose Sater’s past to interested parties,” says Richard
Lerner, who, with Frederick Oberlander, filed a qui tam lawsuit
against Bayrock in 2015—that is, a civil suit that rewards private
entities working to recover funds for the government.35 In this case,
they charged Bayrock with laundering $250 million in profits from
Trump SoHo and other projects, and setting up elaborate mechanisms
to evade more than $100 million in state and federal taxes. Sater’s



attorney, Robert Wolf, characterized the allegations of “their
extortionate litigations” as “baseless and highly defamatory.”36

But rather than extricate himself from the deal with Bayrock and a
partnership with a convicted felon, Trump kept silent about Felix,
continued working with Bayrock, and ultimately profited from the
arrangement. Indeed, according to Bayrock’s internal emails, rather
than disclose the truth, Trump even saw the predicament as an
occasion to renegotiate his fees—upward, of course. “Donald . . . saw
an opportunity to try and get development fees for himself,” Sater
emailed investors a few days after the deposition.37

In the end, Sater remained managing director of Bayrock through
2008. Trump also continued to participate in the venture and enjoy its
profits. “Inducing a bank to lend money based on a fraudulent loan
application—i.e., concealing Sater’s criminal past—is bank fraud,” said
Fred Oberlander.38 “If you know that the loans were procured by fraud
yet stay involved, it’s a conspiracy to violate money laundering and
racketeering statutes.”

“It’s certainly a question for [special counsel Robert] Mueller to
look into,” said Jonathan Winer.39 “What anyone in Trump’s position
should have done is investigate those allegations [about Sater’s
criminal past] to ensure that there was not a money-laundering
operation.”

But Trump wasn’t charged with any crime at the time. Nevertheless,
once condos in the building were finally put up for sale, the project
suffered more than its share of problems. The building’s no-man’s-
land neighborhood—not really SoHo—with its grand entrance beside
Varick Street and the chaotic approach to the Holland Tunnel, made it
a difficult sell. In addition, in order to circumvent restrictive zoning
laws, the project was explicitly marketed to prospective buyers
overseas as a second or third home, with the highly challenging
proviso that owners could live in their apartments only 120 days a
year, and never for more than 29 consecutive days in any 36-day
period. In 2010, 15 condo buyers filed suit, charging the Trumps and
Bayrock with “an ongoing pattern of fraudulent misrepresentations
and deceptive sales practices.” According to the Daily Beast,40 among



the claims made to spur sales were Ivanka Trump’s proclamations to
Reuters and to the London Times in June 2008 that 60 percent of the
391 units in the building had been sold. Documents later submitted to
the New York attorney general showed that only 15 percent had found
buyers.

The suit was eventually settled, and the plaintiffs received 90
percent of their deposits back.41 But in 2014, four years after its
opening, more than two-thirds of the building’s condos remained
unsold. The website Curbed headlined a story “Trump SoHo Heads to
Foreclosure Due to Unsellable Condos.”

As other lawsuits unfolded, more charges about Bayrock came
forth, among them allegations that the condos themselves were being
used as vehicles for money laundering. According to the Financial
Times,42 lawyers for Almaty, the biggest city in Kazakhstan, charged
that Viktor Khrapunov, a former Kazakh energy minister and the city’s
ex-mayor, and his family “conspired to systematically loot hundreds of
millions of dollars of public assets . . . and to launder their ill-gotten
gains through a complex web of bank accounts and shell
companies . . . particularly in the United States.”43

Khrapunov and Mukhtar Ablyazov, another Kazakh oligarch, have
been accused of embezzling about $10 billion from a Kazakh bank and
laundering it through shell companies, which purchased real estate all
over the world.44 With regard to Trump SoHo, the lawyers charged
that Khrapunov’s network used dozens of shell companies, among
them three limited liability companies—whose ownership could be
easily concealed—called Soho 3310, Soho 3311, and Soho 3203, which
corresponded to apartments of the same name in Trump SoHo. The
vendor of the apartments was Bayrock/Sapir LLC, which was named
after the developers of the building, Bayrock and Tamir Sapir’s Sapir
Organization. The Financial Times also reported that, according to
regulatory filings, Bayrock/Sapir had a third co-owner—Donald J.
Trump.*

Initially, Sater had helped the Khrapunov family buy apartments in
Trump SoHo, but he later turned on the family and began cooperating
with lawyers and private investigators who were pursuing multiple



cases against them on three continents.45 According to the New York
Daily News, Sater pocketed at least $21.5 million from related deals
with Khrapunov and Mukhtar Ablyazov.46 Sater’s lawyer, Robert Wolf,
denied that Sater ever worked with Ablyazov or that he knew whether
or not Ablyazov was involved in any wrongdoing.

The Oberlander and Lerner lawsuit alleged Bayrock’s projected
profits were “to be laundered, untaxed through a sham Delaware
entity” to the FL Group,47 Iceland’s largest private investment fund,48

the first major firm to collapse in 2008 when Iceland’s financial
bubble burst, and a favored financial instrument for loans to Russia-
connected oligarchs who were, court papers claim, in favor with
Vladimir Putin.49 (The Kremlin has denied that Putin has any
connection to the FL Group or Bayrock.)50 According to Bloomberg,
Eva Joly, who assisted Iceland’s special prosecutor in the investigation
of the financial collapse, said, “There was a huge amount of money
that came into these banks that wasn’t entirely explained by central
bank lending. Only Mafia-like groups fill a gap like that.”51

—
But Iceland was only one of Bayrock’s many connections to Russian
money, Russian intelligence services, and the Russian mob. In the
Soviet era, Arif had spent seventeen years working for the USSR
Chamber of Commerce and Industry, an agency run by KGB officers
that had long been systematically engaged in commercial espionage in
the West.52 As for Alexander Mashkevich and Patokh Chodiev, who
were named in Bayrock’s promotional material, both had worked for
Boris Birshtein’s KGB-linked Seabeco53 and were allegedly tied up
with the Russian Mafia through their alliance with the Chernoys in the
Aluminum Wars. In the early 2000s Mashkevich, Chodiev, and Alijan
Ibragimov were accused of money laundering in Belgium, where
prosecutors believed their funds to be of “criminal origin.” In the end,
however, the cases were settled, with the Trio paying a fine to the
Belgian government and not admitting their guilt.54

Another significant Bayrock partner, the Sapir Organization, had,
through its principal, Tamir Sapir, a long business relationship with



Semyon Kislin, the commodities trader who was tied to the Chernoy
brothers and, according to the FBI, to Vyacheslav Ivankov’s gang in
Brighton Beach.55 A generous donor to former New York mayor and
future Trump attorney Rudy Giuliani, Kislin* happened to have
considerable political capital after Giuliani appointed him to be a
member of the New York City Economic Development Corporation.
(At a 1999 press conference, Kislin denied any ties to the Russian mob,
insisting, “I have done nothing evil.”56 Kislin did not respond to an
email request for comment.)

In addition to being wired into the Kremlin, Sapir’s son-in-law,
Rotem Rosen, was a supporter of Chabad along with Sater, Sapir, and
others at Bayrock, and, as a result, was part of an extraordinarily
powerful channel between Trump and Putin.

After all, the ascent of Chabad in Russia had been part of Putin’s
plan to replace older Jewish institutions in Russia with corresponding
organizations that were loyal to him.57 When they began, Russia
already had a chief rabbi, Adolf Shayevich, who was recognized as such
by the Russian Jewish Congress. But when Abramovich and Leviev
installed Chabad rabbi Lazar at the head of their rival organization, the
Federation of Jewish Communities of Russia, the Kremlin recognized
Lazar as Russia’s head rabbi and removed Shayevich from its religious
affairs council.58

Consequently, the Federation of Jewish Communities of Russia, the
voice of Chabad in Russia, became so close to Putin that he even made
a point of attending the dedication of their center in Moscow’s Marina
Roscha neighborhood in 2001.59 With Chabad’s Rabbi Berel Lazar
leading the way, the Federation of Jewish Communities of Russia was
now providing Putin with a Jewish “umbrella” that allowed him to
battle Vladimir Gusinsky, whose media properties had become critical
of him and who even dared to back candidates opposed to Putin. “I
said openly,” Lazar said, “that what Gusinsky was doing was not
desirable and would hurt the Jewish community.”60

But another reason for the close ties between Chabad and Putin was
that both Lazar and Leviev had promised Putin that they would make



their connections available to the Kremlin and “open doors to the
corridors of power in Washington.”61

At the time, Trump’s comeback in real estate and his ascent in TV
were in full swing, but his political prospects were still dicey at best.
However, his role in Bayrock and its real estate deals with Russian
oligarchs were real and provided a connection to Moscow.

That’s what made the Chabad channel so mysterious. First and
foremost, the biggest contributor to Chabad in the world was Leviev,
the billionaire “King of Diamonds” who had a direct line to Rabbi
Berel Lazar, aka “Putin’s rabbi,” to Donald Trump, and to Putin
himself dating back to the Russian leader’s early days in St.
Petersburg. Leviev would make major real estate transactions with
Jared Kushner, including selling the retail space in the former New
York Times Building to Kushner for $295 million.62 As an
undergraduate at Harvard, Jared had been active at the campus
Chabad House at Harvard.63 Jared later married Ivanka Trump and
became a senior adviser to her father in the White House. Jared and
Ivanka were also close to Chabad donor Roman Abramovich and his
wife, Dasha Zhukova.

Another major contributor was Jared’s father, Charles Kushner,64

an American real estate developer who was eventually jailed for illegal
campaign contributions, tax evasion, and witness tampering. But that
is just the beginning of Chabad’s ties to Trump. Indeed, one of the
biggest contributors to Chabad of Port Washington, Long Island, was
Bayrock founder Tevfik Arif, a Kazakh-born Turk with a Muslim name
who was not Jewish, but nonetheless won entry into its Chai Circle as
a top donor.65

The Port Washington founder and head rabbi, Shalom Paltiel,
happened to be an acolyte of Rabbi Berel Lazar, Paltiel’s “dear friend
and mentor,”66 as he referred to Lazar. But he was also close to Felix
Sater and later named Sater “man of the year” for Chabad of Port
Washington. At the ceremony honoring Sater, Paltiel recalled how
Sater recounted his daring adventures as an intelligence operative. “I
only recently told Felix I really didn’t believe most of it,” Paltiel said.67

“I thought perhaps he watched too many James Bond movies, read



one too many Tom Clancy novels. Anyone who knows Felix knows that
he can tell a good story. I simply did not put too much credence to
them.”

In addition to Sater, Daniel Ridloff, a fellow Bayrock employee, was
a member of the Port Washington Chabad house.68

Chabad supporters Rotem Rosen and his bride, Zina Sapir, of
course, were tied to Bayrock through Zina’s father, Tamir Sapir, and
they were such close personal friends of Trump that he let them have
their 2007 wedding at Trump’s Mar-a-Lago, with Lionel Richie and
the Pussycat Dolls performing.69

A few months later, Leviev met with Trump in Moscow to discuss
potential deals for Trump in Russia.70 Then, in June 2008, after Zina
and Rotem’s son was born, Lev Leviev arranged for the bris, the
Jewish ritual of circumcision, to take place at the grave of Rabbi
Menachem Mendel Schneerson, the renowned Hasidic rabbi who was
the spiritual leader of the Chabad-Lubavitch movement.71

Touting the event as “the best bris invite ever,” New York magazine
opined that the “invite list for this particular penis-chopping” was as
chic as it gets, including hotelier André Balazs, restaurateur Giuseppe
Cipriani, New York nightlife empress Amy Sacco, various real estate
moguls, and, of course, Donald Trump and his future son-in-law Jared
Kushner.

—
In the midst of these efforts, something took place that seemed
entirely unrelated to Trump’s interactions with Russia but ended up
creating one of the most significant links of all between him and the
Kremlin. In 2006, a group of apartment owners at Trump World
Tower, his seventy-two-story skyscraper overlooking the United
Nations, had taken control of the condo board and were accusing
Trump of financial impropriety. For help, Trump turned to a
sympathetic condo owner named Michael D. Cohen, who was such a
devotee of the Trump brand that he had bought a number of Trump
apartments himself, and had his parents, his in-laws, and a business
partner buy apartments in Trump World Tower.72



Cohen was the same Michael Cohen who knew Felix Sater when he
was growing up in Brighton Beach. Initially, when Sater was first
asked about his ties to Cohen, he downplayed their relationship.
“[Cohen] wasn’t one of my close friends,” Sater told Talking Points
Memo in 2017,73 “just a guy dating a girl in the neighborhood and we
had a bunch of mutual friends.”

Later, however, on MSNBC, Sater referred to Cohen as “an old and
dear friend,”74 which was likely closer to the truth.

His suburban roots notwithstanding, Cohen had his own ties to the
wiseguys of Brighton Beach. Most notably, through his uncle Dr.
Morton Levine, there was his family’s shared ownership of Brooklyn’s
El Caribe Country Club catering hall, the well-known hangout for both
Russian and Italian gangsters.75 According to the New York Times, Dr.
Levine was a family practitioner, and one of the families for whom he
provided medical services was the Lucchese crime family. In the
process of providing those services, according to a sworn affidavit in
1993 from an FBI special agent, Dr. Levine “aided their illegal
activities.” The affidavit added that a Lucchese underboss, Anthony
“Gaspipe” Casso, “regarded Levine as someone who would do anything
for him.”76

In addition to having served as headquarters for Evsei Agron and
his gangsters, El Caribe was where John Gotti held his Christmas party
in 1988, when he was at the height of his power as head of the
Gambino family.77 Among other notable mob festivities at the
restaurant, Genovese crime family soldier Ernest “Butch”
Montevecchi, who partnered with Felix Sater’s father, Michael
Sheferovsky, hosted a reception at El Caribe for a mob subordinate
who happened to be the nephew of Charles “Lucky” Luciano.78

But El Caribe was just the beginning of Cohen’s mob ties. After
college, Cohen got a law degree from the Thomas M. Cooley Law
School (now known as Western Michigan University Cooley Law
School), at the time, a notorious diploma mill, which, according to
Reuters, has been repeatedly sued for misrepresenting employment
and salary data about its graduates.79 In addition, Cohen got involved
in an offshore casino business in Florida based on a 196-foot yacht, the



Atlantic, a “failed gambling operation,” as BuzzFeed described it, that
allegedly did not pay its debts and did business with people tied “to
accused and convicted criminals” in both the Italian and Russian
mobs. The casino was managed by Tatiana Varzar, the owner of the
eponymous Russian nightclub in Brighton Beach, and her husband,
Michael Varzar, who had been sent to prison for his role in the
gasoline tax scam in the nineties.80

Representative Peter King, a Republican congressman from New
York’s Second District, observed that Cohen had cultivated a tough-
guy pose that is “a main part of who he is. He talks about it. He likes to
play up the act that he’s a guy who was not raised in Manhattan . . .
‘I’m from Long Island, we don’t take crap from anyone.’”81

According to an investigation of Cohen by ProPublica, after law
school Cohen worked with a series of small firms that defended clients
accused of participation in various medical malpractice scams, phony
auto accident cons, and the like that were similar to Russian Mafia
swindles in the eighties and nineties. One of his first jobs after law
school was working for a personal injury lawyer named Melvyn J.
Estrin, who pleaded guilty to bribing insurance adjusters to inflate
damage estimates.82 He subsequently drew up incorporation papers
for a number of dubious medical practices and medical billing
companies, one of which had filed nearly three hundred lawsuits. In
one of the clinics Cohen incorporated, the principal doctor pled guilty
to writing phony prescriptions that allowed clients to get 100,000 pills
they ordinarily would not have been able to obtain.83

In 1994, Cohen had married Laura Shusterman, daughter of Fima
Shusterman, a taxi entrepreneur who had pleaded guilty to defrauding
the IRS.84 Meanwhile, Cohen’s younger brother Bryan had also
married a Ukrainian woman, and Bryan’s father-in-law, Alex Oronov,
was seeking investors for an ethanol business Oronov co-owned with
Viktor Topolov. An oligarch whose associates were allegedly tied to the
Ukrainian and Russian criminal underworlds, Topolov, according to
Talking Points Memo, “had a one or two steps removed relationship
with Russian underworld kingpin Semion Mogilevich.”85



According to the FBI, Topolov’s conglomerate, Kiev-Donbas,
employed three executives who were part of the Russian Mafia,
including one enforcer who was tied to Mogilevich and admitted to
taking part in at least twenty murders.86

In New York, Cohen followed his father-in-law, Fima Shusterman,
into the taxi medallion business, where they registered more than
fifteen companies—Sir Michael Hacking Corp., Lady Laura Hacking
Corp., Smoochie Cab Corporation—and ended up working with Simon
Garber and Evgeny Freidman, two Soviet-born New York taxi barons,
who managed part of Cohen’s fleet.87 By 2003, he claimed he
controlled a fleet of two hundred cabs.88 Before the advent of Uber
and similar services, taxi medallions sometimes sold for more than $1
million.89

“Cohen associated himself with the most reckless and greedy
players in the industry,” said Bhairavi Desai, the executive director of
the Taxi Workers Alliance, a group that represents cabdrivers.90 “They
have simultaneously worked to inflate the value of their medallions
and rip off their drivers.”

In 1999, Cohen received a check for $350,000 that was written by
star hockey player Vladimir Malakhov.91 Under a sworn deposition,
Cohen said he did not recall receiving the check and did not know why
Malakhov might have paid him that sum. According to an article on
Gordon, a Ukrainian news site, by Russian-American historian Yuri
Felshtinsky, who co-authored Blowing Up Russia with Alexander
Litvinenko, the $350,000 was intended for one of the leaders of the
Izmaylovskaya Organized Crime Group (OCG), one of the oldest and
most important Mafia gangs in Moscow. When Cohen was deposed
and asked under oath if the signature endorsing the check was his, he
replied, “I don’t know but it could be.”

Then, asked why someone would have sent him the check, Cohen
said, “ I have no idea.”92

In the end, the Felshtinsky article concluded that the money was
intended for one of the leaders of the OCG, Vitaly Yuryevich Buslaev,
who was allegedly one of the gang’s five “kingpins.”93



Gregory Ehrlich, a one-time friend of Cohen’s who is now estranged
from him, invited Cohen to his wedding, and, according to the Wall
Street Journal, overheard Cohen bragging that he belonged to the
Russian mob.94 Ehrlich later said he did not believe Cohen had any
such ties.

Meanwhile, Cohen assembled a mini real estate empire of his own,
part of which involved his and his family’s buying up numerous Trump
apartment units, with his Ukrainian father-in-law buying at least four
units and Cohen buying five.95 According to Rolling Stone, during a
five-year period, Cohen and people close to him bought $17.3 million
in Trump properties.96

In February 2007, Trump complimented Cohen on the wisdom of
his acquisitions. “Michael Cohen has a great insight into the real-
estate market,” he told the New York Post.97 “He has invested in my
buildings because he likes to make money—and he does.”

Indeed, Trump was so impressed by Cohen’s insight that by May,
he hired Cohen as an executive vice president at the Trump
Organization, the same title held by three of Trump’s children, Donald
Jr., Ivanka, and Eric.98 Now Cohen was working in the same building
as his old buddy Felix Sater.

Once Cohen began working for Trump, his pronouncements only
enhanced his reputation as a hard-nosed fixer—as Roy Cohn 2.0, his
new pit bull. “If somebody does something Mr. Trump doesn’t like, I
do everything in my power to resolve it to Mr. Trump’s benefit,” he
told ABC News in 2011. “If you do something wrong, I’m going to come
at you, grab you by the neck and I’m not going to let you go until I’m
finished.”99 Fittingly, perhaps, on Twitter, his hashtag would become
#secretaryofloyalty.100

—
And so, all the strands had started to come together: There was a
booming real estate market. There was Vladimir Putin’s festering
bitterness about his country’s humiliating Cold War defeat. There were
Putin’s dreams of reviving Russia’s imperial glory. There was the
newly globalized post–Cold War version of the Russian Mafia, still

http://twitter.com/hashtag/secretaryofloyalty


very much a state actor in league with Russian intelligence. There were
untold billions of dollars in flight capital in anonymous shell
companies in Cyprus, the Channel Islands, Panama, and other havens
for dark money. There were sumptuous chateaux, villas, dachas, and
estates, one bigger than the next; gigantic yachts; private jets; and all
the rest, all part of a new culture of unimaginable greed.

And finally there was Donald Trump, emerging from a decade of
litigation, multiple bankruptcies, and $4 billion in debt, to rise from
the near-dead with the help of Bayrock and its alleged ties to Russian
intelligence and the Russian Mafia. “They saved his bacon,” said
Kenneth McCallion,101 a former federal prosecutor who filed suit
against Mogilevich, Paul Manafort, Ukrainian oligarch Dmitry Firtash,
and others on behalf of former Ukrainian prime minister Yulia
Tymoshenko.

But Trump’s rescue by the Russians was not cost-free. By working
with Bayrock, McCallion says, Trump may well have been performing
gigantic favors for Vladimir Putin without even knowing it. Indeed, in
2016, Trump’s political adversaries commissioned Christopher Steele,
a former MI6 agent, to dig up opposition research on Trump, and
among the most astonishing allegations in the infamous thirty-five-
page Steele Dossier, which alleges Trump has been severely
compromised by Russia, is that Trump unknowingly regularly
supplied intelligence to Vladimir Putin.

On the face of it, Steele’s allegation seems absurd to anyone familiar
with Trump’s insistent tweeting, impulsive outbursts, and scores of
outrageous indiscretions. Who could possibly believe he had the
discipline necessary to carry out such a daring intelligence operation?

On the other hand, Steele’s dossier specifically said the intelligence
in question was about “the activities of business oligarchs and their
families’ activities and assets in the US, with which PUTIN and the
Kremlin seemed preoccupied.” That kind of intel was crucial to Putin,
because his relationship with the oligarchs often seesawed back and
forth. Putin oversaw them with an iron fist, and when they fell out of
favor, they either toed the line or ended up being purged (media
executives Vladimir Gusinsky and Boris Berezovsky), being jailed



(Yukos Oil’s Mikhail Khodorkovsky), and/or dying under mysterious
circumstances (Berezovsky).

Thanks to Bayrock, McCallion suggests, the future president was
indirectly providing Putin with a regular flow of intelligence on what
the oligarchs were doing with their money in the US. “I believe that
Christopher Steele was right,” says McCallion. “Initially, Trump wasn’t
that important to Putin. But now that Trump was getting investments
from the Russians, Putin could keep track of where their money went
because Bayrock kept a ledger that Moscow likely had access to. It was
not just about buying condos, which was the tail wagging the dog. It
was direct capital investment into various Trump projects.”

In other words, for example, if capital came in to Bayrock from
Iceland’s FL Group, as it did for Trump SoHo, Putin would likely
know. “Putin didn’t stop the expatriation of billions of dollars because
he benefited from it,” said McCallion,102 “but it was a serious problem
for the Russian economy. Billions of dollars were going out and he
really wanted to keep track of it for a variety of reasons, to see what the
financial strength was of the oligarchs.”

If the Sapir Organization, or the Trio behind the Eurasian Natural
Resources Corporation—Mashkevich, Chodiev, and Ibragimov—or Lev
Leviev invested a few hundred million or so, Vladimir Putin would
know. He would know if Felix Sater was trying to strike a deal with
Mirax’s Sergei Polonsky. He would know about money that was being
laundered through the purchase of condos in Trump SoHo and other
developments. He would know about Tevfik Arif’s various adventures.
And, through Chabad, he would have access to even more information
about his oligarchs.

Nor is McCallion the only one who believes Steele might be right
about Trump’s inadvertent funneling of intelligence to Putin. “If you
read the Steele Dossier about Trump providing information on
Russian money and oligarchs,” says John Sipher, “maybe that is Felix
Sater finding out where Russian money is coming in from and relaying
it back to Russia. Maybe he is the go-between. I don’t know.” Of
course, Sater has repeatedly denied any such allegations.



Regardless, Sipher and other undercover CIA operatives in Moscow
were told that the Russian Mafia was simply not in their purview. “In
fact, when you arrived in Moscow, agents were given operational
directives that explicitly told them to stay away from them,” Sipher
said.103 “To Trump’s people, it was like a moth to a flame.”

That left the FBI as the most powerful remaining bulwark against
the Russian Mafia. But the FBI was infatuated with Felix Sater, raving
about his contributions to national security, as Bayrock allegedly
laundered huge sums of Russian money.

Many questions about the FBI’s interaction with Sater remain
unanswered, but one gauge of its relationship to the Russian Mafia can
be seen in the trajectory of former FBI director William Sessions. Once
one of the premier law enforcement officers in the nation, in 1997,
Sessions had gone to Moscow to address the issue of the Russian
Mafia. “I believe we can beat organized crime,” he told the assembled
crowd.104

But ten years later, back in private practice, Sessions had moved in
another direction. Just as Bob Dole and Jack Abramoff and Tom
DeLay and Barbour Griffith & Rogers had jumped on the Russian
gravy train, William Sessions decided to take on a Russian client. In
this case, the client had been charged with racketeering and was trying
to negotiate a deal with the US Department of Justice, and was so
powerful that he not only had made the FBI’s “Ten Most Wanted” list,
but had now gotten a former FBI director, William Sessions, to
represent him.105 Sessions’s client, of course, was Semion Mogilevich.

In the end, Mogilevich did not get the plea deal he wanted. But the
mere fact that the former head of the FBI had a client who, according
to the US Department of Justice, represented an enormous national
security threat provides a sense of how deeply the Russian Mafia had
penetrated America’s defenses.

What would be worse, of course, was if the Russian Mafia somehow
managed to go even further and breach the White House. All of which
seemed extraordinarily far-fetched. Even though Trump had
expressed his presidential ambitions by this time, no one took him
terribly seriously.



As for what Trump thought when he took stock of Putin’s
presidency in Russia, that was open to speculation, but increasingly it
looked as if he liked what he saw. “He saw a guy who a) can be
president for life basically, and b) is worth about $200 billion,” said
Kenneth McCallion. “So Trump had to be thinking, ‘Why not here?’”106
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CHAPTER FIFTEEN

PUTIN’S REVENGE

n April 25, 2005, in his annual address to the nation, Vladimir
Putin called the demise of the Soviet Union “the greatest
geopolitical catastrophe of the twentieth century.”1 More than

a mere sound bite that romanticized the deceased communist state,
Putin’s pronouncement could be seen as his reassertion of the idea
that Russia must fulfill its great imperial destiny. All of which
portended renewed conflict—in one form or another—with the West.

Which should have surprised no one. Even before the Soviet Union
took its last breath, Eastern Bloc satellites had started to abandon
Russia. First, in 1990, what had formerly been East Germany reunited
with the Federal Republic of Germany and became part of NATO. That
included Dresden, Putin’s old haunt. In 1999, three former communist
countries—Hungary, the Czech Republic, and Poland—joined NATO.
After that, Western officials repeatedly assured Russia that NATO
would not expand to the east2 but broke their pledge. By the time of
Putin’s speech in 2005, seven more Eastern Bloc countries—Bulgaria,
Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia—had
joined NATO. Albania, Croatia, and Montenegro followed.3

For Putin, however, the red line was Ukraine—a nation of more
than forty million people that is Russia’s breadbasket, an essential
trade partner, and Russia’s biggest buffer with the West. Under no
circumstances would Putin allow it to fall to the West. Yet Ukraine’s
Orange Revolution of 2004 had posed a grave threat to Putin’s control.

The protests had their genesis in a crisis that began in September
2000 when Georgian politician and journalist Georgy Gongadze, a
prominent critic of President Leonid Kuchma’s administration and its



close ties to Putin, wrote a story, “Everything About Oleksandr
Volkov,” published on the Ukrayinska Pravda website, tying Volkov, a
top Kuchma adviser, to the Russian Mafia.

A high-level oligarch himself, Volkov was one of several people
close to Kuchma who had helped Dmitry Firtash get established in the
Ukraine energy trade, allegedly with Mogilevich.4 In addition, Volkov
had begun partnering with Boris Birshtein, Sergei Mikhailov, and
Semion Mogilevich as early as 1994, according to All Is Clouded by
Desire: Global Banking, Money Laundering, and International
Organized Crime, by Alan A. Block and Constance A. Weaver.5 He was
“such a scary guy,” the authors write, “that hardly anyone in the
Ukraine who wasn’t a crook would utter his name.”6

And now, Gongadze was reporting that Volkov had foreign bank
accounts with $15 million in them, $5 million of which allegedly came
from Seabeco, the company Boris Birshtein ran with Alex Shnaider,
Alexander Mashkevich, and Patokh Chodiev.7

But on September 16, 2000, after his exposé of Volkov was
published on Ukrayinska Pravda, Gongadze disappeared. Shortly
afterward, Deputy Interior Minister Mykola Dzhyha announced that,
among other theories, authorities thought Gongadze might have
staged his own abduction.8 That turned out to be incorrect. Two
months later, his decapitated body was found about seventy miles
outside Kiev.9

Gongadze’s murder has never been solved, but there is reason to
believe someone at the highest levels of the Ukrainian government
orchestrated his assassination. One key piece of evidence comes from
clandestine tape recordings made by Mykola Melnychenko, a former
bodyguard to President Kuchma, who secretly recorded five hundred
hours of conversations in Kuchma’s office between 1999 and 2000.10

Among them is a conversation with Ukrainian secret service chief
Leonid Derkach.11 As reported by Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, in
the Melnichenko tapes President Kuchma says, “I’m telling you, drive
him [Gongadze] out, throw him out. Give him to the Chechen’s
[expletive], have him become a hostage, let them pay a ransom for
him.”



To which another voice, believed to be that of Interior Minister
Yuriy Kravchenko, replies, “We will think it through. We will do what
is needed. . . . I was told today that we are preparing a program for
him. We are studying his movements, where he goes. We need to learn
this and then we will act.”

President Kuchma denied that any such surveillance of Gongadze
took place, and maintained that the Melnichenko recordings made in
the president’s office are fakes.12 However, in 2001, a former FBI
forensic expert at Bek-Tek, a private audio lab in Virginia, determined
that the audio recordings regarding the surveillance of Gongadze were
genuine. Later, in 2002, according to Radio Free Europe/Radio
Liberty, the FBI came to the same conclusion when it examined a
different segment of the recordings. 

—
Gongadze’s murder was the first of dozens, many of which remain
unsolved, in which journalists and others who were investigating
Putin’s kleptocratic tribute system were mysteriously killed. According
to the Committee to Protect Journalists, no fewer than seventy
journalists have been murdered in Russia and Ukraine between 1992
and 2018.13 These were the men and women who had been reporting
on how Putin’s system enriched his cronies, various oligarchs of his
choosing, and mobsters.

American journalists were not immune. On the night of July 9,
2004, Paul Klebnikov, the forty-one-year-old editor of Forbes Russia
and the author of Godfather of the Kremlin: The Decline of Russia in
the Age of Gangster Capitalism, left his Moscow office at about ten
p.m. He headed toward the subway when a car drove slowly by with
someone firing nine shots at him. Klebnikov died in the hospital.14

The murder, which is still unsolved, has been described as a
contract killing that, according to the publisher of Forbes Russia, was
“definitely linked” to Klebnikov’s journalism.15 Some observers have
suggested the attack was triggered by a recent Forbes story on the
hundred richest people in Russia. Others suspected Boris Berezovsky
of being behind the murder. Richard Behar, an investigative reporter



with Forbes and a longtime friend and colleague of Klebnikov’s, said
the chief Russian investigator on the case told him, “I have testimony
that [Boris] Berezovsky put a contract out on Klebnikov—from a
person to whom Berezovsky spoke.”16

But the case remained unsettled. Behar told Klebnikov’s family that
if Paul were alive today, “he’d be able to solve his own murder. That
was the irony and tragedy. If he was alive, he’d be breaking more
ground on Trump-Russia than any other individual reporter. I have
absolutely no doubt of that. He was way, way out in front on so many
things.”17

Afterward, in 2005, with Klebnikov’s murder still unsolved, Putin
visited New York and invited Klebnikov’s family to meet with him at
the Waldorf Astoria, where he told them that journalists in Russia
should be able to work without fear of violence. Without missing a
beat, Behar said, Paul’s widow, Musa, asked Putin if he would say that
publicly. There was a long pause. Finally, Putin said he would “take
that under consideration.”18

In 2005, Richard Behar launched Project Klebnikov to develop new
information on the Klebnikov murder and to pursue Paul’s
investigative work. Not long afterward, he met with Anna
Politkovskaya, a Russian journalist and human rights activist best
known for her work with Novaya Gazeta, hoping she could gather
together investigative reporters in Russia who would work hand in
hand with Project Klebnikov.19

In her book Putin’s Russia: Life in a Failing Democracy,
Politkovskaya accused Putin and the FSB of crushing civil liberties in
order to establish a Soviet-style dictatorship. “The KGB respects only
the strong,” she wrote. “The weak it devours. We of all people ought to
know that.”20

“We are hurtling back into a Soviet abyss,” she added, “into an
information vacuum that spells death from our own ignorance. All we
have left is the Internet, where information is still freely available. For
the rest, if you want to go on working as a journalist, it’s total servility
to Putin. Otherwise, it can be death, the bullet, poison, or trial—
whatever our special services, Putin’s guard dogs, see fit.”



—
Journalists were not Putin’s only targets. There were media
censorship, a crackdown on the Internet, harassment of human rights
activists, and more. By 2007, Putin had revived the old Soviet practice
of locking up dissidents in mental hospitals. “We’re returning to this
Soviet scenario when psychiatric institutions are used as punitive
instruments,” Yuri Savenko, president of the Independent Psychiatric
Association of Russia, told the Chicago Tribune.21 “I call this not even
punitive psychiatry but police psychiatry, when the main aim is to
protect the state rather than to treat sick people.”

As Vladimir Gusinsky and Boris Berezovsky found out, even
oligarchs were at risk. In August 2000, after Berezovsky’s TV station,
ORT, criticized Putin’s handling of the Kursk submarine disaster,
which killed more than one hundred sailors, Putin was said to have
told Berezovsky, “The show is over.”22 Berezovsky fled to London,
where he was granted refugee status in 2003 and became part of a
London circle of Russian exiles who hoped to bring down Putin. He
died under mysterious circumstances in 2013.

As for Gusinsky, in 2001 Russian officials raided his Media Most
and NTV and attempted to arrest him, but he escaped by fleeing to
Israel.23 The state broadcaster, RTR (now Russia 1), was already under
Putin’s control. Now he also controlled ORT (now First Channel) and
NTV.24

Putin kept such tight control of the media that television coverage
of him was almost celebratory. “Imagine you have two dozen TV
channels and it is all Fox News,” Vladimir Milov, a former deputy
energy minister under Putin and now a critic, told the New Yorker.25

In February 2003, Mikhail Khodorkovsky, then believed to be the
richest man in Russia, with a fortune of $16 billion, appeared on a
television show in which he argued with Putin about widespread
corruption in the Kremlin. In October, he was arrested and charged
with fraud, tax evasion, and other economic crimes.26 The message
was clear: Even oligarchs had to play by Putin’s rules.



Meanwhile, one of Putin’s fiercest critics was FSB officer Alexander
Litvinenko, who had already confronted Putin with regard to the
Berezovsky assassination plot. In October 2000, Litvinenko and his
family fled Moscow and applied for asylum at the US embassy in
Ankara, Turkey.27 His application was denied, but he was soon
granted asylum in the UK and settled in London, reporting to MI6.28

In 2002, Litvinenko published The Gang from Lubyanka, alleging
that Putin and the FSB had been in league with the Russian Mafia,
specifically the Tambov-Malyshev gang, dating back to when Putin
was deputy mayor of St. Petersburg. The book also charged that Putin
had direct financial ties to gang leader Vladimir Kumarin.29

Litvinenko, with coauthor Yuri Felshtinsky, also published Blowing
Up Russia: The Secret Plot to Bring Back KGB Terror, which brought
renewed interest in the KGB apartment bombings of 1999 and other
fabricated “false flag” cover operations, or, as the Russians called
them, “active measures.” Both books were banned in Russia and in
2003 lawyer Mikhail Trepashkin said he had been told that everyone
associated with Blowing Up Russia would be destroyed.30

In the meantime, Litvinenko became friends with Anna
Politkovskaya, who visited him in London. His friend Alex Goldfarb,
who was also a friend of Anna’s, said the two were “very close” and
that they shared “a natural kinship as converts,” Litvinenko having
been a KGB officer while Politkovskaya was the daughter of a well-
placed Russian diplomat.31

Litvinenko had begun working with MI6 as a consultant on
organized crime. At the same time, he reported his findings on
Mogilevich’s relationship with Putin to Mario Scaramella, an
investigator affiliated with the Mitrokhin Commission, an Italian
panel investigating the links between the Russian secret services and
organized crime.

Litvinenko and his wife, Marina, were only too happy to provide
copious amounts of material, much of it about Semion Mogilevich.
Marina Litvinenko characterized Mogilevich as “one of Russia’s most
notorious [organized crime group] leaders . . . It is said he is
responsible for contract killings and smuggling weapons.”



For his part, Alexander Litvinenko described Mogilevich as “a well-
known criminal terrorist” who was “in a good relationship with
Russian President Putin and most senior officials of the Russian
Federation.” He said that Mogilevich and Putin had “a common cause,
in [Litvinenko’s] understanding a criminal cause,” and that he knew
“beyond doubt that Mogilevich is FSB’s long-standing agent and that
all his actions including the contacts with Al-Qaeda are controlled by
the FSB . . . For this very reason the FSB is hiding Mogilevich from the
FBI.”32

Litvinenko was concerned enough about his testimony that when he
returned to London, on November 23, 2005, he made a short
audiotape, in broken English, about Mogilevich and Putin.
“Mogilevich have good relationship with Putin since 1994 or 1993,” he
says on the tape, which was published ten years later by the Telegraph
of London.33 “Semion Mogilevich has contact with Al Qaeda. Semion
Mogilevich sell weapons, sell weapons to Al Qaeda. Before I gave a lot
of information about Mogilevich to Mario Scaramella.”

Litvinenko was also in touch with Oleg Kalugin, the ex-KGB general
who had been in the US since 1995. Kalugin felt the real reason
Litvinenko was getting under Putin’s skin was because he had come
forward with outrageous accusations about Putin and charged that the
Russian leader was a pedophile.

Kalugin warned Litvinenko to keep his mouth shut. “I told him,
‘Don’t say that! You’ll be in trouble.’ Putin could not tolerate that,”
Kalugin told me.34

Nonetheless, in July 2006, Litvinenko submitted a highly
provocative article to the Chechenpress website in which he referred to
a video on the Internet that showed Putin kissing the stomach of a
young boy, aged four or five. In the video, Putin’s embrace of the
young boy may be nothing more than harmless horsing around, but
Litvinenko wrote, “Nobody can understand why the Russian president
did such a strange thing as kissing the stomach of an unfamiliar small
boy.”35

Then Litvinenko explained the unusual gesture by saying that when
Putin was given a very junior position in the KGB it was because “his



bosses learned that Putin was a pedophile . . . The Institute officials
feared to report this to their own superiors, which would cause an
unpleasant investigation.”

When Putin became FSB director, Litvinenko wrote, he found and
destroyed videos “which showed him making sex with some underage
boys.”36

At the same time, as if he were not courting enough danger,
Litvinenko remained friends with Anna Politkovskaya and
collaborated with her on a project exposing the FSB. Deeply concerned
about the risks she faced investigating corruption, he suggested she
take various precautions for her personal security and urged her to
take advantage of her American citizenship and “go write [her] articles
in America.” But she stayed in Russia.

In New York, Richard Behar had a box on his desk in which he kept
sundry memorabilia, including a business card on which Anna had
written her email address. When they had met in New York, he told
her that Project Klebnikov hoped to find investigative reporters in
Russia who would help solve Paul’s murder. She warned Behar she
could “probably count on one hand the number of Russian
investigative reporters who aren’t corrupt.”37 But she had vowed to
help anyway.

Then, on October 7, 2006, Anna was shot dead in the elevator of
her apartment complex in central Moscow. It happened to be Vladimir
Putin’s birthday.

In London, Marina Litvinenko gave Sasha the news, and later said
“he was just broken down because for him it was absolutely
devastating news.” He also worried that “he could be next.”38

On October 19, Sasha went to a meeting at the Frontline Club in
London, a restaurant/gathering place for journalists, photographers,
and other like-minded people, at which he made a short speech
publicly accusing Putin of being responsible for Anna Politkovskaya’s
murder.39

Even after Anna’s murder, however, Litvinenko didn’t seem to take
the threat to his own well-being too seriously. She had been in Russia,
after all, but he had safely defected to the West. He took enormous



pride in his newly won citizenship and seemed to regard it as an extra
layer of protective covering. “Now they won’t dare to touch me,” he
told a friend.40 “No one would try to kill a British citizen.” And if
something did happen, he wrote in a statement to British officials, at
least he would be a proud British citizen. “Possibly I may die,” he
wrote, “but I will die, as a free person, and my son and my wife are free
people. And Britain is a great country.”41

On November 1, 2006, Litvinenko had lunch with Mario Scaramella
at a Japanese restaurant and Scaramella warned Litvinenko that he
had received intelligence about a Russian plot to kill those involved
with the Mitrokhin Commission. Later that day, after he and
Scaramella finished, Litvinenko had tea at the Pine Bar in the
Millennium Hotel in Mayfair at about four p.m.42 with Andre Lugovoy
and Dmitri Kovtun, two former KGB officers who had gone into
private security.43 According to The Litvinenko Inquiry, an official
report issued by the House of Commons about the death of Alexander
Litvinenko, “the forensic and other evidence strongly indicates that it
was during this meeting that Mr. Litvinenko drank green tea poisoned
with radioactive polonium.”44

According to Norman Dombey, a British physics and astronomy
emeritus professor at the University of Sussex, the radioactive isotope
in Litvinenko’s tea was made at the Avangard facility in Sarov, Russia.
“One of the isotope-producing reactors at the Mayak facility in Ozersk,
Russia, was used for the initial irradiation of bismuth,” said Dombey.45

“In my opinion, the Russian state or its agents were responsible for the
poisoning.”

From his hospital deathbed, Litvinenko told British authorities
investigating his poisoning, “I have no doubt whatsoever that this was
done by the Russian Secret Services. Having knowledge of the system,
I know that the order about such a killing of a citizen of another
country on its own territory, especially if it is something to do with
Great Britain, could only have been given by one person. That person
is the President of the Russian Federation, Vladimir Putin.”46

A more than three-hundred-page report by Sir Robert Owen,
chairman of the Litvinenko Inquiry, concluded that Litvinenko was



given a fatal dose of polonium during his meeting with Lugovoy* 47

and Kovtun, who were identified as prime suspects. Russia has refused
to extradite either of the two men.48

In his report, Sir Robert concluded, “the FSB operation to kill
Litvinenko was probably approved by [then–FSB chief Nikolai] Mr
Patrushev and also by President Putin.”49

In a reference to the pedophilia charges, Sir Robert added, “It
hardly needs saying that the allegations made by Mr. Litvinenko
against President Putin in this article were of the most serious nature.
Could they have had any connection with his death?”50

But the report also noted that Litvinenko’s testimony before the
Mitrokhin Commission and the intelligence he furnished Mario
Scaramella, the Mitrokhin Commission attorney, was “particularly
sensitive” in describing Mogilevich as someone in “a good
relationship” with President Putin, a relationship that included
Mogilevich’s sale of weapons to al-Qaeda and acting as “the FSB’s long
standing agent.”51

In addition, there was the fact that Litvinenko had played a role in
the transcription and publicizing of the so-called Kuchma Tapes (aka
the Melnychenko tapes), including making a statement before the
Mitrokhin Commission that Mogilevich “is in a very close relationship
with Russian president Putin . . . At the present, Putin is Mogilevich’s
krysha [protection in criminal jargon]. This is Putin who protects
Mogilevich.”52

That provocative revelation could also have been a motive for
murder. In the end, many questions remain unanswered, but a few
things are certain. On November 23, 2006, Litvinenko died of
polonium-210 poisoning. Anna Politkovskaya had been dead for two
months. And Putin’s Russia had become a Mafia state in which
compliant loyalists became billionaires and telling the truth could get
you killed.
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CHAPTER SIXTEEN

BLOOD MONEY

ven though Litvinenko was dead, the issues he had been
investigating were more alive than ever. That was especially true
in Ukraine, where Prime Minister Viktor Yanukovych, a Putin

partisan, advanced to the runoff election for president in 2004 amidst
widespread allegations of fraud. Yanukovych’s dubious tactics
triggered the Orange Revolution of 2004 and 2005, and a Ukrainian
Supreme Court ruling that nullified his victory.

From the Kremlin’s point of view, Yanukovych’s reversal created a
serious problem. He had been a highly reliable pawn for Putin. The
Firtash-Mogilevich money pipeline that siphoned off billions from
Ukraine’s energy trade was a paradigm of how Putin was able to
transform control over Russia’s natural resources into political power.
And to keep this arrangement in place, Putin needed a reliable
surrogate in charge in Ukraine.

It began with Gazprom, Russia’s largely state-owned energy giant,
selling enormous amounts of natural gas to RosUkrEnergo (RUE),
Mogilevich’s and Firtash’s intermediary, at bargain-basement prices,
thereby putting RUE in a position to resell it to European nations at a
huge markup. Firtash became a billionaire. Putin allegedly took a
sizeable share as well. The oligarchs in turn then funded Yanukovych’s
pro-Russian Party of Regions to keep Ukraine securely in Putin’s camp
and to make sure these highly profitable deals remained in place. In a
diplomatic cable, then–US ambassador to Ukraine John Herbst
referred to the Party of Regions as “a haven for Donetsk-based
mobsters and oligarchs.”1



All of which was ideal, except for one thing: Yanukovych was a
lousy candidate, and if he was to remain the leader of the Party of
Regions, he desperately needed a makeover to wipe out the image he
had as a thuggish Kremlin stooge.2

His résumé was not much help. In his youth, Yanukovych had been
twice convicted of assault.3 In 2004, his rival Viktor Yushchenko
barely survived an assassination attempt by dioxin poisoning during
the campaign,4 and blamed the poisoning on unnamed “government
officials” who feared he would beat Yanukovych.5

Even if Yanukovych’s camp had nothing to do with the dioxin, there
were widespread allegations of massive vote rigging, which were
echoed by Secretary of State Colin Powell, who cited “credible reports
of fraud and abuse.”6 In the end, there was enough evidence that the
supreme court of Ukraine annulled the election after Yanukovych was
initially declared the winner. In the revote, Yushchenko won.7

When it came to oligarchs such as Dmitry Firtash and aluminum
tycoon Oleg Deripaska, Yanukovych had known how to be wonderfully
compliant, but now that wasn’t enough. With a fortune of $12 billion,
he had become a symbol of unbridled greed that was embodied by
Mezhyhirya, his insanely extravagant estate, which was known as
Ukraine’s Versailles, with its private zoo with kangaroos and a herd of
ostrich, a yacht club, a galleon in its pond, marble floors, $100,000
chandeliers, a collection of seventy rare cars, a helicopter pad, and
more.8 So Yanukovych was damaged goods. The Party of Regions
needed a new face—or a dramatic makeover.

Enter Paul Manafort, formerly of the GOP consulting firm Black,
Manafort, Stone, and Kelly and now with his new firm, Davis,
Manafort and Freedman.9 Brilliantly skewered in a memorable 1992
Spy magazine piece by Art Levine,10 Paul Manafort and Roger Stone’s
firm, in all its various incarnations over the years, came to occupy a
hallowed place in the dark, amoral domain of Washington lobbying.
“Name a corrupt despot, and Black, Manafort will name the account:
Ferdinand Marcos, $900,000 a year; the now deposed Somalian
dictatorship, $450,000; the drug-linked Bahamian government,
$800,000,” Spy reported, before going on to rate various firms in



terms of how dodgy their clients were. Black, Manafort, Stone, and
Kelly won out as the sleaziest of them all.11

Boyhood friends who learned their craft at the feet of Richard
Nixon and Roy Cohn,12 Manafort and Stone had put together the
hottest lobbying shop in Washington. Their firm had played a vital role
in the 1980 election of Ronald Reagan. Their first client after Reagan’s
election had been Donald Trump, who retained them to help with
federal issues such as getting permits to dredge the channel to the
Atlantic City marina to make room for Trump’s yacht, the Trump
Princess.13

Of the two men, Stone was the showboat, buff from the gym,
sporting bleached blond hair, the proud owner of five Jaguars, a
hundred silver wedding ties, and countless designer suits, and the
subject of fashion stories in Penthouse and GQ, such a dandy that he
even coined aphorisms—Stone’s Rules—about cuff links: “Large hub-
cap types are for mafia dons from Jersey and Las Vegas lounge
singers. Cufflinks should be small, understated, and tasteful.”14

A self-proclaimed libertine, Stone displayed a photo in his Miami
office of himself clad only in a banana hammock, standing poolside
next to porn star Nina Hartley. If the photo had shown him from
behind, you’d have seen the face of Richard Nixon tattooed on his
back. All of which made him catnip to reporters, who couldn’t resist
the bravado of a spinmeister who walked down the aisle of press buses
and called out, “I’m here. Who needs to be spun?”15

Next to Stone, Manafort was relatively understated, although over
time, he cultivated a more lavish globetrotting lifestyle in keeping with
the oligarchs he worked for. Putting on his long overcoat with a grand
sweeping gesture, he cut such a swashbuckling figure that friends
reportedly dubbed him “the Count of Monte Cristo.”16

But in general, he played his cards close to his vest, befitting a
protégé of George H. W. Bush’s consigliere, James Baker.17 Baker was
all smoothness and charm, the Velvet Hammer, always proper, but a
man no one wanted to cross. “From Baker, [Manafort] learned the art
of ostentatious humility,” writes Franklin Foer in the Atlantic,18 “how
to use the knife to butter up and then stab in the back.”



Together, Manafort and Stone rewrote the rule book on lobbying,
bundling political consulting, public relations, and other services into
an operation that Time magazine called “the ultimate supermarket of
influence peddling.”19

Before long, they went global, and took an almost perverse and
giddy pride in representing the most brutal tyrants on the planet—
including Iraq’s Saddam Hussein, Nicolae Ceauşescu of Romania,
Zairean dictator Mobutu Sese Seko, and regimes that enslaved
children and murdered priests. “Black, Manafort, Stone, and Kelly
lined up most of the dictators of the world we could find,” Stone
crowed.20 The firm’s propensity to represent dictators—rulers from
the Dominican Republic, Nigeria, Kenya, Equatorial Guinea, and
Somalia were also clients—was such that the Center for Public
Integrity included them in a report titled “the Torturers’ Lobby.”21

—
So on some level, working for Yanukovych in Ukraine was more of the
same for Manafort. On the other hand, Ukraine was a real geopolitical
tinderbox. At a time when the EU and NATO were inching ever closer
to Russia’s borders, Putin was determined that Ukraine not fall into
the West’s sphere of influence.

Manafort’s work in Ukraine began in late 2004 when he was hired
as general consultant to the Party of Regions to transform
Yanukovych’s image from that of the archvillain of the Orange
Revolution and a pawn of Putin, to that of a pro-West reformer who
was one of Ukraine’s most popular politicians.22

And so, Manafort operatives moved into a small office for six to
eight people on the first floor of 4 Sofievskaya Street in Kiev.23

Ukrayinska Pravda described the office as mysterious and noted that
the windows were curtained all day long. When journalists approached
they were politely told to leave and not come back.24

Over the next decade, Manafort made at least 138 trips to Ukraine25

in a spectacularly lucrative relationship that also took him into the
shadowy world of flight capital, offshore shell companies, banks in
Cyprus, and Russian agents.



Far more than a mere political consultant, Manafort had the kind of
power in Ukraine that American intelligence operatives and oil
executives had brandished back in the Cold War era, when covert
operations staged coups in Guatemala or Iran. Manafort, however, had
found a way to undertake his operations without being in any way
attached to the United States government—indeed, often working
against America’s stated policies, all while making tens of millions of
dollars,26 much of which, according to an indictment that was later
filed, went into foreign tax havens and then into real estate, antique
rugs, expensive cars, and other instruments used to avoid taxes.27 His
deputy Rick Gates, who played a key role in Manafort’s Ukraine
operation, explained to a group of Washington lobbyists, “Paul has a
whole separate shadow government structure . . . In every ministry, he
has a guy.”28

At the time, Russian intelligence agents had penetrated the highest
levels of power in various institutions throughout Ukraine,29 and
Manafort’s operation was no exception. His most trusted protégé,
Konstantin Kilimnik, who was affectionately known as KK, was a case
in point. Also called “Manafort’s Manafort,”30 because he was his
boss’s right hand, Kilimnik, though just over five feet tall next to the
six-foot-plus Manafort, aped his employer in many ways, the Atlantic
reported, driving the same BMW and wearing similar designer suits.31

But what was most interesting about Kilimnik was that the man Paul
Manafort so heavily relied on in Ukraine was a foot soldier for Russian
intelligence.

Kilimnik told the New York Times he had no ties to Russian
intelligence, but in fact he had studied at the Military Institute of the
Ministry of Defense in Moscow, which trains interpreters for the
Russian military intelligence agency, formerly known as the GRU and
now called the Main Directorate.32 Moreover, according to Phil
Griffin, a longtime political consultant with Manafort who hired
Kilimnik in the early 2000s to work at the International Republican
Institute in Moscow, “he was completely upfront about his past work
with Russian military intelligence. It was no big deal.”33



Given the language barrier, Kilimnik became crucial. “Because Paul
doesn’t speak Russian or Ukrainian, he always had to have someone
like that with him in meetings,” said one operative who worked with
Manafort.34 “So KK was with him all the time. He was very close to
Paul and very trusted.”

Assisting Manafort covered a lot of ground. Manafort and his team
launched a potent disinformation campaign to discredit Yanukovych’s
rivals using covert operations that could have been pulled straight out
of the KGB playbook. According to the Guardian, Manafort worked
with former Wall Street Journal and Financial Times reporter Alan
Friedman to propose an ambitious strategy to discredit rival Yulia
Tymoshenko all over the world.35

They set about smearing Ukrainian opponents of Yanukovych by
rewriting their Wikipedia entries. They set up a phony think tank in
Vienna called the Center for the Study of Former Soviet Socialist
Republics, which proceeded to disseminate articles supporting
Yanukovych. When then–secretary of state Hillary Clinton publicly
supported Yulia Tymoshenko, Manafort’s team allied with Breitbart,
the right-wing news site, to attack Hillary for creating “a neo-Nazi
Frankenstein.”36

Thanks to his work with Yanukovych, Manafort was soon fully
conversant with a network of oligarchs including aluminum billionaire
Oleg Deripaska, coal and steel tycoon Rinat Akhmetov, and natural gas
magnate Dmitry Firtash. “Manafort was introduced by Yanukovych’s
people to Firtash, Deripaska, and others and it opened up a whole new
world for him,” said Kenneth McCallion.37

Now the money began to roll in. In late 2004, Deripaska dispatched
Manafort to the eastern Ukraine city of Donetsk, the Wall Street
Journal reported, where he met Rinat Akhmetov. A billionaire
financier behind the Party of Regions, Akhmetov agreed to pay
Manafort’s firm roughly $12 million to provide corporate strategy and
branding assistance for his holding company, System Capital
Management.38

Less than a year later, in 2005, according to the Associated Press,
Manafort began a secret deal with Deripaska whereby Manafort’s firm



was paid $10 million39 per year to influence politics, business
dealings, and media coverage inside the US, Europe, and the former
Soviet republics in a way that would benefit Vladimir Putin’s
government.

Deripaska was “among the 2–3 oligarchs Putin turns to on a regular
basis,” according to a diplomatic cable published by WikiLeaks, so
Manafort clearly knew whose interests were being served.40 “We are
now of the belief that this model can greatly benefit the Putin
Government,” Manafort wrote in the proposal.41 He added that his
firm would “be offering a great service that can re-focus, both
internally and externally, the policies of the Putin government.”

Lobbyists serving the interests of foreign governments are required
to register with the Justice Department under the Foreign Agents
Registration Act.42 However, Manafort did not bother to register until
June 2017.43

In summer 2005, Manafort went to Moscow before Ukraine’s
parliamentary elections and met with Yanukovych, Akhmetov, and
other influential Ukrainians tied to the Party of Regions. At times,
Yanukovych made noises about cooperating with the US.

But Ambassador John Herbst told the Daily Beast that such
sentiments stopped as soon as they infringed “upon [Yanukovych’s]
core interests in Ukraine, which were related—among other things—to
ensuring his friends got their share of the national pie, and things that
might have ticked off the Kremlin.”44

Articulating pro-West sentiments was terrifically popular with
voters, especially in the western half of the country, during electoral
campaigns. But Yanukovych’s heart—and wallet—were in Moscow.
“He was out for the good of himself, his group, and also his country,
starting with himself and his group,” said Herbst. “And for that,
having a good relationship with the U.S. was a counter to being overly
dependent on the Kremlin.”

As for Manafort, Herbst noted that the Party of Regions, “long a
haven for Donetsk-based mobsters and oligarchs,” had taken on
Manafort for an “extreme makeover” to “transform its image into that
of a democratic political force.”45



—
Meanwhile, Manafort began to live an outrageously extravagant
lifestyle commensurate with his huge income. He bought a
brownstone in New York and a home in Arlington, Virginia. He got
three Range Rovers and a Mercedes-Benz, and paid for expensive
improvements at his homes in the Hamptons and Palm Beach,
Florida.46 But he brought in so much money from Ukraine that in
order to hide it from US authorities, he allegedly laundered it through
scores of United States and foreign corporations, partnerships, and
bank accounts, and allegedly filed false income tax returns, failed to
file foreign bank reports, and engaged in bank fraud conspiracy.* 47

In all, Manafort is said to have deposited $75 million in offshore
accounts.48 He also allegedly laundered more than $30 million in
income by purchasing property, goods, and services such as valuable
antique rugs, automobiles, real estate, landscaping, and home
improvements for his house in the Hamptons and hiding the income
from the US Treasury.49 Richard Gates is said to have transferred
more than $3 million from the offshore accounts to other accounts he
controlled.

Among the offshore companies Manafort used to wire millions of
dollars to the United States was a shell company called Lucicle
Consultants Limited. It was held in the name of Ukrainian
businessman and legislator Ivan Fursin, who was “a senior figure in
the Mogilevich criminal organization,” Taras Kuzio, a fellow at the
Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies’ Center for
Transatlantic Relations, told the Daily Beast.50 Among many other
transactions with Lucicle, Manafort allegedly transferred more than
$1.3 million to a home improvement company in the Hamptons.51

In the meantime, for candidate Yanukovych, the makeover had
begun. Manafort and Yanukovych became friends. They played tennis
together at Mezhyhirya. Manafort had the good sense to let
Yanukovych win.52 As reported by the Atlantic, they swam nude
together outside the banya (sauna). Manafort was given to wearing
fine Italian suits. He got Yanukovych to do the same. Manafort



combed his hair back. Ditto for Yanukovych. Manafort taught him how
to make small talk53 and how to wave to a crowd. “Manafort taught
Yanukovych how to speak, how to become a Western type of
candidate, a media star,” said Ken McCallion.54

Manafort introduced polling techniques, microtargeting, and voter
turnout practices that were standard operating procedure in the US.55

He even taught Yanukovych to steal lines from American politicians. “I
understand your dreams,” Yanukovych told supporters at a rally,
before he borrowed an oldie but goodie from Bill Clinton’s
repertoire.56 “I feel your pain, and I share in your desire to make
Ukraine a land of opportunity.”

In 2006, Yanukovych’s Party of Regions did far better than anyone
expected in the parliamentary elections, resulting in Yanukovych’s
becoming prime minister. That put Manafort in a position to ask for—
and get—more and more money. Every time he submitted extravagant
bills, Yanukovych simply asked other oligarchs to chip in a million or
so.57 There was no end in sight.

One major source of the funds was Dmitry Firtash, whose billions,
Reuters reported, grew out of “remarkable sweetheart deals brokered
by associates of Russian leader Vladimir Putin, at immense cost to
Russian taxpayers.”58 His money, of course, came from the billions of
dollars skimmed off the top of the energy trade—principally Turkmen
and Russian natural gas—in Ukraine by RosUkrEnergo at bargain-
basement prices and resold at much higher Western market prices.

In March 2008, US ambassador to Russia William Burns tried to
get to the bottom of what RUE really was by meeting with a
representative of the company, who, he cabled, “seemed like a man
who had received instructions to reveal nothing and who was very
comfortable in that role. Our meeting with him helped confirm that
RUE has little interest in revealing its inner workings.”59

On paper, RUE was half owned by Gazprom and half by Firtash and
Ivan Fursin. But as Yulia Tymoshenko, the braided leader of the pro-
West Orange Revolution who became prime minister of Ukraine in
2005, alleged, they were just fronts for a powerful and familiar name
in organized crime. “When I was the Prime Minister,” she said, “we



provided the President of Ukraine with documented proof that some
powerful criminal structures are behind the RosUkrEnergo company. I
can only say as a politician: we have no doubts whatsoever that the
man named Mogilevich is behind the whole operation called
RosUkrEnergo.”60

Nevertheless, RUE continued to rake in the dough. Between 2010
and 2014 alone, according to Russian customs documents detailing
the trade, Gazprom sold more than twenty billion cubic meters of gas
at prices so low that Firtash and—possibly—Mogilevich made more
than $3 billion.61 In addition, bankers close to Putin gave Firtash up to
$11 billion in credit, which positioned Firtash to become a dominant
player in Ukraine’s chemical and fertilizer industry and a major backer
of pro-Putin political factions in Ukraine, and to fund Manafort. Just
as Putin had used the state assets of the Russian people to enrich
political allies, now he was doing the same with Firtash and
Mogilevich in Ukraine, which was so vital to Putin’s strategic interests.

The high stakes became more than apparent in December 2007,
when Ukraine’s leadership changed hands and Yulia Tymoshenko, the
opposition leader, became prime minister. Suddenly, the billions of
dollars being siphoned off from the Ukraine energy trade through the
Mogilevich-Firtash money pipeline were at risk. And in January 2009,
Prime Minister Tymoshenko finally engineered a deal that eliminated
RUE as an intermediary in gas transactions.62 RUE claimed that this
amounted to a confiscation of its property.

Yanukovych too had a change in fortune on the horizon. As of 2010,
Manafort had been successful in reinventing him as a pragmatic
businessman and a “new-born democrat.”63 By 2013, however, that
façade had been stripped away when massive nationwide protests
erupted, sparked by President Yanukovych’s sudden decision to
suspend the promised signing of a trade agreement with the European
Union and instead be closer to Russia.64 He was doing everything
Putin wanted, which sparked massive protests in Maidan
(Independence) Square, the central square in Kiev. In the Orange
Revolution of 2004, Yanukovych had been forced to give up the
presidency in response to protests. Once again, he was the target as



violence escalated during months of protests centered around Maidan
Square. In the end, nearly one hundred activists and seventeen police
officers were killed.

Finally, on February 21, 2014, President Yanukovych signed the
Agreement on Settlement of the Political Crisis in Ukraine. The next
day, Yanukovych tried to flee by charter plane but was stopped by
border guards.65 He finally escaped to Russia on February 23. Within
twenty-four hours, he had been put on Ukraine’s most wanted list and
had become the target of a criminal case regarding the mass killings of
civilians who were demonstrating.66 Wanted by Ukraine for high
treason, Yanukovych went into exile in Russia.

And what of the puppet master? What role, if any, did Paul
Manafort have in all this? It was not clear exactly who was behind
Yanukovych’s decision to crush the protesters with force, but human
rights lawyer Eugenia Zakrevskaya called on Manafort to clarify
allegations that he may have played a role in the events that occurred
in Kiev between February 18 and 20, 2014.

No conclusive evidence has surfaced regarding Manafort’s role in
the Maidan violence, but the allegations clearly struck close to home,
according to text messages hacked from the phone of Manafort’s
daughter Andrea. In March 2015 Andrea texted her sister, Jessica,
saying their father had “no moral or legal compass.”

“You know he has killed people in Ukraine?” she wrote.
“Knowingly. As a tactic to outrage the world and get focus on Ukraine.
Remember when there were all those deaths taking place. A while
back. About a year ago. Revolts and what not. Do you know whose
strategy that was to cause that, to send those people out and get them
slaughtered.67

“Don’t fool yourself,” Andrea texted. “That money we have is blood
money.”



A

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

WAR BY OTHER MEANS

s the Ukraine crisis was building to a boil, a short story called
“Without Sky” was published in a literary magazine called
Russian Pioneer. Set in the future, after the “fifth world war,”1

“Without Sky” was written by Natan Dubovitsky, whose literary
endeavors would have been considerably less noteworthy were it not
for the fact that his real name was Vladislav Surkov and from 2011 to
2013, as deputy prime minister to Vladimir Putin, he served as the
Kremlin’s chief ideologue and “gray cardinal.”

As Soviet-born British author Peter Pomerantsev put it, Surkov,
“‘the puppet master who privatised the Russian political system’ . . . is
the real genius of the Putin era,”2 a man who is essential to
understanding how Putin created a new strain of authoritarianism that
was far more subtle and more understated than the epic spectacles
from the previous century.

On some level, it was not surprising that Surkov wrote a war story,
given that life in Russia under Putin essentially means living a
narrative of unending war, which is broadcast on Russian TV
incessantly on programs about enemies of the state, Chechen
terrorists, fascists taking over Ukraine, and the like, mixed with a dark
romantic nostalgia for Russia’s lost imperial past.3

Still, Surkov’s war was fundamentally different from past wars:

This was the first non-linear war. In the primitive wars of
the nineteenth, twentieth, and other middle centuries, the
fight was usually between two sides: two nations or two



temporary alliances. But now, four coalitions collided, and it
wasn’t two against two, or three against one. It was all
against all.

And what coalitions they were! Not like the earlier ones.
It was a rare state that entered the coalition intact. What
happened was some provinces took one side, some took the
other, and some individual city, or generation, or sex, or
professional society of the same state—took a third side. And
then they could switch places, cross into any camp you like,
sometimes during battle.

The goals of those in conflict were quite varied. Each had
his own, so to speak: the seizing of disputed pieces of
territory; the forced establishment of a new religion; higher
ratings or rates; the testing of new military rays and airships;
the final ban on separating people into male and female,
since sexual differentiation undermines the unity of the
nation; and so forth.4

Perhaps what was most striking about Surkov was that he had
made the stupendously unlikely journey from Moscow’s dark,
bohemian avant-garde art world to the highest reaches of the Kremlin.
Think of an avid Lou Reed fan, an Andy Warhol devotee, or a
performance art aesthete doing the job of Paul Manafort, Steve
Bannon, or a master “political technician” who takes on a portfolio at
the Kremlin that “include[s] ideology, media, political parties, religion,
modernization, innovation, foreign relations, and modern art.”5

A gangsta rap fan who has a Tupac Shakur photo on his desk,
Surkov had run the gamut in his career from metallurgy to directing
theater. All the while, he immersed himself in the netherworld of the
Moscow art scene, where performance artist Oleg Kulik imitated rabid
dogs “to show the brokenness of post-Soviet man” and camp drag
artist Vladik Mamyshev-Monroe played out a post-Soviet Andy
Warhol/RuPaul routine impersonating the likes of Marilyn Monroe,
Adolf Hitler, and Rasputin.6



Then, in the nineties, Surkov reinvented himself and became a PR
man for the dashing oil and banking billionaire Mikhail
Khodorkovsky.7 His first ad campaign for Khodorkovsky showed the
oligarch holding bundles of cash and sent the message, “I’ve made it;
so can you!” According to Peter Pomerantsev in the Atlantic, to the
post-Soviet world, “the shape-shifting power” of PR and advertising,
the magical ability to create new realities and to alter the way reality is
perceived, was completely new. Surkov had discovered a new niche
and had become a superstar.

By 1999, Surkov had joined the Kremlin as “political technologist,”
playing a role for Vladimir Putin that was akin to Karl Rove’s position
with George W. Bush, or the role Steve Bannon later played, albeit
briefly, with Donald Trump. “I am the author, or one of the authors, of
the new Russian system,” Surkov asserted.8

As a political operative, Surkov’s innovation was to merge theatrical
techniques from the world of performance art with an unparalleled
mastery of the dark arts of marketing and PR and apply the result in
service to Putin’s highly centralized, top-down bureaucracy.

Among other things, Surkov created Putin’s image, much as he had
done with Khodorkovsky, and when Putin arrested and jailed
Khodorkovsky for fraud, the ever adaptable Surkov devised a
campaign for that too, showing the formerly glamorous oligarch
behind bars. Essentially, he helped turn Russia into one great reality
TV show that could be reshaped on command to serve Putin’s needs.9

To accomplish this, Surkov regularly met with the top brass of
Russian TV to tell them who was to be banned from appearing on TV
and who to attack or defend. He created fake far-right political parties
such as the Nashi, the Russian counterpart of the Hitler Youth, that
plagiarized Joseph Goebbels, the pitiless Nazi propagandist.10 He took
one rival candidate who was something of a democratic socialist and
painted him, rather convincingly, as a Stalinist. He had Russian TV
produce terrifying but phony TV stories about the imminent
extermination and persecution of various groups. In other words,
Surkov created a false reality consisting of fake news and alternative
facts.



Of course, propaganda was nothing new. After all, even in the most
liberal democracies, it is a truism that politicians lie. Public servants of
all stripes—even the most benign—use “spin doctors” to advance their
agendas. But it is also true that even the most egregious politicians
usually lie in a way that advances a coherent and cohesive narrative to
support their policies and agendas.

The character of Surkov’s lies, however, was very different. As
British documentary filmmaker Adam Curtis observed, “Surkov
turned Russian politics into a bewildering, constantly changing piece
of theater. He sponsored all kinds of groups, from neo-Nazi skinheads
to liberal human rights groups. He even backed parties that were
opposed to President Putin.”11

Having done all that, Surkov proceeded to do something that no
American political operative would ever do: Rather than fight for
control of the narrative with his and Putin’s adversaries, Surkov set
out to destroy the very idea of reality. And by undermining the whole
notion of truth, of what actually happened, Surkov was able to create a
never-ending conflict about perception that helped the Putin regime’s
ability to control and manage Russia. The result was that the
opposition was completely befuddled because the ceaseless flood of
contradictory stories meant that no one knew what the enemy was up
to or even who they really were, or what was really going on.
Meanwhile, supporters who listened to lie after lie were allowed to
choose whichever fiction they preferred to believe—and to dismiss the
rest as fake news.

—
Surkov’s information warfare tactics were enormously successful at
home, where Russians were desperate for stability and a tough guy to
stand up to the West.12 And so the state-controlled media portrayed
Putin as the head of a great civilization that would reclaim its former
glory, liberate lands in the former Soviet Union, and not give in to the
“gay-dominated and degraded” West.13

But Surkov’s tactics were also exportable and as such became part
of an arsenal Putin used in his quest to restore Russia’s imperial glory.



To understand Putin’s overriding strategy, one has to look at Valery
Gerasimov, the chief of the General Staff of the Armed Forces of
Russia, who published a controversial two-thousand-word paper14 in
February 2013 that became known as the Gerasimov Doctrine* and
concluded that costly armed invasions often fail to advance strategic
goals—as Russia found out in Afghanistan in the eighties, and as the
US has discovered in Vietnam, Afghanistan, and Iraq. “In the 21st
century we have seen a tendency toward blurring the lines between the
states of war and peace,” Gerasimov wrote. “Wars are no longer
declared and, having begun, proceed according to an unfamiliar
template . . . The very ‘rules of war’ have changed. The role of
nonmilitary means of achieving political and strategic goals has grown,
and, in many cases, they have exceeded the power of force of weapons
in their effectiveness.”15

Gerasimov went on to assert that in today’s undeclared war, the
same objectives are often pursued by nonmilitary means.16 As a result,
he argued, it made sense to put conventional warfare on the same
spectrum as “hybrid warfare” and “active measures” and the like. And
so, after the Euromaidan protests in Ukraine, Putin launched a
massive global offensive, intending to weaken not just the United
States but Britain, NATO, the European Union, and, indeed, the entire
Western Alliance, to roll back the gains they had made since the Cold
War.

To that end, Russia began to pour money into pro-Russian parties
in the former Soviet states of Georgia, Estonia, and Lithuania, all of
which later came into power.17 It began to do the same with right-wing
candidates in the US and Western Europe who shared Putin’s goal of
dismantling the Western Alliance. There were spies, hackers, and
informational warriors, sophisticated assaults on Facebook and other
social media. The Mafia was just one weapon in Russia’s arsenal.
There were many, many more.

Meanwhile, the Mafia went about ensnaring the powers that be
with good old-fashioned kompromat that targeted their baser instincts
(sex, money) and turned these would-be masters of the universe into



puppets serving Russia’s interests. These were the kinds of operations
that were years—sometimes decades—in the making.

One of the more successful efforts of that kind between Mogilevich
and the Kremlin dated back to 1994, when Mogilevich allegedly
arranged for a one-million-deutschmark payoff to Viktor Orbán, then
a rising young star in Hungarian politics. Throughout his early days in
politics, and even in his first term as prime minister starting in 1998,
Orbán had been free with his criticism of the Kremlin, denouncing
other European governments as “Moscow’s puppets” and censuring
support of pro-Russian projects as treasonous. But in 2009, Orbán
abruptly reversed field and stopped criticizing Russia. When he
became prime minister again in 2010, he immediately became a key
Putin apologist.

And what was behind Orbán’s dramatic turnabout? In 2008,
Mogilevich had been jailed on tax evasion charges, and Dietmar Clodo,
the Mogilevich associate who claimed to have paid off Orbán,18

believes that Mogilevich handed over kompromat videos to the FSB in
exchange for the Kremlin’s agreement to overlook the tax issues.19 In
other words, thanks to Mogilevich, Putin had Orbán exactly where he
wanted him.

“Whatever happened to Orbán in such a short period of time?”
asked The Insider in a story whose headline may have provided the
answer: “A Suitcase Full of Cash from the Solntsevo Mafia: Does Putin
Have a Video Kompromat on the Hungarian Leader?”20

The biggest advantage to this new type of warfare was that it is hard
to rouse opposition to an enemy no one can see. Indeed, the most
striking facet of this new phenomenon may have been that a massive
new global struggle had begun and barely anyone seemed to notice.
Vladimir Putin had begun assaulting the sovereignty of various
nations—a Virtual War, if you like—and almost no one was reporting
on it in newspapers, on TV, on the radio, or on the Internet. The big
unanswered question was what would happen when he took on the
United States of America.

—



In early February 2013, about thirty or thirty-five guests gathered in a
ballroom at the Hotel Ukraine in Moscow, aka the Radisson Royal, an
immense thirty-four-story neoclassical skyscraper in the Stalinist style
overlooking the Moskva River. Semion Mogilevich had taken over an
entire floor of the hotel21 to celebrate the fifty-fifth birthday of the
legendary Sergei Mikhailov, aka Mikhas, presumed longtime leader of
the Solntsevo crime gang. The entire restaurant had been reserved for
the occasion.

Mogilevich and Mikhailov had been enjoying such revelries for
three decades, through good times and bad. They first hung out at the
Legendary Hotel Sovietsky in the mideighties with Viktor Averin,
Alimzhan Tokhtakhounov,22 and Vyacheslav Ivankov.23 In 1995, there
had been the horrendous assassination attempt on Mogilevich in
Prague. The next year came the Mafia summit convened by Birshtein
in Tel Aviv.

A lot had changed over the years. In 2009, Vyacheslav Ivankov had
been gunned down by a sniper in Moscow, his murder presumably the
fallout from a gang war with a Georgian crime boss, prompting a
legendary funeral. A New York Times account of the funeral described
Yaponchik as “royalty” among “these heavily tattooed crime barons,”
“the last of a mafia-like criminal class known as the Vory v Zakone, or
Thieves-in-Law.”24

But in general they had succeeded beyond their wildest dreams.
The amount of money they had made was staggering. Mogilevich was
said to be worth more than $10 billion.25 After three decades running
Solntsevo, Mikhailov had acquired a patina of respectability as a
highly charitable businessman who had to fight accusations of
criminal behavior by making one contribution after another to the
Russian Orthodox Church, hospitals, orphanages, and the like.26 And
they were plugged in to the highest levels of the Kremlin as well as
many of the former Soviet states.

And now they were gathered together for an intimate evening. The
following account of that evening is based on a report27 by Russian
journalist Anastasia Kirilenko in The Insider and other sources
including one who has had direct contact with the Russian underworld



over many years, and who said the guests that evening “would not
have been invited if they had not been well-known [to Mogilevich].
This was family. There were no strangers.”28

In that context, the presence of two unnamed Americans was
particularly striking, the source said, because they presented
themselves as associates of Donald Trump, who was trying to build
Trump Towers in Moscow and possibly Kazakhstan,29 potentially with
Mikhailov’s Solntsevo gang as a partner.

Mikhailov and Viktor Averin didn’t speak English, the source said,
but they made sure that a third party monitored the Americans to find
out whether they were full of hot air or whether there was something
behind them. In other words, the leaders of the Solntsevo crime gang,
one of the largest and most powerful gangs in the world, appear to
have been doing due diligence to see if Trump’s operation was up to
snuff. As they listened attentively, the source said, they heard the
Americans talking about a meeting they had had with Trump’s
daughter Ivanka. Then they discussed the possibility of making a
return trip to Moscow “and getting together with Vova.”30

“Vova” was said to be a reference to Vladimir Putin.
The Americans, the source said, were not introduced to everyone by

name. One of them, however, was described as being five foot eight or
nine, heavyset, with curly hair and a receding hairline, “definitely not
slim, and having a California smile.”

Later, the source thought that he was likely Felix Sater, “because
[he] saw his pictures.”

According to The Insider, Dietmar Clodo, the man who claimed to
have paid off Hungarian Prime Minister Viktor Orbán when he was a
young politician, maintained Sater had a long relationship with
Mogilevich dating back to the nineties and served as an important
contact for Mogilevich in the United States. “Felix Sater from Bayrock
counted Seva [Semyon] Mogilevich, Mikhas, and Yaponchik among his
friends,” Clodo said.31 “Sater served as shammes to Seva when he
resided in the US.” (“Shammes” is a Yiddish word for caretaker of a
synagogue and colloquially is sometimes used to mean “errand boy.”)



If true, that means that Sater really did have a triple life. If true, it
means that he was not just a pump-and-dump con man/convicted
felon who had reinvented himself as a government cooperator, but
that even as he was working for the FBI and other agencies, Sater was
possibly working for Mogilevich in the background.

But Sater said that such allegations were completely false. “I wasn’t
[in Moscow] in 2013, and my passport doesn’t have a Russian visa for
that year,” Sater told me.32 “I testified before the House Intelligence
Committee, the Senate Intelligence Committee, and the Senate
Judiciary Committee that the only relationship I had with Mogilevich
was helping the FBI figure out the scam in the YBM Magnex deal. The
whole thing between Mogilevich and me is a lie, a fallacy, a falsehood.”

The source had more. He claimed Mogilevich had a relationship
with Donald Trump that dated back many years as well. “It didn’t
sound to me that this was the first business they did,” he told me. “I
know that Seva met Trump when he was in America.”

He added that their US meeting took place back during the days of
YBM Magnex. The relationship between the two men, the source said,
had nothing to do with politics. “I don’t think that anybody really
believed that an idiot like Trump could even become mayor of a Texan
village. A big businessman, let’s get something on him.”

And exactly how sure was he that Trump and Mogilevich had met?
“One hundred percent,” he said.33

President Trump, of course, has denied any relationships with
Russia, which presumably includes Mogilevich. There is no way to
verify what relationship Trump and Mogilevich may have had—if any.

In the past, at gatherings like this one, Iosif Kobzon—aka the
Russian Sinatra—had often provided the entertainment. The favored
crooner of Russian TV and variety shows, Kobzon, with his all-too-
noticeable hairpiece, was a favorite of Putin’s, renowned for his alleged
Mafia ties,34 and straight out of central casting as a Russian version of
Johnny Fontane in The Godfather. But now it was time to pass the
torch to a younger generation. This time, according to The Insider, the
entertainer was Emin Agalarov, an Azerbaijani-Russian singer-
businessman. The son of Azerbaijani real estate billionaire Aras



Agalarov, Emin could not be reached for comment and his attendance
could not be verified.

Emin had been educated in the US, graduating from Tenafly High
School in New Jersey and Marymount Manhattan College in New York
before going on to work with the Crocus Group, a large real estate
development company his father started, where he was in charge of
restaurants, entertainment complexes, and a resort on the Caspian
Sea.35

In Russia, the Agalarovs already had plenty of clout. The elder
Agalarov had started out modestly enough in the late eighties, with a
company called Saffron that exported Russian souvenirs—matryoshka
Russian nesting dolls and the like—and computer equipment. In 1990,
Agalarov started COMTEK Expositions Inc., a Soviet-American joint
venture,36 with, among others, Boris Kogan. A resident of Trump
Tower who became a notorious arms dealer,37 Kogan, who died in
2017, was the cofounder of a company, the Kaalbye Group, that has
been accused of sending arms to President Bashar al-Assad’s regime in
Syria. Kaalbye has denied the charges.38

By the time privatization began in the early nineties, Aras was so
well connected that he was able to get in on the ground floor of
lucrative stock listings, including that of SurgutNefteGaz,39 the gas
and oil giant largely owned by Putin.40 That privilege was granted only
to a select few.

In an interview with the Russian daily Moskovsky Komsomolets,
Agalarov denied having any significant ties to the underworld. “In the
early 90’s, I had many personal conflicts, conversations, meetings,
‘arrows,’ as they were then called. But we never colluded with anyone
—and we never had any ‘roofs’ [i.e., krysha, or protection] . . . And
how can bandits threaten such a person? Physical reprisal? But if they
kill me, they will not get anything.”41

In 2006, Emin married Leyla Aliyeva, the daughter of pro-Putin
Azerbaijani president Ilham Aliyev, who, according to the Organized
Crime and Corruption Reporting Project, “systematically seized shares
in the most profitable businesses: banks, construction and
telecommunications companies, gold mining and other deposits.”



President Aliyev was voted the most corrupt “person of the year” by
the OCCRP in 2012, beating out Vladimir Putin and Albanian drug
lord Naser Kelmendi.42

Not long after this politically connected marriage took place,
Crocus, which was largely known for developing upscale shopping
malls, began to win massive government contracts, such as a $1.2
billion deal to develop the campus for Far Eastern Federal University
in Vladivostok on Russia’s Pacific Coast.43 That was followed by
enormous contracts to build part of a superhighway ringing Moscow,
and two huge stadiums for the World Cup. Under Putin’s reign,
massive government contracts like that are awarded only to those who
happen to be in Putin’s good graces.

Meanwhile, the Agalarovs kept their close ties to the United States.
In 2007, Emin bought a $3 million home in Alpine, New Jersey, and
his father got an $8 million home there as well.44 His sister, Sheila
Agalarova, became a real estate agent nearby.

But for all the success the Agalarovs had, Emin’s career as a pop
star had never really taken off in the West. By 2006, he had begun
releasing roughly one album per year but had never gotten traction in
the US or Europe. So in 2012, he hired British-born publicist Rob
Goldstone to come up with a strategy for breaking out as an
international star.45

Before long, it became clear that partnering with Donald Trump
might prove valuable for both father and son. For his part, Emin
hoped Trump could line up a gorgeous woman—a Miss Universe,
perhaps—for Emin’s newest video. They might even get Trump himself
to make a cameo appearance. Finally, the Agalarovs hoped to persuade
Trump to stage the next pageant at Crocus City Hall, their 7,500-seat
arena in Moscow. And if that were to take place, Aras would be sure to
insist that Emin perform in front of that huge global audience.

If that couldn’t make his career take off, nothing could.

—
On April 16, 2013, about two months after Mikhailov’s fete in Moscow,
police burst into an apartment on the sixty-third floor of Trump Tower



on Fifth Avenue, just three floors below Donald Trump’s penthouse,
and rounded up suspects who were part of two gambling rings46 that
were allegedly run by Alimzhan Tokhtakhounov, a longtime associate
of Mogilevich, Mikhailov, and other leaders of Solntsevo, from
Uzbekistan. 

Widely known as Taiwanchik, a diminutive that referred to his
Asian facial features, Tokhtakhounov, according to a racketeering and
money-laundering indictment before the Southern District of New
York, had been designated as a vor, and, “as a Vor, Tokhtakhounov
had substantial influence in the criminal underworld and offered
assistance to and protection” to the Russian Mafia.47 In 2011,
Tokhtakhounov had made the FBI’s “Ten Most Wanted” list—at
number five, he was two slots behind Semion Mogilevich.

But Tokhtakhounov told the New York Times that he was innocent
of all wrongdoing.48 “I am not bad, like you think,” he said. “I am not
the Mafia, I am not a bandit.”

Tokhtakhounov likely first developed ties to key figures in the
Russian underworld when he was just a young boy growing up in
Tashkent, Uzbekistan, through Mikhail Chernoy,49 the metals-
oligarch-in-waiting, who was a classmate of his younger brother and
bestowed the nickname “Taiwanchik” on Tokhtakhounov. By the
eighties, he had established good relations with Sergei Mikhailov,
Vyacheslav Ivankov, and Anton Malevsky, leader of the Izmaylovskaya
Organized Crime Group,50 who appears to have been the source of the
mysterious $350,000 check to Michael Cohen from Russian hockey
player Vladimir Malakhov.51

In the early nineties, Tokhtakhounov represented Ivankov’s
interests in Germany, lived the high life with a spectacular nine-
million-euro apartment in Paris’s chic Sixteenth Arrondissement,52

and had four villas in Italy,53 all the while traveling the world as a
cardsharp engaging in high-stakes gambling and money laundering.
Then, in 2002, Tokhtakhounov allegedly fixed an ice-dancing
competition at the Salt Lake City Winter Olympics.54

And now, in 2013, Tokhtakhounov was named as the ringleader in
an indictment charging thirty-four members and associates of two



Russian-American organized crime families—the Taiwanchik-Trincher
organization, based in New York, Kiev, and Moscow, and the Nahmad-
Trincher organization, based in Los Angeles and New York—with
operating international sports books that laundered more than $100
million out of the former Soviet Union, through shell companies in
Cyprus, and funneled it into investments in the United States in an
enterprise that was based in Trump Tower. The entire operation,
prosecutors say, was working under the protection of Tokhtakhounov.
In a single two-month stretch, according to the federal indictment, the
money launderers paid Tokhtakhounov $10 million.55

This was no ordinary gambling bust. First of all, the apartment in
question, 63A-B, was one of the most sought-after units in the building
and was so highly prized that Trump himself had bought it when the
building was completed in 1983.56 In 1994, however, he personally
sold it to Oleg Boyko, an oligarch who was sometimes described as
Yeltsin’s personal banker.57

In May 2009, Boyko sold his Trump Tower apartment to Vadim
Trincher, a high-stakes poker player who is a dual citizen of Israel and
the US, for $5 million. According to an FBI analysis of the purchase,
the funds used to buy the apartment moved through shell companies
Trincher maintained in Cyprus.58 By the time the gambling bust took
place, according to the Smoking Gun, the apartment, with its twenty-
four-karat-gold faucets, alabaster walls crafted by Portuguese artisans,
and $350,000 bathroom floor made of amethyst imported from
Tanzania, had become one of the most ostentatious apartments in
what was already one of the most ostentatious buildings in America.59

(Which did not mean it was terrifically livable. A leak from the
apartment upstairs in 2012 caused $6 million in mold and mildew
damage, the Trinchers said, and was so bad they had to cancel a fund-
raiser for Newt Gingrich’s presidential race that year.)60

The sixty-third floor was not the only place in Trump Tower where
the ring was operating. Hillel “Helly” Nahmad, a billionaire
Manhattan art dealer who ran an eponymous New York gallery in the
Carlyle Hotel on the Upper East Side, had bought up the entire fifty-
first floor of Trump Tower61 and used it as the site of a high-stakes



gambling operation that catered to A-list celebrities and Russian
oligarchs.62

Another key figure in the gambling ring was Anatoly Golubchik,
who owned a condo in Trump International Beach Resort in Sunny
Isles Beach, Florida.63 As James Henry reported in the American
Interest,64 Golubchik also owned a shell company called Lytton
Ventures with a director named Galina Telesh—who happens to have
been married to Semion Mogilevich.

According to the indictment filed by United States Attorney Preet
Bharara, the gambling ring had been in operation since 2006, if not
earlier, and had laundered at least $100 million.65 In the end, twenty-
eight defendants pleaded guilty, including Helly Nahmad66 and Vadim
Trincher,67 and went to jail.68 As for Tokhtakhounov, he fled the
country.

—
In June 2013, just two months after the Trump Tower gambling bust,
Emin and Aras Agalarov traveled to Las Vegas to meet Trump while
the Miss USA pageant was being held there.

Just as Aras had begun to position himself in the world of Russian
real estate as Russia’s Donald Trump, so had his son, Emin, reached
out to Trump’s Miss Universe Pageant in hopes of adding a bit of heat
to his own career. In 2008, the Miss Universe pageant had featured
entertainment by a newcomer named Lady Gaga, and Emin hoped a
similar showcase might help him break through.69 Olivia Culpo, the
Miss Universe winner in 2012, ended up starring in Emin’s music
video for a song called “Amor.”

By the time the video was released in May, Emin had become
friendly with Paula Shugart, president of the Miss Universe
Organization. He told Forbes, “And having had a few dinners and
conversations with her, she said, ‘We’re always considering taking the
contest to Russia and never really succeeded. And in the current year
we have a lot of debts.’”

(A spokesperson for the Miss Universe Organization told the
magazine that the issue of debt was not discussed.)70



And so, discussions began about presenting the next Miss Universe
pageant in Moscow, specifically at Crocus City Hall, the Agalarov-
owned theater.71

Finally, on June 15, 2013, the Agalarovs met with Trump in the
lobby of the Trump International Hotel Las Vegas, where Trump’s
Miss USA pageant would be held in a few days. Trump greeted them
warmly, chatted for ten minutes or so, and then shouted out to
onlookers.72 “Look who came to me!” Trump said. “This is the richest
man in Russia!”73

That wasn’t true, of course. The Agalarov fortune was less than $2
billion—not chump change, to be sure, but not good enough to break
into Russia’s top fifty oligarchs.74

None of which mattered to Trump. He was smitten. The Agalarovs
were his new best friends. On the evening of June 15, he joined the
Agalarov party of about twenty people in a private dining room at
CUT, a restaurant in the Palazzo on the Strip, accompanied by Olivia
Culpo; Nana Meriwether, the outgoing Miss USA; and his personal
attorney, Michael Cohen.75

In addition to publicist Rob Goldstone, the Agalarovs brought
another interesting figure to their party, Irakly “Ike” Kaveladze,76 vice
president of Aras’s Crocus International, who had been working with
Agalarov for nearly thirty years.

Born in 1965 in Soviet Georgia, Kaveladze had been classmates at
the prestigious Moscow Finance Institute in the late eighties with
Mikhail Prokhorov, now an owner of the Brooklyn Nets basketball
team, and formed a partnership with him selling customized blue
jeans while they were students.77

While he was in the US, Kaveladze had set up a company called
International Business Creations, which established more than two
thousand Delaware-based shell companies and hundreds of bank
accounts for anonymous Russian clients. According to a congressional
investigation, between 1991 and 2000, more than $1.4 billion in cash
from Russia and Eastern Europe was laundered through accounts
opened by Kaveladze.78



According to US officials, Kaveladze partnered in that operation
with Boris Goldstein, a banker whose ties to the KGB attracted the
attention of US officials, in a little-noticed footnote to a report by the
General Accounting Office on Russian money laundering.79 “We have
obtained information that indicates that this individual has had a close
relationship with companies associated with members of the former
Soviet Union’s intelligence agency,” it read.80

Whether Trump was aware of such details or not, they did not seem
to present an obstacle to him, and before long, the Agalarovs agreed to
put up $20 million to produce the next Miss Universe pageant in
Moscow in November.81

But the night was young, and there was still time for more fun.
Trump’s party moved on to the Act, a nightclub in the Palazzo mall.
According to the Las Vegas Sun, acts “performed at the club were
aggressively adult in nature,”82 and were said to include simulated sex
acts and naked girls pretending to urinate.83

—
On June 16, during the live telecast of the Miss USA pageant, Trump
was joined onstage by Aras Agalarov and said he was thrilled to
announce that the Miss Universe pageant would be staged in Moscow.
“This will be one of the biggest and most beautiful Miss Universe
events ever,” Trump said.84 “It is only fitting that the world’s most
iconic and premier beauty contest will take place in Russia’s most
premier venue, Crocus City Hall.”

In fact, Trump was so excited that the next day he tweeted about
the upcoming pageant. “Do you think Putin will be going to The Miss
Universe Pageant in November in Moscow - if so, will he become my
new best friend?” he wrote.85

But that wasn’t enough. Trump Tower Moscow had not gotten off
the ground in twenty-seven years of trying. Trump Vodka had flopped.
Yet he still wanted to expand his brand into Russia, and that meant
Putin had to be on board. Later that month, Trump typed a personal
letter to the Russian president inviting him to attend. People familiar



with the document said it showed how eager Trump was to win over
Putin.86

According to the Washington Post, at the bottom, Trump added a
postscript saying that he looked forward to seeing “beautiful” women
during his trip.87

—
It was an interesting time for Trump to go back to Russia. For one
thing, now that he was back on his feet again, his entire approach to
money had done a 180. For years he had described himself as the “king
of debt.” He bragged about his ability to use it to his advantage. Trump
had always loved debt. But suddenly, he had begun paying cash for
almost everything.88 Starting in 2006, he paid $12.6 million for an
estate in Scotland, the Washington Post reported. Cash. Then came
two homes in Beverly Hills. Cash again. Five golf courses on the East
Coast. A winery in Virginia. All cash.

And so it went over the next few years. In 2014, he paid nearly $80
million for two golf courses, one in Ireland and one in Scotland. Where
was that money coming from—at a time when no one in banking in the
West would touch golf construction? Later that year, sportswriter and
author James Dodson found out when he played with Donald and Eric
Trump at the Trump National Golf Club in Charlotte, North Carolina.

Well aware that financing for new golf courses had been dead in the
water since the 2008 recession, Dodson asked Eric where the Trumps
were getting their money from.

“Well, we don’t rely on American banks,” Eric replied, according to
Dodson.89 “We have all the funding we need out of Russia.”

Thanks to the Russians, Trump was very much back in business. In
fact, things were going so well that he was once again considering
running for president, in 2016. Indeed, not long after the gambling
ring bust, lawyer Michael Cohen told the New York Post that Trump
spent $1 million to research a run for the presidency. “At this point
Mr. Trump has not made any decision on a political run, but what I
would say is that he is exactly what this country needs,” Cohen said.90



Trump could not have agreed more. “I made a speech in Michigan
the other day, and they set their all-time record,” he told Fox News. “It
was a great, great event. It was an amazing event. And people in this
country are just desperate for leadership. So, whether it’s me or
frankly let it be somebody, but somebody has to come along and
straighten out this country.”91

Every once in a while, however, Trump was apprised of the dark
waters in which he was swimming. In July, Trump, who was
developing a highly controversial golf resort in Scotland, was stunned
when John Sweeney, interviewing him for the BBC’s Panorama, asked
about Felix Sater and his ties to the Mafia.

“Why didn’t you go to Felix Sater and say: ‘You’re connected with
the Mafia. You’re fired’?” Sweeney asked.

Clearly startled by the question, Trump lashed out. “John, maybe
you’re thick,” he told Sweeney, “but when you have a signed contract,
you can’t in this country just break it. And by the way, I hate to do this
but I do have that big group of people waiting, so I have to leave. I
have to leave.”

And so, with the camera still rolling, Trump walked out.

—
As his trip to Moscow approached, Trump became increasingly
outspoken. In September, Putin wrote an op-ed in the New York
Times calling for the US to stay out of the Syria conflict and attacking
the idea of American exceptionalism. Trump adored Putin’s
patronizing put-down of Obama. “The way it was crafted was very,
very interesting,” Trump told Fox News.92 “And it really is talking
down to the president. There’s no question about that. Well, absolutely
amazing that he did that. And certainly, it’s getting play all over the
world. And it really makes him look like a great leader, frankly.”

Trump couldn’t wait to get to Moscow. He went on MSNBC to
promote the Miss Universe pageant there, and said, “We have invited
Vladimir Putin, and I know for a fact that he wants very much to
come.”



—
At 9:15 p.m. on Thursday, November 7, 2013, Donald Trump took a
seat on a private jet owned by his friend Phil Ruffin,93 who had
married a former Miss Ukraine from the pageant.94 They took off from
Asheville, North Carolina, for Moscow and the Miss Universe pageant,
and landed at Vnukovo International Airport in Moscow the next day,
according to Bloomberg News.

Shortly after he landed, there was a brief business meeting.95 Then
Trump went to Moscow’s Ritz-Carlton and was given the same
presidential suite Barack and Michelle Obama had stayed in back in
2009. Meanwhile, a Russian approached Keith Schiller, Trump’s
longtime bodyguard, and offered to send five women to Trump’s hotel
room. Schiller, who later testified about it before Congress, said he
viewed it as a joke, according to sources who were present at the
interview. “We don’t do that type of stuff,” he responded.96

Putin spokesman Dmitry Peskov called to express regrets that
Putin’s schedule would not allow the two men to meet and Putin later
sent a note and a decorative lacquered box as a gift, which was
delivered by Aras Agalarov’s daughter. Disappointed that Putin
couldn’t attend, Trump made much of the gift. “Putin even sent me a
present, beautiful present, with a beautiful note,” he said. “I spoke to
all of his people.”97

Sometime Friday, as shown by a photo posted by the restaurant to
Facebook,98 Trump and the Agalarovs went to a private dinner at
Nobu Moscow, the famous Japanese restaurant co-owned by Emin’s
father and actor Robert De Niro. It was Aras Agalarov’s birthday99—he
was turning fifty-eight—but he had also organized the dinner for
Trump to meet more than a dozen Russian oligarchs, including
Herman Gref, the chief executive officer of state-controlled Sberbank
of Russia, the nation’s biggest bank.100 Gref would be important if
Sberbank were to finance any Trump-branded development with
Crocus. No such project could possibly move forward without having
the approval of the Russian government.



After many fruitless years of trying to develop a Trump Tower in
Moscow, several real possibilities were now alive. Trump told Real
Estate Weekly that he was in talks with Agalarov as well as three other
groups. “There’s no rush as far as I’m concerned,” he said.101 “The
Russian market is attracted to me. I have a great relationship with
many Russians, and almost all of the oligarchs were in the room.”

Agalarov was developing a fifty-seven-acre site near the Crocus
complex where the pageant was being held and hoped to build
thousands of New York–style condos.102 Trump’s approach, however,
was slightly different—sort of Trump SoHo 2.0. To that end, Tamir
Sapir’s son, Alex, and Rotem Rosen, both of whom had participated in
the SoHo development, had flown in from New York to meet with
Agalarov and Donald to discuss replicating Trump SoHo in Moscow.
“The Trump Soho has a lot of very high profile Russian visitors and
they have been telling us they wish there was something modern and
hip like it in Moscow,” said Alex Sapir.103 “Over the last ten years,
there have been no big new hotels built in Moscow. A lot of people
from the oil and gas businesses have come to us asking to be partners
in building a product like Trump Soho there.”

Still, it was striking that Trump had had no success developing a
project in Moscow after twenty-six years of trying, at a time when
there were dozens of Trump-branded towers all over the world.
Donald Trump Jr.’s explanation that trust, crime, and fear got in the
way was persuasive—but only if you believed corruption had presented
an insurmountable stumbling block for Trump projects in the past.

A more convincing reason, the Atlantic reported, may have been
that Felix Sater, in his various forays into Russia, had managed to
alienate potential partners with his profligate conspicuous
consumption—a substantial feat given the voracious appetite for
extravagance among Russian oligarchs. “You really have to be very
talented to do that,” a Russian real estate consultant told the Atlantic.
“And most people didn’t take him seriously. He was ready to pay for a
few bottles of Cristal in the club, but was not someone you want to
make a serious deal with.”104



Another factor—one that no one talked about—may have been the
most relevant of all. In Moscow, Trump was unable to offer either his
financiers or his condo buyers an amenity that had been vital to his
comeback and to many of his business associates who came to his
rescue after the Atlantic City fiasco. By this time, many hundreds of
condo buyers had likely used shell companies and all-cash payments
to purchase Trump-branded apartments. They were laundering
money. Similarly, hundreds of millions of dollars in financing for
various Trump-branded properties—in SoHo, Toronto, Panama, and
more—had been repeatedly traced to Russians trying to get their
money out of their country. And that is precisely what the Trump
Moscow project could not offer. Laundering money for the wealthiest
Russians meant getting their money out of Russia—not putting more
in it.

—
Trump’s second day in Moscow was Saturday, November 9, and
according to Facebook posts by various onlookers, he was at the Ritz-
Carlton Moscow for part of the day and spent some time getting a tour
of the city. At some point that day, Trump was interviewed by
MSNBC’s Thomas Roberts, who was hosting the pageant that night,
and asked Trump whether he had a relationship with Putin. “I do have
a relationship with him,” Trump said. Then he added that Putin had
“done a very brilliant job. . . . He’s done an amazing job—he’s put
himself really at the forefront of the world as a leader in a short period
of time.”105

The Miss Universe pageant had become a valuable asset for Trump,
but it also served another function for him. He loved beautiful women.
And, as the owner of the pageant, Trump told shock jock Howard
Stern, he was entitled to do as he pleased. “I’ll go backstage before a
show, and everyone’s getting dressed and ready and everything else,”
he said.106 “You know, no men are anywhere. And I’m allowed to go in
because I’m the owner of the pageant. And therefore I’m inspecting
it . . . Is everyone OK? You know, they’re standing there with no



clothes. And you see these incredible-looking women. And so I sort of
get away with things like that.”

Not that the contestants approved. Tasha Dixon, a former Miss
Arizona, told a CBS affiliate in Los Angeles that Trump barged into her
dressing room in 2001 when she was a contestant. “He just came
strolling right in. There was no second to put a robe on or any sort of
clothing or anything. Some girls were topless. Other girls were naked,”
Dixon said. “Our first introduction to him was when we were at the
dress rehearsal and half-naked changing into our bikinis.”107 There
were other such stories. (In 2016, the Trump campaign called them
“totally false.”)

And so, that night, for the first time in the pageant’s sixty-one-year
history, with contestants from eighty-six countries on parade, the Miss
Universe pageant was televised live all over the world from Moscow.
Gabriela Isler of Venezuela was crowned as Miss Universe, and Emin
performed two numbers.108 Trump had told the Agalarovs that one
billion people usually watched the telecast, a selling point the pageant
broadcast in its press releases,109 but in fact the audience was
considerably smaller. (According to Deadline Hollywood, in 2013,
about 3.8 million viewers in the US watched the show, down from 6.1
million the year before.)110

Trump was not the only denizen of Trump Tower to attend. It had
been seven months since the FBI raid on the tower’s fifty-first floor.
Alimzhan Tokhtakhounov had fled the United States and was still on
the lam. But here he was, a VIP guest on the red carpet near Donald
Trump.111 “We never thought we’d have a presidential candidate who
was caught up with that level of criminality and corruption,” said John
Sipher, the former CIA agent in Moscow.112 “We in the government
knew to stay the fuck away. The fact that the Trump people were
actually attracted to that is really dangerous.”

—
Later on that night, the Daily Beast reported,113 the Agalarovs and
Herman Gref, the head of the giant Sberbank of Russia, threw a huge
dinner party for Trump. He was thrilled by all the attention he was



getting. “I was with the top-level people, both oligarchs and generals,
and top-of-the-government people,” he said later, on the Hugh Hewitt
radio show.114 “I can’t go further than that, but I will tell you that I met
the top people, and the relationship was extraordinary.”

Exactly what happened next is unclear. Trump later told FBI
director James Comey that he returned to New York and didn’t even
stay overnight. “He said he arrived in the morning, did events, then
showered and dressed for the pageant at the hotel,” Comey wrote in a
memo. “Afterwards, he returned only to get his things because they
departed for New York by plane that same night.”115

But Trump’s account, as reported by Comey, does not ring true.116

The time of landing is unspecified in flight records, according to
Bloomberg, but it was early enough to afford Trump much of Friday in
Moscow during the day, all of Friday night, and all day Saturday before
his flight left at 3:58 a.m. Sunday.

The bottom line was that Trump claimed not to have even spent one
night in Moscow, but according to records, he had one full overnight in
Moscow, and another night that went into the early hours.

That left some time, but not much, for fun. Answers to what exactly
happened during that period may—or may not—be found in a report
put together by former MI6 agent Christopher Steele that has become
famously known as the Steele Dossier.

Steele, who is fluent in Russian, was no naïf when it came to the
Kremlin. Back in the early nineties, he had worked in Moscow under
diplomatic cover out of the British embassy during the turbulent
ascent of the oligarchs. But he returned to London, and in November
2006, Steele was put in charge of MI6’s investigation into the
assassination of Alexander Litvinenko. When the official report of the
Litvinenko Inquiry was released, it backed up Steele’s findings that the
murder was an FSB hit that was “probably approved” by Vladimir
Putin.117

Steele soon left MI6 for the private sector and in 2009 started a
small investigative-research firm called Orbis Business Intelligence.
Among his clients was the FBI, which hired him to help crack
Tokhtakhounov’s gambling and money-laundering ring in Trump



Tower. Steele became aware of Tokhtakhounov’s presence at the Miss
Universe pageant and was agog at his proximity to Trump. “It was as if
all criminal roads led to Trump Tower,” he told friends.118

In the spring of 2016, Orbis agreed to become a subcontractor for
Fusion GPS, a research firm in Washington that had been hired by the
Perkins Coie law firm, which represented both Hillary Clinton’s
presidential campaign and the Democratic National Committee.119

Steele’s job was to investigate Republican candidate Donald Trump.
The Steele Dossier, much of which has not been corroborated,

became a sensation when it was made public by BuzzFeed in 2017 for
its astonishing allegations that Trump’s campaign “accepted a regular
flow of intelligence from the Kremlin, including on his Democratic and
other political rivals,” that Russian operatives had been cultivating
Trump for years, and that they had obtained kompromat by recording
videos of Trump engaging in “personal obsessions and sexual
perversions.”120

If there was kompromat on Trump, it seemed likely that the Mafia
would know, so I posed that question to a knowledgeable source who
had direct experience with the Russian underworld: Does Mogilevich
have kompromat on Trump? I asked. Does the Mafia know?

“Of course they do,” he told me. “Everyone talks about it, Seva
[Mogilevich] and Mikhas [Mikhailov].”

But my source cautioned that he had not seen any kompromat
firsthand, only that he had heard about it. His allegations have not
been corroborated.
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CHAPTER EIGHTEEN

THE BATTLE IS JOINED

n March 2014, Russia allegedly conducted a massive Internet
disruption in Ukraine just as it was seizing and annexing the
Crimea. As usual, Roger Stone, Paul Manafort’s sometime partner,

seemed to know exactly what was going on and reveled in its venality,
according to Politico, by sending out an email to a small group of
friends.

“Where is Paul Manafort?” Stone’s email asked. Among the
multiple choices he suggested were the following: “Was seen
chauffeuring Yanukovych around Moscow,” and “Was seen loading
gold bullion on an Army Transport plane from a remote airstrip
outside Kiev and taking off seconds before a mob arrived at the site.”

The final option was: “Is playing Golf in Palm Beach.”1

But Manafort was merely the tip of the iceberg.
By this time, many of the leaders of the Republican Party were

effectively on the payroll of the Kremlin, which had become as
effective as Big Oil or Big Pharma at using K Street lobbyists to serve
its agenda. The only difference was that they were essentially serving
the interests of Vladimir Putin in the most heated geostrategic sector
on the planet.

Russian oligarch Oleg Deripaska, who had hired former senator and
Republican presidential nominee Bob Dole as a lobbyist in 2005, later
tried, unsuccessfully, to woo Senator John McCain, the GOP
presidential nominee in 2008. Russian conglomerate Alfa paid nearly
$2 million in lobbying fees to Barbour Griffith & Rogers, the lobbying
firm cofounded by former Mississippi governor Haley Barbour.2



Similarly, in 2014, former Senate majority leader Trent Lott (R-MS)
and former senator John Breaux (D-LA) became the main lobbyists for
Gazprombank, a subsidiary of Russia’s largest supplier of natural gas.
More recently, in 2016, millions of dollars in Russian money was
funneled to Senate majority leader Mitch McConnell3 and other high-
profile Republicans to finance GOP senatorial candidates.

Foreign nationals are prohibited from contributing to Senate races,
but, according to the Dallas Morning News, during the 2015–16
election season, Ukrainian-born oligarch Leonard “Len” Blavatnik,
who has British-American dual citizenship, put a small fraction of his
$20 billion fortune into GOP Senate races. McConnell, who took $2.5
million for his GOP Senate Leadership Fund from two of Blavatnik’s
companies, was the leading recipient. Others included political action
committees for Senator Marco Rubio, Senator Lindsey Graham, Ohio
governor John Kasich, and Arizona senator John McCain.

When it came to getting legal representation, Russians went to the
most connected lawyers in the land. The fourth-largest law firm in the
United States,4 Jones Day, itself represented at least ten major
corporations and organizations that were close to Putin’s heart, a
group comprising both Russia’s most powerful corporations and
several of the oligarchs who came to Trump’s rescue.

Jones Day’s Russian clients included Oleg Deripaska’s Basic
Element; the Alfa Group and Access-Renova Group, which jointly own
billions of dollars in oil and gas assets; Alfa Bank, the largest private
commercial bank in Russia and part of the Alfa Group; Letterone, a
$30 billion holding company for assets in technology, oil, and gas;
Rosneft, the world’s largest listed oil company; the Sapir Organization,
which helped fund Bayrock’s Trump SoHo; the Eurasian Natural
Resources Corporation, run by Alexander Mashkevich; the Russian
Standard Group, whose holdings included the Miss Russia pageant;
Sukhoi Civil Aircraft, a large military aircraft manufacturer in which
Mogilevich had an interest; the Alfa-Access-Renova Group, a joint
venture that helped make Leonard Blavatnik one of the wealthiest
people in the world; and Viktor Vekselberg’s Renova Group.



Another Jones Day client, the National Rifle Association, according
to McClatchy, has been the subject of a multiagency investigation into
whether “the Kremlin secretly helped fund efforts to boost Trump”5 by
funneling money through the NRA.

In July 2018, Maria Butina, an alleged Russian agent in the US, was
indicted by special counsel Robert Mueller on charges of being a
covert agent who had infiltrated the NRA and other conservative
groups, including the organizers of the National Prayer Breakfast.
Butina, who pleaded not guilty, allegedly reported to Alexander
Torshin, the deputy head of the Russian central bank who had ties to
Russian intelligence services.

This, in effect, was the Putin lobby, putting its money into K Street
and powerful white-shoe law firms to help legitimize and promote the
agendas of Russian oligarchs whose billions effectively represented the
theft of Russia’s patrimony.

And when it came to fighting the growing power and reach of the
Russian offensive, exactly how was America’s national security
apparatus handling this mounting threat? As John Sipher told me, the
CIA had issued operational directives to stay away from the Russian
mob. These issues were not in their purview. As for the FBI, under
director Robert Mueller, it had made Semion Mogilevich the target of
a special new task force in Budapest in 2005, at a time when
Mogilevich largely based his operations there.

“As soon as the Task Force began investigating his activities,
Mogilevich realized he could no longer use Budapest as his base of
operations,” Mueller said in a 2005 speech.6 “He immediately fled the
country, and is now hiding in Moscow. Working closely with
Hungarian authorities, United States prosecutors obtained a 45-count
indictment against Mogilevich and three other criminals, charging
them with money laundering, securities fraud, and racketeering.”

But in the end, Mogilevich eluded their grasp and settled in
Moscow. The FBI closed down the Budapest outpost from which it had
tracked Mogilevich. Meanwhile, the foreboding assortment of
murderous gangsters and tattooed thugs known as the Russian Mafia
had climbed the ladder of white-collar respectability, insinuated itself



in multibillion-dollar global corporations, and taken on the protective
coloring provided by K Street lobbyists and white-shoe law firms. They
were now hard-wired into some of the most powerful Republican
politicians in the country.

Like a slow-motion train wreck that can’t be stopped, a national
security catastrophe of historic proportions was in the works. And it
was happening under the noses of the top figures in American law
enforcement, whom the Russians were going to for criminal
representation. It wasn’t enough that William S. Sessions had taken on
Mogilevich, the most feared mobster in the world, as a client.
Sessions’s successor as FBI director, Louis Freeh, was also working for
the Russians.

In Freeh’s case, the client in question was Denis Katsyv’s Cyprus-
based Prevezon Holdings, a giant real estate firm that hired Freeh to
negotiate a settlement with the US government over an alleged money-
laundering/tax-fraud scheme involving Kremlin officials.7 Katsyv is a
Ukrainian businessman whose company appeared to be a beneficiary
of the $230 million tax fraud.

Prevezon won international attention in 2008 when its ties to the
massive tax scam were uncovered by Russian tax lawyer Sergei
Magnitsky, an anticorruption specialist who investigated the case on
behalf of Hermitage Capital Management, an investment firm
cofounded by Bill Browder. After he began investigating the case,
Magnitsky was arrested and imprisoned for eleven months without
trial.8 According to the official death certificate, Magnitsky died in
prison of “closed cerebral cranial injury.”9 Instead of pursuing the real
criminals, Russian authorities had gone after Magnitsky. According to
his prison diary, investigators kept trying to persuade him to testify
against Hermitage and drop his charges against the police and tax
authorities. When Magnitsky refused, he was moved to worse and
worse sections of the prison.10 During his imprisonment, he developed
several serious medical conditions but was denied appropriate care,
was physically assaulted, and died at the Matrosskaya Tishina Prison
in 2009, at the age of thirty-seven.11



Back in 1997, as FBI director, Louis Freeh had warned that Russian
organized crime posed a threat to the US that far transcended mere
criminality and that there was now a greater danger of nuclear attack
by such criminal enterprises than there was by the Soviet Union at the
height of the Cold War.12 But now he represented Prevezon, which had
hired him to settle its dispute with the US government. Later, Freeh
bought a $9.38 million mansion in Palm Beach, Florida, just a ten-
minute drive from Mar-a-Lago.13

—
Meanwhile, relations between Russia and Western officials were
approaching a Cold War–level chill. Putin’s bête noire was the 2016
Democratic presidential candidate, former secretary of state Hillary
Clinton. In fact, Clinton had made her feelings about Putin clear in
2008, when, as a senator, she had joked about George W. Bush’s
famous assessment of Putin. “I looked the man in the eye,” the former
president had said, “I was able to get a sense of his soul; a man deeply
committed to his country and the best interests of his country.”

Hillary, of course, saw things quite differently. Because Putin was a
KGB agent, she said, “by definition he doesn’t have a soul.”14

Three years later, in 2011, when mass protests against Putin
accused him of having rigged recent elections, Putin blamed then–
secretary of state Clinton for giving aid and comfort to the
demonstrators with statements of support. Even though she had gone
along with and implemented Obama’s reset policy to improve Russian-
American relations, Putin knew that Clinton had a much tougher line
toward Moscow than others in Obama’s cabinet. And when Hillary
joined the protesters and said the elections were “dishonest and
unfair,”15 Putin saw her assessment as a deliberate attempt to
undermine his power. “We need to safeguard ourselves from this
interference in our internal affairs,” Putin said.16

Ultimately, he feared, she was such a strong supporter of “regime
change” policies that, if elected in 2016, she might pose a serious
threat to his survival. “[Putin] was very upset [with Clinton] and
continued to be for the rest of the time that I was in government,”



Michael McFaul, who served as the US ambassador to Moscow until
2014, told Politico. “One could speculate that this is his moment for
payback.”

—
If Putin’s hired guns went after Hillary, it would not be the first time.
Starting in 2011, Paul Manafort, operating on behalf of Ukrainian
president Yanukovych, placed articles critical of Hillary Clinton in the
Wall Street Journal and on various websites, according to the
Guardian, as part of a “black ops” operation against her.17

But Putin’s calculus involved far more than Ukraine and Hillary
Clinton, and when he intervened in the Middle East on behalf of Syria,
it was because he had stumbled upon a diabolical and grandiose plan
that would drive a dagger deep into the heart of the Western Alliance.

It began in September 2015, when Putin announced that he would
join Syrian president Bashar al-Assad in the fight against ISIS. In
addition to striking at ISIS, however, Russian air attacks hit countless
civilians, so many that in 2016 Amnesty International accused the
Russians of joining Assad forces in deliberately targeting hospitals.
Before long, Russia, intentionally or not, was creating a massive flow
of refugees into Europe. “Russia is extensively involved in the Syrian
conflict but has done virtually nothing to help the 11 million people
who have lost their homes and livelihoods as a result,” said Bill
Frelick, refugee rights program director at Human Rights Watch.18

According to Senate testimony in 2016 by General Philip Breedlove,
the supreme allied commander of NATO, Russia’s inaction, far from
being an oversight, was part of a deliberate and cunning policy to use
the influx of millions of refugees as a political weapon that would
destabilize Western Europe. “Together Russia and the Assad regime
are deliberately ‘weaponizing’ migration in an attempt to overwhelm
European structures and break European resolve,” Breedlove said.19

In other words, now that Russia had, inadvertently perhaps, helped
spark an immigration crisis that overwhelmed the entire continent, it
began a stealth campaign that aided right-wing, anti-immigrant,



populist movements and politicians in Great Britain, Germany, the
Netherlands, France, Italy, Austria, and more.

The more Russia inflamed the crisis in Syria, it found, the more
refugees it created, and the more Russia was able to weaken the
European Union. The migration emergency served as the perfect
catalyst for further action. As Great Britain prepared to vote on
whether or not to exit the European Union (aka Brexit), for instance,
Russia jumped into the fray. Nigel Farage, leader of the far-right UK
Independence Party, fanned anti-EU sentiment while criticizing
sanctions against Russia and issuing complimentary appraisals of
President Putin. Hundreds of millions of dollars from dubious Russian
sources were laundered in British banks.20 Then, as the vote for Brexit
approached in June of 2016, Russian cyberwarfare began. According
to research conducted jointly by experts from the University of
California at Berkeley and Swansea University in Wales, no fewer than
150,000 Twitter accounts linked to Russia began to tweet
inflammatory and divisive messages about Brexit, Muslims, and
immigrants.21

Quietly, almost unseen, Putin also attacked NATO’s Eastern flank,
through Poland—and again Mogilevich played a key role in an
operation that, according to Polish investigative reporter Tomasz
Piatek, succeeded in compromising NATO. The author of the
bestselling Macierewicz and His Secrets, Piatek describes a series of
convoluted scams, starting in the late eighties with David Bogatin—the
same David Bogatin who laundered money through Trump Tower in
1984 and pioneered the Red Daisy gas tax scam—who moved to
Poland and, according to Piatek, “robbed a lot of Poles through his
creation of the infamous First Commercial Bank in Lublin,” one of the
first commercial banks in post-communist Poland.22

According to Piatek, operatives tied to Mogilevich and the
Solntsevskaya crime gang were principals in a 2014 wiretapping
scandal where top Polish politicians were secretly recorded at their
favorite restaurants—all of which helped the pro-Russia Law and
Justice Party to win the elections.23 “The scandal was similar to the
wiretapping scandal that led to the fall of Hungarian prime minister



[Ferenc] Gyurcsány’s government and helped Viktor Orbán [Putin’s
Hungarian ally] win subsequent elections,” Piatek said.24

The upshot was that in November 2015, when the Law and Justice
Party won an absolute majority in Poland for the first time, it
appointed Antoni Macierewicz as minister of defense. At one time or
another in his career, Piatek reported, Macierewicz had given access to
classified documents to a company controlled by the Russian Mafia in
Poland. Among other failings, he had given a radio interview about
Protocols of the Elders of Zion, the fraudulent pamphlet that purports
to be a Jewish plan for world domination, about which he said,
“Experience shows that there are such groups in Jewish circles.”25

Once he became minister of defense, Piatek says, Macierewicz
began recruiting pro-Kremlin, neo-Nazi youngsters as soldiers to fight
in his new Territorial Defense Force, which reported directly to him—
that is, not to the General Command of the Polish army, with which it
was in direct competition—and began transferring officers and
resources from the army to the TDF. As a result, Piatek says,
“Macierewicz has been accused of destroying the Polish army and its
relationship with its Western Allies.”26

And so it went—not just in the UK, Poland, or Hungary, but all over
Europe. As a 2018 minority staff report by the Senate Foreign
Relations Committee put it, since 2004, Putin had launched a
relentless asymmetric assault on democracy in Russia, Europe, and
the United States using an “arsenal that includes military invasions,
cyberattacks, disinformation, support for fringe political groups, and
the weaponization of energy resources, organized crime, and
corruption. The Kremlin has refined the use of these tools over time
and these attacks have intensified in scale and complexity across
Europe.”

In Eastern Europe, Russia attacked Ukraine, Georgia, Montenegro,
Serbia, Bulgaria, and Hungary. In the Baltic, it attacked Latvia,
Lithuania, and Estonia. In Scandinavia, it went after Denmark,
Finland, Norway, and Sweden. And it went after the Netherlands,
France, Germany, Spain, and Italy as well. Ultimately, Putin’s goal, the
Senate report said, was “to attack the democracies of Europe and the



United States and undermine the transatlantic alliance upon which
Europe’s peace and prosperity have depended for over 70 years.”27

Needless to say, the Russian Mafia was not the only weapon in
Putin’s arsenal of “active measures,” a Russian term for political and
economic warfare by its security services. Both domestically and with
foreign adversaries, Russia hacked its foes, as it did when it captured
emails from Hillary Clinton and her allies, so it could release them and
damage her presidential campaign.

Both domestically and abroad, Putin asserted ironclad control over
the Russian narrative through disinformation and propaganda. Only a
strong leader like Putin could remind a wronged and humiliated
Russia of past glories and rebuild his country into a great superpower
again. Only Putin could have annexed Crimea and pushed back against
the West.

As for the opposition, by this time, dozens of journalists and
dissidents had been killed, including Boris Nemtsov, the former
deputy prime minister under Yeltsin, who was one of Putin’s most
prominent critics until February 2015, when he was shot from behind
near Moscow’s Red Square. To that same end, Putin also had the
power to destroy media oligarchs who did not serve his agenda—as
Vladimir Gusinsky and Boris Berezovsky found out when they were
forced into exile.28

Outside Russia, where Putin didn’t control the media, the Russians
resorted to more sophisticated tactics. They hijacked social media and
exploited algorithms to make highly provocative “fake news” go viral.
They harnessed the power of social media to amplify the rabid
fanaticism of the so-called alt-right, in the process turning Facebook
into one of the most powerful publishers of phony news stories and
propaganda from Russia and the alt-right in the world. They used
third parties, such as Julian Assange and WikiLeaks, to make it seem
as if leaks had emanated from heroic whistleblowers, rather than being
obtained by Russian intelligence, and they deliberately used not only
“alternative facts” and fake news but bogus websites that pretended to
correct fake news, and, in the process, upended the very notion of
truth, of reality itself, of what is real. In all, according to the German



Marshall Fund’s Alliance for Securing Democracy, “the Russian
government has used cyberattacks, disinformation, and financial
influence campaigns to meddle in the internal affairs of at least 27
European and North American countries since 2004.”29

—
Within that context, the Russian Mafia played the central role in
nurturing an exceptionally pliant asset who initially seemed to be
more of a person of influence than a man with real political clout. It
had been nearly thirty years since Trump welcomed David Bogatin to
Trump Tower and facilitated the sale of five apartments to help
launder Russian Mafia money for the first time. Since then, he had
accepted many millions of dollars—perhaps billions—for his condos.
Vyacheslav Ivankov had lived at Trump Tower and run operations for
Mogilevich. Bayrock had been there from 2002 to 2008, and helped
Trump rise out of the ashes of Atlantic City and become a billionaire
yet again—potentially leaving him deeply, deeply indebted to the
Russian Mafia.

And yet at 11:05 a.m. on June 16, 2015, Donald Trump stepped on
the descending escalator in the pink-marbled six-story atrium at
Trump Tower and began a journey into history by announcing his
candidacy for the Republican nomination for the presidency of the
United States.30

Trump’s decision to run had been in the works for some time. In
January, Emin Agalarov and Rob Goldstone, Emin’s publicist, had
visited Trump in Trump Tower. Having seen Emin perform at the Miss
Universe pageant, and having appeared in one of Emin’s music videos,
Trump had told him, “Maybe next time, you’ll be performing at the
White House?”31

At about the same time, Trump had hired Corey Lewandowski as
his campaign manager. In March, he had formed a presidential
exploratory committee. And now, three months later, Trump was
proclaiming that we had become a nation of “losers” and that America
needed someone “really rich”—namely, him—to restore its lost
economic primacy.32



Starting off by saying he would build a “great, great wall” to stop
illegal immigration, and have Mexico foot the bill, he added, “Nobody
builds walls better than me—believe me—and I build them very
inexpensively,” he said.

“I don’t need anybody’s money. It’s nice,” he said.33 “I’m not using
donors. I don’t care. I’m really rich . . . I’m proud of my net worth. I’ve
done an amazing job.”34

At the time, Trump was still treated largely as a novelty. “Clown
Runs for Prez,” read the cover headline of the New York Daily News.35

A 4 percent showing in a Washington Post/ABC News poll put him in
a tie for ninth place among Republican candidates. Worse, the same
poll showed him to have a 16 percent favorable and 71 percent
unfavorable rating.36 It was later revealed by the Hollywood Reporter
that Trump even had to resort to paying $50 each to background
actors—like extras in movies—to pretend they were Trump supporters
cheering him on at the Trump Tower atrium.37

To the most seasoned political observers, Trump was an incredible
long shot, and they didn’t have a clue about his ties to the Russian
mob. On the other hand, Putin now had a candidate of his own
choosing representing one of America’s two major political parties as
the 2016 elections were about to get under way.

By this time, Mogilevich had done his job. He had targeted,
ensnared, and compromised a powerful and influential American
businessman. But now that Trump had real political prospects, Putin
went ahead full bore and pulled out other weapons in his arsenal. The
Kremlin’s “active measures” were about to go fully operational. The
battle had been joined.
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CHAPTER NINETEEN

BACK CHANNELS

ust two days after announcing his candidacy, on June 18, 2015,
Trump appeared on the Sean Hannity show on Fox News, where
he was asked if he had had any contact with Vladimir Putin, and

how he might deal with him if he were elected.
“Yes,” Trump said. “So I was there two years ago. We had a

tremendous success with the Miss Universe contest in—I own Miss
Universe, Miss USA, all of that, and it does great. It’s on NBC, but
that’s OK. But it does fantastically well. And two years ago, we had it in
Moscow, and it was a tremendous success. And I got to meet
everybody. I got to meet all . . .”

“Did you talk to him?” Hannity asked.
“I don’t want to say. But I got to meet all of the leaders. I got to

meet all—I mean, everybody was there. It was a massive event. And let
me tell you, it was tremendous.”

For an opening, it was a bit tentative and coy, especially for the
bombastic Trump. Nevertheless, he had just uttered his first words as
a candidate about Putin. “We can get along,” Trump said.1 It was
official. The Trump-Putin connection had gone public.

A few weeks later, in July, at FreedomFest, a self-styled “festival of
free minds,” in Las Vegas, Trump announced he would probably
reverse President Obama’s policies and roll back sanctions against
Russia. “I know Putin and I’ll tell you what, we get along with Putin,”
Trump said.2 “I don’t think you’d need the sanctions. I think we would
get along very, very well.”

As it happened, Trump’s statement was an answer to a question
posed by Maria Butina, a Russian operative who was a protégé of



Putin ally Alexander Torshin. No sanctions? It was everything Putin
and the oligarchs wanted.

As if in response, Putin offered Trump praise in return. “He says
that he wants to move to another, closer level of relations,” Putin told
reporters. “Can we really not welcome that? Of course, we welcome
that.” He added that Trump was a “colorful and talented” person, a
compliment Trump said afterward he regarded as an “honor.”3

Meanwhile, the Russian cyberwarfare campaign against the United
States was already under way. According to a January 2017 report by
the Office of the Director of National Intelligence (ODNI), “Assessing
Russian Activities and Intentions in Recent US Elections,” the Central
Intelligence Agency, the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and the
National Security Agency concluded with “high confidence” that
“Russian President Vladimir Putin ordered an influence campaign in
2016 aimed at the US presidential election. Russia’s goals were to
undermine public faith in the US democratic process, denigrate
Secretary Clinton, and harm her electability and potential presidency.
We further assess Putin and the Russian Government developed a
clear preference for President-elect Trump.”4

To gather ammunition for that influence campaign, on an
undetermined date in July 2015, a bit more than forty-three years after
five burglars broke into Democratic National Committee offices at the
Watergate Hotel in Washington, the DNC offices were broken into
again—not by burglars, but by Russian hackers.

The Democrats first found out about it in the most indirect way
imaginable. In September, an agent from the FBI’s Washington field
office left a phone message at the DNC office for an outsourced low-
level computer technician who did not bother to return the call. “They
left a phone message at the help desk of the DNC,” John Podesta, then
Hillary Clinton’s campaign chairman, told CNN.5 “They didn’t treat it
with the kind of seriousness, I think, that it deserved.”

According to the DNC, the FBI repeatedly called its help desk but
never reached out to DNC leaders. As a result, according to a
complaint filed by the Democratic National Committee against the
Russian Federation and the Trump campaign, “Russian intelligence



gained access to Democratic National Committee (DNC) networks and
maintained that access until at least June 2016.” Consequently, the
complaint said, the GRU—Russian military intelligence—was able to
“exfiltrate” large volumes of data from the DNC and leading
Democratic officials.6

The ODNI report also noted that Putin publicly said it was
important the DNC data was exposed to WikiLeaks. “We assess with
high confidence that the GRU relayed material it acquired from the
DNC and senior Democratic officials to WikiLeaks,” the report said.
“Moscow most likely chose WikiLeaks because of its self-proclaimed
reputation for authenticity.”7

—
Meanwhile, Trump’s candidacy took off like a rocket. In a jam-packed
field of seventeen Republican candidates jostling for the nomination,
Trump, ever the master showman, surged to the fore, a bombastic New
York tycoon pandering to tens of millions of “forgotten” Americans,
promising to “make America great again.”

Having put together a base in part by falsely claiming that President
Obama had been born in Kenya and therefore was not eligible to be
president, Trump derided Jeb Bush as “low-energy,” Senator Ted Cruz
as “Lyin’ Ted,” Senator Marco Rubio as “Little Marco,” and Hillary
Clinton always, of course, as “Crooked Hillary.”

By mid-July, just a few weeks after he announced his candidacy,
Trump had claimed first place in two major polls.8 He called Mexicans
“rapists.” He mocked war hero John McCain for getting captured. One
after another, Trump trampled the widely accepted norms of
American political discourse and not only got away with it, but
awakened and inflamed the passions of a right-wing anti-immigrant
fervor that had been the sleeping giant in American politics. He was so
often compared to P. T. Barnum that a Nexis search in May 2018
found more than fifteen hundred articles in which Trump was
mentioned with Barnum. He represented something larger than life,
even if that reputation never held up to scrutiny.



Opponents who underestimated the loyalty of his base did so at
their peril. The more he broke the rules, the more they loved it. “I
could stand in the middle of Fifth Avenue and shoot somebody and I
wouldn’t lose any voters, okay?” Trump told supporters in Iowa about
a week before the state’s caucuses.9 “It’s, like, incredible.”

—
The mere fact that Trump was running for president did not mean he
had abandoned his dreams of building a Trump Tower in Moscow. Far
from it. In fact, the relationship he had cultivated with the Agalarovs
was still very much alive. On July 24, 2015, Rob Goldstone, the music
promoter who worked with Emin Agalarov, invited Trump to Moscow
to celebrate the birthday of Emin’s father, Aras Agalarov, the real
estate oligarch.

In an email to Trump’s assistant, Rhona Graff, Goldstone proffered
an inducement. “Maybe he would welcome a meeting with President
Putin,” Goldstone wrote.10

Trump didn’t take the bait, but Felix Sater was still traveling to
Moscow on behalf of the illusory Trump Tower in Russia. By this time,
Bayrock was so deeply entangled in litigation that it had folded its
tent. Felix Sater had become a “senior adviser” to Trump and
continued to work with his old pal Michael Cohen, trying to draw up
deals for Trump. “We did not own real estate together, but certainly
looked at a bunch of stuff together, during Trump and post-Trump,”
Sater told Talking Points Memo.11 “After I left [Bayrock], I was still
looking at deals for Trump, but I would think about real estate with
Michael. [It] was just two real estate guys talking.”

According to emails published by the New York Times, Sater saw
the eventual realization of Trump Tower Moscow as a coup for Trump
that would enhance his chances as a candidate, not conflict with them.
In the emails, Sater boasted to Cohen that he had arranged financing
for a Trump Tower in Moscow from VTB, a bank that was under US
sanctions for undermining democracy in Ukraine.12

On November 3, 2015, he also emailed Cohen, “I arranged for
Ivanka to sit in Putins [sic] chair at his desk and office in the Kremlin.



I will get Putin on this program and we will get Donald elected. We
both know no one else knows how to pull this off without stupidity or
greed getting in the way. I know how to play it and we will get this
done. Buddy our boy can become President of the USA and we can
engineer it. I will get all of Putins [sic] team to buy in on this, I will.”13

In one of his emails, Sater vowed to pull out all the stops and use
his connections to get Putin to praise Trump’s business expertise. “If
he says it we own this election,” Sater wrote. “Americas [sic] most
difficult adversary agreeing that Donald is a good guy to negotiate.”14

According to someone familiar with the emails, the Washington
Post reported, Sater also wrote Cohen something like, “Can you believe
two guys from Brooklyn are going to elect a president?”15

—
Meanwhile, as the Trump campaign staffed up, Russophile policy
wonks flocked to Trump’s side and began solidifying their ties to
Moscow. On December 15, 2015, Trump campaign foreign policy
adviser Lieutenant General Michael Flynn attended a gala dinner in
Moscow in honor of RT, the Russian media outlet on which Flynn
appeared occasionally as an analyst, and sat next to President Putin,
leading Politico to characterize him as one of the most intriguing
examples of “how the Russians have recruited disaffected members” of
the US political establishment.16 Flynn, who had been fired in 2014 as
director of the Defense Intelligence Agency by Obama, was paid
approximately $45,000 by the Russians for a giving a speech at a
related event.17

In early January 2016, Carter Page, who had helped open the
Moscow office of Merrill Lynch, met with Trump campaign manager
Corey Lewandowski at Trump Tower and became an unpaid volunteer
for the foreign policy committee Trump was said to be forming.18 In
March, twenty-eight-year-old George Papadopoulos was recruited to
join the foreign policy team as well, and was told improved relations
with Russia would be a cornerstone of Trump’s foreign policy.19

A week later, Papadopoulos flew to Rome and met Joseph Mifsud, a
former Maltese diplomat based at the London Academy of



Diplomacy.20 On March 24, there was a follow-up meeting at which
Mifsud was accompanied by a woman Papadopoulos identified
wrongly as Putin’s niece. (Putin does not have a niece.)

After corresponding with the woman, the professor, and others,
Papadopoulos met over breakfast in a London hotel with Mifsud, who
told him that the Russians had dirt on Hillary Clinton: “They [the
Russians] have dirt on her . . . they have thousands of emails.”21 After
this Papadopoulos “continued to communicate” with the Trump
campaign and his Russian government interlocutors.

In an interview with La Repubblica, the Italian news outlet, Mifsud
denied Papadopoulos’s account and said he never stated that the
Russian government had “dirt” on Hillary Clinton.22

Trump and Manafort weren’t the only influential Americans to have
questionable relations with Russians during this period. Manafort had
brought with him Rick Gates, Rick Davis, and Tad Devine from his
firm in DC. The lone Democrat in the operation, Devine had worked
on both Al Gore’s and John Kerry’s campaigns, and later became the
senior campaign strategist for Senator Bernie Sanders’s 2016
presidential run. (Tad Devine worked for Yanukovych in the 2006
Ukraine parliamentary elections, in which Yanukovych ended up as
prime minister, and the 2010 presidential election, which Yanukovych
won.23 Devine did not return a phone call from the author.)*

Similarly, in 2012, the European Centre for a Modern Ukraine, a
Ukrainian nonprofit representing Yanukovych’s Party of Regions,
employed the Podesta Group, run by Tony Podesta, whose brother,
John Podesta, became the campaign chairman for Hillary Clinton.25

By this point, even though most Americans didn’t realize it, Putin
and his allies had put money, directly and indirectly, on political
consultants who were tied to campaigns for the three strongest
candidates for the presidency of the United States in 2016—Donald
Trump, Bernie Sanders, and Hillary Clinton.

—
For all the millions he had made in Ukraine, Manafort had fallen on
hard times. Oleg Deripaska’s net worth had plummeted after the 2008



financial crisis, which meant he wanted Manafort to liquidate a fund
Manafort was overseeing and give Deripaska back his share—some $17
million, according to financial statements obtained by the New York
Times.26 But Manafort had already spent a fortune on real estate, rare
antique rugs, and the like. He had blown millions investing in his son-
in-law’s real estate ventures and his daughter Jessica’s film. He was
out of cash. Rather than pay Deripaska back, according to the
indictment, Manafort simply stopped responding to him.27

Now, with Trump’s ascent, Manafort saw a chance to get back in the
game. He had known Trump for decades, had worked for him on
occasion, and kept a condo in Trump Tower, though he said their
relationship was largely confined to small talk. So in mid-February, as
recounted by Franklin Foer in the Atlantic, Paul Manafort reached out
to real estate magnate Tom Barrack, a longtime friend who was also
close to Trump.28

For decades, Manafort had personified the Washington insider, but
now he crafted a memo portraying himself as the polar opposite,
saying he was a longtime foe of Karl Rove who had “avoided the
political establishment in Washington since 2005.”29

Having charged Ukrainian oligarchs exorbitant fees, Manafort
switched his approach when it came to Trump. Any remuneration he
might get from the campaign, he seemed to be thinking, was nothing
compared to the riches that would come with his newfound influence.
As a result, he offered to be Trump’s campaign manager absolutely
free of charge.

Tom Barrack added a cover letter to Trump that described
Manafort in terms that were certain to be appealing to the candidate,
as “the most experienced and lethal of managers” and “a killer.” In
March, Manafort joined the campaign as an adviser, with Corey
Lewandowski still in place as campaign manager.30

Next, Manafort called Konstantin Kilimnik, the aide-de-camp he
had relied on so heavily in Ukraine and who frequently served as
Manafort’s go-between with Deripaska.31 Deeply in debt to Deripaska,
Manafort nonetheless saw the billionaire as his savior. If he was hired
as Trump’s campaign manager, Manafort was certain Deripaska would



see things in a new light. Perhaps private briefings on the campaign
from Trump’s campaign manager himself would put him back in
favor? Manafort sent a batch of press clippings to Kilimnik celebrating
his new job with Trump. “How do we use [these articles] to get whole,”
Manafort emailed Kilimnik. “Has OVD [Deripaska] operation seen?”32

Kilimnik replied that he thought that they would “get back to the
original relationship” with Deripaska in time. Kilimnik, meanwhile,
was a year into running a political consulting firm called Begemot
Ventures International (BVI) with a Washington-based operative
named Sam Patten, whose relationship with Kilimnik went back nearly
two decades, to when they were colleagues at the International
Republican Institute, a GOP-aligned foreign policy group.33

In 2014, Patten had begun working with a data-mining firm called
Cambridge Analytica in an effort “to introduce new technologies and
methodologies to U.S. campaigns during the 2014 congressional
cycle.”34 Specializing in “psychographic” profiling, the company used
online data to create sophisticated personality profiles for voters, who
could then be targeted with specifically tailored messages that could
encourage—or discourage—them from voting one way or another.35

Not long after Manafort came on board, one of his daughters texted
the other that Manafort and Trump were “literally living in the same
building and . . . they go up and down all day long hanging and
plotting together,” according to a tweet by New York Times reporter
Ken Vogel.36

As the Republican primaries got under way in early 2016, the “beta
run” of Cambridge Analytica’s efforts to microtarget voters for
president was adopted by the presidential campaign for Texas senator
Ted Cruz.37 But when the Cruz campaign fizzled, Cambridge Analytica
persuaded Trump’s digital director, Brad Parscale, to try out the
firm.38

As Trump won one Republican primary after another in the spring
of 2016, and increasingly looked to be the presumed nominee, so the
alt-right brain trust gravitated toward his candidacy, including one of
the principal owners of Cambridge Analytica, billionaire Robert
Mercer, an investor in Breitbart News. In addition, former Breitbart



chair Stephen Bannon, a senior adviser to Trump who was sometimes
viewed as the candidate’s Svengali, served as vice president of CA’s
board until the campaign.39

Cambridge Analytica was created in 2013 as the American arm of a
British company called Strategic Communications Laboratories Group
(SCL), but, like so much of the Trump-Russia scandal, the story of
Cambridge Analytica is shrouded in fog, with parts of its ownership
hidden in an elaborate web of interlocking tangential relationships
that are difficult to decipher.

For about ten years, from 2005 to 2015, SCL’s largest shareholder
was Vincent Tchenguiz, who, together with his brother Robert, is
estimated to be worth about $1.1 billion.40 But according to an article
in the online magazine Tablet by Ann Marlowe, an author and visiting
fellow at the Hudson Institute, Tchenguiz happened to be partners
with none other than Dmitry Firtash through his investment in a
holding company called the Zander Group, the largest shareholder of
which, with 28 percent of the shares, was a Cyprus-based company
called Spadi Trading. Spadi was owned by Group DF, as in “Dmitry
Firtash.”41 It is unclear whether this relationship had implications for
the operations of SCL, but there is no question that a Trump
presidency would have been in Firtash’s interests and those of his
partner, Semion Mogilevich.

—
Meanwhile, Trump’s astounding success during the primaries had left
political analysts dumbfounded. By mid-March, he had dispatched
would-be standard bearers of the GOP establishment—former Florida
governor and presidential brother and son Jeb Bush, Senator Marco
Rubio of Florida, New Jersey governor Chris Christie, and others—so
that for most of the spring, it was a three-man race, with Trump going
up against Texas senator Ted Cruz and Ohio governor John Kasich.

Then, on May 3, Trump won every delegate in the Indiana primary,
which meant that Senator Cruz, his leading adversary, no longer had a
road to the Republican nomination. There was so much rancor
between the old-guard GOP stalwarts and the Trump insurgency that



there was talk about mutiny at the July convention. But the bottom
line was Trump had become the presumptive nominee. And that
meant he had to build a team for the general election, so he could
focus on Clinton.

To that end, on June 20, Trump fired campaign manager Corey
Lewandowski and replaced him with Paul Manafort. Lewandowski had
never run a major campaign before, and, as Trump prepared for the
possible battle on the floor of the RNC, the stated reason for the
personnel shift had to do with Manafort’s vast experience. In 1976,
Manafort had helped manage Gerald Ford’s floor fight in his
showdown with Ronald Reagan. He and Roger Stone had helped
perform a similar service for Reagan in 1980 and had played key roles
for George H. W. Bush in 1988 and Bob Dole in 1996. “Ultimately,
Paul is in charge,” Barry Bennett, a senior adviser to the Trump
campaign, told the New York Times. “He’s got the experience to help
get Mr. Trump across the finish line.”42

That was the official story—and it was pretty much how the
mainstream press presented it. But another way to look at it was that
Team Trump had continued to solidify its connections to Team Putin.
In addition to having been paid tens of millions by Putin and his allies,
Manafort was likely deeply in hock to Deripaska and had already
proffered his services to the oligarch for private briefings—creating a
back channel to Putin. And, of course, Manafort was still working with
Konstantin Kilimnik, with his GRU ties. Foreign policy adviser George
Papadopoulos had also met with his mysterious Maltese diplomat,
Joseph Mifsud, about getting dirt on Hillary’s emails.

In addition, there were Trump’s ties to the Agalarovs. During the
early stages of the primaries, Aras Agalarov had conveyed his support
to Trump via an email channel that went from Aras to Rob Goldstone,
Emin’s publicist, to Donald Jr. On February 29, Goldstone had sent an
email to Donald Jr. saying that “on the eve of Super Tuesday,” with
eleven states voting in GOP primaries, Emin’s father had asked him to
pass along Aras’s attached letter along with support “from many of his
important Russian friends and colleagues.”43



The attached letter offered Trump best wishes in a conventional,
anodyne manner. What was more important was that the Agalarov
channel was open. It was activated again on June 3, when Goldstone
emailed Don Jr.:

Emin just called and asked me to contact you with
something very interesting. The Crown prosecutor* of
Russia met with his father Aras this morning and in their
meeting offered to provide the Trump campaign with some
official documents and information that would incriminate
Hillary and her dealings with Russia and would be very
useful to your father. This is obviously very high level and
sensitive information but is part of Russia and its
government’s support for Mr. Trump—helped along by Aras
and Emin. What do you think is the best way to handle this
information and would you be able to speak to Emin about it
directly? I can also send this info to your father via Rhona,*
but it is ultra sensitive so wanted to send to you first.

Best
Rob Goldstone44

“Very high level.” “Ultra sensitive.” Too sensitive for Rhona.
“Official documents.” “Incriminate Hillary.” “Part of Russia and its
government’s support for Mr. Trump.” Don Jr. was intrigued.

Seventeen minutes later, he responded. He was on the road and
wanted to speak to Emin first, but, he added, “[I]f it’s what you say I
love it especially later in the summer. Could we do a call first thing
next week when I am back?”

Rather than wait until the next week, however, suddenly things
went into overdrive. In the midst of a spectacularly frenetic
presidential campaign, three key people in the campaign—the newly
appointed campaign manager Paul Manafort; son-in-law and crown
prince Jared Kushner; and Don Jr.—wiped their schedules clean and
set up a mysterious meeting with an unnamed Russian government
lawyer.



And so, they got together at four p.m. on Thursday, June 9, in Don
Jr.’s twenty-fifth-floor Trump Tower office. Don had been told the
Russians would bring two people to the meeting, but instead there
were five.

Leading the way was Natalia V. Veselnitskaya, a Russian lawyer
who was in New York representing Denis Katsyv’s Cyprus-based
Prevezon Holdings. Prevezon was being prosecuted by United States
Attorney Preet Bharara for allegedly laundering $230 million via the
tax fraud that Sergei Magnitsky had uncovered.

Like other Russian companies, Prevezon had made a point of hiring
lawyers who had lots of clout. Earlier, it had been represented by
former FBI director Louis Freeh. Another Prevezon attorney, Scott
Balber, also had represented Donald Trump in 2013, when Trump
sued comedian Bill Maher because the comedian failed to honor a
promise to pay $5 million if Trump could prove he wasn’t “the spawn
of his mother having sex with an orangutan.”45

As for Sergei Magnitsky, his death, in 2009, had led Congress to
pass the Sergei Magnitsky Rule of Law Accountability Act, which
became emblematic of the intensely volatile relations between the
Obama administration and Putin. The bipartisan bill, which passed
the Senate by an overwhelming ninety-two–to–four margin, was
intended to punish Russians who were allegedly responsible for the
death of Sergei Magnitsky, by prohibiting them from entering the
United States and its banking system, and by allowing American
officials to seize assets belonging to Russians who had been implicated
in human rights cases.46

By sanctioning individuals close to Putin, the Obama
administration was saying, in effect, that Russia was a Mafia state, and
that it made sense not to strike at the Russian people with punishing
economic measures, but instead to target the select group of
individuals—mobsters, oligarchs, public officials—responsible and to
penalize them.

It was a weapon that struck at the core of the pact Putin had with
his oligarchs. After all, if he could no longer provide krysha—if Putin



could no longer protect his oligarchs—how much longer would they
pay fealty to him?

Bill Browder, who was Magnitsky’s boss and who had crusaded to
get the eponymous bill passed by Congress, explained the calculus to
the American Interest. “[Putin] allows people to get rich off the
proceeds of government service,” Browder said, “and then he asks
them to do services he’s interested in for the state. . . . He asks [his
subordinates] to do very terrible things—to torture people, to kill
people, to kidnap people, in order for the government to seize people’s
properties. And in return he offers them impunity. If all of a
sudden . . . he can’t promise them foreign impunity, that messes up
everything for him.”47

In response to the Magnitsky Act, Russia passed the Dima Yakovlev
Bill, sometimes known as the anti-Magnitsky law, part of which bans
citizens of the United States from adopting Russian children, thereby
reframing the Magnitsky conflict issue as a human rights issue in
which the United States was undermining the welfare of abandoned
Russian orphans.

To promote the cause, Veselnitskaya founded the Human Rights
Accountability Global Initiative Foundation in Washington to lobby
for restoring American adoption of Russian children. Which sounded
like a cause no one could disagree with, but since the Kremlin
promised to rescind the anti-Magnitsky law if the sanctions were
lifted, the word “adoption” had become a code word that really meant
lifting sanctions. This was the genius of K Street lobbying that Paul
Manafort had taught the Russians. In fact, they were lobbying to
provide relief to oligarchs and gangsters who had allegedly been
behind the $230 million tax scam and who tortured and killed Sergei
Magnitsky. But they could promote their cause under the banner of
human rights with pictures of cute little orphans who were in
desperate need of an American home.

Of the people in the room, Don Jr. was most interested in the so-
called highly sensitive information referred to in the Goldstone emails
that would supposedly incriminate Hillary. Before the meeting,
Veselnitskaya had sent a four-page memo to the Trump team asserting



that the Ziff brothers, a trio of billionaire Democratic donors, had
allegedly evaded paying US taxes on Russian investments.48 The Ziffs
had been donors to Obama and it was possible they were donors to
Hillary Clinton as well.* 49 That’s what Don Jr. was interested in—if it
could be tied to Hillary.

But instead Veselnitskaya launched into a spiel about Bill Browder
and Hermitage Capital Management, arguing that Browder was the
real architect of a massive tax fraud scheme against the Russian state
—which was of little interest to Don Jr.

Then, she asked whether a Trump presidency would lift the
Magnitsky sanctions.

“Looking ahead, if we come to power, we can return to this issue
and think what to do about it,’’ Don Jr. said, as she recalled.50

Finally Don Jr. asked her the crucial question on his mind. “This
money the Ziffs got from Russia, do you have any financial documents
showing that this money went to Clinton’s campaign?” he asked,
according to Veselnitskaya.51

The answer, alas, was no.
And with that, the air suddenly went out of the room. Team Trump

wanted dirt on Hillary, but the Russians hadn’t delivered. Don Jr.
thought it was a complete waste of time. Jared Kushner had stood by
vaguely throughout. He was so bored he texted his assistant, “Can u
pls call me on my cell? Need excuse to get out of meeting.”52

But if the meeting was a waste of time for the Americans, it was a
triumph for the Russians. Trump Jr. may have been upset that the
Russians had not come through with the promised incriminating
evidence about Hillary. But to the Russians, this was not about a single
transaction. Instead, it was about structuring an ongoing relationship.

Former CIA acting director Michael Morell described the email
exchange between Rob Goldstone and the Trumps as “huge” given that
it “shows that a senior member of the Trump team” knew in early
summer of 2016 that “the Russians were working on behalf of
Trump.”53 In the midst of an insanely hectic campaign, three key
members of Donald Trump’s inner circle had cleared the decks for
Veselnitskaya and her entourage seemingly without even really



understanding what the agenda was, or, for that matter, whom they
were really meeting with.

For her part, Veselnitskaya later insisted that in meeting with the
Trump team, she was in no way working for the Russian government,
but there was more to the story than she let on. First, far from being
just a private lawyer, since 2013 Veselnitskaya has also been an
informant for Yuri Chaika,54 the prosecutor general of Russia, who is
close to Agalarov and has been a strong Putin loyalist.55 Chaika, quite
likely, is the man Rob Goldstone meant when he referred to the crown
prosecutor.

Moreover, according to the New York Times, emails obtained and
released by Dossier, an organization founded by Mikhail B.
Khodorkovsky—the oligarch who was stripped of his holdings, put in
jail, and then exiled from Russia—indicate that Veselnitskaya worked
closely with a senior prosecutor on Chaika’s staff to write the Russian
government response to a US Justice Department request in 2014 for
help with its civil fraud case against Prevezon and its owner, Denis
Katsyv.56 In other words, she was deeply connected within the
Kremlin, and the case she made reflected its talking points.

Much as Don Jr. evinced a lack of interest in her sanctions
presentation, it may well have met a more welcome reception by
another member of the Trump team. While Don was miffed at the
unfulfilled promise of dirt on Hillary, Paul Manafort was quietly taking
notes on his cell phone.57

In full, they read:

Bill Browder
Offshore—Cyprus
133m shares
Companies
Not invest—loan
Value in Cyprus as inter
Illici
Active sponsors of RNC
Browder hired Joanna Glover*



Tied into Cheney
Russian adoption by American families

These, then, were Veselnitskaya’s talking points, crafted from a
memo she’d written with the staff of the Russian prosecutor general,
and Donald Trump Jr.’s indifference aside, Manafort knew this was no
joke. There was money on the table. All of this went back to Putin. This
was the Kremlin speaking, and given the content of the meeting it
seemed to be taking them seriously.

Then there was the fact that, in addition to Goldstone and an
unnamed translator, Veselnitskaya had brought along two additional
men. Who were they?

One was Rinat Akhmetshin, a Soviet-born American citizen from
Tatarstan in his early fifties, who had become that truly Washington
creature—a self-proclaimed K Street lobbyist, “spending other people’s
money to achieve other people’s goals,” as he put it.58

Akhmetshin happened to be earning his money by lobbying to get
rid of the Magnitsky Act, and by his account, he ended up at Trump
Tower that day by . . . sheer happenstance. As the Financial Times
reported it, Akhmetshin says he had taken the train from DC to New
York that day in order to see a Russian play that evening when
Veselnitskaya called.59

That’s why, he claims, he was dressed so casually. Regardless of his
wearing jeans and a T-shirt instead of his usual suit, Akhmetshin, with
his long history of ties to Russian intelligence, won instant entrée to
the inner sanctum of the Trump campaign.

When the Magnitsky Act was being debated on Capitol Hill,
according to two observers, Akhmetshin could be seen walking with
former congressman Ron Dellums, whom he had recruited, and Paul
Behrends, senior aide to Dana Rohrabacher, a Republican
congressman from California, to meet with top Democrats on the
House Foreign Affairs Committee, Eliot Engel and Gregory Meeks.60

Widely known as Putin’s favorite congressman, Rohrabacher
traveled to Moscow on an official congressional trip in April 2016,
Politico reported, and met privately with Vladimir Yakunin, a Putin



confidant who was sanctioned in 2014 after the Russians invaded
Ukraine. (Yakunin has been close to Putin for more than two decades,
dating to the early nineties, when he helped Putin set up the Ozero co-
op dachas on the shore of Lake Komsomolskoye.)61

Kyle Parker, a House Foreign Affairs Committee staffer who was a
driving force behind the Magnitsky Act, noticed Akhmetshin making
the rounds of Congress and immediately sent out an email blast to his
colleagues alerting them that Akhmetshin used to spy for the Soviets
and “specialized in active measures campaigns,” according to an email
reviewed by Politico.

For his part, Akhmetshin insists he is not a spy, although he makes
it clear he is more than familiar with that world. Others, however, are
not so sure. “He is a former GRU person for sure,” an attorney who
worked with Akhmetshin told the Guardian. Then he added, “[H]e
once said there is no such thing as ‘former.’”62

—
If Akhmetshin’s appearance didn’t raise questions, there was the final
member of Veselnitskaya’s group. She had brought with her Irakly
Kaveladze, who had worked for the Agalarovs for years and had been
in Vegas with Trump and the Agalarovs in 2013.

A longtime Agalarov loyalist, Kaveladze was there to monitor the
situation on behalf of his patron, but he was also a man who had
moved more than a billion dollars through two thousand US
corporations he created, a man whom former Democratic senator Carl
Levin called a “poster child” of money laundering.63

Kaveladze’s attorney’s explanation for his client’s presence was that
he was attending the meeting as “a translator.” But that made no
sense; Veselnitskaya already had arranged for an unnamed
professional translator.

Between Kaveladze and Akhmetshin, with his past in military
intelligence; Veselnitskaya, with her ties to Chaika; and the content of
the meeting, it’s hard to believe the Russians were there in their stated
role as lobbyists. As former acting director of the CIA John
McLaughlin put it to the Cipher Brief, “it looks to me like an elaborate



operation carried out through intermediaries to probe the receptivity
of the Trump campaign to assistance from the Russian government
during the campaign.”64

“It is not unusual for it to be carried out through such a long chain
of intermediaries, because the tradecraft objective here is to separate
the original ambition as far as possible from the ultimate result so it
becomes very hard to trace back, as it is in this case, exactly what
happened and who did what,” McLaughlin said.65

And what did the Russians learn? They learned that Jared,
distracted as he was, didn’t seem to mind participating in such dirty
tricks. They had seen that Don Jr. was eager to play ball, writing back,
“I love it.” And how security-conscious was the scion of the future
president? Don Jr. waited a mere seventeen minutes before
responding to Goldstone. Then he wrote back, apparently oblivious to
the fact that he was creating a paper trail directly between himself and
the Russians.

All the various threads were coming together. The Russians had, in
effect, activated a channel from the Trumps through the Agalarovs to
the Kremlin, from Don Jr. to Emin to Emin’s father to Putin, with Rob
Goldstone forwarding messages as necessary. Manafort was still in
touch with Kilimnik and was offering private briefings to Deripaska.
Even though Bayrock was no longer operational, its presence had
opened ongoing relations to the Kremlin through Chabad and through
Felix Sater, who had continued to develop Russian contacts and go to
Moscow on behalf of Trump. Moreover, according to a report in
Christopher Steele’s dossier, “a Kremlin insider with direct access to
the leadership confirmed that a key role in the secret TRUMP
campaign/Kremlin relationship was being played by the Republican
candidate’s personal lawyer Michael COHEN.”66

The Republican National Convention was getting under way in
Cleveland in July. Never before had Russia had someone in its grasp
who was so deeply compromised as Trump, with his vast array of ties
to the Russian Mafia and oligarchs. Never before had Russia had
someone in its grasp who was so close to power as Donald Trump, the



presumptive presidential nominee of the Republican Party. Something
big was bound to happen.



O

CHAPTER TWENTY

ENDGAME

n June 15, 2016, six days after the Trump Tower meeting,
Republican leaders in the House of Representatives got
together to discuss the situation in Ukraine. Two of them,

Speaker of the House Paul Ryan, a representative from Wisconsin, and
House Majority Leader Kevin McCarthy, from California, had just met
the new Ukrainian prime minister, Volodymyr Groysman, who had
come into power saying he was committed to stamping out corruption
and strengthening ties to the European Union.1

Ryan seemed to like Groysman. “This guy’s a pretty good guy,” he
said, according to a transcript of the conversation published by the
Washington Post.2 “This guy’s like the anti-corruption guy . . . and he’s
passing all these anti-corruption laws.”

The conversation piqued the interest of Representative Cathy
Rodgers, the Republican Conference chairman from Washington.
“How are things going in Ukraine?” she asked.

“Well, the Russians are bombing them 30–40 shells a day,” Ryan
said. “Crimea is gone. And they’re trying to clean up their government
to show that they want to be western . . . He has this really interesting
riff about . . . what Russia is doing to us, financing our populists,
financing people in our governments to undo our governments, you
know, messing with our oil and gas energy, all the things Russia does
to basically blow up our country, they’re going to roll right through us
and go to the Baltics and everyone else.”

“Yes!” said Rodgers. She added that she had been astounded by the
sophistication of Russian propaganda.

“This isn’t just about Ukraine,” said Ryan.



“. . . It’s a propaganda war,” said Rodgers.
“Maniacal.”
“Yes,” said Rodgers.
“And guess . . . guess who’s the only one taking a strong stand up

against it?” said Ryan. “We are.”
What? Rodgers was agog. She didn’t buy it for a second. “We’re

not . . . we’re not . . . but we’re not.”
All the while, House Majority Leader Kevin McCarthy had been

listening and decided to join in. The second-ranking Republican after
Ryan, McCarthy had a nasty habit of blurting out inconvenient truths
every once in a while. In 2015, on Fox News no less, McCarthy had
said that a principal reason behind the costly and interminable
congressional investigations into the Benghazi tragedy had been to
drive down Hillary Clinton’s poll numbers. “Everybody thought
Hillary Clinton was unbeatable, right?” he said. “But we put together a
Benghazi special committee, a select committee. What are her
numbers today? Her numbers are dropping.”3

McCarthy had appalled fellow Republicans because he had just
corroborated Democratic allegations that the Benghazi probe was not
about getting to the bottom of a real scandal so much as turning
Congress’s investigative powers into a political weapon against Hillary.

This time, the majority leader had an opportunity to make an even
bigger gaffe. The day before, a hacker using the name Guccifer 2.0 had
gone public in claiming credit for breaking into the Democratic
National Committee’s computers, and a cybersecurity firm called
CrowdStrike had attributed the operation to Russian intelligence.4

Now came McCarthy’s eureka moment. “I’ll GUARANTEE you
that’s what it is,” he said. “[Unintelligible] . . . The Russians hacked the
DNC and got the opp research that they had on Trump.”

“And delivered it to . . . to who?” asks Ryan.
[Unintelligible.]
“There’s two people, I think Putin pays—Rohrabacher and

Trump . . . [laughter] . . . swear to God.”
Ryan couldn’t believe what he was hearing. Kevin McCarthy, the

second most powerful Republican in the House, had said Trump and



Rohrabacher were on the Kremlin payroll! How else to explain
Russia’s generosity to the Republicans when it came to Democratic
emails?

As Speaker of the House, Ryan tried to gain control. He could not
allow this to become public. “This is an off the record . . . [laughter] . . .
NO LEAKS . . . [laughter] . . . Alright? . . . This is how we know we are a
real family here. What’s said in the family stays in the family.”

When asked to comment on the exchange, Brendan Buck, a
spokesman for Ryan, told the Washington Post that it “never
happened.”

Matt Sparks, a spokesman for McCarthy, said, “The idea that
McCarthy would assert this is absurd and false.” After being told that
there was a recording, Sparks characterized the conversation as “a
failed attempt at humor.”5

—
Eight days later, on June 23, the United Kingdom became an example
of what Ryan had called Russia’s attempts to “basically blow up” a
country, when Britain dealt an extraordinary and unexpected blow to
the European Union by severing its most vital connection to Europe.
To the astonishment of hundreds of millions of people all over the
world, 51.9 percent of the British electorate voted to leave the
European Union. And what was Russia’s role? At the time, few people
were aware of the extent of Russia’s interference. Only later, in 2018,
did a minority report from the US Senate Foreign Relations
Committee conclude that “the Russian government has sought to
influence democracy in the United Kingdom through disinformation,
cyber hacking, and corruption.”6

“The Kremlin has long aimed to undermine European integration
and the EU, in addition to its aims to sow confusion and undermine
confidence in democratic processes themselves, making Brexit a
potentially appealing target,” it added.

According to a research team from the University of California at
Berkeley and Swansea University in Wales, Russia had assembled at
least 150,000 Twitter accounts to promote Brexit.7 A report by



Britain’s National Bureau of Economic Research later showed that
automated tweeting played “a small but potentially decisive” role that
was “possibly large enough to affect the outcomes” in the 2016 Brexit
vote, by adding 1.76 percentage points to the pro-“leave” vote share.8
The bottom line: Russian interference may have made the difference.

—
In early July, Republicans began gathering in Cleveland, Ohio, prior to
the Republican National Convention to hammer out their platform.
The party elders had had little input from the presumptive nominee,
Donald Trump, on most issues, with the striking exception of
American policy with regard to Ukraine.9 Throughout the campaign,
Trump had been less than supportive of Ukraine in its ongoing battle
with Russia. In August 2015, when asked by NBC’s Chuck Todd on
Meet the Press what he thought about Ukraine’s joining NATO, “I
wouldn’t care,” he replied. He also said that Ukraine was “really a
problem that affects Europe a lot more than it affects us.” Coupled
with his prediction to Bill O’Reilly that “I would have a great
relationship with Putin,” Trump’s remarks led anti-Russia activists in
Ukraine to call Trump a “Kremlin agent.”10

That Trump’s sentiments also were directly at odds with most
Republicans became readily apparent when platform committee
member Diana Denman, a longtime GOP activist from Texas, called
for a plank saying the US would provide lethal defensive weapons to
Ukraine for its battle with Russian separatists. Denman did not expect
a battle. Her proposal was very much in line with age-old GOP
policies. But before long, two men who said they were part of the
Trump campaign came over to her, read the language she wanted to
insert, and said it needed to be reviewed.

One of the men was J. D. Gordon, a forty-eight-year-old former
Pentagon spokesman who was now a foreign policy adviser on the
Trump campaign. He introduced himself to Denman and said he had
phoned New York about the Ukraine plank. When she asked Gordon
whom he had spoken to, he told her he had discussed it with Trump.11

Gordon has called Denman’s account inaccurate.



“[Gordon] said this is the language that Donald Trump himself
wanted and advocated for back in March at a meeting at the
unfinished Trump hotel here in Washington, D.C.,” CNN’s Jim Acosta
reported. “J. D. Gordon says then candidate Trump said he didn’t
want to, quote, ‘go to World War 3 over Ukraine.’ And so, as J. D.
Gordon says, at the Republican convention in Cleveland he advocated
for language in that Republican Party platform that reflected then
candidate Trump’s comments.”12

In the end, Gordon won, and the language was changed from
calling on the US to provide Ukraine “lethal defensive weapons” to the
phrase “appropriate assistance.” Ohio senator Rob Portman described
the radical change in policy as “deeply troubling,” and even Charlie
Black, a veteran Washington political operative who was once a
partner of Manafort’s, said the “new position in the platform doesn’t
have much support from Republicans.”13

Which, of course, was something of an understatement. The
direction indicated by the new plank was a far-reaching and profound
departure from everything the Republican Party had stood for.

—
But Trump wasn’t the only person Gordon spoke to who would have
approved of the change. During the convention, Gordon also had two
brief encounters with Russian ambassador Sergey Kislyak, who had
quietly started to pop up in secret meetings repeatedly with Trump
operatives.14 It’s not clear what role Kislyak might have played in
aiding the Trump campaign, but the Kremlin was always eager to
know the latest on Trump’s positions regarding sanctions and
Ukraine.

Just two months earlier, in April, Hope Hicks, a Trump
spokesperson, had said, incorrectly, that a meeting with Kislyak in
Washington “never happened.”15

“There was no communication between the campaign and any
foreign entity during the campaign,” Hicks told the AP.

Yet on April 27, Trump gave a major foreign policy speech
sponsored by the Center for the National Interest at Washington’s



Mayflower Hotel, in which he called for better relations with Moscow:
“I believe an easing of tensions, and improved relations with Russia
from a position of strength only is possible, absolutely possible,”
Trump said.16

That Trump chose the Center for the National Interest as the forum
to make his remarks was in itself of interest, in that Putin had referred
to its director, former Nixon aide Dmitri Simes, as his “American
friend and colleague” in 2013, and Simes had pledged his full support
for Putin’s aggressive stance on Syria.17

As it happened, however, Ambassador Kislyak was seated in the
front row18 and before the event there was a private meeting with him
and Trump; Jeff Sessions, then the Republican senator from Alabama
who had joined the Trump team in February; and Trump’s son-in-law,
Jared Kushner.19 Sessions denied being at any such meetings.20

This was not a question of chance contacts occurring with Russian
officials at embassy soirees in the Washington social whirl.
Throughout the operation, Trump surrogates repeatedly, and
deliberately, reached out to Russian officials and otherwise made clear
their knowledge of ongoing Russian operations to attack Clinton’s
campaign.

Current and former US officials familiar with the exchanges told
Reuters that Michael Flynn and other Trump advisers made at least
eighteen calls and emails to Kremlin operatives during the last seven
months of the 2016 presidential campaign.21 Even before he attended
the December 2015 dinner in Moscow with Putin, and before Guccifer
2.0 took credit for the DNC hacking in 2016, General Flynn and his
son had met secretly with Kislyak at the ambassador’s residence in
Washington. And Flynn’s correspondence strongly suggested that he
was very much in the loop with regard to Russia’s hacking operation.
In mid-July 2016, he emailed an unnamed Trump communications
adviser, “There are a number of things happening (and will happen)
this election via cyber operations (by both hacktivists, nation states
and the DNC).”22

In the wake of the Trump Tower meeting in June, and the
weakened Ukraine plank, Russian support came pouring in—in the



form of money, strategic advice, and newly forged alliances. Simon
Kukes, a Russian-born American citizen who had replaced Putin foe
Mikhail Khodorkovsky as head of Yukos, gave a total of $283,283 to
various Trump entities, including a joint fund-raising committee
called Trump Victory, whose beneficiaries included the Trump
campaign, the RNC, and several state-level committees.23

At about the same time, even before his firm had finalized a
contract with the Trump campaign, Cambridge Analytica CEO
Alexander Nix reached out to Julian Assange and asked him to share
the DNC emails so CA could help disseminate them.24

On July 14, George Papadopoulos sent an email to a contact with
Kremlin ties asserting that top Trump officials had agreed to a pre-
election meeting with representatives of Putin in the UK that would
include the campaign’s “national chairman and maybe one other
foreign policy adviser.” “It has been approved by our side,”
Papadopoulos wrote in the email.25

Four days later, the Heritage Foundation staged a seminar which
Jeff Sessions attended, and took the opportunity to speak with Kislyak.
A number of Sessions’s conversations with the ambassador were
intercepted by US spy agencies, which characterized them as
“substantive” discussions on US-Russia relations in a Trump
administration and Trump’s positions on various issues concerning
Russia.26 During the Republican National Convention, Kislyak had
also met with Carter Page.27

Then, on July 22, three days before the Democratic National
Convention was to open in Philadelphia, WikiLeaks released nearly
twenty thousand hacked emails from the DNC. Though they revealed
nothing illegal, the emails showed that party officials, who are meant
to remain neutral, favored Hillary Clinton and had discussed ways to
undermine Bernie Sanders, leading to the resignation of DNC chair
Debbie Wasserman Schultz. Typical of much of the mainstream press,
the New York Times mentioned allegations “that Russian hackers had
penetrated [the DNC] computer system,” but focused on the internal
bickering within the Democratic Party. That was more important than



the fact that a hostile foreign power was assaulting America’s electoral
system.28

And so, one of the most unusual political campaigns in American
history was under way, with Trump putting forth a right-wing,
nativist, protectionist, anti-immigrant populism, all under the
umbrella of “making America great again.” Again and again
throughout the campaign, contrary to every expectation, Trump’s
transgressions worked to his advantage, not his disadvantage. Thanks
to his showmanship, Trump benefited enormously from getting more
free media attention than any other candidate. Indeed, according to
analysis from SMG Delta, a firm that tracks television advertising,
from the beginning of his campaign through February 2016—still early
in the campaign cycle—it was estimated that Trump received nearly $2
billion in free media, twice what Clinton got.29

Mixing the aesthetics of professional wrestling and reality TV, he
threw red meat to his base. It was good—not bad—to demean
Mexicans as rapists; to say women who have abortions should serve
time in jail; to deride Senator John McCain, a Vietnam War hero who
was tortured and spent six years as a POW, because he had been
captured; to ban immigrants solely on the basis of their Muslim
religion; even to urge a supporter to “knock the crap out of ’em [anti-
Trump protesters].”

“I promise you, I will pay the legal fees,” Trump added. And the
crowds loved it.

Even then, Trump upped the ante. When she was secretary of state,
Clinton had used a private email address and server, rather than State
Department servers, thereby raising concerns about security and the
preservation of emails, and leading to an FBI probe. That had ended
on July 5, with a recommendation that no charges be filed.30

But Trump wouldn’t let go. In Doral, Florida, on July 27, Trump
said he hoped Russian intelligence had successfully penetrated Hillary
Clinton’s network and stolen her emails, and urged Russia to release
them, as a way of getting to the bottom of it. “Russia, if you’re
listening, I hope you’re able to find the 30,000 emails that are



missing,” Trump said during a news conference. “I think you will
probably be rewarded mightily by our press.”31

Now, as the Times reported, Trump was explicitly encouraging “a
foreign adversary to conduct cyber espionage against a former
secretary of state.” He had openly urged Russia to interfere on his
behalf in a presidential election.

Soon, Russian support for Trump flooded in from all over. The
Internet Research Agency, a Russian organization that, according to a
Justice Department indictment, aims “to interfere with elections and
political processes,” had started producing, purchasing, and posting
pro-Trump ads on American social media. By July it had hired more
than eighty employees to put out ads to social media platforms such as
YouTube, Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter.32

Not everyone was in the dark. On July 30, the Guardian reported
on Trump’s ties to Russia and Manafort’s to pro-Putin forces in
Ukraine as they may have related to the changed Ukraine plank in the
GOP platform. In addition to the DNC hack, additional hacks against
the Democratic Congressional Campaign Committee and the Clinton
campaign had been reported. “The FBI is investigating, with all signs
pointing to Russian involvement,” the Guardian reported, adding that
“experts argue Vladimir Putin has attempted in the past to damage
western democracy, saying Russian security agencies have made
cyberattacks on French, Greek, Italian and Latvian targets during
elections.”33

On September 5, the Washington Post published a story by Dana
Priest, Ellen Nakashima, and Tom Hamburger reporting that “U.S.
intelligence and law enforcement agencies are investigating what they
see as a broad covert Russian operation in the United States to sow
public distrust in the upcoming presidential election and in U.S.
political institutions.” The article added that the Russian campaign
used cyberwarfare to hack computers used in politics and to spread
disinformation.34

At about the same time, Malcolm Nance published The Plot to Hack
America, exposing how the Russians were using cyberspies and
WikiLeaks to hack the DNC, the Clinton campaign, their friends and



allies in the media, and voter registration systems in no fewer than
twenty-five states. In October, the Financial Times35 presented
evidence that Trump SoHo had multiple ties to “an international
money-laundering network.” But the article, which was published
behind a paywall, was not widely picked up, and with so much other
reporting grabbing headlines, the issue of Trump’s laundering money
never dominated the national conversation.

But these reports were the exceptions. The ongoing drip, drip, drip
of thousands of emails being released throughout the campaign by
Guccifer and WikiLeaks commandeered the news cycles far more than
the revelations of the Russian intelligence operation.

Meanwhile, contacts between Russia and the Trump campaign
continued unabated, under cover of news instead of night. In August,
Manafort met with longtime aide Konstantin Kilimnik at a Manhattan
cigar bar, the Grand Havana Room, and “talked about bills unpaid by
[their] clients, about [the] overall situation in Ukraine . . . and about
the current news,” including the presidential campaign, according to a
statement by Kilimnik.36 In Ukraine, political foes charged that
Kilimnik might be working with Russian intelligence, but Kilimnik
told the Washington Post that his meetings with Manafort were
“private visits” and were “in no way related to politics or the
presidential campaign in the U.S.”37

Yet suspicions were raised when a jet linked to Oleg Deripaska
landed in New Jersey within hours of a meeting between Manafort and
Kilimnik.38 (A Deripaska spokeswoman told Vice News the billionaire
was not offered and did not receive briefings from Manafort.)39

In mid-August, Manafort resigned as campaign manager after it
was revealed that he’d received secret payments from Ukraine. A few
days later, however, on August 19, one of Manafort’s daughters,
Andrea Manafort Shand, texted a friend that the resignation was
merely for show. “So I got to the bottom of it,” she wrote, in texts
published by the Huffington Post.40 “As I suspected, my dad resigned
from being the public face of the campaign but is still very much
involved behind the scenes. He felt he was becoming a distraction.”



As for the campaign staff, Trump’s team merely shuffled the deck.
The media spotlighted newcomers Steve Bannon and Kellyanne
Conway, but Manafort continued to have influence. His deputy, Rick
Gates, who had been with him in Ukraine, moved to the Republican
National Committee, where he soon established himself as a player in
Trump’s circle.41

Delighting in the transgressions underlying the apparent chaos,
Roger Stone broadcast his complicity, appearing by phone on the Alex
Jones show, hosted by the noted conspiracy theorist/radio broadcaster
in April, and predicting that “devastating” revelations would be
forthcoming from WikiLeaks about the Clinton Foundation. On
August 21, Stone tweeted, “Trust me, it will soon [be] Podesta’s time in
the barrel.”42

In August, Stone, in an appearance at the Southwest Broward
Republican Organization in Florida, answered a question about what
he suspected would be the campaign’s “October surprise” by saying: “I
actually have communicated with [Julian] Assange. I believe the next
tranche of his documents pertain to the Clinton Foundation, but
there’s no telling what the October surprise may be.”43

“I expect Julian Assange and the WikiLeaks to drop a payload of
new documents on Hillary on a weekly basis fairly soon,” Stone said
later, in September, on Boston Herald Radio. He added he was in
touch with Assange “through an intermediary.”44

Stone was not the only Trump operative working with WikiLeaks.
Representatives of the site coordinated points of attack directly with
Donald Trump Jr. as well, with WikiLeaks emailing him on October
12, “Hey Donald, great to see you and your dad talking about our
publications.” (A couple of days earlier, Donald Trump had
proclaimed, “I love WikiLeaks!”)

“Strongly suggest your dad tweets this link if he mentions us,”
WikiLeaks wrote, directing Don Jr. to a link that suggested it would
help Trump supporters sort through the stolen documents.45 “There’s
many great stories the press are missing and we’re sure some of your
follows [sic] will find it,” WikiLeaks went on. “Btw we just released
Podesta Emails Part 4.”



Don Jr. didn’t respond to that message, but as the Wall Street
Journal’s Byron Tau pointed out, just fifteen minutes later the
candidate himself tweeted, “Very little pick-up by the dishonest media
of incredible information provided by WikiLeaks. So dishonest!
Rigged system!”

By this time, Donald Trump’s ties to WikiLeaks and the Russian
bots were fully operational and more than capable of coming to
Trump’s rescue when necessary. That became apparent on October 7,
when the Washington Post released the infamous video of Trump with
Billy Bush, then-host of the television show Access Hollywood, in
which Trump says about women that you can just “grab ’em by the
pussy.”

Within an hour of the story’s release, WikiLeaks was fighting to win
back control of the narrative by releasing hacked emails from the
account of Clinton campaign manager John Podesta.46 In addition, at
least 2,752 Twitter accounts from Russia’s Internet Research Agency
went into action on Trump’s behalf whenever they were necessary. On
September 17, Trump reversed his lies asserting that Obama had been
born in Kenya and declared instead that Obama “was born in the
United States, period.” Russian tweets came to the rescue, with
various Russian accounts now asserting that it was Hillary who started
the birther controversy.47

And so it went, Russian hackers and bots leading a supine press
corps by its nose. After all, it is far easier to write stories about hacked
emails that are delivered on a silver platter than to probe a
multifarious political conspiracy to sabotage a presidential election.

—
Thanks to Cambridge Analytica, Clinton’s campaign may have faced an
even bigger problem with Facebook than with Twitter bots. That’s
because the British data-mining company had made a deal with a
Russian-American academic named Aleksandr Kogan, who harvested
no fewer than fifty million people’s raw profiles from Facebook
without their permission, roughly thirty million of which contained
enough information to build psychographic profiles. The profiles had



been assembled with the premise that big data enabled clients to drill
into the psychology of individual voters, thereby allowing them to
identify the different types of American voters and shape their
behavior.48

It is difficult to assess the effectiveness of Cambridge Analytica’s
approach of microtargeting narrowly tailored messages to the
electorate. But, according to the Intercept, Alexander Nix, the head of
Cambridge Analytica, has claimed to “have a massive database of four
to five thousand data points on every adult in America.” Nix also
claimed that Trump campaign online ads were seen at least 1.5 billion
times.49

In the end, more than 126 million Facebook users were shown
Russian-generated election propaganda.50 “They were using 40–
50,000 different variants of ads every day that were continuously
measuring responses and then adapting and evolving based on that
response,” Martin Moore of King’s College London told the
Guardian.51 “It’s all done completely opaquely and they can spend as
much money as they like on particular locations because you can focus
on a five-mile radius or even a single demographic. Fake news is
important but it’s only one part of it. These companies have found a
way of transgressing 150 years of legislation that we’ve developed to
make elections fair and open.”

Absurd as some fake news seemed, much of it went viral when it
triggered Facebook algorithms that pushed the buttons of impassioned
Trump supporters. A case in point: a story that became known as
“Pizzagate” suggested that certain phrases in John Podesta’s hacked
emails were actually code words linked to a Democratic Party
pedophilia ring based in the basement of a Washington, DC, pizza
parlor. Ludicrous as the story was, it went viral on sites such as
Infowars.com, parts of Reddit, and various alt-right sites.52

The story, like others, had first started on Facebook. Which shined
a new light on a 2012 meeting Facebook CEO Mark Zuckerberg had
with Prime Minister Dmitry Medvedev in Moscow. They talked about
Facebook’s role in politics, and according to the Times, they joked
about its importance in the American presidential campaign.53



Suddenly, the joke was on America, and though most Americans didn’t
yet realize it, it had deadly serious consequences.

—
As he campaigned across the country, Trump occasionally addressed
the issue of his ties to Russia. “I mean I have nothing to do with
Russia,” he said told CBS Miami on July 27, 2016. “I don’t have any
jobs in Russia. I’m all over the world but we’re not involved in
Russia. . . . I have nothing to do with Russia, nothing to do, I never
met Putin, I have nothing to do with Russia whatsoever.”54

None of which placated Clinton. On September 26, when she and
Trump went head to head in the first presidential debate, Hillary
attacked: “I was so shocked when Donald publicly invited Putin to
hack into Americans. That is just unacceptable.”55

Nonetheless, Trump’s off-kilter response was enough for his
supporters. “I don’t think anybody knows it was Russia that broke into
the D.N.C.,” Trump said. “She’s saying Russia, Russia, Russia, but I
don’t—maybe it was. I mean, it could be Russia, but it could also be
China. It could also be lots of other people. It also could be somebody
sitting on their bed that weighs 400 pounds, O.K.?”

Finally, in the third debate, on October 19, about three weeks before
the election, it came to a head, with Clinton asserting that Putin liked
Trump “because he’d rather have a puppet as president of the United
States.”

Trump: No puppet. No puppet.
Clinton: And it’s pretty clear . . .
Trump: You’re the puppet!
Clinton: It’s pretty clear you won’t admit . . .
Trump: No, you’re the puppet.
Clinton: . . . that the Russians have engaged in cyberattacks against

the United States of America, that you encouraged espionage against
our people, that you are willing to spout the Putin line, sign up for his
wish list, break up NATO, do whatever he wants to do, and that you
continue to get help from him, because he has a very clear favorite in
this race. So I think that this is such an unprecedented situation.



We’ve never had a foreign government trying to interfere in our
election. We have 17—17 intelligence agencies, civilian and military,
who have all concluded that these espionage attacks, these
cyberattacks, come from the highest levels of the Kremlin and they are
designed to influence our election. I find that deeply disturbing.56

But the Russia issue got no traction, and was buried by sensational
but relatively insignificant reports of Trump’s horrifying
transgressions against women, Muslims, and immigrants—not to
mention the never-ending reports about Clinton’s emails.

For the most part, political pundits thought Clinton was so far
ahead that it didn’t matter, anyway. But on October 28, eleven days
before the election, then–FBI director James Comey announced in a
letter to Congress that as a result of an unrelated case, the FBI had
obtained additional emails that might relate to its investigation of
Hillary’s use of a private email server. It was soon revealed that the
emails were obtained as the result of an investigation into former
congressman Anthony Weiner.

Suddenly, the Hillary Clinton email case—and conversation—had
been reopened. In the end, after reviewing the new emails, Comey said
the FBI had not changed its conclusions. But so far as the general
public knew, Hillary was the only candidate being investigated.57

On October 27, polls were showing her with a reasonably
comfortable margin of six to nine points over Trump. But Clinton later
said, “Our analysis is that Comey’s letter—raising doubts that were
groundless, baseless, proven to be—stopped our momentum.”58

To complicate matters further, on October 31, just nine days before
the election, a New York Times headline—“Investigating Donald
Trump, FBI Sees No Clear Link to Russia”—seemed to exculpate
Trump entirely, when, in fact, the investigations were just beginning.59

But the electorate didn’t know that. Voters only knew that Hillary
was being hammered in the press, and Donald Trump always seemed
to skate free. The polls tightened. By November 3, that 7 percent
margin had closed to less than 3 percent.60

In the closing week before the election, Trump used Russia-backed
WikiLeaks as a battering ram against Hillary day after day. On October



31, in Warren, Michigan, Trump told a rally, “Did you see where, on
WikiLeaks, it was announced that they were paying protestors to be
violent, $1,500? . . . Did you see another one, another one came in
today? This WikiLeaks is like a treasure trove.”61

Then, on November 2, in Orlando: “Out today, WikiLeaks just came
out with a new one. Just a little while ago. It’s just been shown that a
rigged system with more collusion, possibly illegal, between the
Department of Justice, the Clinton campaign and the State
Department.”62

And on November 4, in Wilmington, Ohio: “Boy, I love reading
those WikiLeaks.”63

—
On November 5, three days before the presidential election, Ivanka
and Jared Kushner made a pilgrimage to the grave of the Chabad
rebbe Menachem Mendel Schneerson in the old Montefiore Cemetery
in Queens, New York. Known as the Ohel, the rebbe’s grave is
considered holy by followers of Chabad and is visited by tens of
thousands of people annually. Jared and Ivanka reportedly made a
special prayer for Ivanka’s father there, at the grave of a man whose
adherents believed he had not really died, that he was the messiah; a
man who had been the leader of a movement that somehow led
directly to Vladimir Putin.64

On November 8, Election Day, Russian hackers targeted election
systems in at least twenty-one states, mostly in the form of “assaults
on the vast back-end election apparatus—voter-registration
operations, state and local election databases, e-poll books and other
equipment.”65 Initially, the impact of these attacks was unclear.
Typical of the complaints, according to an election-monitoring group
called Election Protection, in a Democratic-leaning county in a swing
state, dozens of voters in Durham, North Carolina, were being told
they were ineligible to vote, even when they displayed valid
registration cards. Others were sent from one polling station to
another, only to be rejected again, or were told, incorrectly, they had
already voted.66



Months earlier, VR Systems, which provided information about
voting via ebooks for Durham, had been hacked by Russians. Without
VR’s information, which is used to verify voters’ eligibility, voters
would be unable to cast ballots at all.67

Still, all over America, the consensus was that Hillary would win.
According to Nate Silver’s FiveThirtyEight election site, nine of the top
ten pollsters had Hillary winning. Silver gave Trump a 28.6 percent
chance68 of winning, but that was far more generous than most of his
colleagues. Others gave Trump less than a 1 percent shot.69

Trump impressed friends as being relaxed and at ease with what he
characterized as a no-lose situation. “He was like, ‘Look, what do I
have to lose?’” Pastor Darrell Scott, CEO of the National Diversity
Coalition for Trump, told GQ.70 “‘I’m gambling with house money. You
know what I mean? If I win, great, I want to win; if I lose, what’s my
default position? The CEO of Trump International.’”

Even WikiLeaks was making plans for President Hillary Clinton. At
6:35 p.m., WikiLeaks wrote to Don Jr., “Hi Don if your father ‘loses’
we think it is much more interesting if he DOES NOT conceed [sic]
and spends time CHALLENGING the media and other types of rigging
that occurred—as he has implied that he might do.”71 If Trump
contested the election, WikiLeaks reportedly argued, that would help
Trump discredit the mainstream press and create a new media
network to serve his agenda.72

Uncharacteristically, the Trump campaign had booked its “victory
party,” if that’s what the evening held, not in a Trump property but at
the midtown Hilton just three blocks from Trump Tower because its
massive ballroom could hold three thousand people. According to GQ,
the setup, which was dominated by risers for camera crews and a large
press pen, looked as if it had been set up for a press conference more
than a celebration.73

By five p.m., the insiders at Fox News had begun working on the
corresponding narrative: Hillary Clinton was the forty-fifth president
of the United States. Within the network, all this was a closely guarded
secret that was shared largely with people who had to prepare graphics



and other materials. “Fox News declares Hillary Clinton elected
president,” read one graphic.

—
At 5:03, Fox News exit polls had Hillary winning Wisconsin and
Pennsylvania, two critical states that Trump needed. Fox political
anchor Bret Baier recalled, “They were saying, ‘You know, this is not
definitive, but it really looks like Clinton will pull it out by about 11
p.m. Eastern time.’”74

At 8:22, things still looked good for Clinton. As the votes rolled in,
the New York Times tweeted that Hillary had an 82 percent chance of
winning.75

But suddenly, the narrative changed. The exit polls, after all, were
not final tallies. At 9:30, it was clear that key states like North Carolina
and Florida were too close to call. By 9:40, the Times had lowered
Hillary’s chances of victory to 55 percent. Then, by 10:50, Trump had
captured two of the most important swing states, Ohio and Florida.
Then Utah and North Carolina went for Trump.

By 11:36, his supporters had begun chanting, “President Trump,
President Trump.”76

—
In some ways, it seemed that everything had come together better than
Putin could possibly have dreamed: three decades earlier, Mogilevich
and the Russian Mafia’s compromising of Trump had begun by
possibly using Trump real estate to launder their money. They had
bailed out Trump when he was bankrupt. They had ensnared him with
some form of kompromat, most likely, though in exactly what form is
unclear. They had ensured that he was beholden to Russia’s money,
and its power.

Meanwhile, the Gerasimov Doctrine had been implemented, and
with it a new kind of asymmetric warfare using hackers and
cyberattacks, disinformation and media manipulation. All done at
Putin’s behest, often by thinly disguised state actors, working hand in
hand with the FSB. All largely unseen. All done with deniability.



Accompanied by an almost Surkovian attempt to destroy the entire
notion of truth via cries of “Fake news!,” pathological lies, and right-
wing propaganda, fueled with the gasoline of social media, real and
robotic.

As to the impact of all the “active measures” undertaken by Russia
leading up to the 2016 election, it is difficult to quantify exactly how
much they changed the outcome of the presidential race. However,
according to the study by the University of California at Berkeley and
Swansea University in Wales, automated tweeting alone by thousands
of bots added 3.23 percentage points to Trump’s vote in the US
presidential race.77

Given Trump’s narrow victory in states such as Wisconsin,
Pennsylvania, and Michigan—states that were predicted to vote
Democratic but were won by Trump with a margin of less than 1
percent,78 and which put him over the top in the electoral college—it is
more than likely that the Russian interference made the difference.

—
As midnight neared on election night, things were going so well for
Trump’s forces that an unlikely personage emerged at the Hilton. Even
during the campaign, Felix Sater had continued to work with Michael
Cohen in an effort to get Trump Tower Moscow going well into the
presidential campaign, all the while cultivating contacts ranging from
intelligence officials to Arkady and Boris Rotenberg, the two
billionaire brothers who had been Putin’s judo sparring partners. But
on July 26, Trump tweeted that he had “ZERO investments in Russia”
and the Trump Tower Moscow project was dead.

Trump, of course, had claimed in a deposition that he barely knew
Sater. Now, though, on the most significant night of Trump’s political
life, Sater was back in his good graces and was a guest at the
invitation-only victory party for the next president of the United
States.

At 1:50 a.m., Trump took Pennsylvania, meaning his election was
all but certain. Finally, at 2:29 a.m., came Wisconsin, a state that had
not gone Republican since 1984. Then, in a statement that had been



unexpected only hours before, the Associated Press officially called
Donald Trump the next president of the United States.

Three minutes later, at 9:32 local time in Moscow, Deputy
Vyacheslav Nikonov of the pro-Putin United Russia Party, the
grandson of the namesake of the Molotov cocktail, was greeted by
enthusiastic applause when he announced Trump’s victory in the
Duma.79 Vladimir Putin’s implementation of one of the most
audacious intelligence operations in history had been successful
beyond his wildest dreams.

Later that day, Vladimir Vinokur, Putin’s favorite comedian and a
longtime associate of Mogilevich and the Solntsevo gang, posted a
collage of two photos on Instagram. One of the photos showed
Vinokur chatting amiably with Putin. The other showed the Russian
comic with Trump. “We won!” it said. “Congratulations!”

A new era had begun.



TRUMP’S FIFTY-NINE RUSSIA CONNECTIONS

Donald Trump has repeatedly said he has nothing to do with Russia.
Below are fifty-nine Trump connections to Russia.

1. Roman Abramovich
Putin confidant/billionaire who, along with fellow oligarch Lev
Leviev, created the Putin-approved Federation of Jewish
Communities of Russia under the leadership of Chabad rabbi
Berel Lazar, aka “Putin’s rabbi.” Ivanka Trump is close to
Abramovich’s ex-wife, Dasha Zhukova, and has taken several trips
with the Abramoviches, including a trip to Russia in 2014 as their
guest.1

2. Aras Agalarov
A billionaire Russian real estate developer who is close to Putin,
Agalarov partnered with Trump in bringing the Miss Universe
pageant to Moscow and was a serious potential partner behind the
never-built Trump Tower Moscow. Agalarov remained in contact
with Trump after Miss Universe and during the 2016 presidential
campaign.

3. Emin Agalarov
Son of Aras Agalarov, pop singer Emin performed at the 2013
Miss Universe pageant, got Donald Trump to appear in one of his
music videos, and was a key figure in arranging the infamous
June 2016 meetings in Trump Tower between Russian operatives
and top Trump associates.

4. Evsei Agron



The first alleged boss of the Russian Mafia in Brighton Beach,
Agron came to New York in 1975 and ran his crime gang out of
Brooklyn’s El Caribe Country Club, which was owned by Dr.
Morton Levine and his family, including nephew Michael Cohen,
Trump’s lawyer.

5. Rinat Akhmetshin
Former Soviet counterintelligence officer who became a K Street
lobbyist working to end sanctions. Akhmetshin attended the
Trump Tower meeting with Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort,
and others in June 2016 at which a Russian lawyer promised to
provide opposition research on Hillary Clinton. According to the
New York Times, Akhmetshin had also worked in Kiev with
Konstantin Kilimnik, an aide to Paul Manafort who had a
background in Russian intelligence.

6. Tevfik Arif
One of the billionaire oligarchs behind the Bayrock Group, the
real estate development company, whose offices were in Trump
Tower. Prior to the dissolution of the Soviet Union, Arif worked
for the KGB-linked Ministry of Commerce and Trade.

7. Marat Balagula
Evsei Agron’s alleged successor as head of the Brighton Beach
Mafia, Balagula was suspected of having ordered the hit on Agron,
but was never charged and moved into Agron’s former office in
the El Caribe Country Club, which was still owned by Michael
Cohen and his uncle. Balagula partnered with David Bogatin, who
had previously purchased five apartments in Trump Tower.

8. Boris Birshtein
Russian-Canadian who founded Seabeco SA with KGB operatives
and under KGB guidelines to set up corporations abroad. Worked
with son-in-law Alex Shnaider (who later built Trump Tower in
Toronto) and two-thirds of the Eurasian Natural Resources
Corporation’s Trio (Patokh Chodiev and Alexander Mashkevich).
Birshtein hosted the famous 1995 summit meeting in Tel Aviv, at



which Semion Mogilevich was allotted an enormous share of the
Ukraine energy trade.

9. David Bogatin
One of the pioneers behind the Red Daisy gas tax scam, Bogatin
bought five apartments in Trump Tower for $6 million in 1984, in
the process becoming the first alleged Russian mobster to launder
money through Trump Tower. Donald Trump personally sold the
apartments to Bogatin.

10. Jacob Bogatin
Key member of the Mogilevich Russian organized crime family
who was indicted for his involvement in Mogilevich’s YBM
Magnex stock scam. Brother of David Bogatin.

11. Oleg Boyko
Russian oligarch who was close to Boris Yeltsin and who
purchased a Trump Tower apartment in 1994, which he later sold
to Vadim Trincher.2

12. Mikhail Chernoy
Billionaire oligarch who ran Trans-World Group with his brother,
Lev; gained control of Russia’s aluminum industry; and acquired
a huge stake in processing and distributing other metals and
petroleum products. Chernoy allegedly defrauded the Russian
central bank of more than $100 million, and is believed by the FBI
to be a major Russian crime figure.3 In the nineties, Chernoy
worked with the Chodiev Group. Chernoy also worked with
Semyon Kislin, who had a long relationship with Trump and who
partnered with Tamir Sapir, a financier of Trump SoHo.

13. Vitaly Churkin
Russian ambassador to the UN. Churkin met Trump in 1986 and
along with Yuri Dubinin set up the trip Trump took to Moscow in
1987. Churkin died in 2017 in New York.

14. Michael Cohen



Donald Trump’s personal lawyer. Cohen and his extended family,
through his uncle, owned El Caribe Country Club in Brooklyn,
which provided an alleged base of operations for the Russian
Mafia in Brooklyn. In 1999, Cohen received a mysterious check for
$350,000 that reportedly was intended for one of the leaders of
the Izmaylovskaya Organized Crime Group. Both Cohen and his
brother Bryan married Ukrainian women, and Bryan’s father-in-
law, Alex Oronov, partnered with Viktor Topolov, an oligarch who
employed three executives who were allegedly part of the Russian
Mafia, including one enforcer who was tied to Mogilevich and
admitted to taking part in at least twenty murders.4

15. Oleg Deripaska
Russian oligarch and founder and owner of Basic Element, a huge
diversified industrial group. Close to Putin. Paid Trump campaign
manager Paul Manafort $10 million per year to advance Putin’s
global agenda. Manafort owed Deripaska nearly $19 million after
a failed business deal, but that debt was said to have been forgiven
after Manafort offered Deripaska secret briefings on the Trump
campaign. Has admitted that, at times, he has had to collaborate
with suspected mobsters because he had no choice but to work
with such people. Also employed David Geovanis, who in 1996
helped arrange meetings for Trump in Moscow with key Russian
figures regarding a potential Trump Tower there.5

16. Natalia Dubinina
Daughter of Yuri Dubinin who was already living in New York as
part of the Soviet delegation to the UN when her father became
Soviet ambassador to the UN in March 1986. Stated that there
was a determined effort by the Soviet government to seek out
Trump. At a time when KGB chief Vladimir Kryuchkov had been
complaining about the failure to recruit enough American agents,
Dubinina played a key role in setting up a meeting with Trump
and encouraging him to come to Moscow.

17. Yuri Dubinin



As Soviet ambassador to the UN, Dubinin met Trump and invited
him to Moscow in 1987. The trip was arranged by Intourist, which
was essentially a branch of the KGB whose job was to spy on high-
profile tourists. As a result, Trump’s entire visit, including his
hotel stay, would have been subject to surveillance by the KGB.6
Dubinin later became Soviet ambassador to the US.

18. Dmitry Firtash
Ukrainian oligarch who is alleged to have partnered with and is
considered a front man for Semion Mogilevich in “opaque
intermediary companies” that siphoned off billions of dollars from
the Ukraine energy trade. Supporter of the pro-Putin Party of
Regions, which backs such policies. Also partnered with Paul
Manafort on an abortive deal involving New York’s Drake Hotel.

19. Michael Flynn
Foreign policy adviser to Trump during the campaign who later
became Trump’s short-lived national security adviser. Met with
GRU chief Igor Sergun in Moscow in 20137 and gave a speech to
new hires at GRU headquarters. Was paid $45,000 by RT for a
speech in late 2015, and was seated near Putin at an RT dinner.

20. Rick Gates
When Paul Manafort became Trump’s campaign manager, Gates,
as Manafort’s partner, became the campaign’s number two, after
having worked closely with Manafort for pro-Putin forces in
Ukraine. In 2017, Gates was charged with conspiracy against the
United States, making false statements, money laundering, and
failing to register as a foreign agent as required by the Foreign
Agents Registration Act. In 2018, Gates pleaded guilty to one
count of making false statements and one count of conspiracy
against the United States.

21. David Geovanis
As head of real estate for a subsidiary of the Brooke Group,*
Geovanis arranged meetings for Trump during his 1996 Moscow



trip to explore building Trump Tower Moscow. Later went to work
for Oleg Deripaska’s Basic Element.

22. Rob Goldstone
Music promoter who represents Emin Agalarov. Helped arrange
the infamous Trump Tower meeting in June 2016 in which
representatives of the Russian government offered the Trump
campaign “dirt” on Hillary Clinton. Extended an invitation to
Trump in the summer of 2015 to a party for Agalarov with the
possibility of meeting Putin. Attended Trump’s 2013 Miss
Universe pageant.

23. Anatoly Golubchik
Sentenced to five years in prison in 2014 for his role in the $100
million gambling ring being run out of Trump Tower.8 Owned a
condo in Trump International Beach Resort and appeared in the
Panama Papers as part of a shell company that has the same
corporate director as a company owned by Mogilevich and ex-
wife, Galina Telesh.

24. Vyacheslav “Yaponchik” Ivankov
One of the last of the old-time vory, Ivankov took over the
Brighton Beach Mafia in 1992 and became one of the most
powerful mobsters in the US. Connected to Putin through Leonid
Usvyatsov, Putin’s judo coach who happened to be a mobster.
Owned 25 percent stake in Mogilevich’s company Arbat.
Mogilevich flew into New York on occasion to meet with Ivankov.
FBI agents looked all over Brooklyn for Ivankov—only to find that
he lived in Trump Tower. Ivankov also made frequent visits to
Trump’s Taj Mahal casino in Atlantic City.

25. Irakly Kaveladze
Longtime US-based associate of Aras Agalarov’s real estate firm,
the Crocus Group, Kaveladze attended the June 2016 meeting in
Trump Tower among Donald Trump Jr., Paul Manafort, Jared
Kushner, and the Russians. At one point, he claimed he’d
attended as a translator, but another translator was present. In



truth, he was there as a representative of the Agalarovs. In the
nineties Kaveladze’s company International Business Creations
established more than two thousand Delaware-based shell
companies and laundered more than $1.4 billion in cash.9

26. Viktor Khrapunov
A former Kazakh energy minister and ex-mayor of Almaty, the
biggest city in Kazakhstan, Khrapunov was charged with
conspiring to systematically steal billions of dollars of public
assets and laundering the money through shell companies,
including three corresponding to apartments in Trump SoHo.
Khrapunov has denied the allegations.

27. Konstantin Kilimnik
Started working for Paul Manafort in 2005 when Manafort was
representing Ukrainian oligarch Rinat Akhmetov, a gig that
morphed into a long-term contract with Viktor Yanukovych, the
Kremlin-aligned hard-liner who became president of Ukraine.
Studied at the First Department of the Moscow Military Red-
Banner Institute of the Ministry of Defense of the USSR, which
trained interpreters for the Russian military intelligence agency.10

Made two trips to meet with Manafort during the 2016
presidential election regarding the Trump campaign, and the
possibility that Manafort would give briefings to Oleg Deripaska.
Also opened a consulting firm in 2015 that had ties to Cambridge
Analytica, the data firm that helped elect Trump.11

28. Semyon “Sam” Kislin
In the late seventies, Trump bought hundreds of television sets for
the Commodore Hotel (now the Grand Hyatt) from Kislin, a
Ukrainian immigrant who became a billionaire. Partnered with
Tamir Sapir, whose Sapir Organization worked with Bayrock and
financed Trump SoHo. As a commodities trader, Kislin was tied to
Mikhail and Lev Chernoy and, according to the FBI, to Vyacheslav
Ivankov’s gang in Brighton Beach.12 Kislin has denied having ties
to the Russian mob.



29. Sergey Kislyak
Russian ambassador to the US who had a number of secret
meetings and communications with Trump campaign officials,
including General Mike Flynn and Senator Jeff Sessions. During
the Republican National Convention, Kislyak had two brief
encounters with Trump foreign policy adviser J. D. Gordon, who
was a key figure in rewriting—and weakening—the Ukraine plank
in the Republican platform.

30. Simon Kukes
Bought an apartment in Trump Parc in 2000 and contributed
more than $280,000 to various Trump entities. Picked by Putin
to head Yukos Oil, replacing Putin foe Mikhail Khodorkovsky.
Shortly after the Trump Tower Russian meeting, Kukes started
making major contributions to the Trump campaign as well as the
Republican National Committee.

31. Bennett LeBow
Founder and chairman of the Brooke Group. LeBow and Howard
Lorber, president of the Brooke Group, accompanied Trump on
his 1996 trip to Moscow.

32. Lev Leviev
An Israeli billionaire close to Putin, Leviev made his fortune by
cracking the world diamond monopoly of the De Beers cartel. Has
several ties to Trump, among them a business relationship with
Jared Kushner, who bought four floors of the old New York Times
Building, on West Forty-Third Street, from Leviev for $295
million.13 In addition, Leviev was closely tied to the late Trump
SoHo financier Tamir Sapir through Sapir’s son-in-law Rotem
Rosen, who was the CEO of the American branch of Africa Israel,
Leviev’s holding company, and who also became CEO of the Sapir
Organization. One of Chabad’s biggest patrons worldwide, Leviev
allied with Roman Abramovich to create the Federation of Jewish
Communities of Russia under the leadership of Chabad rabbi
Berel Lazar, who would come to be known as “Putin’s rabbi.”



33. Howard Lorber
President of the Brooke Group. Lorber and Brooke CEO Bennett
LeBow accompanied Trump to Moscow in 1996.

34. Yuri Luzhkov
As mayor of Moscow, Luzhkov was tied to Mogilevich and
cultivated a reputation for corruption that was summed up by
John Beyrle, then US ambassador to Russia, in a 2010 cable to
Washington. “Corruption in Moscow remains pervasive with
Mayor Luzhkov at the top of the pyramid,” Beyrle wrote. “Luzhkov
oversees a system in which it appears that almost everyone at
every level is involved in some form of corruption or criminal
behavior.” Trump’s meetings in Moscow city hall to discuss major
developments in Moscow took place under Luzhkov’s aegis.14

35. Paul Manafort
Before becoming Trump’s campaign manager, Paul Manafort had
been hired by Ukraine’s pro-Putin Party of Regions to do an
“extreme makeover” of Viktor Yanukovych that succeeded in
making him president—only to see Yanukovych later exiled in
disgrace. Manafort worked for oligarchs Oleg Deripaska and Rinat
Akhmetov. As early as 2005, Manafort proposed to influence
politics, business dealings, and news coverage inside the United
States, Europe, and former Soviet republics to Putin’s benefit. He
is alleged to have hidden $75 million in offshore accounts,15 at
least one of which has ties to Mogilevich.

36. Alexander Mashkevich
Kazakh billionaire who, with Patokh Chodiev and Alijan
Ibragimov, is part of the Troika, or Trio, as they are known, major
stockholders in the Eurasian Natural Resources Corporation,
which controls chromium, alumina, and gas operations in
Kazakhstan. Along with Chodiev, Mashkevich worked at Boris
Birshtein’s KGB-linked Seabeco16 and was tied up with the
Russian Mafia through their alliance with the Chernoys in the
Aluminum Wars. He is listed in Bayrock’s promotional literature



as a primary financial backer, but it is unclear if Mashkevich
actually backed Bayrock projects.

37. Sergei Mikhailov
Alleged to be the longtime head of Solntsevskaya Bratva, the
biggest crime gang in Russia, and an associate of Semion
Mogilevich, who is said to have laundered money for him starting
in 1984. According to one denizen of the Russian underworld,
Mikhailov is very much the boss and is more powerful that
Mogilevich, who, as the brains of the operation, laundered vast
amounts of money and came up with its most sophisticated
financial scams, which is why Mikhailov has partnered in at least
eight companies with Mogilevich. Mikhailov’s ties to Trump
largely run through Mogilevich, but in 2013 Mikhailov was said to
be interested in backing a Trump Tower development in Moscow
and allegedly met with Trump representatives at the Ukraine
hotel in Moscow.

38. Semion Mogilevich
Ukrainian-born alleged “Brainy Don” of the Russian Mafia, with a
multibillion-dollar organization allegedly involved in the sale of
nuclear materials to terrorists, human trafficking and
prostitution, drugs, and money laundering. In a 1995 Tel Aviv
meeting, Mogilevich was awarded a controlling stake in
RosUkrEnergo by fellow mobsters, thereby securing the franchise
to siphon off untold riches from the Ukraine-Russia energy trade.
Has close ties to Yuri Luzhkov, the former mayor of Moscow;
Leonid Derkach, former head of the Security Service of Ukraine;
and Vladimir Putin. In 1992, Mogilevich sent Vyacheslav Ivankov
to New York to oversee expansion of the Mafia into the US. Trump
partner Felix Sater was said to be Mogilevich’s shammes—i.e., his
errand boy.

39. Hillel “Helly” Nahmad
An art dealer who started buying apartments in Trump Tower in
1999, eventually taking over a full floor. Nahmad was a leader of
the Nahmad-Trincher Organization, which operated



“international sports books” that laundered more than $100
million out of the former Soviet Union, through shell companies
in Cyprus, and into investments in the United States in an
enterprise that was based in Trump Tower. The entire operation,
prosecutors say, was protected by Alimzhan Tokhtakhounov.

40. Eduard Nektalov
A diamond dealer from Uzbekistan, Nektalov, who bought a
condo in Trump World Tower directly below Kellyanne Conway,
came under investigation by the US Treasury Department for
mob-connected money laundering. In 2004, after rumors
circulated that Nektalov might cave in and cooperate with federal
investigators, he was murdered on Sixth Avenue.17

41. Alexandre Ventura Nogueira
Primary broker of the Trump Ocean Club in Panama, Nogueira
marketed the Trump-branded units to Russians, among others
with criminal pasts.

42. Carter Page
Foreign policy adviser to the Trump campaign. Traveled to
Moscow in July 2016 during the presidential election and met
with senior Russian officials and influential oligarchs. Was
approached in 2013 by Russian intelligence officials who were
trying to recruit him. Page met with a Russian spy in 2013 and
supplied research materials.

43. George Papadopoulos
A foreign policy adviser to the Trump campaign, Papadopoulos
triggered the FBI investigation into Trump’s collusion with Russia
when he told an Australian top diplomat that Russia had political
dirt on Hillary Clinton. In March 2016, Papadopoulos met with
Joseph Mifsud, a Maltese professor who had valuable contacts
with the Russian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in hopes of setting
up a meeting between Trump and Putin.

44. Sergei Polonsky



A flamboyant six-foot-four Russian real estate oligarch, Polonsky
was convicted of fraud in 2017. While still associated with Donald
Trump, Felix Sater served as an adviser to Polonsky in Mirax
Group, which partnered with Sistema, a conglomerate tied to
Mogilevich. Polonsky also partnered with Moscow mayor Yuri
Luzhkov, a Mogilevich crony.

45. Vadim Rabinovich
A pro-Russia Ukrainian oligarch and Mogilevich lieutenant who
spent seven years in jail for embezzlement, Rabinovich attended
the famous 1995 Russian Mafia summit in Tel Aviv at which
Mogilevich was granted a generous share of the Ukraine energy
trade. A year later, in 1996, Rabinovich hung around with his
partners Howard Lorber and Bennett LeBow as they showed
Trump around town.

46. Vladimir Rezin
In 1996, Trump began negotiations with Rezin, the first deputy
mayor of Moscow, to build a $300 million luxury residential
complex. Like all of Trump’s proposed projects in Moscow, it
never came to fruition.

47. Rotem Rosen
Chief lieutenant of real estate magnate Lev “King of Diamonds”
Leviev, Rosen married Zina Sapir, daughter of Tamir Sapir, who
founded the Sapir Organization, which backed Trump SoHo.
Attended Trump’s 2013 Miss Universe pageant in Moscow in
hopes of negotiating a Trump Tower Moscow. His son’s 2008 bris
was touted by New York magazine as “the best bris invite ever.”
Attendees included Donald Trump, daughter Ivanka, and her
husband-to-be, Jared Kushner.

48. Dmitry Rybolovlev
Russia’s “fertilizer king,” Rybolovlev owns a 3.3 percent stake in
the Bank of Cyprus, alleged to be a haven for money laundering.
In 2008, he purchased a mega-mansion from Trump in Palm



Beach for $95 million, which Trump had purchased four years
earlier for $40 million.

49. Tamir Sapir
An impoverished immigrant turned billionaire, Sapir partnered
with Semyon Kislin, who, according to the FBI, was a “member or
associate” of Vyacheslav Ivankov’s mob in Brighton Beach. Like
Kislin, Sapir likely made his money through ties to Uzbek oligarch
Mikhail Chernoy. Lived in Trump Tower, and partnered with
Bayrock and Trump on Trump SoHo. Sapir denied having any
mob ties. Died in 2014.

50. Felix Sater
Bayrock’s international man of mystery, Sater was born in the
Soviet Union in 1966. As managing director of Bayrock Group, he
partnered with Trump and made various stabs at developing
Trump Tower Moscow. Cooperated with the government after
pleading guilty to racketeering for his role in a $40 million stock
fraud scheme in 1998. His father was said to be a lieutenant in
Mogilevich’s organization and did business with the Italian Mafia
in New York. Childhood friend of Trump lawyer Michael Cohen.
Served as a government asset who helped the US track terrorists
and mobsters, but is also alleged to be working with Mogilevich.
Accompanied Ivanka Trump and Donald Jr. on a 2006 Russia
trip, in which he said he arranged for Ivanka to spin around in
Putin’s chair in the Kremlin.

51. Alex Shnaider
In the early 2000s, he began to develop the tallest building in
Canada, the sixty-five-story Trump Tower and Hotel in Toronto.
When it came to financing the skyscraper, Shnaider, a billionaire
of Russian extraction, turned to Raiffeisen Bank International AG
in Vienna,18 whose affiliate company was said to be a front for
RosUkrEnergo. Shnaider is also the son-in-law of Boris Birshtein
and worked at Birshtein’s KGB-tied company, Seabeco.

52. Eric Sitarchuk



As an attorney, Sitarchuk represented Mogilevich lieutenant
Jacob Bogatin during the YBM Magnex scandal and, many years
later, Donald Trump himself as owner of the Trump International
Hotel in DC, when a wine bar argued that the president’s
ownership of the hotel constituted an unfair competitive
advantage.19

53. Roger Stone
A close Trump ally for decades, Stone represented Trump when he
moved into the gambling industry in the eighties. Served as
adviser to the Trump campaign during the 2016 election.
Communicated directly and indirectly with WikiLeaks in order to
obtain dirt on Hillary Clinton and hacked emails before the
election.

54. Gennady Timchenko
Yet another judoka pal of Putin’s who ended up a billionaire, in
this case as chairman of the Gunvor oil-trading firm, with a net
worth of $15.6 billion.20 Cited as a member of Putin’s inner circle,
Timchenko has been subject to sanctions. As an owner of Sibur, a
large gas company, he is one of the biggest clients of Navigator
Holdings, a shipping firm partly owned by Trump’s commerce
secretary Wilbur Ross.21

55. Vadim Trincher
Along with Alimzhan Tokhtakhounov, Anatoly Golubchik, and
Hillel Nahmad, Trincher was a leader of two Russian-American
organized crime families—the Taiwanchik-Trincher Organization
and the Nahmad-Trincher Organization—which ran
“international sports books” that laundered more than $100
million out of the former Soviet Union. They operated out of the
sixty-third floor of Trump Tower until they were busted in 2013.

56. Alimzhan “Taiwanchik” Tokhtakhounov
Another ringleader of the Taiwanchik-Trincher Organization,
Tokhtakhounov has allegedly spent more than three decades
working with Mogilevich and the Solntsevo Organization, dating



back to the early eighties, when he hung out with Mogilevich and
Mikhailov at the Legendary Hotel Sovietsky in the Moscow suburb
of Solntsevo. He was indicted for conspiring to fix the ice-skating
competition at the 2002 Winter Olympics. After the bust of the
gambling ring in Trump Tower in April 2013, he surfaced in
November at the Miss Universe pageant in Moscow near Donald
Trump.

57. Viktor Vekselberg
A member of Putin’s inner circle, Vekselberg is the largest
shareholder in the Bank of Cyprus,22 investing in it at a time when
Wilbur Ross, who has since become Trump’s secretary of
commerce, was the bank’s vice chairman.

58. Natalia Veselnitskaya
A Russian attorney for Denis Katsys’s Cyprus-based Prevezon
Holdings, Veselnitskaya set up the June 2016 meeting in Trump
Tower with Donald Trump Jr., Jared Kushner, and Paul
Manafort, among others. Veselnitskaya has been an informant to
Yuri Chaika, the prosecutor general of Russia. The meeting held
forth the promise of handing over damaging information on
Hillary Clinton to the Trump campaign, as well as addressing the
possibility of lifting sanctions against Russia. Closely aligned with
the Agalarovs.

59. Viktor Yanukovych
Elected president of Ukraine after being completely remade as a
candidate by Paul Manafort. Earned a reputation as a “Putin
puppet,” and was ousted in 2014, and exiled to Russia. Manafort,
Rick Gates, and Konstantin Kilimnik all worked for Yanukovych
for more than a decade—in return for tens of millions of dollars.



Vladimir Putin (left) and Donald Trump (right) during the G8 meeting. Putin has denied
interference in the 2016 US presidential election, while the state media he controls has
claimed, “Trump is ours.” (Evan Vucci/AP)



Donald Trump and his late mentor Roy Cohn in 1984. “I don’t want to know what the law is,”
Cohn famously said, “I want to know who the judge is.” (Bettmann/Getty Images)



The Torturers’ Lobby: Back in 1985, Paul Manafort and Roger Stone were young political
operatives who reveled in taking on dictators as clients. Trump was an early client for the duo.
Many years later, Stone advised Trump during the 2016 campaign while Manafort became
Trump’s campaign manager. (Harry Naltchayan/The Washington Post/Getty Images)



Political operative Roger Stone split with the Donald Trump campaign but allegedly played a
major role in WikiLeaks’ leaking of the DNC’s hacked emails during the presidential election.
(Jesse Dittmar/The New York Times/Redux Pictures)



Brighton Beach Russian mobster Boris Nayfeld, one of the last of the old-time vory, provided
muscle for both Evsei Agron, who was murdered, and his successor, Marat Balagula, in the
eighties. (Seth Wenig/AP)



Brutal mobster Vyacheslav “Yaponchik” Ivankov was a high-level associate of Semion
Mogilevich, a “thief-in-law,” and a Trump Tower resident. Ivankov made frequent visits to
Trump’s Taj Mahal. (TASS/ZUMA Press/Newscom)



Left to right: Semion Mogilevich, Sergei Mikhailov, and Viktor Averin. According to Interpol,
Mikhailov and Averin ran the huge Solntsevo crime gang, but Mogilevich was the “Brainy
Don” who introduced sophisticated finance to the Russian Mafia. (Courtesy of The Insider)



Russian president Vladimir Putin on the cover of a judo book he coauthored in 2014. Putin
uses the principles of judo as a political philosophy. “Judo teaches self-control, the ability to
feel the moment, to see the opponent’s strengths and weaknesses, to strive for the best
results.” (Sergey Ponomarev/The New York Times/Redux Pictures)



Russian president Vladimir Putin (left) and billionaire Arkady Rotenberg (right) at the funeral
of Putin’s former judo trainer Anatoly Rakhlin in August 2009. Rotenberg and his brother
Boris were childhood judo sparring partners of Putin’s who became billionaire oligarchs.
(Sasha Mordovets/Getty Images)



Mayor Anatoly Sobchak (right) and his assistant Vladimir Putin (left) attend a meeting of the
St. Petersburg city legislature in 1993. At a time when billions of dollars’ worth of Russia’s
natural resources were being privatized, Putin had a low-profile but powerful position.
(Mikhail Razuvaev/Kommersant/Sipa USA)



Oleg Kalugin, former head of foreign counter-intelligence for the KGB and Putin’s former
boss, says Russian intelligence probably had kompromat on Donald Trump from Trump’s
visit to Russia in 1987. (© RIA Novosti/The Image Works)



Donald Trump and his ex-wife Ivana Trump in Leningrad in 1987, during Trump’s first trip to
the Soviet Union. The trip was arranged by Soviet ambassador Yuri Dubinin through
Intourist, a Soviet travel agency said to have had KGB ties. (Maxim Blokhin/ZUMA
Press/Newscom)



Putin assumed power in 2000 and has tightened his grip on Russia by rewarding his inner
circle and eliminating anyone who poses a threat to him. (Sergei Ilnitsky/AFP/Getty Images)



Russian president Vladimir Putin (left) and Chief Rabbi of Russia Berel Lazar at a flower-
laying ceremony at Red Square, November 4, 2015. Lazar’s Chabad-dominated Federation of
Jewish Communities of Russia, which was funded in part by two Putin confidantes, Lev Leviev
and Roman Abramovich, also had direct ties to Trump. (© RIA Novosti/The Image Works)



President Donald J. Trump meets with a delegation organized by the American Friends of
Lubavitch (Chabad), March 27, 2018. Jared Kushner, Felix Sater, and many other Trump
associates provide a link to Putin via Chabad. (SMG/ZUMA Press/Newscom)



Russian president Vladimir Putin hands over a medal to singer Iosif Kobzon, aka “the Russian
Sinatra,” during an awards ceremony in the Kremlin in Moscow, August 29, 2012. Kobzon is
said to be a longtime favorite of Russian mobsters, often providing entertainment at events
attended by members affiliated with the Russian Mafia. (Misha Japaridze/AFP/Getty
Images)



Russian prime minister Vladimir Putin (center) with two of his closest confidantes, aluminum
oligarch Oleg Deripaska (left) and finance minister Viktor Vekselberg. Deripaska was
promised Trump campaign briefings during the 2016 US presidential election by Paul
Manafort, Trump’s campaign manager. Vekselberg met Trump lawyer Michael Cohen after the
election, and made a large contribution to Trump’s inaugural fund shortly thereafter.
(Konstantin Zavrazhin/Getty Images)



Alexander Litvinenko in the intensive care unit of University College Hospital in London,
England, on November 20, 2006, three days before his death. The 43-year-old former KGB
spy exposed Russian president Putin’s ties to Semion Mogilevich and was poisoned with
radioactive polonium-210 shortly afterward. He accused Putin of involvement in poisoning
him. (Natasja Weitsz/Getty Images)



The tombstone of Russian lawyer Sergei Magnitsky, who was hired by Hermitage Capital’s Bill
Browder to investigate a $230 million tax fraud. For his efforts, Magnitsky was jailed,
tortured, and killed while in a Russian prison—leading the US Congress and European Union
to pass sanctions that targeted Russian human rights abusers. (Andrey Smirnov/AFP/Getty
Images)



Paul Klebnikov, the editor of Forbes magazine’s Russian edition and author of a book about
tycoon Boris Berezovsky. Klebnikov was shot to death in Moscow in 2004. Despite pressure
from the US government, Russia has failed to fully investigate the murder. (Misha
Japaridze/AP)



People light candles next to a portrait of Russian journalist Anna Politkovskaya during a rally
in St. Petersburg on October 8, 2006. Politkovskaya, an outspoken critic of President Vladimir
Putin, was shot dead at her apartment block in central Moscow. (Alexander
Demianchuk/Reuters)



Russian president Dmitry Medvedev (left) speaks with his Ukrainian counterpart, Viktor
Yanukovych, and Prime Minister Vladimir Putin on September 24, 2011. Paul Manafort
helped get the pro-Putin Yanukovych elected and remained with him for years. (Sergei
Karpukhin/AFP/Getty Images)



Ukrainian president Viktor Yushchenko listens to Prime Minister Tymoshenko during a
meeting with representatives of local governments in Kiev. President Yushchenko suffered
dioxin poisoning while running against Yanukovych during the presidential election of 2004.
(Mykhailo Markiv/Reuters)



Police officers lead former Ukrainian prime minister Yulia Tymoshenko out of the courtroom
after a court upheld her conviction, which was condemned as politically motivated by the
West. Tymoshenko was found guilty of abuse of office and overstepping her authority while
negotiating a natural gas contract with Russia in 2009. (Efrem Lukatsky/AP)



Ukrainians mark the second anniversary of the Euromaidan Revolution, which resulted in
President Yanukovych’s fleeing Ukraine to Russia under the protection of the Kremlin. One
hundred thirty civilians and eighteen police officers were killed during the protests.
(NurPhoto/Getty Images)



Dmitry Firtash (right), one of Ukraine’s richest men, with Ukrainian president Viktor
Yanukovych (left). Allegedly associated with Semion Mogilevich, Firtash made millions off the
Ukraine energy trade, some of which went to Trump campaign manager Paul Manafort.
(Mykhailo Markiv/Reuters)



Former Trump campaign manager Paul Manafort worked for Ukrainian president Viktor
Yanukovych and the pro-Putin Party of Regions for nearly a decade to help implement
Russian interests. (Yuri Gripas/Reuters)



Donald Trump, Tevfik Arif, and Felix Sater attend the Trump SoHo launch party on
September 19, 2007, in New York. Bayrock Group, the developer of Trump SoHo, was
cofounded by Arif and Sater. The latter was a convicted felon who was involved in a money-
laundering scam with the Mafia prior to Bayrock. (Mark Von Holden/WireImage/Getty
Images)



Left to right: Eric Trump, Tevfik Arif, Donald Trump Jr., Ivanka Trump, Donald Trump,
Tamir Sapir, Alex Sapir, Julius Schwarz, and Zina Sapir attend a press conference at the
Trump SoHo construction site on September 19, 2007. Trump SoHo was involved in a lawsuit
claiming it was partly funded from “questionable sources” in Russia and Kazakhstan. (Clint
Spaulding/Patrick McMullan/Getty Images)



In September 2012, Russian president Vladimir Putin (left) meets with Russian real estate
billionaire Aras Agalarov (right), head of the Crocus Group. Agalarov hosted the 2013 Miss
Universe pageant with Trump in Russia and allegedly is an old drinking buddy of Sergei
Mikhailov, head of the Solntsevo crime gang. (RIA-Novosti, Mikhail Klimentyev, Presidential
Press Service/AP)



Russian president Vladimir Putin (center); Putin’s favorite comedian, Vladimir Vinokur
(right); and billionaire Aras Agalarov (left) during an awards ceremony in the Kremlin in
Moscow on October 29, 2013. Vladimir Vinokur was pro-Trump during the 2016 US
presidential election and posted on Instagram, “We won, Congratulations,” on November 9,
2016. (Sasha Mordovets/Getty Images)



Crocus Group president Aras Agalarov (right) and vice president Emin Agalarov (left) arrive
with Donald Trump (center) for the 2013 Miss Universe beauty pageant final at Moscow’s
Crocus City Hall on November 9, 2013. (Vyacheslav Prokofyev/Itar-Tass/Abaca
Press/Newscom)



Left to right: Crocus Group president Aras Agalarov; Gabriela Isler of Venezuela, Miss
Universe 2013; and Donald Trump at the pageant’s awards ceremony in Crocus City Hall on
November 9, 2013. (© RIA Novosti/The Image Works)



Allegedly a longtime associate of Semion Mogilevich and Sergei Mikhailov, Alimzhan
“Taiwanchik” Tokhtakhounov is accused of running an international gambling ring with
Vadim Trincher out of Trump Tower in 2013. Shortly after he fled the US to avoid prosecution,
he appeared as a VIP guest at the 2013 Miss Universe pageant. (Oksana Yushko/The New
York Times/Redux)



Left to right: Rotem Rosen, Aras Agalarov, Donald Trump, and Alex Sapir at the 2013 Miss
Universe pageant in Moscow. Rosen is the right-hand man of Lev Leviev, who is closely
aligned with Putin. Alex Sapir’s father, Tamir Sapir, partnered with Trump for Trump SoHo
and was alleged to have Russian Mafia connections. (Courtesy Real Estate Weekly)



President Donald Trump (left) and Stephen Bannon, who was chairman of Trump’s 2016
campaign and had been vice president of Cambridge Analytica, a data-mining firm
specializing in “psychographic” profiling as a way of microtargeting voters. CA’s parent
company, Strategic Communications Laboratories, had ties to Ukrainian oligarch Dmitry
Firtash. (Mandel Ngan/AFP/Getty Images)



On October 1, 2012, Russian prime minister Dmitry Medvedev (left) receives a T-shirt from
Facebook CEO Mark Zuckerberg during their meeting at the Gorki residence outside Moscow,
at which they discussed Facebook’s role in the 2012 presidential election. Russia used
Facebook as a purveyor of huge amounts of pro-Trump, anti-Clinton propaganda in the 2016
election. (Yekaterina Shtukina/AFP/Getty Images)



CEO of Cambridge Analytica Alexander Nix speaks at the 2016 Concordia Summit on
September 19, 2016, in New York City. Even before his firm had finalized a contract with the
Trump campaign, Nix reached out to WikiLeaks’ Julian Assange and asked him to share the
DNC emails so that CA could help disseminate them. (Bryan Bedder/Getty Images for
Concordia Summit)



Shown here in Moscow, Russian lawyer Natalia Veselnitskaya was present at the Trump
Tower meeting in June 2016 with Paul Manafort, Donald Trump Jr., and Jared Kushner that
was reportedly arranged to provide “dirt” on Hillary Clinton. Veselnitskaya has admitted to
acting as an informant on behalf of the Kremlin. (Yury Martyanov/AFP/Getty Images)



Before the infamous June 2016 meetings with the Russians, Donald Trump Jr., shown here in
an elevator in Trump Tower, responded to the prospect of getting “dirt” on Hillary Clinton by
emailing a contact “if it’s what you say I love it.” (Albin Lohr-Jones/Bloomberg, Pool/Getty
Images)



Donald Trump rides an escalator to a press event to announce his candidacy for the US
presidency at Trump Tower on June 16, 2015, in New York City. (Christopher Gregory/Getty
Images)



Trump’s daughter Ivanka Trump (center) onstage at the Republican National Convention in
Cleveland, Ohio, July 21, 2016. From left to right are campaign adviser Rick Gates, Donald
Trump, campaign manager Paul Manafort, and Ivanka’s husband, Jared Kushner. At a time
when Russian ambassador Sergei Kislyak was meeting with various members of the Trump
campaign, the Ukraine plank in the Republican platform was changed in Russia’s favor. (Mark
Reinstein/Corbis/Getty Images)



Trump Tower on Fifth Avenue. Russian Mafia money first made its way to Trump Tower when
shell companies owned by David Bogatin, whose brother worked for Semion Mogilevich,
bought five condos in the building. Since then, many alleged figures in the Russian Mafia have
called Trump Tower home, and it has provided a base of operations for several money-
laundering operations. (Mark Lennihan/AP)



Michael Flynn (left) the retired general chosen by President-Elect Donald Trump as national
security adviser, speaks to Michael Cohen, Trump’s attorney and “fixer.” Flynn had dined with
Vladimir Putin at a Moscow gala in 2015 and was paid approximately $45,000 for a speech at
a related event. Michael Cohen was working with Felix Sater on a deal for Trump Tower
Moscow, which never came to fruition. (Sam Hodgson/The New York Times/Redux)



Together at last: Trump chats with fellow president Vladimir Putin as they attend the Asia-
Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC) Economic Leaders’ Meeting in Da Nang, Vietnam, on
November 11, 2017. (Mikhail Klimentyev/AFP/Getty Images)
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* The terms “Russian Mafia” and “ROC” (Russian organized crime),
though not geographically correct, are widely used by law enforcement
authorities to refer to organized crime from all the republics of the
former Soviet Union, not just the Russian Federation.



* The Five Families were the Colombos, the Gambinos, the Bonannos,
the Luccheses, and the Genoveses.



* Though he worked with Russian gangsters and was often identified
as Russian, Markowitz was actually Romanian.



* In 1999, Poland, Hungary, and the Czech Republic joined NATO,
followed by Bulgaria, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia,
and Slovenia shortly before the 2004 Istanbul summit. They were
subsequently joined by Albania, Croatia, and, most recently,
Montenegro. And that does not count East Germany, which, of course,
became part of NATO when it reunited with West Germany.



* According to the Committee to Protect Journalists, at least fifty-eight
journalists have been murdered in Russia since the demise of the
Soviet Union in 1991. The figure goes up to eighty-two deaths if one
includes those for which a motive has not been confirmed. These
figures do not include the murders of Alexander Litvinenko or other
people who were killed outside Russia and who, also like Litvinenko,
were investigating corruption in Russia outside the context of
journalism.



* Among the biographers who have explored Trump’s ties to organized
crime are Gwenda Blair, author of The Trumps: Three Generations of
Builders and a Presidential Candidate; Wayne Barrett, author of
Trump: The Greatest Show on Earth; David Cay Johnston, author of
The Making of Donald Trump; Michael Kranish and Marc Fisher,
authors of Trump Revealed: The Definitive Biography of the 45th
President; and Tim O’Brien, author of Trump Nation: The Art of
Being the Donald.



* Notwithstanding Trump’s fondness for Cohn, their relationship did
not end well. Toward the end of his life, Cohn, who was gay, asked
Trump for a favor: His lover was dying of AIDS. Could Trump get him
a hotel room? As Vanity Fair reported, a room was found, but a few
months later, Cohn got the bill and refused to pay. More bills followed.
At some point, according to the New York Times, Trump presented
Cohn with a pair of diamond cuff links as a thank-you gift for their
friendship. But the diamonds turned out to be fakes. Toward his last
days in 1986, the dying Cohn said, “Donald pisses ice water.”



* Cohn’s bark was ferocious, but it was often far worse than his bite. As
a senior editor of New York magazine in 1979, I had a run-in with Roy
Cohn over a story written by Henry Post that exposed the Studio 54
tax evasion scam. Before publication, Cohn called me, yelled at me,
and threatened to sue the magazine unless we killed the story. In the
end, we ran the story, Cohn’s clients went to jail, and he never sued.



* The FBI investigated Kislin in the 1990s for allegations including
mob ties and laundering money from Russia. He was never charged,
and he maintains his innocence.



* The term “gulag” refers to Russia’s forced labor camps that date back
to the seventeenth-and-eighteenth-century era of Peter the Great and
the tsars who first developed the idea of exile in Siberia as a
punishment, but the word is an acronym derived from the phrase
Glavnoye Upravleniye Lagerej (Chief Administration of [Corrective
Labor] Camps), a government agency created under Vladimir Lenin.



* In Russian, the word vor is singular for “thief.” Vory is plural.



* According to a 2016 report of Project Millennium citing Interpol
Moscow, 1,086 “thieves-in-law” were registered in the files of Interpol
Moscow’s office. Other sources say there were six to seven hundred
registered thieves-in-law.



* According to Benjamin Nayfeld, the victim had allegedly insulted
Benjamin’s girlfriend and reached for a weapon. Eighteen witnesses
backed up Benjamin’s version of events, insisting the stabbing was a
justifiable homicide, and the case was dropped.



* After Gorbachev posed for a photo with Balagula and his wife,
Balagula boasted that Gorbachev was on the take from him—a claim
that seems highly unlikely.



* The Cambridge Spy Ring has been featured, fictionally and
otherwise, in countless books, movies, and plays about espionage,
including John le Carré’s Tinker, Tailor, Soldier, Spy and A Perfect
Spy; Frederick Forsyth’s The Fourth Protocol; The Innocent by Ian
McEwan; Blunt: The Fourth Man with Anthony Hopkins and Ian
Richardson; the BBC series The Hour; The Jigsaw Man with Laurence
Olivier and Michael Caine; three plays by Alan Bennett, A Question of
Attribution, An Englishman Abroad, and The Old Country; and many
others.



* Slusovice is the name of the Zelníček family’s village.



* As it happens, Kryuchkov also had a spy in the KGB’s Dresden
station reporting to him—Vladimir Putin.



* A few months later, Dubinin was transferred from his post at the UN
and was appointed Soviet ambassador to the United States.



* The Riviera in Las Vegas disputes the Taj Mahal’s claim that it is the
largest in the world.



* Some of Trump’s acquaintances who were close to individuals
associated with the New Jersey Mafia proved to be valuable allies in
the future. Don McGahn, the nephew of both Paddy and Joseph
McGahn, later became a White House counsel in the Trump
administration. In addition, White House counselor Kellyanne
Conway, who also served as Trump’s campaign manager, is the
granddaughter of Jimmy “the Brute” DiNatale, an associate of Little
Nicky Scarfo.



* Testa was shot to death in 1984 just weeks after a fight with mob
boss Nicky Scarfo, according to the Philadelphia Inquirer. As for
Narducci, he was sentenced to life in prison in 1989 for his role in a
mob murder.



* Executive Intelligence Review is a weekly newsmagazine founded by
Lyndon LaRouche, a cultlike political activist who has run for
president eight times. The magazine has promoted a number of
unlikely conspiracy theories, including one asserting that Queen
Elizabeth II runs an international drug cartel and that the British royal
family ordered the assassination of Diana, Princess of Wales.



* The Iowa caucuses precede the New Hampshire primary, but they
consist of precinct caucuses to select candidates, not statewide
elections.



* When I asked to interview Mogilevich, his attorney Ze’ev Gordon
told me, “He doesn’t want to give an interview . . . He has nothing to
do with President Trump and he doesn’t know anybody who has
business with him . . . The last time he was in the United States was
more than twenty years ago.”



* According to FBI files, Interpol’s Millennium Project, and other
sources, Mogilevich’s name has appeared in many different forms,
either as an alias or as an alternative spelling. Among them: Semion
Mobllerltsh, Seva Magelansky, Sergei Schneider, Seva Moguilevich,
Semon Yudkovich Palagnyuk, Semen Yukovich Telesh, Simeon
Mogilevitch, Semjon Mogilevcs, Shimon Makelwitsh, Shimon
Makhelwitsch, Sergei Yurevich, Seva Schnaider, Mogiletin Senior
Mogilevich, Semion Mogeilegtin, Semion Mogleritis, Semion
Mogrilets, Sergei Magrilets, Semyon Teles, Sergei Palagniuk, Semyon
Palagniuk, Shimon Makelvitsh, Shimon Makelvich, Seymon
Mogilevsk, Lev Fisherman, Simeon Teles, Semyon Yudkovich, Sergei
Mangriyats, Sergei Yuryevich Schneider, Moguilevich, Mogilevitch,
and many others.



* Leonid Brezhnev died in 1982; Yuri Andropov in 1984; and
Konstantin Chernenko in 1985.



* Israel’s Law of Return gives Jews the right to come and live in Israel
and to gain Israeli citizenship. In 1970, the right of entry and
settlement was extended to people with one Jewish grandparent and a
person who is married to a Jew, whether or not he or she is considered
Jewish under Orthodox interpretations of Halakha.



* In an interview with Moskovsky Komsomolets, Mogilevich
explained, “In the eyes of the FBI, any disco that contains Russians is a
brothel.”



* Maxim, SV Holding, Emire Bond in Israel, Arigon, Magnex in
Hungary, MAB International in Belgium, YBM Magnex in the US, and
Benex.



* Sambo is a Soviet martial art that was created by Red Army officers
in the 1920s. The word “sambo” is derived from an anagram of a
Russian phrase for “self-defense without weapons.”



* Usvyatsov’s prison record didn’t seem to interfere with mentoring
Putin, as Usvyatsov is sometimes credited with helping the future
president win admittance to the law school of Leningrad State
University, a considerable feat, if true, given Putin’s lackluster
academic record. The suggestion that Usvyatsov helped Putin get into
college has been written about in various blogs in Russia, but Putin
gives a somewhat different version in First Person. (See
https://pressimus.com/Interpreter_Mag/stream/2712.)

https://pressimus.com/Interpreter_Mag/stream/2712


* In the wake of the 2014 Crimean crisis, President Barack Obama
blacklisted the Rotenberg brothers, among other friends of Putin.



* Putin attended what is now known as the Academy of Foreign
Intelligence or the SVR Academy, and was previously known as the
Yuri Andropov Red Banner Institute or Red Banner Institute, one of
the primary espionage academies of Russia, and, before that, the
Soviet Union, serving the KGB and its successor organization, the
Foreign Intelligence Service or Foreign Security Service. Known as the
Federal’naya sluzhba bezopasnosti Rossiyskoy Federatsii in Russian, it
is most frequently referred to in English as the FSB. But the historic
power of the KGB is such that it is often referred to by those initials as
well.



* With its two-cylinder engine and plastic body, the Trabant was
referred to as “a spark plug with a roof” and came to symbolize the
demise of the Eastern Bloc.



* In First Person, Putin disputes Kalugin’s account, saying, “[Kalugin]
doesn’t remember a thing. He couldn’t remember me. I had no contact
with him, nor did I meet him. It is I who remembers him, because he
was a big boss and everybody knew him.”

“Kalugin is a traitor,” Putin added. “I saw Kalugin during my time
in Leningrad when he was deputy head of the Directorate. He was an
absolute loafer.”



* Leningrad changed its name back to St. Petersburg in 1991.



* Kumarin is serving a fourteen-year sentence for money laundering
and organizing the illegal takeover of companies in St. Petersburg.



* A Liechtenstein court found two men associated with SPAG, Rudolf
Ritter and Eugen von Hoffen, guilty of fraud, but acquitted them on
charges that they laundered money for the Cali cartel. The presiding
judge, however, added that some suspicions remained.



* Lubyanka, of course, is the home of the KGB/FSB, and the title is
meant to suggest that agents such as Putin were in fact nothing more
than gangsters.



* Medvedev became president of Russia in 2008 after having served as
Putin’s chief of staff and then as first deputy prime minister. When
Putin retook the presidency in 2012, Medvedev became prime
minister.



* At the time, Medvedev was a consultant to the city hall’s External
Affairs Committee, which was headed by Putin. In November 1993,
Medvedev became the legal affairs director of Ilim Pulp Enterprise,
Russia’s largest lumber company, with annual revenues of $500
million. According to Daniel Treisman’s The Return: Russia’s Journey
from Gorbachev to Medvedev, Medvedev actually received 20 percent
of the company’s stock—not 10 percent.



* In 1996, then-director of the CIA John Deutch called Nordex, a
Vienna-based multinational company, “an example of an organization
associated with Russian criminal activity moving out of Russia.”



* PGU is the First Chief Directorate of the KGB/SVR, which is
responsible for overseeing all aspects of acquiring and managing
foreign intelligence.



* Through Inkombank, Mogilevich separately acquired a substantial
interest in Sukhoi, a large manufacturer of Russia’s military aircraft.



* Immediately after reading Roffman’s analysis of the Taj Mahal,
Trump had sent a letter to Janney Montgomery Scott, the investment
firm that employed Roffman, and demanded that Roffman issue a
public retraction of his assessment of the Taj, or, in the absence of
such a retraction, that Janney fire Roffman.



* Though relatively low-profile among Trump’s associates, Lorber was
an important figure in the Trump administration in that he introduced
Trump to David Friedman, who became Trump’s ambassador to
Israel. In addition, Friedman’s former partner Marc Kasowitz became
Trump’s lawyer.



* In 2000, the Brooke Group was renamed the Vector Group.



* Even though Rabinovich says he was jailed on trumped-up charges,
the US has barred his entry into this country. “You will find
accusations against me in the U.S.,” Rabinovich told the Forward. “In
Israel, some say I am connected to the mafia. In Ukraine, they say I am
Mossad agent, if you find this kind of nonsense interesting. I don’t.”



* More specifically, Baturina’s brother-in-law, Vladimir Yevtushenko,
was head of Sistema.



* In January 2016, Pribylovsky, a prolific Putin critic, was found dead
in his Moscow apartment at the age of fifty-nine. The cause of death
was unclear. His colleague Yuri Felshtinsky also cowrote Blowing Up
Russia with Alexander Litvinenko, who died of polonium poisoning in
London in 2006.



* According to a RICO indictment drawn up by the Eastern District of
the State of New York against Fisherman, Jacob Bogatin, Anatoly
Tsoura, and Semion Mogilevich, Fisherman served as chief operating
officer of YBM and was on its board of directors. He was also president
of Arigon, a YBM subsidiary in which Mogilevich was a principal.



* At various times, Chernoy has been transliterated as Chorny,
Chornoi, Chorney, and Chornoy, among other spellings.



* Malevsky died in November 2001 as a result of a parachute accident
in South Africa. According to Interpol documents, “it is rumored that
Malevsky was actually thrown out of a plane on the orders of
Mikhailov.”



* According to a report by the Israeli website Ynetnews, forty-eight out
of the two hundred richest people in Russia are Jewish. In some ways,
however, the disproportionate wealth of a few dozen Jewish oligarchs
can be seen as the unintended consequence of anti-Semitic Soviet
policies that gave all the best career slots to ethnic Slavs and forced
Jews into the black market. That meant when communism collapsed
and free-market capitalism replaced the black market, Jewish
entrepreneurs had a head start.



* In 2005, on a visit to Tel Aviv, Putin dropped by the home of Mina
Yuditskaya Berliner, who had taught him German in high school some
forty years earlier, and before he left, gave her a new apartment in Tel
Aviv. Two of his judo sparring partners, the brothers Boris and Arkady
Rotenberg, fared even better—much better. They ended up being
worth about $2 billion each, thanks, in part, to $5.5 billion in
construction contracts awarded to them by Putin for the 2014 Sochi
Winter Olympics.



* The Alfa Group has interests in oil and gas, commercial and
investment banking, asset management, insurance, retail trade,
telecommunications, water utilities, and special situation investments.



* William Sessions is not related to Attorney General Jeff Sessions. He
is, however, the father of Representative Pete Sessions (R-TX) who,
interestingly, given his father’s representation of Russia’s most
powerful Mafia boss, was one of the most vocal opponents in the
House of Representatives of sanctions against Russia. It is worth
pointing out that, according to Canada’s National Post, earlier,
Mogilevich had hired another important figure in American law
enforcement as his attorney, namely, Richard Crane Jr., former head
of the US Justice Department’s Organized Crime Strike Force for the
Western United States.



* Trump’s bankruptcies notwithstanding, the Trump Taj Mahal
continued to operate in what is known as a “prepackaged bankruptcy”
in which Trump gave a 50 percent stake in the business to its
bondholders in exchange for lowered interest rates and a longer payoff
schedule.



* As with other buildings he developed, Trump deliberately mislabeled
the floors in Trump World Tower to make it seem higher. As a result, it
was possible for Eduard Nektalov to live on the seventy-ninth floor of
the seventy-two-story Trump World Tower.



* According to the Washington Post, the Conways caught Trump’s
attention during a condo board battle in which various residents
wanted Trump’s name stripped from the building’s exterior. George
Conway was one of the pro-Trump leaders, and his wife, Kellyanne,
took a seat on the condo board and became friendly with Trump as a
result.

Like so many Trump associates, Kellyanne was not without ties to
the Mafia. According to the New York Daily News, her late
grandfather Jimmy “the Brute” DiNatale was described by law
enforcement authorities as a “significant criminal associate” of
Nicodemo “Little Nicky” Scarfo, the heir apparent to a Philadelphia-
based crime family.



* The estimate comes from a BuzzFeed investigation that concluded
that more than 1,300 of Trump’s 6,400 condos sold in the US had the
characteristics of money-laundering deals (all cash, bought through a
shell company). The condos sold for an average of $1.2 million.



* Sater’s father is most frequently referred to in the press by the name
Sheferovsky, but there are many conflicting spellings of his real name.
According to an article by Vladimir Kozlovsky for BBC’s Russian
Service, the real family name in Russia was actually Saterov. As for
Felix, court documents show that he also went by the names of Satter,
Slater, Sader, Haim F. Sater, Hai Ying Sater, and his putative birth
name of Sheferovsky.



* In an email to the author, Sater’s attorney Robert S. Wolf disputed
allegations made in The Scorpion and the Frog, and asserted that it
was “a work of fiction” and that “Mr. Sater was not a character in the
book.” However, David S. Barry, the book’s coauthor, has said the
book is entirely factual, and its publisher, New Millennium, has
marketed the book as nonfiction.



* Blane died in 2016.



* In 2016, Trump denied wrongdoing but agreed to pay $25 million to
Trump University students who had filed a class action suit. New York
attorney general Eric Schneiderman called it “a major victory for the
over 6,000 victims of his fraudulent university.”



* Sapir agreed to pay $150,000 for violations of the Endangered
Species Act.



* Four years after the building was finished in 2012, it went into
receivership due to poor sales. Trump’s name was later removed from
the building.



* In November 2017, the Trump Organization announced that it was
going to end its affiliation with the Trump SoHo by the end of the year.
The building was subsequently renamed the Dominick.



* In response, Jan Lawrence Handzlik, an attorney for Khrapunov,
issued a statement saying, “These allegations are more than a decade
old. . . . For seven years ending in 2004, Viktor served with honor and
distinction as administrator, or akim, of Almaty, a political subdivision
of the Nazarbayev government. He then served as Nazarbayev’s
administrator of the East Kazakh Region until 2007. It was then that
Viktor had a political falling-out with the Nazarbayev regime. Since
then, Viktor has been relentlessly pursued by the regime, which has
sought to discredit him in the eyes of the Kazakh people. Now persona
non grata in their own country, Viktor and his family look forward to
refuting these old allegations in a fair public trial in a country that
guarantees justice to those who come before its courts.”



* In his attempt to win influence, Kislin’s donations were not partisan,
and he contributed to Democrats as well, including New York senator
Chuck Schumer.



* On March 9, 2015, just after the UK’s Litvinenko Inquiry had put
together substantial evidence implicating Lugovoy in the murder,
President Putin granted Lugovoy a medal for “services to the
motherland.” According to Ben Emmerson, the queen’s counsel for
Litvinenko’s widow, Marina, the timing of Putin’s decision was no
coincidence. “[It] is clearly both a provocation from president Putin
and the clearest possible message he identifies himself with Mr
Lugovoy.”



* In 2017 and 2018, Manafort and Gates were indicted on a total of
forty-four counts of money laundering, bank fraud, and tax charges.



* It is worth noting that after the term “Gerasimov Doctrine” became
popular in foreign policy circles, Mark Galeotti, a senior research
fellow at the Institute of International Relations Prague who coined
the term, disavowed it, and asserted that there is no single Russian
doctrine and no single organizing principle. Instead, he wrote, “There
is a broad political objective—to distract, divide, and demoralize—but
otherwise it is largely opportunistic, fragmented, even sometimes
contradictory.”



* Russians always had more success with Republicans than
Democrats, but it wasn’t for want of trying. In 1993, Gregori
Loutchansky, an alleged former Mogilevich associate, was invited to a
Democratic National Committee fund-raising dinner for Bill Clinton,
during which President Clinton, unaware of Loutchansky’s résumé,
asked him to please tell the Ukrainian government that it would be
great if it reduced its nuclear stockpile. Afterward, Clinton posed for a
photo with Loutchansky, which the alleged mobster passed out to
enhance his stature. When the photo was eventually published, the
CIA did a double take before realizing it was genuine. “Loutchansky
had one thing in mind: legitimization,” a congressional investigator
probing Russian organized crime explained. “He wanted U.S.
citizenship and he wanted to buy a U.S. bank.” Loutchansky has
repeatedly denied any ties to the Russian Mafia, but he has been
identified by law-enforcement authorities as a figure in the Russian
crime network.24



* The title “crown prosecutor” does not exist in Russia, but in a
number of jurisdictions in the British Commonwealth, it is the title
given to the state prosecutor presenting a case against an individual in
a criminal trial. Goldstone was presumably referring to the office of
the prosecutor general, the head of Russia’s judiciary.



* “Rhona” appears to be a reference to Rhona Graff, Trump’s longtime
assistant.



* Ziff Brothers Investments LLC has made donations to both
Republicans and Democrats since the 2012 election cycle, according to
the Center for Responsive Politics. It gave between $50,000 and
$100,000 to the Clinton Global Initiative and made modest donations
to the presidential campaigns of Barack Obama and Hillary Clinton.



* As noted by the Washington Post, “Joanna Glover” is likely a
reference to Juleanna Glover, who worked with Browder in promoting
the Magnitsky Act and also worked for Dick Cheney at one time.



* In 1999, Brooke Group became Vector Group.
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